SAN FRANCISCO BAY AREA RAPID TRANSIT DISTRICT
300 Lakeside Drive, P. O. Box 12688, Oakland, CA 94604-2688

BOARD MEETING AGENDA
June 9, 2016
9:00 a.m.

A regular meeting of the Board of Directors will be held at 9:00 a.m. on Thursday, June 9, 2016.
This meeting shall consist of a simultaneous teleconference call at the following locations:

BART Board Room 347 North La Jolla Avenue
Kaiser Center 20™ Street Mall — Third Floor Los Angeles, CA 90048
344 - 20" Street
Oakland, CA 94612

Members of the public may address the Board of Directors regarding any matter on this agenda.
Please complete a “Request to Address the Board” form (available at the entrance to the Board
Room) and hand it to the Secretary before the item is considered by the Board. If you wish to
discuss a matter that is not on the agenda during a regular meeting, you may do so under Public
Comment.

Any action requiring more than a majority vote for passage will be so noted.

Items placed under “consent calendar” are considered routine and will be received, enacted,
approved, or adopted by one motion unless a request for removal for discussion or explanation is
received from a Director or from a member of the audience.

Please refrain from wearing scented products (perfume, cologne, after-shave, etc.) to these meetings,
as there may be people in attendance susceptible to environmental illnesses.

BART provides service/accommodations upon request to persons with disabilities and individuals
who are limited English proficient who wish to address BART Board matters. A request must be
made within one and five days in advance of Board meetings, depending on the service requested.
Please contact the Office of the District Secretary at 510-464-6083 for information.

Rules governing the participation of the public at meetings of the Board of Directors and Standing
Committees are available for review on the District's website (http://www.bart.gov/about/bod), in
the BART Board Room, and upon request, in person or via mail.

Meeting notices and agendas are available for review on the District's website
(http://www.bart.gov/about/bod/meetings.aspx), and via email
(https://public.govdelivery.com/accounts/CATRANBART/subscriber/new?topic_id=CATRANBA
RT_1904) or via regular mail upon request submitted to the District Secretary. Complete agenda
packets (in PDF format) are available for review on the District's website no later than 48 hours in
advance of the meeting.

Please submit your requests to the District Secretary via email to BoardofDirectors@bart.gov; in
person or U.S. mail at 300 Lakeside Drive, 23" Floor, Oakland, CA 94612; fax 510-464-601 1;or
telephone 510-464-6083.

Patricia K. Williams
Assistant District Secretary




Regular Meeting of the
BOARD OF DIRECTORS

The purpose of the Board Meeting is to consider and take such action as the Board may

desire in connection with:

1. CALL TO ORDER

A.
B.
C.

Roll Call.
Pledge of Allegiance.
Introduction of Special Guests.

2. CONSENT CALENDAR

A.

Agreement with Sperry Capital, Inc., for Ad Hoc Financial Advisory
Services (Agreement No. 6M2057).* Board requested to authorize.

Renaming of the Board Communications & Technology Modernization
Committee to “Technology and Communications Committee.”* Board
requested to authorize. (Director Josefowitz’s request.)

Award of Contract No. 04SF-170, Construction of East Contra Costa
BART Extension Project Sanitary Sewer Connection.* Board requested
to authorize.

Award of Contact No. 15BN-120, Relief Shaft Blast Dampers BD39 and
BD40 at San Francisco Transition Structure and BD42 at Oakland
Transition Structure.* Board requested to authorize.

Award of Invitation for Bid No.8980A, Generators, Standby Mobile
Engine with Trailers.* Board requested to authorize.

3. PUBLIC COMMENT — 15 Minutes

(An opportunity for members of the public to address the Board of Directors on matters under
their jurisdiction and not on the agenda. An additional period for Public Comment is provided at
the end of the Meeting.)

4. PLANNING, PUBLIC AFFAIRS. ACCESS. AND LEGISLATION ITEMS

Director Raburn, Chairperson

A.

Potential 2016 Funding Measure for District Infrastructure: BART
Safety, Reliability and Traftic Relief.* Board requested to authorize.

Adoption of the Station Access Policy and Adoption of the Transit-
Oriented Development Policy.* Board requested to adopt.

5. ADMINISTRATION ITEMS

Director Saltzman, Chairperson

A.

Issuance and Sale of the District’s Sales Tax Revenue Bonds, 2016
Refunding Series A.* Board requested to authorize.

* Attachment available 20f4



B. Downtown Berkeley Bike Station Third One-Year Lease Extension. *
Board requested to authorize.

C. Award of Agreements for Consulting Services for Enterprise Asset
Management System.*
a. Agreement No. 6M4434, with Accenture LLP
b. Agreement No. 6M4435, with Interloc Solutions, Inc.
c. Agreement No. 6M4436, with TechTu Business Solutions, Inc.
Board requested to authorize.

D. Resolution Approving the Fiscal Year 2017 Annual Budget.* Board
requested to adopt.

6. ENGINEERING AND OPERATIONS ITEMS
Director McPartland, Chairperson

A. East Contra Costa BART Extension Project.
a. Project Update.* For information.
b. Change Order to Contract 04SF-130, Construction of East Contra
Costa BART Extension Project Trackwork, Systems, and Facility
Finishes, with Stacy and Witbec/Amoroso/Modern Railway Systems,
a Joint Venture, for Installation of Two Escalators at Antioch Station.*
Board requested to authorize.

B. Award of Contract No. 09DJ-140A, Repair and Maintenance of Anode
Cables, Anode Array Assemblies, and Cathodic Protection System.*
Board requested to authorize.

C. Change Order to Contract No. 15EK-210, Procurement of Traction Power
Substations Phase 1, with Powell Electrical Systems, Inc., to Remove
Design, Engineering, and Traction Power Equipment (C.O. No. 22).*
Board requested to authorize.

7. GENERAL MANAGER’S REPORT

A. Review of the Draft Agenda for the Capitol Corridor Joint Powers Board
Meeting of June 15, 2016.* For information.

B. Report of Activities, including Updates of Operational, Administrative,
and Roll Call for Introductions Items.

8. BOARD MATTERS

A. 2016 State Legislation.* Board requésted to authorize. (Director
Josefowitz’s request.) :

B. Board Member Reports.
(Board member reports as required by Government Code Section 53232.3(d) are
available through the Office of the District Secretary. An opportunity for Board
members to report on their District activities and observations since last Board Meeting.)

* Attachment available 3o0f4



D.

Roll Call for Introductions.
(An opportunity for Board members to introduce a matter for consideration at a future
Committee or Board Meeting or to request District staff to prepare items or reports.)

In Memoriam.
(An opportunity for Board members to introduce individuals to be commemorated.)

9. PUBLIC COMMENT

(An opportunity for members of the public to address the Board of Directors on matters under
their jurisdiction and not on the agenda.)

10. CLOSED SESSION (Room 303, Board Conference Room)

A.

PUBLIC EMPLOYMENT:

Agency Negotiators: Directors Radulovich, Murray, and Saltzman
Title: Independent Police Auditor

Gov’t. Code Section: 54957

CONFERENCE WITH LABOR NEGOTIATORS:
Designated representatives:  Grace Crunican, General Manager; Paul Oversier, Assistant
General Manager, Operations; Carter Mau, Assistant
General Manager, Administration and Budget; and Carol
Isen, Chief Employee Relations Officer
Employee Organizations: (1) Amalgamated Transit Union, Local 1555;
(2) American Federation of State, County and Municipal
Employees, Local 3993;
(3) BART Police Officers Association;
(4) BART Police Managers Association;
(5) Service Employees International Union, Local 1021;
and
(6) Service Employees International Union, Local 1021,
BART Professional Chapter
(7) Unrepresented employees (Positions: all)
Government Code Section:  54957.6

11. OPEN SESSION

* Attachment available 4 of 4



EXECUTIVE DECISION DOCUMENT

NEHAL MANAGER APPROVAL'S N GENERAL MANAGER ACTION REQ'D:

104

BOARD INITIATED ITEM: No

- I Cusl ntrollerlTreasurer District Secretary — |BARC

Dept;,Controller-Treasurer x6070 .

iy | A
SM o 1 | ‘1&’ AR [
ITLE 7 T

v é/ =
Award of Agreement No. 6M2057 for Ad Hoc Financial Advisory Services

NARRATIVE:

Purpose: Authorize the Controller-Treasurer to award Agreement No. 6M2057 for on-call
Financial Advisory Services to Sperry Capital, Inc. for a three year period from fiscal year 2016
to fiscal year 2019 with the option to extend the Agreement for up to two additional years.

On April 15, 2016, RFP No. 6M2057 was posted on the BART Procurement Portal and seven (7)
prospective Proposers were invited to respond to the District's requirement for Ad Hoc Financial
Advisory Services. A pre-proposal conference was held on April 20, 2016 with representatives
from seven companies in attendance.

On May 10, 2016 six (6) proposals were received from the following Proposers:

Proposer Business Location

First Southwest Company Dallas, Texas

KNN Public Finance Oakland, California
Montague Derose and Associates Walnut Creek, California
The PFM Group San Francisco, California
Prager & Co., LLC San Francisco, California
Sperry Capital, Inc. Sausalito, California

The proposals were reviewed by a Selection Committee (“Committee™) consisting of staff from
the Controller-Treasurer/Finance Department, Assistant General Manager of Administration and
Budget, Orrick, Herrington & Sutcliffe, LLP (District's bond counsel) and Contract Management
(in a non-voting capacity). The Proposals were first reviewed for responsiveness to the
requirements of the RFP. All submittals were found responsive.

Subsequently, the Proposals were evaluated and scored on the basis of the criteria contained in
the RFP with respect to technical qualifications of the proposing firms, key personnel, and depth
of resources and transportation experience in the debt issuance and other financial transactions as
specified in the RFP. Price Proposals were subsequently reviewed. The Committee determined
that all Proposals were within the competitive range and conducted oral interviews with each
Proposer. Based on the oral and written evaluations, the Committee ranked the six proposers and
determined that Sperry Capital, Inc. scored the highest overall scores.



Award of Agreement No. 6M2057 for Ad Hoc Financial Advisory Services

The Committee evaluated the proposals using the best value methodology. Under this approach,
the District evaluates not only the price of the proposals submitted, but also other criteria which
when assessed together, identifies the proposer that best meets the District's needs. Based on the
best value analysis, the Selection Committee unanimously determined that Sperry Capital, Inc.
offered the best overall value to the District.

Pursuant to the District's Non-Discrimination for Subcontracting Program, the availability
percentages for this agreement are 16% Minority Business Enterprises and 20% for
Women-owned Business Enterprises. Sperry Capital, Inc. will not be subconsulting any work
and will do all work with its own forces. Therefore, the District's Non-Discrimination for
Subcontracting Program does not apply.

Pursuant to the District's Non-Federal Small Business Program, the Office of Civil Rights set a
5% prime preference for this agreement for Small Businesses certified by the California
Department of General Services. Sperry Capital, Inc. is a certified Small Business making it
eligible for the preference.

Accordingly, the Committee recommends award of Agreement No. 6M2057 to Sperry Capital,
Inc. The Office of the General Counsel will approve the Agreement as to form.

Fiscal Impact: Funding for financial advisory services for FY 2016 are included in the FY 2016
operating budget of the Controller-Treasurer's Office. Funding for each subsequent year will be
included in the future operating budgets of the Controller-Treasurer's Office. The financial
advisory fees relating to bond issuance will be paid out of bond proceeds.

Alternative: The District could reject the proposals and re-solicit new proposals, which most
likely will generate the same response from the same financial advisory firms.

Recommendation: It is recommended the Board adopt the following motion:

Motion: The Controller-Treasurer is authorized to award Agreement No. 6M2057 to Sperry
Capital, Inc. to provide Ad Hoc Financial Advisory Services in the amount not to exceed
$300,000 for a term of three-years with two options to extend the Agreement for one additional
year each for an amount not to exceed $100,000 per year, subject to availability of funds and

compliance with the District's protest procedures.



SAN FRANCISCO BAY AREA RAPID TRANSIT DISTRICT

MEMORANDUM
TO: Board of Directors DATE: June 3, 2016
FROM: Assistant District Secretary

SUBJECT: Proposed Name Change for Board Communications & Technology Modernization
Committee

In order to more accurately reflect the scope of work of the committee, Director Josefowitz has
proposed changing the name of the Board Communications & Technology Modernization
Committee to ““Technology and Communications Committee.”

This item will be on the June 9, 2016, Board Meeting agenda under Consent Calendar.

Please contact President Radulovich or me if you require any further information on this matter,

Thank you.

cc: Board Appointed Officers
Deputy General Manager
Executive Staff

MOTION: The Board Communications and Technology Modernization Committee shall be
renamed “Technology and Communications Committee.”



EXECUTIVE DECISION DOCUMENT

GENERAL MANAGER ACTION REQD:
Approve and forward to the E&O Committee Meeting

BOARD INITIATED ITER: No N
Controlier/Treasurer | Distict Seoratary g &

[l 7 el

TE : T
Award of Contract No. 04SF-170 for Construction of East Contra Cesta BART Extension
Project Sanitary Sewer Connection

NARRATIVE:

PURPOSE To obtain Board authorization for the General Manager to Award Contract No. 04SF-170,
Construction of East Contra Costa BART Extension Project (eBART Project) Sanitary Sewer
Connection to California Trenchless, Inc. for the amount of $911,800.00.

DISCUSSION

Contract No. 04SF-170 provides for the construction of a sanitary sewer main, sewer tie-in for the
existing BART Maintenance Facility, and connection to the City of Antioch Sewer System as part of
the eBART Project. The eBART Project consists of an approximately ten-mile extension of the BART
System, using Diesel Multiple Unit (DMU) rail vehicles, from the existing Pittsburg/Bay Point BART
Station along the median of State Highway Route 4 to the new Antioch Station located near Hilicrest
Avenue.

The Contract scope of work includes the installation of approximately 1,000 feet of Polyvinvichloride
{(PVC) pipe and four sanitary sewer manholes to connect the eBART Maintenance Facility’s sanitary
system to the City of Antioch's sewage system at an existing manhole. The alignment of the pipe begins
at the eBART Maintenance Facility and continues north along Willow Street, a private access road,
crossing the Union Pacific railroad right-of-way and under a box culvert for East Antioch Creek prior to
arriving at the existing tie-in manhole. The depth of the pipe varies from 6 feet to 24 feet below the
existing surface {See attached).

The Contract was advertised in various publications and newspapers on March 7, 2016, and a Pre-Bid
Meeting held on March 18, 2016. The Bid Documents were purchased by four firms and distributed 1o
21 plan rooms. Two (2) Bids were received and publicly opened on April 26, 2016 from the following
Bidders:

After review by the District staff, the two Bids were determined to have arithmetical errors in the Total
Bid Price. Article 15.B, Evaluation, of the Instructions to Bidders in the Contract clearly states that
item totals are provided by the Bidder for the convenience of the District, and that the District will
independently calculate such prices based on the unit or lump sum prices bid. In the event of a
discrepancy, the District's caleulations govern. Tabulation of the Bids, with the arithmetic corrections
and including the Engineer's Estimate, is as follows:



Award of Contract 4SF-170

BIDDER TOTAL BID VALUATED BID WITH SMALL BUSINESS
PRICE PREFERENCE

California Trenchless, Inc.. $911,800.60  $866,705.00

Hayward, California

A-S Pipelines, Inc., Pitisburg, $901,900.00  Not Applicable

California

Eaginecer’s Estimate 5676,699.60

Both Bids submitted were higher than the Engineer’s Estimate. Even though the Engineer’s Estimate
was prepared using recent project cost data, several factors exist which may have influenced the cost
variations. One factor is that only two Bids were reccived, thereby limiting competition. Another factor
is the potential that the Bidders could have overestimated the risk associated with work adjacent to
various oil and gas pipe lines, as well as the level of coordination efforts required with various oil and
gas pipe line owners and the Union Pacific railroad. In addition, Bidders may have foreseen increased
overhead costs associated with equipment they may have had to rent at higher costs compared 1o
contractor-owned equipment.

The Bid submitted by A-S Pipelines, Inc. for $901,900.00 (after the arithmetic correction) was the
apparent low Bid. Pursuant to the District's non-Federal Small Business Program, the Office of Civil
Rights set a 5% prime preference for this Contract for Small Businesses certified by the California
Department of General Services. California Trenchless Inc. (CTI), is a certified Small Business making
it eligible for the preference. Therefore, although A-S Pipelines submitted the lowest Bid of
$961.900.00, the application of the Small Business prime preference makes CT1 the lowest responsive
Bidder with an adjusted Bid price of $866,705.00 (after the arithmetic correction).

Staff has determined that CTT's Bid is fair and reasonable based upon adequate price competition and
responsiveness to the solicitation. A review of CTT's business experience and financial capabilities
resulted in a determination that CTI is a responsible Bidder. Notwithstanding the difference between
the Bid price and the Engineer's Estimate, staff recommends proceeding with the Award, which is
within the available Project fanding.

Pursuant to the District’s Non-Discrimination in Subcontracting Program, the availability percentages for
this Contract are 23% for Minority Business Enterprises (MBEs) and 12% for Women Business
Enterprises (WBEs). CTI did not commit to subcontracting any percentage of the Work to MBEs or to
WBEs in its Listing of Subcontractors. Therefore, CTI was requested to provide the District with
information to determine if it had discriminated. Based on the review of the information submitted by
CT1, the Office of Civil Rights found no evidence of discrimination.

FISCAL IMPACT

Funding of $911,800.00 for the award of Contract No. 04SF-170 is included in the total project budget
for FMIS#04SF170 — eBART Sanitary Sewer. The Office of Controller/Treasurer certifies that funds are
currently available to meet this obligation. The following table depicts funding assigned to the
referenced project and is included in totality to track funding history against spending authority.

As of April 28, 2016, $920,000.00 is available for this project from the following sources:




Award of Contract 04SF-170

Fund Fund Description | Fund Source Funded Amount
Number '

335A FY10-11 Prop 1B -PTMISEA State $420.000.00
651C eBART-CCTA Resol.12-54-P Local $500,000.00
Total $920.000.00

BART has expended 30, committed $0 and reserved $0 to date for other actions. This Board
action will commit $911,800.00 for this Contract, leaving an available fund balance of
$8,200.00. There is no fiscal impact on available unprogrammed District Reserves.

ALTERNATIVE

The Board may decline to authorize award of the Contract and reject all Bids. If this Contract is
re-advertised, there is no assurance that new Bids will be lower than the amount of the current Bids
received,

RECOMMENDATION

1t is recommended that the Board adopt the following motion:

MOTION

The General Manager is authorized to award Contract No. 04SF-170, for the Construction of East Contra
Costa BART Extension Project Sanitary Sewer Connection to California Trenchless, Inc. of Hayward,
CA for the amount of $911.800.00, pursuant to notification to be issued by the General Manager and

subject to the District's protest procedures.



o
EXECUTIVE DECISION DOCUMENT

/

ig

GENERAL MANAGE[ APPROVAL:) GENERAL MANAGER ACTION REQ'D:
i n / Approve and forward to the Board
T, Céé(» QA&(: oo ~ PP

pATE: /[ [ ]( (N BOARD INITIATED ITEM: No

Originator/Prepared by: Swinder Chhina

%ﬁﬂg ;/M ‘Sﬁw
7 ignature/Date: 5 / 247 /2«0/(
7 -

'; Q%LI?W(“"W 7 AL

TITLE: {
Award of Contact No. 1SBN-120
Relief Shaft Blast Dampers BD39 and BD40 at SFTS and BD42 at OTS
NARRATIVE:
PURPOSE:

To obtain Board authorization for the General Manager to award Contract No. 15BN-120, Relief Shaft
Blast Dampers BD39 and BD40 at San Francisco Transition Structure (SFTS) and BD42 at Oakland
Transition Structure (OTS), to Blocka Construction, Inc. of Fremont, California for the Bid amount of
$197,000.00.

DISCUSSION:

Relief shaft dampers save traction power costs by providing additional large openings at each end of the
Trans Bay Tube (TBT) for compressed air piled in front of fast moving trains to escape. If there should be
a fire in the TBT, closing these relief shaft dampers permits the suction of smoke from the TBT and away
from the passengers.

The reliability of the existing damper system is at some risk in its operation due to the fact that if one
actuator damper fails, it may render other actuator dampers inoperative.

Contract No. 15BN-120 provides for replacing damper actuators, wiring and control systems at three (3)
locations. These changes will increase damper system reliability and decrease response time from 90
seconds to 5 seconds. Also, with these changes, if one actuator damper fails, it will not render other
actuator dampers inoperable.

On January 18, 2016, Advance Notices were sent to 81 prospective Bidders and 23 Plan Rooms. The
Contract was advertised on January 19, 2016.

A Pre-Bid meeting was held on March 31, 2016 with three prospective Bidders who attended this meeting.
Two (2) of the three (3) prospective Bidders attended the site visit on April 1, 2016.

Two firms submitted the following Bids which were opened on April 19, 2016.

BIDDER LOCATION TOTAL BID PRICE

Blocka Construction, Inc. Fremont, CA $197,000.00
Shimmick Construction, Company Oakland, CA $201,992.00



Award of Contact No. 15BN-120

ENGINEER’S ESTIMATE $133,100.00

The apparent lowest Bid is 33% over the Engineer's Estimate. The Engineer's estimate is based upon
work done in 2014 for Blast Damper BD41. The higher price from the Bidders was caused by difficult
access to the work site and high demand for electricians due to intense construction activities in the San
Francisco Bay Area. Upon review of the apparent low Bidder’s business and financial capabilities, staff
has determined that the Bidder is responsible and the Bid price is fair and reasonable. Due to the safety
and security needs being addressed, this work should be awarded as soon as possible.

This Contract was advertised pursuant to the revised Disadvantaged Business Enterprise (DBE) Program
requirements. The Office of Civil Rights reviewed the scope of work for this Contract and determined that
there were subcontracting opportunities; therefore, a DBE participation goal of 21% was set for this
Contract. The low Bidder, Blocka Construction, Inc., committed to subcontracting 22.8% to DBEs.

FISCAL IMPACT:

Funding of $197,000 for the award of Contract No. 15BN-120 is included in total project budget for FMS #
15BN200 — Vent Fan Rehab - Bay. The Office of the Controller/Treasurer certifies that funds are currently
available to meet this obligation. The following table depicts funding assigned to the referenced project
and is included in totality to track funding history against spending authority. Funds required to meet this
request will be expended from a combination of the sources listed.

'As of May 4, 2016, $953,569 is available for this project from the following sources:

mend #4 FTA $953.569.31

TOTAL $953,569.31

BART has expended $203,982 and has committed $353,089 and reserves $0 to date for other action.
This action will commit $197,000 leaving an available fund balance of $199,498 in this project.

354G | FYO8 Capital Projects ,

There is no fiscal impact on available un-programmed District Reserves.

ALTERNATIVES:

The alternative to awarding the Bid would be to reject all Bids and to re-advertise the Contract. Staff does
not believe that rebidding would result in more competitive bids or a lower bid price than what was
submitted by the Bidders for this Contract.

RECOMMENDATION:

It is recommended that the Board adopt the following Motion:
MOTION:

The General Manager is authorized to award Contract No. 15BN-120, Relief Shaft Blast Dampers BD39
and BD40 at SFTS and BD42 at OTS to Blocka Construction Inc., of Fremont, California for the Bid
amount of $197,000.00 pursuant to notification to be issued by the General Manager and subject to
compliance with the District's protest procedures and FTA’s requirements related to protest procedures.



EXECUTIVE DECISION DOCUMENT

XLRAL WMANAGER APRROVAL.: GENERAL MANAGER ACTION REQ'D:
P i g B

(g ik
L N

BOARD INITIATED ITEM: No

General Counsel Controller/Treasurer | District Secretary,
Dept: ﬁ\- l{ A s L ]
Z N6 el
Signaturell‘g/ 5»’/«/@ i L , ‘{J \% " %%; / é% \
ME U7 17 7 — e
Award of IFB 8980A, Generators, Standby Mobile Engine with Trailers
NARRATIVE:
PURPOSE:

To request Board authorization to award Invitation For Bid (IFB) No. 8980A to CD & Power, Martinez,
CA in the amount of $1,142,374.08, including all applicable sales tax, for the purchase of Generators,
Standby Mobile Engine with Trailers, three (3) pairs of two hundred kilowatt (200kW) and two (2) pairs
of two hundred seventy-five kilowatt (275kW).

DISCUSSION:

The District relies on portable standby mobile engine generators to provide backup power to operate
lights and electrical equipment in stations and other structures, and to ensure the uninterrupted operation
of fire pumps, fans and critical equipment during power outages and emergencies. Backup power is
essential to maintaining life safety systems and equipment that support evacuations as needed throughout
the District, especially for the Oakland vent structure, Transbay tube and subways.

IFB 8980A succeeds IFB 8980 originally advertised on February 9, 2016, for the purchase of two (2) sets
of two hundred kilowatt (200kW) generators. [FB 8980 received a single bid rejected by the Board on
March 10, 2016. IFB 8980A is a re-advertisement for increased quantities, totaling three (3) pairs of
200kW and two (2) pairs of 275kW, trailer mounted generators with all accessories. The units are to be

auto synchronized and configured to run in parallel so that when paired they will provide a combined
load of 400 kW and 550 kW respectively.

Currently three (3) generators rated 300kW and one (1) generator rated 675kW are available to provide
portable emergency power. As the new 200kW generators are placed in service, the 300kW units which
require a large truck and a commercially licensed operator to move will be redesi gnated to supply power
in BART railyards. Weighing less than ten thousand pounds the new trailer mounted units can be towed
by small truck driven by a non-commercially licensed driver. The 675kW unit purchased in 1975 uses a
two (2) cycle diesel engine which no longer meets CA carbon emission requirements, and will be retired
following this procurement. The new generators have four (4) cycle, tier four (4) final diesel powered
engines and can transit to emergency sites with faster response times.

A notice requesting bids was published on April 22, 2016 and bids were mailed to five (5) prospective
bidders. Bids were opened on May 10, 2016 and three (3) bids were received.

Total including



Award of IFB 8980A, Generators, Standby Mobile Engine with Trailers

Bidder Unit Price QOuantity 9.5 % Sales Tax
CD & Power $198,633.00 200kW (3 pairs) $ 595,899.00
Martinez, CA $273,237.54 275kW (2 pairs) $ 546,475.08
Totals $1,142,374.08
Cummins Pacific LLC $233,881.00 200kW (3 pairs) $ 701,643.15
San Leandro, CA $305,696.63 275kW (2 pairs) $ 611,393.25
Total: $1,313,036.40
Peterson Power Systems, Inc. $318,579.30  200kW (3 pairs) $ 955,737.90
San Leandro, CA $497,677.50 275kW (2 pairs) $ 995.355.00
Total: $1,951,092.90

The independent cost estimate by BART Staff is: $1,350,000, including 9.5% sales tax.

Staff has determined that the apparent low bidder, CD & Power, Martinez, CA submitted a responsive
bid, with a fair and reasonable price based upon a market survey of qualified suppliers and the
independent cost estimate by BART staff.

Pursuant to the revised DBE Program, the Office of Civil Rights is utilizing race and gender neutral
efforts for Procurement contracts. Therefore, no DBE goal was set for this contract.

FISCAL IMPACT:

Funding of $1,142,374 for the award of Invitation for Bid #8980A is included in the total project
budget for FMS #15EK200 ~ Traction Power Substation - Procurement. The Office of
Controller/Treasurer certifies that funds are currently available to meet this obligation. The
following table depicts funding assigned to the referenced project and is included in totality to
track funding history against spending authority. Funds needed to meet this request will be
expended from a combination of these sources as listed.

As of May 26, 2016, $33,385,262 is available for this project from the following sources:
BART has expended $14,003,190, committed $14,713,958, and reserved $109,755 to-date for
other action. This action will commit $1,142,374 leaving an available fund balance of

$3,415,985 in this project.

As of May 26, 2016, $33,385,262 is available for this project from the following sources:

Fund Group Amount

Various FT A Grant Sources 26,762,155
Local Area Bridge Toll 4,134,127
BART Funds 2,488,980
Total 33,385,262




Award of IFB 8980A, Generators, Standby Mobile Engine with Trailers

BART has expended $14,003,190, committed $14,713,958, and reserved $109,755 to-date for other
action. This action will commit $1,142,374 leaving an available fund balance of $3,415,985 in this
project.

There is no fiscal impact on available unprogrammed District Reserves.

ALTERNATIVE:

Reject the bid and re-advertise the Contract. This is not likely to lead to increased competition or
improved response time to access standby power during outages and emergencies.

RECOMMENDATION:

On the basis of analysis by Staff and certification by the Controller-Treasurer that the funds are available
for this purpose, it is recommended that the Board adopt the following motion.

MOTION:

The General Manager is authorized to award Invitation For Bid No. 8980A for the procurement of
Generators, Standby Mobile Engine with Trailers, three (3) pairs of 200kW and two (2) pairs of 275 kW
generators, to CD & Power, Martinez, CA in the amount of $1,142,374.08, including all applicable sales
tax, pursuant to notification to be issued by the General Manager, subject to compliance with the

District’s Protest Procedures and FTA requirements related to protests.



EXECUTIVE DECISION DOCUMENT

N
? m MANAGER &P}OZAL: ; } GENERAL MANAGER ACTION REQ'D:

DATE: Q / { / | { \ BOARD INITIATED ITEM: No

OrngmatorlPrepbred‘by amar Allen “~— | General Counsel Controller/Treasurer | District Secretary BARC
Dept: ‘ 7 é
i
g?; Q{J}/.é (o“{W[ ] ia@
M !

signaturedate: S « 3 [ ZCl4

| Status: Routed | Date Created: 05/31/2016
TITLE:
General Obligation Bond Measure for BART Safety, Reliability and Traffic Relief
Program
NARRATIVE:
Purpose:

To obtain Board of Directors (Board) adoption of the attached General Obligation Bond
(G.O. Bond) Resolution, which will:

o Call a special district bond election for November 8, 2016 general election to

authorize the issuance of a G.O. Bond in the aggregate amount of $3.5 billion;

Specify a ballot proposition for the special district bond election;

Request that the District counties consolidate said election;

Authorize preparation and filing of tax rate statement;

Authorize the expenditure of an amount estimated to be $2.0 million to cover

election related expenses;

Authorize the Board to file a ballot argument in support of the bond measure; and

¢ Authorize the establishment of an independent oversight committee to review
and publicly report bond expenditures.

Also, to obtain Board adoption of the attached Reimbursement Resolution, which
declares BART’s intent to reimburse itself from G.O. Bond proceeds, if approved by the
electorate, for bond program related costs.

Staff further recommends that the Board approve the attached General Obligation Bond
Program Report, as required by the District Act.

Discussion:

The proposed $3.5 billion G.O. Bond measure would fund BART’s System Renewal
Plan, estimated to cost $6.83 billion over time including debt service and bond issuance
costs.

BART uses a Strategic Asset Management Plan to assess asset condition and
determine the appropriate level of investment needed to maintain the BART plant in a
state of good repair. This plan assesses asset condition, likelihood of failure and the

\k



impact such failure would have on BART operations. The programs identified for
funding under this bond address BART’s most critical infrastructure needs.

The BART Safety, Reliability and Traffic Relief Program seeks to upgrade facilities to
accomplish two goals:
1. Repair and replace critical safety infrastructure (90% of investment)
2. Relieve crowding, reduce traffic congestion, and expand safe access to stations
(10% of investment).

Specific programs estimated to be funded include:

e Renew Track $625M
e Renew Power Infrastructure $1,225M
e Renew Tunnels and Structures $570M
® Renew Mechanical Infrastructure $135M
® Replace Train Control & Other Infrastructure to Increase Capacity $400M
e Renew Stations $210M
e Expand Safe Access to Stations $135M
e Relieve Crowding, Traffic Congestion $200M

At the meeting of the Board Capital reinvestment Committee on February 1, 2016
and during the Board Workshop on March 10, 2016, staff presented the revised and
updated BART Safety, Reliability and Traffic Relief Program, at an estimated $3.5
billion. A G.O. Bond measure would require a two-thirds vote of the consolidated
electorate in the District. A G.O. Bond authorized by such a measure would be
secured with a dedicated ad valorem property tax levy. The committee directed staff
to include in the program provisions for an oversight committee to verify that bond
revenues are spent as promised.

In order to place the G.O. Bond measure before the voters at the November 2016
general election, the actions listed above under “Purpose” must be taken and the
bond resolution and tax rate statement must be submitted to the County Registrars
by August 12, 2016.

Fiscal Impact:

No immediate fiscal impact. If the Board approves the attached G.O. Bond
Resolution, then the County Registrars will assess the District for election-related
costs in an aggregate amount across all three counties estimated to be
approximately $2.0 million, payable after the November election. If the G.O. Bond
measure is approved by the voters in November, the District will be reimbursed for
these expenses from the G.O. Bond Program. If the G.O. Bond is not approved by
the voters, sufficient funds to cover election expenses have been set aside in the
FY17 Operating Budget.

Alternatives:

That if the Board does not approve the attached G.O. Bond Resolution and the
General Obligation Bond Program Report, a General Obligation Bond measure will

General Obligation Bond Measure for BART Safety, Reliability and Traffic Relief Program 2



not be presented to voters in November 2016. In this circumstance, BART will not
have sufficient funding in the foreseeable future to undertake renovation of critical
infrastructure. If the Board does not approve the attached reimbursement
Resolution, BART would be unable to seek reimbursement of program costs from
the G.O. Bond proceeds, were the the bond measure to be approved by the
electorate in the November election.

Recommendation:

That the Board adopt the attached G.O. Bond Resolution and Reimbursement
Resolution. Also, that the Board approve the attached BART General Obligation
Bond Program Report (System Renewal Plan 2016 and the BART Safety, Reliability,
and Traffic Relief Engineers' Report) .

Motion:

That the Board of Directors adopt the attached G.O. Bond Resolution and
Reimbursement Resolution and approve the attached BART General Obligation
Bond Program Report (System Renewal Plan 2016 and the BART Safety, Reliability, -
and Traffic Relief Engineers' Report) .

Geberal Obligation Bond Measure for BART Safety, Reliability and Traffic Relief Program 3



BOARD OF DIRECTORS OF THE
SAN FRANCISCO BAY AREA RAPID TRANSIT DISTRICT

Resolution No.

RESOLUTION CALLING A SPECIAL DISTRICT BOND ELECTION FOR THE PURPOSE
OF SUBMITTING TO THE QUALIFIED VOTERS OF THE DISTRICT THE PROPOSITION
OF INCURRING BONDED INDEBTEDNESS TO ACQUIRE AND IMPROVE AND
REPLACE BART FACILITIES, FIXING THE DATE OF SAID ELECTION, THE MANNER
OF HOLDING THE SAME, PROVIDING FOR NOTICE THEREOF, AND
CONSOLIDATING SAID DISTRICT BOND ELECTION WITH THE STATE OF
CALIFORNIA GENERAL ELECTION TO BE HELD ON NOVEMBER S8, 2016,
AUTHORIZING PREPARATION AND FILING OF A TAX RATE STATEMENT TO BE
PUBLISHED IN CONNECTION WITH SAID ELECTION, AND AUTHORIZING BOARD
MEMBERS TO FILE A BALLOT ARGUMENT IN SUPPORT OF SUCH BOND MEASURE

WHEREAS, the Board of Directors (The “Board” of San Francisco Bay Area
Rapid Transit District (the “District” or “BART”) heretofore developed reports the (“Original
Reports™) pursuant to Section 29152 of the Public Utilities Code of the State of California (the
“Public Utilities Code”) which contained general plans, estimates and general specifications
pertaining to the construction of the BART system; and

WHEREAS, the Boards of Supervisors of each of the County of Alameda, the
County of Contra Costa, and the City and County of San Francisco approved by a resolution
adopted by a majority vote the Original Reports; and

WHEREAS, the District heretofore called a special election and submitted to the
qualified voters of the District a proposition to incur bonded indebtedness for the acquisition and
construction of rapid transit facilities by the District as described in the Original Reports; and

WHEREAS, the District has heretofore issued all of its first authorized issue of
bonds; and

WHEREAS, subsequent to its first authorized issue of bonds, the District found
and determined that the bonded indebtedness then authorized and issued was insufficient to
cover all costs of the acquisition and construction of its facilities, and, on November 2, 2004,
voters in the District approved a bond measure (known as “Proposition AA™) authorizing an
additional $980 million of bonds to improve seismic safety; and

WHEREAS, pursuant to Section 29157 of the Public Utilities Code, it appears to
the board that the bonded indebtedness heretofore authorized and issued is insufficient to cover
all costs of the acquisition and construction of its facilities, and the board now wishes to make an
order determining the amount of bonds that should be issued in order to raise the additional funds
necessary for the completion of such facilities; and



WHEREAS, the BART has heretofore developed the BART System Renewal
Program (the “Safety, Reliability, and Traffic Relief Program”) to invest in the renewal of the
BART system by improving safety and access, repairing and replacing critical infrastructure, and
increasing capacity, and the District has duly employed engineers, economists, fiscal experts and
others deemed necessary to develop general plans, estimates and general specifications
pertaining to the projects for which a bond issue is proposed, as hereinafter set forth, sufficient in
the opinion of this Board to enable this Board to determine the feasibility of such projects;

WHEREAS, said engineers, economists, fiscal experts and others have made a
report entitled “BART Safety, Reliability, and Traffic Relief Engineer’s Report” (the
“Engineer’s Report”) and a report entitled “BART System Renewal Program Plan 2016™ (the
“System Renewal Plan,” and together with the Engineer’s Report, the “Bond Program Report™)
to the District in time, form and manner required by law, and this Board hereby determines and
declares that the proposed Safety, Reliability, and Traffic Relief Program as specified in the
Bond Program Report is feasible and that the Safety, Reliability, and Traffic Relief Program as
outlined in the Bond Program Report is necessary;

WHEREAS, this Board desires pursuant to Section 29157.1 of the Public
Utilities Code to duly determine the amount of bonds which should be issued in order to raise the
amount of money necessary for the Program specified in the Bond Program Report and as
otherwise provided by law and pursuant to Section 29158 of the Public Utilities Code to call a
special election and submit to the qualified voters of the District the proposition of incurring
such bonded indebtedness;

WHEREAS, this Board desires that the special district election hereinafter
provided for shall be consolidated with the State of California general election to be held in the
State and in the District on November 8, 2016, and desires to take all steps necessary for the
purpose of effecting such consolidation;

WHEREAS, Section 9400 et seq. of the Elections Code of the State of California
(the “Elections Code”) requires that a tax rate statement be contained in all official publications
and ballot pamphlets prepared, sponsored or published by the District which relate to said
election;

WHEREAS, this Board now desires to authorize the filing of a ballot argument in
favor of the proposition to be submitted to the voters at said election;

WHEREAS, if the electors approve the bond proposition, this Board desires to
establish an independent citizens’ oversight committee to review and report to the public
expenditures of the bond proceeds; and

WHEREAS, all acts, conditions and things required by law to exist, happen and
be performed precedent to and in connection with the calling and holding of said special district
bond election hereinafter provided for have existed, happened and been performed in due time,
form and manner as required by law, and this Board is now duly empowered to call said special
district bond election in all respects, as hereinafter set forth;



NOW, THEREFORE, BE IT RESOLVED BY THE BOARD OF
DIRECTORS OF SAN FRANSICO BAY AREA RAPID TRANSIT DISTRICT, AS
FOLLOWS:

Section 1. A special district bond election is hereby ordered and will be held in
the District on Tuesday, November 8, 2016, at which election shall be submitted to the qualified
electors of the District the question of incurring a bonded indebtedness of the District for the
objects and purposes set forth in the following measure:

Measure [ | (Measure Designation to be assigned by the County) BART Safety,
Reliability and Traffic Relief. To keep BART safe; prevent accidents/breakdowns/delays;
relieve overcrowding; reduce traffic congestion/pollution; and improve earthquake safety and
access for seniors/disabled by replacing and upgrading 90 miles of severely worn tracks; tunnels
damaged by water intrusion; 44-year-old train control systems; and other deteriorating
infrastructure, shall the Bay Area Rapid Transit District issue $3.5 billion of bonds for the
acquisition or improvement of real property subject to independent oversight and annual audits?

Said measure shall be set forth on the ballots to be used at said special bond election
within the District in substantially the form hereinabove set forth. Pursuant to Section 29169 of
the Public Utilities Code and Section 1 of Article XIII A of the Constitution of the State of
California, the above proposition shall become effective only upon the affirmative vote of two-
thirds of those electors voting on the measure.

Section 2. The Board hereby determines and declares that the proposed plan of
work for the Safety, Reliability, and Traffic Relief Program in the Bond Program Report is
feasible and the Safety, Reliability, and Traffic Relief Program as set forth in the Bond Program
Report is necessary. The estimated cost of the proposed Safety, Reliability, and Traffic Relief
Program in the Bond Program Report is $3.5 billion. Said estimate includes planning, design,
engineering, acquisition, construction and improvement costs for the Safety, Reliability, and
Traffic Relief Program, which includes improvements to train tracks, power systems, tunnels and
structures, mechanical systems, train control systems, repair and maintenance facilities, and
BART stations.

Section 3. The maximum amount of the principal of the bonds that the Board
hereby orders should be issued to raise the amount of money necessary for said Program as set
forth in the foregoing measure is $3.5 billion, which amount is estimated to be required to
finance the Safety, Reliability, and Traffic Relief Program in the Bond Program Report,
including sufficient funds to cover the cost of inspection of works in course of construction and
the costs of issuing the bonds.

Section 4. The maximum term that the bonds proposed to be issued shall run
before maturity is forty years, providing that the bonds of said authorized issue may be divided
into two or more series or divisions, and the last date of maturity of any such series of bonds may
be fixed at any date or dates up to but not exceeding forty years after the date of the bonds of that
series. The District may fix different dates for the bonds of each series, and the bonds of any
series may be made to mature and become payable at different times from those of any other
series, provided (i) that said maximum maturity above specified shall be calculated from the date



on the face of each bond, separately, irrespective of the fact that different dates may be
prescribed for the bonds of each separate series or division of said authorized issue and (ii) that
the maturity dates of each separate series or division shall comply with the provisions of law.

- Section 5. The interest rate on each series of bonds will be determined upon the
sale thereof and shall not exceed a maximum rate of interest of 12% per annum, the maximum
rate permitted by law.

Section 6. Interest to be paid upon said bonds during the estimated period of
construction of the works of the District (and for three years thereafter or less) shall be a capital
charge and may be payable out of the principal sum realized from the sale of the bonds in an
aggregate amount not to exceed $100,000,000 exclusive of premium generated by the sale of the
bonds and deposited in the debt service fund. Such interest not so paid from bond proceeds shall
be paid by the levy and collection of taxes in the manner and to the extent provided by law.

Section 7. The proceeds of the bonds shall be deposited in a special account
created by the District and applied to the specific purposes set forth in the Measure (as specified
in Section 1 hereof), and the District shall prepare an annual report on the expenditure of the
proceeds and the projects funded thereby all pursuant to Government Code Section 53411.

Section 8. The estimate of the taxes required to be levied for all District purposes
for the fiscal years 2017-18 to 2065-66, the sources from which such taxes shall be obtained, and
the portion or amount to be derived from each source are set forth in Exhibit A attached hereto.

(a) The foregoing estimate of taxes is based upon the District’s contemplated
program of financing, which may be modified to conform to construction, marketing and
financial conditions existing in the future. The actual tax levy in each year will vary, depending
upon the then requirements for bond principal, interest, sinking fund payments, the then assessed
values of taxable property in each county comprising the District, market interest rates at the
time of each issuance, and the District’s credit rating at the time of each issuance.

(b) The source from which such taxes shall be obtained is the net amount derived
from the levy and collection of taxes upon all taxable property in the District based upon the
equalized assessment roll of each county in which the District is situated. The District is not now
authorized to levy income taxes or other similar types of taxes, other than transactions and use
taxes, for the payment of its general obligation bonded indebtedness or administrative and
general expenses.

(c) The proportion or amount of such taxes to be derived from the sources above
stated are as follows:

(1) Annual tax levy for bond principal and interest and for sinking
funds -- The law requires that the Board shall, at the time of fixing the general tax levy
and in the manner provided for the general tax levy, levy and collect annually until the
general obligation bonds of the District are paid, or until there is a sum in the treasury of
the District set apart for that purpose to meet all sums coming due for principal and
interest on the bonds as they become due and payable, a tax sufficient to pay the annual
interest on the bonds and such part of the principal thereof, including any sinking fund



installments required by any of the District’s agreements with its bondholders, as
becomes due before the proceeds of a tax levied at the next general tax levy will be
available for such purposes. The taxes required to be levied and collected on account of
interest, principal, and sinking fund of general obligation bonds of the District shall be in
addition to all other taxes levied for District purposes, and shall be collected at the time
and in the same manner as other district property taxes are collected, and be used for no
other purpose than the payment of the bonds and accruing interest. The District shall
provide for the payment of the principal of and interest on the bonds by the levy and
collection of taxes upon all property in the District subject to taxation by the District
without limitation of rate or amount as provided by law, except that such taxes need not
be levied to the extent that the District deposits in the treasury set apart for that purpose
moneys derived from surplus revenues or any appropriations which may be made to it for
that purpose or from any other funds howsoever derived.

(i1)  Annual tax levy for administrative and general expense --
Following the adoption of Proposition 13 by the voters and the passage of implementing
legislation, the District receives a small portion of the constitutionally limited 1% county-
wide general tax levy in each of the three BART Counties for administrative and general
expense and has no authority to increase such amount. The amount of the District’s
portion of such 1% levy for the 2015-16 fiscal year was approximately $37,400,000.

(iii)  The District levies a 1/2¢ transactions and use tax, 3/4™ of the
revenues of which are allocated to the District and 1/4™ of which is allocated to the
Metropolitan Transportation Commission. Revenues from such tax are pledged to secure
sales tax revenue bonds of the District and are used to pay general operating and capital
costs of the District.

Section 9. This Board does hereby submit to the qualified electors of the District
at said special district bond election the measure of incurring bonded indebtedness set forth in
Section 1 hereof, and hereby designates and refers to said measure as that measure to be set forth
on the ballots as herein prescribed for use at said election:

(a) Said special district bond election shall be held and conducted and the votes
thereat canvassed and the returns thereof made and the result thereof ascertained and determined,
as herein provided; and in all particulars not prescribed by this resolution said special district
bond election shall be held as provided by law.

(b) All residents of the City and County of San Francisco, the County of Alameda
and the County of Contra Costa, respectively, who are qualified electors possessing the
qualifications prescribed by the general election laws of the State of California shall be entitled
to vote at said special district bond election. Whether a resident of the District is a qualified
elector within the District shall be conclusively determined by the register of voters of the City
and County of San Francisco, the County of Alameda and the County of Contra Costa,
respectively, in which said election is held.

(¢) Said special district bond election hereby called shall be consolidated and the
Board of Supervisors of the City and County of San Francisco, the Board of Supervisors of the



County of Alameda and the Board of Supervisors of the County of Contra Costa are hereby each
requested to order the consolidation of said special district bond election with the State of
California general election to be held in said State and in said District on November 8, 2016, all
as required by and pursuant to law, and the election precincts, polling places and officers of
election within the District for said special district bond election shall be the same as those
selected and designated by the Registrar of Voters or the Board of Supervisors, as appropriate, of
the City and County of San Francisco, the County of Alameda and the County of Contra Costa,
respectively, for said State of California general election, and reference is hereby made to said
State of California general election for the designation of the precincts, polling places and
election officers for said special district bond election hereby called.

(d) The hours during which the polls shall be kept open in the City and County of
San Francisco, the County of Alameda and the County of Contra Costa (collectively, the
“Counties” and each a “County”), respectively, shall be the same as those provided for the State
of California general election to be held on November 8, 2016 in each of the Counties,
respectively, being the election with which the election called pursuant to this resolution is
consolidated, and the manner of voting for and against the incurring of such indebtedness shall
be as provided for in the ballots in such general election. The Registrar of Voters or the Board of
Supervisors, as appropriate, of the City and County of San Francisco, the County of Alameda
and the County of Contra Costa, respectively, are and each of them is authorized to canvass, or
cause to be canvassed as provided by law (including the provisions of Section 10411 of the
Election Code), the returns of said special district bond election with respect to the votes cast in
cach of the Counties, respectively, and to certify the result to this Board in all respects as
provided by law, and upon the certification of such results to this Board, this Board shall cause to
be spread upon its minutes a statement of the results of said special district bond election as
ascertained by such canvass.

(¢) The acquisition or improvement of real property to be undertaken with the
proceeds of the bonds is assumed to include the costs of the election and bond issuance and other
construction-related costs, such as construction management, architectural, engineering,
inspection and other planning costs, legal, accounting and similar fees, independent annual
audits, and other incidental or necessary costs. The District shall reimburse itself for all costs
incurred in connection with the calling and conduct of the special district bond election and any
other costs permitted by law from proceeds of the bonds when issued.

Section 10. Notice of said special district bond election shall be given by
publication of the text of this resolution calling such election together with, in each case, a form
of notice of election substantially as set forth in Section 29163 of the Public Utilities Code. Such
notice, together with the text of this resolution, shall be published once a week in each calendar
week for two successive calendar weeks, at any time prior to said election (the first publication
to be not less than twenty (20) or more than ninety (90) days prior to the date fixed for such
special election), in the following newspapers of general circulation, hereby designated by this
Board, which are printed and published in each County within the District, as follows:

Alameda County — East Bay Times

Contra Costa County — East Bay Times



City and County of San Francisco — San Francisco Chronicle

No other notice of the election hereby called need be given. The Secretary is hereby directed to
cause such notice and the text of this resolution to be published as hereinabove provided.

Section 11.  (a) Upon approval of the bond proposition by the voters, the
Board shall establish a Bond Oversight Committee (the “Committee”) who represent a diversity
of expertise, geography and demographic characteristics. Committee members shall consist of
seven members and be appointed for two year terms and be eligible to serve for up to 6 years in
total and are appointed as follows:

(b) The BART Board of Directors (the “Board”) shall appoint:

1 One member nominated by the American Society of Civil
Engineers, or its successor organization, who has expertise in civil engineering
management and oversight;

(i)  One member nominated by the American Institute of Electrical
Engineers, or its successor organization, who has expertise in electrical engineering
management and oversight;

(i)  One member nominated by the American Institute of Certified
Public Accountants, or its successor organization, who has expertise in audit or financial
oversight;

(iv)  One member nominated by the Association for Budgeting &
Financial Management section of the American Society for Public Administration, or its
successor section or organization, who has expertise in municipal finance;

(v) One member nominated by the Project Management Institute, or its
successor organization, who has expertise in construction project management;

(vi)  Two members nominated by the League of Women Voters, Bay
Area, or its successor organization or chapter; provided that the Board may designate
alternative professional organizations other than those set forth above from which to
request nominations of members to serve on the Committee.

(c) Committee members shall:

(1) Not be a District employee or official, or be an owner, employee or
consultant to a District contractor;

(i)  Not participate or interfere in the selection process of any vendor
hired to execute bond funded projects;

(1i1))  Be required to sign a conflict of interest statement and to disclose
any potential conflicts that may arise in the course of their service.



(d) The Committee shall provide diligent, independent and public oversight over
the expenditure of funds from the sale of District general obligation bonds.

(e) The Committee shall be staffed by the Controller/Treasurer’s Office.

(f) The Committee shall report directly to the public. The Committee shall focus
its oversight on:

(1) Assessing how bond proceeds are spent to ensure that all spending
1s authorized by the ballot measure;

(11)  Assessing whether projects funded by bond proceeds are
completed in a timely, cost-effective and quality manner consistent with the best interests
of BART riders and District residents.

(g) The Committee is also charged with the responsibility of communicating its
findings and recommendations to the District and the public.

(h) If the projects funded by bond proceeds are not being completed in a timely,
cost-effective, and quality manner, the Committee may identify the reasons why and make
suggestions in writing to the Board and District Staff for improvements.

(i) The Committee shall publish an annual report, which shall include the
following: :

(1) A detailed account of the Committee’s activities, including its
expenditures;

(i) A detailed breakdown on the uses of bond funds in the previous
year, and a confirmation that they were expended legally and in compliance with the will
of the voters. The breakdown shall include an estimate of the impact to the BART system
and to BART riders of the projects, including any consequences of construction;

(iii) A detailed breakdown of the anticipated use of bond funds already
received by the District to be used in the following years to be provided by BART staff to
the Committee. The breakdown provided by BART staff shall include an estimate of the
impact to the BART system and to BART riders of the projects, including any
consequences of construction;

(iv) A detailed progress report on the projects funded by bond
expenditures. The progress report shall include whether the projects are progressing on
time, on budget, and in accordance with the District’s quality and sustainability
standards. The report shall lay out the original and current estimates for cost and
completion, and explicitly highlight any significant variances or risk or significant future
variances compared to estimates of the budget, timeliness or scope;

(v) A report on any suggestions made by the Committee in the
previous year, and whether previous suggestions have been adopted;



(vi) A report on the results of any financial or performance audits,
relevant to the Bond and the Committee’s work, performed by the District during the
previous year.

() The Committee may be disbanded when all bond funds are spent.

Section 12.  The Secretary of the District is hereby directed to deliver, no later
than August 12, 2016 (which date is not fewer than 88 days prior to the date set for the election),
a copy of this resolution and order to the Registrar of Voters of each County, and shall file a
copy of this resolution and order with the Clerk of the Board of Supervisors of each County and
the Registrar of Voters of each County.

Section 13. Pursuant to Resolution no. 5208 (the “Fare Increase Resolution™) of
this Board, adopted February 28, 2013, this Board extended the District’s producthty—adJusted
inflation-based fare increase program (the “Fare Increase Program™) to raise fares in January of
2014, 2016, 2018, and 2020. The Fare Increase Program was then estimated to generate
approximately $325 million in additional fare revenue for capital renovation projects over the
eight year period beginning in 2014 and ending in 2022. The District hereby reconfirms its
intention to use such additional fare revenue generated in the period beginning in 2014 and
ending in 2022 by the District’s productivity-adjusted inflation-based fare increase program (as
such program is set forth in Exhibit A to the Fare Increase Resolution) for capital renovation
projects; provided that such revenue is not reduced by unforeseen economic circumstances or
decreased ridership or is required to address costs in the event of a natural disaster.

Section 14.  (a) The Controller/Treasurer of the District is hereby authorized to
prepare a tax rate statement (the “Tax Rate Statement”) conforming to the requirements of
Section 9401 of the Elections Code, and to file said Tax Rate Statement with the Registrar of
Voters of each County.

(b) The Registrar of Voters of each County is hereby requested to include the Tax
Rate Statement in all official publications or postings pertaining to the Election, pursuant to the
terms of Section 9402 of the Elections Code.

Section 15.  The members of the Board are hereby authorized, but not directed,
to prepare and file with the Registrar of Voters of each County a ballot argument in favor of the
proposition contained in Section 1 hereof, within the time established by the Registrar of Voters
of each County.



Section 16.  This resolution, being a resolution relating to an election, shall take
effect immediately upon adoption.

PASSED AND ADOPTED this  day of June, 2016, by the following vote: |
AYES:

NOES:

ABSTAIN:

ABSENT:

ATTEST:

President

Secretary

10



EXHIBIT A

ESTIMATE OF DISTRICT TAXES

General
Expenses and

Current 2018 Proposed Administrative and Capital Costs Existing Bond Total

Earthquake Remaining Proposed 3.5b General Expenses Paid from Debt Paid from  Annual Cost

Safety Debt Earthquake Safety  BART Bond Paid from Ad Transactions Transactions Paid from

Fiscal Year _ Service Debt Service Debt Service Valorem Taxes* and Use Taxes* And Use Taxes*  Taxes
2018 $50,378 $13,010 $39,724 $256,690 $53,026 $412,828
2019 50,374 $15,883 13,010 40,916 264,391 53,175 437,748
2020 50,378 15,882 28,188 42,143 272,322 53,346 462,259
2021 49,964 15,885 28,192 43,408 280,492 - 53,495 471,435
2022 42,414 15,883 45,537 44,710 288,907 53,642 491,092
2023 42,412 15,882 45,534 46,051 297,574 53,829 501,283
2024 42,411 15,885 65,053 47,433 306,501 54,002 531,285
2025 42,411 15,881 65,051 48,856 315,696 54,235 542,130
2026 42,414 15,885 86,738 50,321 325,167 54,355 574,880
2027 42,413 15,885 86,731 51,831 334,922 54,554 586,337
2028 42,412 15,883 110,593 53,386 344,970 54,758 622,002
2029 42,412 15,883 110,598 54,987 355,319 29,736 608,935
2030 42,406 15,884 136,607 56,637 365,978 29,924 647,435
2031 42,410 15,884 136,606 58,336 376,958 30,138 660,332
2032 42,411 15,883 164,799 60,086 388,267 30,351 701,796
2033 42,414 15,884 164,806 61,889 399,914 30,579 715,486
2034 42,413 15,885 195,160 63,745 411,912 27,225 756,341
2035 42,411 15,881 195,158 65,658 424,269 22,148 765,526
2036 45,448 15,885 221,680 67,628 436,997 22,305 815,943
2037 45,445 15,884 227,672 69,656 450,107 6,445 815,209
2038 15,882 227,673 71,746 463,611 6,445 785,356
2039 15,883 227,673 73,898 471,519 6,446 801,419
2040 15,885 227,676 76,115 491,844 6,448 817,968
2041 15,883 227,687 78,399 506,600 6,444 835,012
2042 15,886 227,678 80,751 521,798 6,445 852,557
2043 15,886 227,679 83,173 537,452 864,190
2044 15,883 227,677 85,669 553,575 882,804
2045 15,886 227,689 88,239 570,182 901,996
2046 15,883 227,680 90,886 587,288 921,736
2047 15,882 227,672 93,612 604,907 942,072
2048 15,881 214,674 96,421 623,054 950,030
2049 214,665 99,313 641,745 955,724
2050 199,487 102,293 660,998 962,777
2051 199,491 105,362 680,828 985,680
2052 182,145 108,522 701,252 991,920
2053 182,146 111,778 722,290 1,016,214
2054 162,627 115,131 743,959 1,021,717
2055 162,630 118,585 766,278 1,047,493
2056 140,942 122,143 789,266 1,052,351
2057 140,938 125,807 812,944 1,079,688
2058 117,092 129,581 837,332 1,084,005
2059 117,089 133,469 862,452 1,113,010
2060 91,072 137,473 888,326 1,116,871
2061 91,072 141,597 914,975 1,147,644
2062 62,884 145,845 942,425 1,151,153
2063 62,879 150,220 970,697 1,183,797
2064 32,524 154,727 999,818 1,187,069
2065 32,524 159,369 1,029,813 1,221,705
TOTAL $885,751 $476,508 $6,830,382 $4,147,525 $26,800,580 $853495 $39,994,241

OHSUSA:765292735



THE BOARD OF DIRECTORS
OF THE
SAN FRANCISCO BAY AREA RAPID TRANSIT DISTRICT

RESOLUTION NO.

RESOLUTION OF THE BOARD OF DIRECTORS
OF THE BAY AREA RAPID TRANSIT DISTRICT
DECLARING OFFICIAL INTENT TO
REIMBURSE CERTAIN EXPENDITURES FROM
PROCEEDS OF INDEBTEDNESS

WHEREAS, the Board of Directors of the San Francisco Bay Area Rapid Transit
District (the “District”) intends to acquire, construct and complete municipal improvements
consisting of systemwide infrastructure improvements (the Project”); and

WHEREAS, the District (and for purposes of this resolution and the Treasury
Regulations referenced herein, the “Issuer”) expects to pay certain expenditures (the
“Reimbursement Expenditures”) in connection with the Project prior to the issuance of
indebtedness for the purpose of financing costs associated with the Project on a long term basis;

WHEREAS, the Issuer reasonably expects that debt obligations in an amount not
expected to exceed $3.5 billion will be issued in order to finance the Project, and that certain of
the proceeds of such debt obligations will be used to reimburse the Reimbursement
Expenditures;

WHEREAS, Section 1.150-2 of the regulations promulgated by the United States
Department of the Treasury (the “Treasury Regulations”) requires the Issuer to declare its
reasonable official intent to reimburse prior expenditures for the Projects with proceeds of a
subsequent borrowing, if such proceeds are to be deemed spent upon the reimbursement
allocation, for purposes of federal tax law;

BE IT RESOLVED by the Board of Directors of the San Francisco Bay Area Rapid
Transit District, as follows:

Section 1. Recitals. All of the above recitals are true and correct and this Board of
Directors so finds.

Section 2. Compliance with the Requirements of Section 1.150-2 of the Treasury
Regulations. For purposes of establishing compliance with the requirements of Section 1.150-2
of the Treasury Regulations, this Board of Directors hereby declares its official intent to use
proceeds of indebtedness to reimburse itself for Reimbursement Expenditures. This declaration
does not bind the Issuer to make any expenditure, incur any indebtedness, or proceed with the
Project. :




Section 3. Effective Date. This resolution shall take effect immediately.

PASSED AND ADOPTED by the Board of Directors of the San Francisco Bay Area Rapld
Transit District at a regular meeting held on June __, 2016, by the following vote, to wit:

AYES:
NOES:
ABSENT:
ABSTAIN:

Grace Crunican, General Manager
ATTEST:

Kenneth A. Duron, District Secretary



SECRETARY'S CERTIFICATE

I, Kenneth A. Duron, the undersigned Secretary of the San Francisco Bay Area Rapid
Transit District, do hereby certify as follows:

The attached resolution is a full, true and correct copy of a resolution duly adopted at a
regular meeting of the Board of Directors of the San Francisco Bay Area Rapid Transit District
duly held at the regular meeting place thereof, on June _, 2016, of which meeting all of the
members of the Board of Directors had due notice and at which a quorum thereof were present;
and at the meeting the resolution was adopted by the following vote:

AYES:
NOES:
ABSENT:
ABSTAIN:

An agenda of the meeting was posted at least 72 hours before the meeting at 344 20
Street, Oakland, California, a location freely accessible to members of the public, and a brief
description of the resolution appeared on the agenda. A copy of the agenda is attached hereto.

I have carefully compared the attached copy with the original minutes of the meeting on
file and of record in my office. The resolution has not been amended, modified or rescinded
since the date of its adoption, and the same is now in full force and effect.

Dated: , 2016.

Kenneth A. Duron, District Secretary



BART SAFETY, RELIABLILITY, AND TRAFFIC RELIEF
ENGINEERS’ REPORT

May 16, 2016



,, ART BART Safety, Reliability, and Traffic Relief

Engineers’ Report

Background

The federal government, in October 2012, adopted legislation requiring transit agencies,
including BART, to develop a transit asset management plan that includes, at minimum, capital
asset inventories and condition assessments, decision support tools, and investment
prioritization for capital projects. In Fiscal Year 2012, BART began aligning its asset
management program with emerging FTA requirements. It was a process of systematically
surveying BART system assets, identifying risks, developing capital projects to address those

risks, and prioritizing projects for financing

. when funding became available.

o
7 State Auditor ot

As verified by the State of California’s
Auditor in a report, dated April 2015, BART
has an asset management program that
uses a risk-based approach for prioritizing
capital projects both for delivery and for
funding requests.

Furthermore, the State Audit Report

me A presents the following:

“BART’s projections for its operating
budgets for fiscal years 2007-08 through
2012-13 were reasonably consistent with
BART’s actual financial performance,
indicating that its projection methodology

San Francisco Bay Area
Rapid Transit District

yields valid results.”

n Repor 2005- 18
This bond measure supports the BART System Renewal Program funded at $3.5 billion,
allocating ninety percent to replace critical safety infrastructure ($3.165 billion) and the
remaining ten percent (5335 million) for focusing on crowd relief, traffic congestion, and
expanding safe access to BART passenger stations.

Methodology

BART developed a Strategic Asset Management Plan (SAMP) to guide decisions about system
reinvestment, minimizing risk, and maintaining financial stability. This SAMP utilizes detailed,
ongoing data collection for each significant asset class to assess the likelihood of failure and

May 16, 2016 Page 2 of 9



| BART BART Safety, Reliability, and Traffic Relief

Engineers’ Report

understand the impact that such a failure would have on BART operations. The programs
selected and identified for this bond address BART’s most critical infrastructure needs.

The specific tools used are the Risk Register (RR) and the Capital Needs Inventory (CNI). The RR
compiles items that the BART Maintenance division has identified during preventive inspections
and through the trending of failure data as the greatest risks to safety and service. The CNI is
generated by the BART Engineering division, and it compiles project solutions for identified
risks.

These risks and engineered solutions are weighed against specific criteria, including but not
limited to impacts on safety and service. This prioritization is used to guide decisions about
funding projects. '

General Description of Facilities to Acquire or Construct

Through the System Renewal Program, BART is planning to upgrade facilities to accomplish two
main goals:

1) Replace critical safety infrastructure
2) Relieve crowding, reduce traffic congestion, and expand the safe access into passenger
stations

The categories of programs to be funded include:

Estimated Cost to Acquire or Construct Facilities Under the Bond

Program Funding Level
- Renew Track > $625M
- Renew Power Infrastructure > $1,225M
- Repair Tunnels and Structures > S570M
- Renew Mechanical Infrastructure > $135M
- Replace Train Control and Other Infrastructure to > S400M
Increase Capacity
- Renew Stations > $210M
- Expand Safe Access to Stations > $135M
- Relieve Crowding, Traffic Congestion > $200M
- TOTAL $3,500M

May 16, 2016 Page 3 of 9



BART BART Safety, Reliability, and Traffic Relief

Engineers’ Report

Estimated Period of Facility Acquisition or Construction

The timeframe for the implementation of the System Renewal Program Plan is twenty-one
years starting in Fiscal Year 2017 through Fiscal Year 2038. However, an accelerated estimated
period for completing the most critical work associated with this bond measure is ten years
starting in Fiscal Year 2017 to address the urgent need for improvements to real property.

Summarized Description of Proposed Work by Category

Renew Track $625,000,000

The critical components of the track system, many of which were installed during original
construction, are worn and reaching the end of intended design life. These components include
aerial and at grade interlockings and turnouts, rail, ties, fasteners, switch points and crossings.
The resulting impact has been an increase in slow orders for degraded track condition.

The scope of work planned under this bond would provide engineering solutions and project
implementation to address track infrastructure which includes but is not limited to the
following:

- Interlocking and turnout replacements

- Mainline running rail and restraining rail replacements, as well as yard track renewal

- Replacement of track appurtenances (direct fixation assemblies, switch components,
concrete ties, and gage-face lubricators)

- Eliminate old track joints

- Replace deteriorated track access (toe) paths, pursuant to PUC mandate

Renew Power Infrastructure $1,225,000,000

The traction power system which provides power for the movement of trains is compromised
and in need of comprehensive rehabilitation. Nitrogen filled 34.5KV cabling is corroded from
elements and electrolysis and leaking making it susceptible to flashover failures. In large parts
of the system the designed 34.5KV redundancy had been lost and failures requiring reduced
train movement are increasingly common. The DC rectifiers in the substations are deteriorated
and experiencing increased demand associated with heavy passenger loads. An increasing
failure rate at substations is regularly compromising service by requiring that trains accelerate
at slower rates of speed. Obsolescence makes acquiring the parts necessary to make repairs
difficult and costly.

May 16, 2016 Page 4 of 9



B BART BART Safety, Reliability, and Traffic Relief

Engineers’ Report

Facilities electrical systems have also begun to reach the end of their intended design life and
will require renovation. One such system is the Transbay Tube Power System which provides
lighting, ventilation and communication. The 4160V and 480V switchgears and associated
transformers have also reached the end of their intended design life.

Another critical system, the uninterrupted power supply for train control, which ensures
continued automatic train operation in the event of a PG&E power failure, is also operating
beyond its intended design life and experiencing elevated failure rates.

Aged emergency lighting systems and fire alarms in stations are operating beyond their
intended design life and must be replaced.

The scope of work planned under this bond would provide engineered solutions and project
implementation to address both traction and facilities power problems including, but not
limited to, the following:

- Substation replacements and additions

- High voltage 34.5 kV cable replacements

- Third rail replacement

- Tunnel lighting upgrades

- Emergency lighting in stations

- Uninterruptible Power Supply (UPS) in Train Control Rooms system-wide

- Fire alarm replacements

- Transformer and switchgear replacement serving Trans Bay Tube and joining structures
- Generator replacement for train control systems & BART Police facilities

Repair Tunnels and Structures $570,000,000

Water intrusion in tunnels and facilities is a major problem. This is particularly pronounced in
the Market Street tunnel in downtown San Francisco where ground water is seeping through
tunnel liner joints and cracks. This water creates a number of problems including increased
electrolysis and damage to electrical components, rapid cooling of rail from water spray which
has increased the occurrence of rail breaks and deterioration of emergency egress structures.
Similarly, water intrusion into train control rooms and elevator and escalator controls has
resulted in compromised performance of that equipment.

Another structural element requiring rehabilitation is street grating and associated vent shafts
along Market Street. These structures experience heavy loading cycles as vehicular traffic and

May 16, 2016 Page5 of 9



BART BART Safety, Reliability, and Traffic Relief

Engineers’ Report

Muni street cars cross over them. Some welds have experienced fatigue failures and the base
metal of the main structure has begun to show evidence of failing by brittle fracture.

Some structural elements on aerial sections of track need replacement. Sound walls on the
Concord and Richmond lines have deteriorated anchors and panel connections predisposing
them to failure. Insufficient aerial fall protection results in slowed maintenance activities and
greater risk to workers.

The scope of work planned under this bond would provide engineered solutions and project
implementation to addresses structural assets including but not limited to the following:

- Waterproofing tunnels and facilities

- Replace cross-passage doors in Trans-Bay Tube

- Water intrusion in Train Control Rooms as well as Elevator and Escalator Rooms
- Aerial track sound-wall replacement

- Renew aerial track cat walks

- Rehabilitate street grates and vent shafts

- Eliminate operating envelope conflicts on platform edges (CPUC requirement)

- Slope and foundation stabilization at Daly City Station platform

- Address Hayward Earthquake Fault Creep Repairs in the Berkeley Hills Tunnel

Renew Mechanical Infrastructure $135,000,000

Many of the basic mechanical elements that support BART operations require renewal.
Examples include the 40-year old HVAC system that maintains temperature control for the
Computer Room and Operations Control System. When this system fails, room temperature
rises to ninety-five degrees in one hour threatening computer operations. The fire suppression
system for these areas is antiquated and uses halon technology which if discharged would
create damage to much of the computer equipment.

Mechanical elements of tunnels requiring replacement include line sump pumps that are
experiencing increased failure rates due to age, severe corrosion and environmental
contributors. These pumps are critical in keeping tunnels and trackways dry.

Mechanical infrastructure in shops and yards also needs to be replaced. Chief amongst them
are the hydraulic lifts and rail car turntables. The shop hydraulic lifts raise train cars and truck
assemblies in order to allow personnel to work on undercar components. Many of the lifts have
been in service for more than twenty years. The cylinders have deteriorated and leak

May 16, 2016 Page 6 0of 9



[ BAR BART Safety, Reliability, and Traffic Relief

Engineers’ Report

compromising their reliability and consequently the productivity of the shops. The yard
turntables are used to spin cars at the end of lines. This is particularly important when
configuring lead and trail cars to make trains. The turntables in the Concord, Hayward and
Richmond yards were installed during original construction and have operated beyond their
design life. Due to increased revenue service and system expansion, these turntables are now
failing at a higher rate resulting in increased down time.

The scope of work planned under this bond would provide engineering solutions and project
implementation to address mechanical infrastructure includes but is not limited to the
following:

- HVAC replacements including control center computer room

- Fire protection including control center computer room

- Third rail cover board enhancement

- Sewage pump station replacements system-wide

- Replace fire hose piping in stations and facilities per NFPA code

- Construct storm and waste water treatment facilities per state regulations

- Wet dust collector replacements in Shops per Bay Area Air Quality Standards

Replace and Upgrade Train Control and other System
Infrastructure to Increase Peak Period Capacity $400,000,000

The train control system controls the speed and movement of trains on the rail network, keeps
the trains running safely. BART’s current Train Control System is operating at capacity through
the trans bay core and will not be able to meet the growing demand. The current system can
safely accommodate one train every 2.5 minutes or 23 trains an hour through the Transbay
Tube. Growth projections for the near future mandate that capacity be increased to 30 trains
an hour. Additionally, train control is currently the single largest system contributing to service
delays.

This bond would enable full funding for the design and installation of a communications based
train control system. This investment will allow trains to operate at more closely spaced
intervals and at faster speeds, permitting up to 25% more trains through the Trans Bay Tube by
increasing the peak hour peak direction trains from 23 to up to 30 trains. The new train control
system will improve BART’s reliability, decreasing train-control-related delays and enhancing
safety. This investment will also allow BART to increase its train car storage capacity and
facilities needed to keep up with the growing service demands.

May 16, 2016 Page 7 of 9



ART BART Safety, Reliability, and Traffic Relief

Engineers’ Report

The scope of work planned under this bond would, subject to constitutional restrictions,
provide engineering solutions and project implementation to address train control and
associated infrastructure.

The bond program would also provide funding for the following additional infrastructure
improvement projects:

- Upgrade traction power capacity
- Expand vehicle storage and shop capacity

Renew Stations $210,000,000

BART’s stations are gateways to the system. Like much of the system, many of BART’s stations
are more than 40 years old and are in need of renewal. This is particularly true of escalators in
the downtown San Francisco and Oakland stations. The program plan will allow BART to renew
its aging stations, improving comfort, safety and security, and overall station capacity.

Examples of projects in this area include:

- Replace and upgrade escalators, including weatherproofing canopies

- Enhanced station lighting and sight lines to improve passenger safety and security

- New infrastructure to reduce fare evasion

- Upgraded design and art elements which connect stations to surrounding community

Expand Safe Access to Stations $135,000,000

As demand for BART has grown, crowding has also increased for those trying to access BART.
Key stations, such as Montgomery and Embarcadero, have substantial crowding issues on
platforms and escalators during peak times. Parking for both vehicles and bicycles reaches
capacity early in the morning at many BART stations. At the same time, aging and out-of-date
facilities at original stations limit many BART riders who may want to reach stations on foot, on
buses, or using emerging ride-sharing services.

Examples of projects in this area include:

- Enhance access for seniors and people with disabilities
- Improve parking availability

- Expand bicycle facilities

- Renew and expand bus intermodal facilities

May 16, 2016 Page 8 of 9



B BART BART Safety, Reliability, and Traffic Relief

Engineers’ Report

Relieve Crowding and Reduce Traffic Congestion $200,000,000

As early as the 1950’s, forward-thinking Bay Area residents had the vision to anticipate the
region’s growing need for safe, reliable, efficient transportation and created the BART system.
In the years since, BART system ridership has grown in parallel with the regional economy.
BART has absorbed a large share of new travel demand, keeping hundreds of thousands of cars
off the region’s crowded roadways every day and helping major job centers to emerge and
thrive in places that would not have otherwise been possible.

Examples of projects in this area include:

- Station platform doors

- Rail crossovers

- Storage tracks

- Turn-backs

- Design and engineering of a second Trans Bay crossing

Investments in this category will be used to evaluate, perform environmental studies, design,
engineer, and implement, subject to funding eligibility requirements, for infrastructure projects
to help meet the growing demand for BART service.

May 16, 2016 Page 9 0of9



ba

EXECUTIVE DECISION DOCUMENT
[ L)

WANAGER A ROVAL:

DATE:

GENERAL MANAGER ACTION REQ'D:

BOARD INITIATED ITEM: No

Originator/Prepfred by: Abigail  |GeferalCojisel | Controller/Treasurer | District Secretary |BARC ;
Thorne-Lyman b @@%%
DEP P!annln?fojévelgamen Constructlon " {", iy fig >
A 5

S-gnature[ ate (\iif lf {’{[ 1 [1 ”:?i/ [ 1
ITLE: 7 I

Statmn Access Policy and Transit-Oriented Development Policy
NARRATIVE:

PURPOSE: To request that the Board of Directors adopt the Station Access Policy and the
Transit-Oriented Development Policy.

DISCUSSION:

The Board is being asked to adopt a Station Access Policy and a Transit-Oriented Development
(TOD) Policy. These policies are being considered jointly because they address shared goals,
objectives, and implementation synergies. The policies collectively seek to:

Support implementation of “Plan Bay Area,” the Bay Area’s regional growth plan
Promote equity and equitable access to the BART system

Encourage transportation choices

Support ridership growth and, in particular, the growth of ridership at times when the
BART system has capacity for additional ridership

e Strengthen the connections between people, places, and services.

Taken together, the policies establish a coordinated set of strategies for station area investment
throughout the BART system that is guided by a shared typology that describes the types of
places envisioned around each station.

Station Access Policy

The Station Access Policy is designed to support BART’s broader goal of enhancing livability in
the Bay Area, reinforce sustainable communities, and enable riders to get to and from stations
safely, comfortably, affordably, and cost-effectively. The Station Access Policy will guide the
District’s station access investments, resource management, and practices through 2025. Much
has changed in the years since the existing BART Access Management and Improvements Policy
was put into place in 2000. The District has experienced rapid ridership growth, has implemented
a paid parking policy, and has opened or is currently constructing several BART expansion
projects. These changes present an opportunity to update the Station Access Policy to better
reflect the current situation and give staff greater direction in identifying potential access projects
and investments.

The Station Access Policy sets forth a series of goals with complementary objectives as well as



Station Access Policy and Transit-Oriented Development Policy

broad strategies for achieving those goals. The Policy also includes the following figures:

e Figure 1: Station Access Design Hierarchy. This figure provides guidance on design at
the station level. It ensures safe access for the most vulnerable modes of access to BART
stations by ranking the various access modes in order of vulnerability, thus ensuring that
they are considered first in the course of planning access projects and investments, and
that trade-offs are made to benefit the more vulnerable modes.

e Figure 2: Station Access Typology Investment Matrix. This figure identifies primary and
secondary investments by station type, as well as which types of access modes would be
either accommodated or not encouraged for each station type.

The Station Access Policy references a Station Typology Map (attached), which identifies
existing and aspirational Station Types for each station in the BART system. This map is not part
of the Station Access Policy being considered for adoption because it will change over time.

If the Board adopts the proposed Station Access Policy, Staff intends to return to the Board in
November 2016 to present the Board with the following key supporting documents for policy
implementation: draft performance measures, including targets and timeline, and a four-year
work plan consistent with the Strategic Planning process.

Transit-Oriented Development Policy

The current Transit-Oriented Development (TOD) Policy was adopted in 2005. At the time of its
adoption, the TOD Policy was considered innovative, as it acknowledged the significant impact
upon BART’s ridership growth of transit-oriented development within walking distance of a
station area, rather than just development on BART-owned property. Although the TOD Policy
has held up well over the last decade, the following three critical changes in the region have
triggered the need to update the policy:

1. The Metropolitan Transportation Commission and the Association of Bay Area
Governments created Plan Bay Area in response to State legislation requiring regions to
adopt combined land use and transportation plans in order to reduce greenhouse gas
emissions

2. The loss of Redevelopment Agencies, which were a major tool used to implement TOD
both on and off BART property

3. The growing housing affordability crisis, which has created repercussions for BART as
commuters travel longer distances to work and housing around BART stations has
become less affordable.

The proposed modifications to the TOD Policy address these concerns by articulating:

e The role BART will play in partnering with cities to adopt land use plans that encourage
transit-supportive land uses

e The importance of partnering with other agencies, non-profits and the private sector to
implement TOD and to address barriers formerly overcome by Redevelopment Agencies,



Station Access Policy and Transit-Oriented Development Policy

such as parcel assembly and the coordination of implementation and finance efforts
e The targets for overall production of affordable housing for transit-dependent
populations on BART property.

If the Board adopts the proposed TOD Policy, Staff intends to return to the Board in November
2016 to present the following key supporting documents for policy implementation: a land use
and affordable housing strategy that prioritizes sites for investment, a four-year work plan
consistent with the Strategic Planning process, and TOD Guidelines that offer greater clarity
about the expectations and process for development of TOD on, and adjacent to, BART property.

FISCAL IMPACT: The fiscal impact associated with adoption of the Station Access Policy and
the TOD Policy is unknown at this time. The four-year work plans that will be developed if the
Board adopts the policies will further articulate the overall expected level of staff time and
investment from BART, as well as the potential financial and other returns to BART associated
with implementation of the policies.

ALTERNATIVES: Do not adopt the Station Access Policy and/or TOD Policy as currently
presented. Continue operating under the 2000 BART Access Management and Improvements
Policy and/or the 2005 TOD Policy.

RECOMMENDATION: It is recommended that the Board adopt the Station Access Policy and
the TOD Policy.

MOTIONS:

1) The BART Board of Directors hereby adopts the attached Station Access Policy, which
shall supersede the previously adopted BART Access Management and Improvements
Policy.

2) The BART Board of Directors hereby adopts the attached Transit-Oriented Development
Policy, which shall supersede the previously adopted Transit-Oriented Development

Policy.



EXECUTIVE DECISION DOCUMENT

GENERAL MANAGER ACTION REQ'D:

BOARD INITIATED ITEM: No

OngmatorIPr pared b : oe Poblete
Dept: ControllersTreasurer x6070

General 1 cOntroIIerlTreasurer »
W L l%i IWMM/ 1
TITLE] !

AUTHORIZE THE ISSUAN E AND SALE OF THE DISTRICT’S SALES TAX
REVENUE BONDS, 2016 REFUNDING SERIES A

NARRATIVE:

PURPOSE:

To request Board adoption of a resolution, which authorizes the issuance and sale of not to
exceed $100 million in Sales Tax Revenue Bond, 2016 Refunding Series A to, 1) implement the
preparation, execution and delivery of the necessary documents including the Preliminary
Official Statements, the Official Statements, Supplemental Indenture or Paying Agent
Agreement, Bond Purchase Agreements, Continuing Disclosure Agreement, Escrow Agreements
and related agreements and, 2) to attend rating agency meetings and to negotiate and commit to
bond credit support agreements, if any, in connection with the issuance of the Bonds.

DISCUSSION:

In 2016, the District intends to issue not to exceed $100 million in Sales Tax Revenue Bonds.
Proceeds of the Bonds will be used to refund outstanding bonds to achieve debt service savings
and to pay costs of issuance of the bonds.

The proposed resolutions will authorize the Controller-Treasurer to negotiate the structure,
financing and cost of issuance of the Bonds. In addition, the resolutions authorize the
preparation, execution, and delivery of the necessary documents including the Preliminary
Official Statement, the Official Statement, Supplemental Indenture or Paying Agent Agreement,
Bond Purchase Agreement, Continuing Disclosure Agreement, Escrow Agreement and related
agreements, and payment to cover the costs of issuance as well as the negotiation and
commitment to bond insurance or other credit support agreements, if any, in connection with
issuance of Sales Tax Revenue Bonds, 2016 Refunding Series A. The sale of these bonds will be
done through a competitive sale.

FISCAL IMPACT:

The District proposes to issue Sales Tax Revenue Bonds, 2016 Refunding Series A, in the total
principal amount of not to exceed $100 million. After setting aside approximately 1% of
principal amount for costs of issuance the remaining proceeds will be used to refinance the



AUTHORIZE THE ISSUANCE AND SALE OF THE DISTRICT’S SALES TAX REVENUE BONDS, 2016 REFUNDING

outstanding 2006 bond issues in order to achieve debt service savings.

All fees for the Sales Tax Revenue Bonds, 2016 Refunding Series A, shall be paid out of bond
sale proceeds, therefore, no direct costs will be paid by the District. If no bonds are issued, no
expense will be incurred except for legal expenses. Interest and principal debt service on the
bonds will be paid in accordance with the provisions of the Supplemental Indenture from sales
tax proceeds via allocation from the District’s annual adopted operating budget.

ALTERNATIVES:

The District may elect not to issue the Sales Tax Revenue Bonds, 2016 Refunding Series A, at
this time which would mean no debt service savings would be available with respect to bonds
currently outstanding.

RECOMMENDATION:

To authorize the Controller-Treasurer to negotiate the structure, financing and cost of issuance
for the Sales Tax Revenue Bonds, 2016 Refunding Series A, and execute and deliver all
documents necessary for their issuance.

MOTION:

The Board adopts the attached resolution, incorporated herein as if set forth in full, authorizing
the issuance and sale of not to exceed $100 million aggregate principal amount of Sales Tax
Revenue Bonds, 2016 Refunding Series A, and authorizing the preparation, execution and

delivery of agreements and documents in connection therewith.



SAN FRANCISCO BAY AREA RAPID TRANSIT DISTRICT

RESOLUTION OF THE SAN FRANCISCO BAY AREA RAPID TRANSIT DISTRICT
AUTHORIZING AND APPROVING THE ISSUANCE AND SALE OF NOT TO EXCEED
$100 MILLION SAN FRANCISCO BAY AREA RAPID TRANSIT DISTRICT SALES TAX
REVENUE BONDS; AUTHORIZING THE EXECUTION AND DELIVERY OF A THIRD
SUPPLEMENTAL INDENTURE PURSUANT TO WHICH SUCH BONDS ARE TO BE
ISSUED AND A NOTICE OF SALE PURSUANT TO WHICH SUCH BONDS ARE TO BE
SOLD AND THE PUBLICATION OF NOTICE OF INTENTION TO SELL; APPROVING AN
OFFICIAL STATEMENT RELATING TO SUCH BONDS; AUTHORIZING EXECUTION
AND DELIVERY OF CERTAIN DOCUMENTS IN CONNECTION WITH THE ISSUANCE,
SALE AND SECURITY OF SUCH BONDS, INCLUDING A CONTINUING DISCLOSURE
AGREEMENT AND AN ESCROW AGREEMENT; DELEGATING TO THE
CONTROLLER/TREASURER OF THE DISTRICT POWER TO DETERMINE FINAL
TERMS OF SUCH BONDS AND TO COMPLETE SAID DOCUMENTS; AND
AUTHORIZING CERTAIN OTHER MATTERS RELATING THERETO.

Resolution No.

WHEREAS, the District has heretofore issued its sales tax revenue bonds (the “Prior
Bonds”) under and pursuant to an Indenture, dated as of July 1, 1990, as supplemented and
amended by the First Supplemental Indenture, dated as of August7, 1990, the Second
Supplemental Indenture, dated as of August 29, 1991, the Third Supplemental Indenture, dated
as of June 7, 1995, the Fourth Supplemental Indenture, dated as of April 1, 1997, the Fifth
Supplemental Indenture, dated as of March 12, 1998, the Sixth Supplemental Indenture, dated as
of October 7, 1999, the Seventh Supplemental Indenture, dated as of July 12, 2001, the Eighth
Supplemental Indenture, dated as of September 7, 2005, the Ninth Supplemental Indenture, dated
as of June 29, 2006, the Tenth Supplemental Indenture, dated as of November 30, 2006 and the
Eleventh Supplemental Indenture, dated as of May 19, 2010 (hereinafter collectively referred to
as the “1990 Indenture”), between the District and U.S. Bank National Association (“U.S.
Bank™), successor by merger to U.S. Bank Trust National Association, which was successor to
First Trust of California, National Association, which was successor to Bank of America
National Trust and Savings Association, which was successor to Security Pacific National Bank,
as trustee (the “Prior Trustee”);

Adopted:

Kenneth A. Duron, District Secretary



WHEREAS, the following Prior Bonds were issued pursuant to the 1990 Indenture and
are outstanding in the following amounts:

Original Principal Outstanding
Series Issuance Date Amount Principal Amount
2006 A November 30, 2006 $108,110,000 $95,840,000
2010 May 19, 2010 129,595,000 121,065,000

WHEREAS, the District has heretofore issued its sales tax revenue bonds (the “2012
Bonds” and, together with the Prior Bonds and other bonds issued on a parity with the 2012
Bonds, the “Bonds™) under and pursuant to an Indenture, dated as of September 1, 2012, as
supplemented and amended by the First Supplemental Indenture, dated as of September 1, 2012,
and the Second Supplemental Indenture, dated as of October 1, 2015 (hereinafter collectively
referred to as the “2012 Indenture”), between the District and U.S. Bank, as trustee (the
“Trustee™),

WHEREAS, the following Bonds were issued pursuant to the 2012 Indenture and are
outstanding in the following amounts:

Original Principal Outstanding

Series Issuance Date Amount Principal Amount
2012A October 4, 2012 $130,475,000 $121,305,000
2012B October 4, 2012 111,085,000 104,770,000
2015A October 8, 2015 186,640,000 186,640,000

WHEREAS, the District desires to issue its San Francisco Bay Area Rapid Transit
District Sales Tax Revenue Bonds in one or more Series (the “Refunding Bonds™) to provide
funds to refund a portion of the Prior Bonds, consisting of the 2006 A Bonds, as shall be
determined appropriate by the Controller/Treasurer of the District (the “Controller/Treasurer”) in
order to achieve debt service savings and/or to restructure existing debt service;

WHEREAS, the District desires to issue the Refunding Bonds, payable on a parity with
the Bonds pursuant to the 2012 Indenture, as it may be amended and supplemented pursuant to
its terms, including as amended and supplemented by a Third Supplemental Indenture thereto
(collectively, as so supplemented and amended, the “Indenture™), which is proposed to be
entered by the District and the Trustee;

WHEREAS, Sperry Capital Inc. serves as financial advisor (the “Financial Advisor”) to
the District and will serve in such capacity in connection with the bonds authorized hereby;

WHEREAS, there has been prepared and presented to this meeting a proposed form of
Third Supplemental Indenture (such Third Supplemental Indenture, in the form presented to this
meeting, with such changes, insertions and omissions as are made pursuant to this Resolution,
being hereinafter referred to as the “Third Supplemental Indenture”);



WHEREAS, the District desires to sell the Refunding Bonds to a bidder or bidders to be
selected pursuant to a competitive sale process;

WHEREAS, there has been prepared and submitted to this meeting a proposed form of
Official Notice of Sale for the Refunding Bonds (the “Notice of Sale”) and a Notice of Intention
to Sell the Refunding Bonds (the “Notice of Intention to Sell”) to be published pursuant to
section 53692 of the California Government Code;

WHEREAS, there has been prepared and submitted to this meeting a proposed form of
Official Statement in preliminary form (the “Preliminary Official Statement™) to be used in
connection with the offering and sale of the Refunding Bonds;

WHEREAS, in order to assist the purchasers of the Refunding Bonds in complying with
Securities and Exchange Commission Rule 15(c)2-12(b)(5), there has been prepared and
submitted to this meeting a proposed form of Continuing Disclosure Agreement (such
Continuing Disclosure Agreement, in the form presented to this meeting, with such changes,
omissions and insertions as are made pursuant to this Resolution, being hereinafter referred to as
the “Continuing Disclosure Agreement”), which is proposed to be entered into by the District
and U.S. Bank, as trustee and dissemination agent;

WHEREAS, in order to provide for the refunding of a portion of the Prior Bonds, there
has been prepared and submitted to this meeting a proposed form of Escrow Agreement (such
Escrow Agreement, in the form presented to this meeting, with such changes, omissions and
insertions as are made pursuant to this Resolution, being hereinafter referred to as the “Escrow
Agreement”), which is proposed to be entered into by the District and the escrow bank to be
designated therein;

NOW, THEREFORE, BE IT RESOLVED by the Board of Directors of the San
Francisco Bay Area Rapid Transit District as follows:

Section 1. The foregoing recitals are true and correct and the issuance by the District
of San Francisco Bay Area Rapid Transit District Sales Tax Revenue Bonds, 2016 Refunding
Series A payable on a parity with the Bonds, in an aggregate principal amount not to exceed
$100 million and being sufficient to: (i) refund such portion of the Prior Bonds as shall be
determined appropriate by the Controller/Treasurer of the District in order to achieve debt
service savings and/or to restructure existing debt service; and (ii) pay costs of issuance of the
Refunding Bonds, on the terms and conditions set forth in, and subject to the limitations
specified in, the Third Supplemental Indenture, as finally executed and delivered, is hereby
approved. The Controller/Treasurer of the District is hereby authorized and directed to
determine the principal amount, series designations, interest rate or rates, and other terms of the
Refunding Bonds to be issued, including determining whether such Refunding Bonds shall be
issued as taxable or tax-exempt bonds (subject to the aforesaid limitations and the limitations
hereinafter specified) and to specify said terms in the Third Supplemental Indenture.

Section 2. The Third Supplemental Indenture in the form presented to this meeting is
hereby approved. The Controller/Treasurer of the District is hereby authorized and directed to
execute and deliver the Third Supplemental Indenture in substantially the form presented to this



meeting with such changes, insertions and omissions as may be approved by such officer, said
execution being conclusive evidence of such approval; and the District Secretary is hereby
authorized to attest to such signature. The proceeds of the Refunding Bonds (after payment of
the costs of issuance thereof) will be applied to provide funds for the purposes hereinabove
described. The maximum term of the Refunding Bonds shall not exceed the maturity date of the
Prior Bonds being refunded. The maximum rate of interest to be payable on the Refunding
Bonds shall not exceed five percent (5.00%) per annum. Optional redemption of the Refunding
Bonds shall be provided for at not later than ten (10) years from the date of issuance at a
premium not greater than one percent (1%); provided, however, that the Controller/Treasurer is
hereby authorized to cause all or any portion of the Refunding Bonds to be issued as noncallable
bonds. The net present value of the debt service savings with respect to the Refunding Bonds
shall be at least five percent (5%) of the aggregate principal amount of the Prior Bonds being
refunded. The interest payment dates, denominations, forms, manner of execution, terms of
redemption and other terms of the Refunding Bonds shall be as provided in the Third
Supplemental Indenture as finally executed.

Section 3. The Notice of Intention to Sell in the form presented to this meeting is
hereby approved. The Controller/Treasurer of the District is hereby authorized and directed to
cause said Notice of Intention to Sell to be published once in The Bond Buyer, a newspaper of
regular circulation in the District, at least five days prior to the sale of the Refunding Bonds.

Section 4. The Notice of Sale in the form presented to this meeting is hereby
approved. The Controller/Treasurer of the District is hereby authorized and directed to execute
and deliver the Notice of Sale in substantially the form presented to this meeting with such
changes, insertions and omissions as may be approved by such officer, said execution being
conclusive evidence of such approval. The Financial Advisor is hereby authorized to circulate
said Notice of Sale to potential purchasers of the Refunding Bonds. Electronic proposals shall be
received by the Controller/Treasurer of the District up to the hour of 8:00 a.m. California time on
July 20, 2016 or on such earlier or later date or time determined by the Controller/Treasurer of
the District as set forth in the Notice of Sale. The bids for the Refunding Bonds shall be for the
purchase of the Refunding Bonds for cash at not less than their principal amount. The
Controller/Treasurer of the District is hereby authorized to determine whether to award the
Refunding Bonds to the highest responsible bidder resulting in the lowest true interest cost to the
District or to reject any or all bids. The Controller/Treasurer of the District is further authorized
to adjust the principal amounts of the Refunding Bonds and the purchase price thereof in
accordance with the Notice of Sale. The proceeds of the sale of the Refunding Bonds shall be
applied simultaneously with the delivery of the Refunding Bonds to the costs of issuance of the
Refunding Bonds and the defeasance of the portion of the Prior Bonds being refunded, as
required by the terms of the Indenture and Escrow Agreement as finally executed.

Section 5. The Preliminary Official Statement in the form presented to this meeting
is hereby approved and the distribution of the Preliminary Official Statement, in connection with
the offering and sale of the Refunding Bonds, with such changes, omissions and insertions as
shall be approved by the Controller/Treasurer, is hereby authorized and approved. The
Controller/Treasurer is hereby authorized to review the Preliminary Official Statement and to
certify on behalf of the District that the Preliminary Official Statement is “deemed final” as of its



date, except for certain terms and pricing information permitted to be omitted therefrom pursuant
to Securities and Exchange Commission Rule 15¢2-12.

The Controller/Treasurer is hereby authorized and directed to prepare a final version of
the Official Statement (such final version of the Official Statement, in the form of the
Preliminary Official Statement, with such changes, insertions and omissions as shall be approved
by the Controllet/Treasurer, being hereinafter referred to as the “Official Statement™) and to
execute the Official Statement and any amendment or supplement thereto, in the name of and on
behalf of the District, and cause the Official Statement and any such amendment or supplement
to be delivered to the purchasers and distributed in connection with the offering and sale of the
Refunding Bonds.

Section 6. The Continuing Disclosure Agreement in the form presented to this
meeting is hereby approved. The Controller/Treasurer is hereby authorized and directed to
execute and deliver a Continuing Disclosure Agreement in substantially the form presented to
this meeting, with such changes, insertions and omissions as may be approved by him, said
execution being conclusive evidence of such approval.

Section 7. The Escrow Agreement in the form presented to this meeting is hereby
approved. The Controller/Treasurer is hereby authorized and directed to execute and deliver one
or more escrow agreements in substantially the form presented to this meeting, with such
changes, insertions and omissions as may be approved by such officer, said execution being
conclusive evidence of such approval.

Section 8. The Controller/Treasurer is hereby authorized and directed to take such
actions as are necessary in connection with the investment of funds deposited in the escrow
funds established pursuant to the Escrow Agreement, including seeking bids for escrow
securities and, if applicable, U.S. Bank, in its capacity as trustee or escrow agent, the
underwriters, or the Financial Advisor, is hereby authorized and directed to file such applications
and other documents on behalf of the District as may be required to order and obtain U.S.
Treasury Obligations — State and Local Government Series or other government securities to be
purchased with proceeds of the Refunding Bonds and deposited in the escrow funds.

Section 9. The Controller/Treasurer is hereby authorized to enter into or to instruct
the Trustee to enter into one or more investment agreements, float contracts, swaps or other
hedging products (hereinafter collectively referred to as the “Investment Agreement”) providing
for the investment of moneys in any of the funds and accounts created under the Indenture or the
Escrow Agreement, on such terms as the Controller/Treasurer of the District shall deem
appropriate. Pursuant to Section 5922 of the California Government Code, the Board of
Directors of the District hereby finds and determines that the Investment Agreement will reduce
the amount and duration of interest rate risk with respect to amounts invested pursuant to the
Investment Agreement and is designed to reduce the amount or duration of payment, rate, spread
or similar risk or result in a lower cost of borrowing when used in combination with the Bonds or
enhance the relationship between risk and return with respect to investments.

Section 10.  Orrick, Herrington & Sutcliffe LLP is hereby appointed as bond and
disclosure counsel in connection with the issuance and sale of the Refunding Bonds and fees of



such counsel are to be paid from the proceeds of the Refunding Bonds and contingent upon the
issuance of the Refunding Bonds.

Section 11.  The Controller/Treasurer of the District, the District Secretary and any
other proper officer of the District, acting singly, is, and each of them hereby is, authorized and
directed to execute and deliver any and all documents and instruments and to do and cause to be
done any and all acts and things necessary or proper to carry out the transactions contemplated
by the 1990 Indenture, the Indenture, the Notice of Sale, the Preliminary Official Statement, the
Official Statement, the Continuing Disclosure Agreement, the Escrow Agreement and by this
Resolution, including without limitation, the delivery of tax certifications, the delivery of any
documents necessary in connection with the refunding of the Prior Bonds, the delivery of an
agreement for financial advisory services with the Financial Advisor, the delivery of any
documents relating to the investment of bond proceeds and the making of any determinations or
submission of any documents or reports which are required by any governmental entity in
connection with the issuance and sale of the Refunding Bonds. The Controller/Treasurer and
such officials of the District as the Controller/Treasurer designates are hereby authorized to
undertake such travel and incur such expenses, upon consultation with the District’s Financial
Advisor, as is considered advisable to secure appropriate credit ratings and/or credit
enhancement for the Refunding Bonds or assist in the marketing of the Refunding Bonds, which
authorization shall constitute prior approval under Section 5-3.2(b) of the Rules of the Board of
Directors of the District.

Section 12.  All actions heretofore taken by the officers, representatives or agents of
the District in connection with the issuance and sale of the Refunding Bonds are hereby ratified,
confirmed and approved.

This Resolution shall take effect immediately upon its adoption.



SAN FRANCISCO BAY AREA RAPID TRANSIT DISTRICT

INTER-OFFICE COMMUNICATION

TO: Board of Directors Date: June 2, 2016
FROM: Controller-Treasurer

SUBJECT: Sales Tax Revenue Bonds, 2016 Refunding Series A Resolution Attachments (CD)

Attached you will find a CD which contains draft documents referenced in the Resolution
pertaining to the EDD regarding Sales Tax Revenue Bonds, 2016 Refunding Series A.

Please contact me at 510-464-6070 if you have any questions.

(et



ko |
EXECUTIVE DECISION DOCUMENT

PROVAL: GENERAL MANAGER ACTION REQ'D:
, Approve and forward to Board

BOARD INITIATED ITEM NO

Mm

Downtown Berkeley Bike Station T{ﬁrd One-Year Lease Extension

4|

GENERAL MANAGER AP
‘v’.

DATE:

OngmatorlPreparéd liy SusanShaffer R
Dept: Real Estate and Property velopment
x6936

Signature/Date: 5 / Zé/ !
TITLE:

NARRATIVE:

PURPOSE:

To request Board authorization to execute an amendment for a third one-year extension to the
lease with HSR Berkeley Investments, LLC for approximately 4,000 square feet of commercial
space (the “Premises”) at 2208 Shattuck Avenue, Berkeley, California for the Downtown -
Berkeley Bike Station commencmg July 1, 2016.

DISCUSSION:

In April 2009 the Board authorized the General Manager or her designee to enter into a five-year
lease with NFLP Berkeley Center DE, LLC for the Premises commencing July 1, 2009 for the
Downtown Berkeley Bike Station, which has been in operation since July 2010. The building
and the Premises have since been sold to HSR Berkeley Investments, LLC. Two one year
extensions have been executed to the original lease extending it through June 30, 2016.

The Berkeley Bike Station currently provides valet parking for 185 bicycles Monday through
Saturday and a 24/7 BikeLink key card accessed self-park facility for 113 bikes, for a total
capacity of 298 bicycles. The Bike Station has included an annual financial contribution on the
part of the City of Berkeley of $60,000 per year. BART manages the Bike Station through
management services agreement No. 6M6063 (“Management Services to Operate BART’s Bike
Facilities™) with Alameda Bicycle. In addition to the valet parking service, Alameda Bicycle
provides retail sales of bike accessories, bicycle maintenance/repair services and bicycling
education classes. Alameda Blcycle subleases a portion of the space for the above referenced
retail activities. >

The City of Berkeley is currently constructing a new facility to house the Downtown Berkeley
Bike Station. It is part of the Center Street garage complex at 2205 Center Street. The Center
Street garage is close to the main BART entrance at Center and Shattuck and is a good long-term
location to serve BART riders. The new facility will expand bike parking capacity and
proportion it better based on actual use (i.e. more valet spaces and fewer BikeLink key card
spaces). It includes valet parking for 270 bikes, BikeLink key card parking for 58 bikes (for a
total capacity of 328 bicycles) and space for bike retail/maintenance services. Relocating to this
facility will substantially reduce the operating costs of the Bike Station. Occupancy is estimated



Downtown Berkeley Bike Station Third One-Year Lease Extension

between August and December 2017.

The proposed amendment increases rent from $1.96 per square foot per month to $2.35 for the
first six months and then to $2.50 for the remaining six months. Rents in downtown Berkeley
have increased substantially over the last few years. Similar properties in downtown Berkeley
are renting in the $3.00 or more per square foot per month range. At the end of this one-year
extension, the District will likely negotiate a month to month lease until the move to the Center
Street garage complex is completed.

The Office of General Counsel will approve the lease amendment as to form.

ALTERNATIVES:

Forgo entering into the one-year lease extension and cease operation of the Downtown Berkeley
Bike Station by June 30, 2016 and seek alternative accommodations for bicycle parking.

FISCAL IMPACT:

The current annual lease cost is $121,200. The proposed lease extension will increase annual
costs to $144,000. Lease costs to the District will be offset by a sublease with Alameda Bicycle,
who will pay $38,592 of the annual rent, and the contribution by the City of Berkeley of $60,000.
"The net expense to the District for the lease extension after these contributions is $45,408, which
is included in the Customer Access Department's operating budget for FY17.

RECOMMENDATION:

It is recommended that the Board adopt the following motion:
MOTION:

The General Manager or her designee is authorized to execute an amendment for a one year
extension to the existing lease with HSR Berkeley Investments, LLC for approximately 4,000
square feet of commercial space at 2208 Shattuck Avenue, Berkeley, for the Downtown Berkeley
Bike Station in the amount of $144,000.



EXECUTIVE DECISION DOCUMENT

) GENERAL MANAGER ACTION REQ'D:

EHA) MANAGER APRROVAL:

Clille BOARD INITIATED ITEM: No

OriginatorIPrgpare& by:' Monina Salonga General Counsel Controller/Tygasurer | District Secretary BARC
. L

-

DePL,,.»Eiﬂ«’ L ‘
Signatu:eTiggféwmmé ’ e M % Q‘ 1 2 I(, (@{l " b

y A
?[ 1 [] ik h‘\ [ 1
TITLE:

AWARD OF AGREEMENT NOS. 6M4434, 6M4435 and 6M4436 FOR CONSULTING
SERVICES FOR ENTERPRISE ASSET MANAGEMENT SYSTEM

NARRATIVE:

Purpose:

To authorize the General Manager to award Agreement Nos. 6M4434, 6M4435 and 6M4436 to
Accenture, Interloc Solutions, and TechTu Business Solutions, Inc., respectively, to provide
Consulting Services for Enterprise Asset Management System.

Discussion:

This Agreement is for Enterprise Asset Management consulting services, including
technological support for the business soundness of BART’s EAM strategy and compliance with
applicable regulations. The consultants will provide expertise in EAM hardware and software,
which includes identification and solution of problems, delivery of new information systems,
training and recommendations related to compliance issues based on industry best practices.

The eventual goal of this Agreement is to have BART staff attain self-sufficiency with all
aspects of Asset Management. All work shall be defined and performed in accordance with
Work Plans. These Work Plans will also provide production and maintenance support to IBM
Maximo, the District’s Enterprise Asset Management System.

On October 26, 2015, RFP No. 6M4434 was advertised in eleven (11) publications. An
Advance Notice to Proposers was sent to eighteen (18) firms. It was also published in BART’s
Procurement Portal where ninety-two (92) firms has access to download the RFP. A
pre-proposal conference was held on November 18, 2015 with twenty-nine (29) companies in
attendance.

The RFP indicated the District's intent to award up to three Agreements.

On December 22, 2015 seven (7) proposals were received from the following Proposers:

Proposer Business Location
Ontracks Enterprise, Inc. Houston, TX
Meridium, Inc. Roanoke, VA
Stellar New York, NY

EAMS Group, Inc. Oakland, CA




AWARD OF AGREEMENT NOS. 6M4434, 6M4435 and 6M4436 FOR CONSULTING SERVICES FOR ENTERPRISE

Interloc Solutions, Inc. Folsom, CA
TechTu Business Solutions, Inc. Pleasanton, CA
Accenture LLP San Francisco, CA

These proposals were reviewed and evaluated by a Source Selection Committee (Committee)
chaired by Contract Administration, with representatives from the Office of the Chief Information
Officer, Asset Management Program and the Office of Civil Rights. The Committee evaluated
proposals utilizing a best value methodology, wherein the District awards Contract to a

Proposer based on overall cost, as well as other technical factors that may benefit the District.

All proposal submittals, with the exception of Meridium,Inc., were found to be responsive to the
RFP requirements. Meridium, Inc. did not meet several of the RFP’s stipulated minimum
technical requirements. The remaining proposals were evaluated and scored on the basis of the
criteria contained in the RFP with respect to the qualifications of the firm and their key
personnel. After the evaluation and scoring of all six (6) responsive proposals, the Committee
opened the price proposals and determined that all proposals were within the competitive range
for short-listing.

All six firms were invited to participate in oral interviews, which were conducted on January 26,
27, 29 and February 3, 2016. Afterwards, the Committee combined their technical scores and
oral interview scores and thereafter performed a best value analysis. Based on the best value
methodology, the Committee determined that Accenture, Interloc Solutions, and TechTu
Business Solutions, Inc. presented the best overall value to the District. Since three
Agreements will be awarded, each must have its own number.

Pursuant to the revised DBE Program, the Office of Civil Rights is utilizing race and gender
neutral efforts for professional services agreements. Therefore, no DBE participation goal was
set for this agreement.

The Office of the General Counsel will approve the Agreements as to form.

Fiscal Impact:

Each of the three Agreements has a not-to-exceed limit of $4,000,000. District obligations will
be subject to a series of Work Plans; no minimum amount of work is guaranteed for each
Agreement. Each Work Plan will have a defined scope of services, and a separate schedule
and budget. Any Work Plan assigned for funding under a State or Federal grant will include
State or Federal requirements. Capital Development and Control will certify the eligibility of
identified funding sources and the Controller/Treasurer will certify availability of such funding
prior to incurring project costs against these Agreements and the execution of each Work Plan.

Alternatives:
Not to enter into any agreements for Consulting Services for Enterprise Asset Management
System. There would be no external support for the District’s EAM program, leaving it

vulnerable as to business soundness, support, compliance and best practices.

Recommendation:




AWARD OF AGREEMENT NOS. 6M4434, 6M4435 and 6M4436 FOR CONSULTING SERVICES FOR ENTERPRISE

Adoption of the following motion:

Motion:

The General Manager is authorized to award an Agreement for Consulting Services for
Enterprise Asset Management System, for an amount not to exceed $4,000,000 each to
Accenture (No. 6M4434), Interloc Solutions (No. 6M4435), and TechTu Business Solutions,
Inc. (No. 6M4436), pursuant to notification to be issued by the General Manager and subject to

the District’'s protest procedures and FTA requirements related to protest procedures.



EXECUTIVE DECISION DOCUMENT

/%M%/r/ﬁ@m NN

Signature/Date: i /(0 [ 1 I
TITLE: ) N

ANNUAL BUDGE’E RESOLUTEGN F@R FESCAEJ YEAR 2017

GENERAL MANAGER ACTION REQ'D:

NARRATIVE:
PURPOSE
To authorize adoption of the Annual Budget Resolution for Fiscal Year 2017 (FY17).

DISCUSSION

Approval by the Board of Directors is requested for the FY17 operating and capital budgets. The
total proposed FY17 budget (operating and capital) is $1.82 billion. The FY17 operating budget
is balanced, with $929.1 million (M) in sources and $931.5M in uses, less an adjustment for the
Other Post Employment Benefits (OPEB) unfunded liability of $2.5M that does not affect the
Net Operating Result. The FY17 capital budget totals $888.5M.

The proposed FY17 annual budget is summarized in Attachments 1, 2, 3 and Exhibit A. These
attachments incorporate the proposed initiatives and allocations to capital projects that were
included in the Preliminary Budget Memo and reviewed in presentations to the Board of
Directors during April and May. The capital budget has been updated for finalized FY17
budgeted positions, including pre-revenue service positions for the Silicon Valley Berryessa
Extension, which will be funded by the Valley Transportation Authority. The proposed annual
operating budget also includes changes to the Preliminary Budget as discussed at the May 26
Board meeting. Attachment 3 listing the budget initiatives has been modified accordingly.

FY17 Operating Budget

The budget for FY17 focuses on continuing BART’s system reinvestment program, opens the
Warm Springs/South Fremont station and provides funding for pre-revenue service for eBART.
The FY16 budget addressed capacity issues on the system, and those efforts will be maintained in
FY17. However, because of slowing ridership and sales tax growth, there is limited funding for
additional new programs and budget initiatives.

The Board of Directors passed modifications to the paid parking program in February 2013, with
the increase in revenue dedicated to funding programs to benefit station access, rehabilitation and
modernization. For FY17 $6.5M is added for new programs and projects, and will fund a variety
of station and access related initiatives (see Attachment 3). The specific programs proposed in
the Preliminary Budget have been modified based on discussions with the Board of Directors
during the budget process.



FY17 Budget Resolution (cont.)

There are revisions from the FY17 Preliminary Budget, as discussed at the May 26 Board
meeting. The Governor’s May Budget Revision reduced State Transit Assistance (STA) funding
due to declining diesel fuel prices. This resulted in a $5.1M reduction to BART’s STA amount.
In order to balance the budget, the following changes are recommended. Reductions include
deferral of $2.5M of budget initiatives for Enterprise Resource Planning ($2.0M) and
Recruitment Support ($0.5M), estimated debt service refinancing savings of $1.0M, eBART
startup positions phase-in was reduced by $1.0M, and labor budget adjustments and corrections
for $0.6M. The budget resolution does authorize the General Manager to add positions during
the year if financial conditions change.

In addition to the changes to rebalance the budget due to the STA reduction, the stations and
access projects funded by parking revenue have been reconfigured based on Board feedback and
comments. The revised funding for the projects is itemized in Attachment 3.

® The Station Platform Controllers program will be revised to a program called
Embarcadero Platform Management. Funding is included to develop a more
comprehensive approach to address crowded platforms, focused on resolving potential
customer safety issues and dwell time control. Examples of potential investments include
a wireless public announcement system, a Destination Sign System countdown timer
showing remaining scheduled door dwell times for trains, a "railing chute" at the bottom
landing of down escalators to keep that critical area clear and funding to develop the plan
and survey other systems for best practices in platform crowd control strategies. Also
included are two positions to start mid-year. The types of positions and strategies to
address the problem will be developed. The total project will now be funded for $0.31M, a
reduction from the $0.7M for Station Platform Controllers included in the Prehmmary
Budget.

@ Funds for the Pittsburg/Bay Point Station surface parking project were funded from FY16
mid-year revenues, and therefore the FY17 funds for the project are being reallocated to
an Access Planner position. The position will prioritize and advance implementation of
access projects across the District, and will manage an eBART and outer C-Line Corridor
Access Strategy Plan.

@ In order to support the Transit Oriented Development program, a Principal Planner is
added to support projects in that area.

e $0.2M is added for a Customer Service Tracking Program. The funding will be used to
develop the Salesforce/Maximo reporting and project tracking system where customers
can report issues with stations or other system problems, as was presented May 26.

@ The Public Address System Pilot will be modified. Later this year, the Board of Directors
will receive a presentation on customer communications during delays and emergencies
and any recommended investments needed to improve performance in this area. The
funding will be set aside so that it can be used for results of the presentation and Board
discussion.

In addition to the FY17 budget changes for Stations/Access projects, the FY16 mid-year stations
and access projects were also revised. The Access & Parking Assessment project funding will be
used for a one-time project to prepare a strategy to address stations access impacts at outer C-line
and eBART stations. The strategy will consider linkages to regional bicycle/pedestrian trails.



FY17 Budget Resolution (cont.)

FY17 Capital Budget

The capital budget proposes FY17 expenditures of $888.5M and funds 825 positions. This is an
increase of 200 positions from the Preliminary Budget due to finalizing the number of positions
supported in the capital budget for FY17. Of the increase, 42 came from BART capital projects,
and pre-revenue staffing for the Silicon Valley Berryessa Extension (SVBX) accounts for
$12.2M and 158 positions which will be funded by the Valley Transportation Authority. The
remaining FY 17 capital budget of $876.3M represents a 32% increase over FY16. This is
attributed to substantial expenditure increases in several key BART capital program categories,
including System Renovation and Reinvestment (60% increase to $584.5M), Service and
Capacity Enhancement (29% increase to $48.6M), Safety and Security (39% to $68.0M) and
Earthquake Safety (79% to $60.6M). As two of our Big 3 program of projects enter peak activity
phases, the new railcar program ($199M) and the Hayward Maintenance Complex ($165M)
represent the largest individual project expenditures in the capital budget. Other major
expenditures reflect the increased emphasis on system reinvestment, including mainline rail and
power distribution projects ($71M), train control and fare collection ($70M) and station
modernization and renovation projects ($65M).

On the sources side, the BART capital program continues to be funded through a mix of Federal,
regional and local funds, including a sizable commitment of BART operating allocations. This
‘ongoing, and increasing, commitment of BART funds is an essential component of our capital
program, particularly in meeting the long term commitments required to deliver the Big 3
program. Other capital activities dependent on operating allocations are grant-ineligible
Board-directed projects and initiatives, routine but necessary capitalized maintenance projects,
emergent safety and security projects, and equipment and inventory. Operating allocations
derived from parking revenues are dedicated to a variety of station and access improvements,
including signage, pedestrian improvements, station heavy cleaning, information displays, bike
improvements, limited studies, and a sustainability program.

As mandated by regional programming requirements, Federal funds are directed to train control
and traction power, trackway renovation, general mainline repairs, rail cars, fare collection, and
ADA/system accessibility improvements. Other capital revenues are limited in their flexibility
and many sources and grants are restricted to certain projects and/or activities as a condition of
award. The FY17 capital budget contains modest but important contributions of State and local
funds, including bridge toll allocations and County transportation sales tax funds, which are
earmarked for station modernization and grant match. Bond proceeds from BART’s Earthquake
Safety general obligation bond are dedicated exclusively to the Earthquake Safety program.
Additionally, there are a number of smaller, defined purpose grants that are limited to specific
projects.

FY17 BUDGET RESOLUTION

Staff recommends approval of the attached Resolution to adopt the FY17 Annual Budget. As in
previous years, the FY17 Resolution includes authorization to submit annual applications for
Transportation Development Act (TDA), State Transit Assistance (STA) and Bridge Toll funds
that are included in the FY17 capital budget, as appropriate. The Resolution also allows the



FY17 Budget Resolution (cont.)

General Manager or the General Manager’s designee to execute the agreement with the City and
County of San Francisco to provide annual transfer payments for feeder services to the San
Francisco Municipal Transportation Agency for FY17. The Resolution also incorporates
provisions referring to the SFO Extension service plan and certain District system-wide operating
policies. The Resolution authorizes the General Manager, or designee, to file grant applications
and execute funding agreements on behalf of the District with the State of California for security
grants.

Exhibit A (attached) of the Budget Resolution summarizes operating and capital budget totals. It
includes modifications to the Preliminary Budget as outlined in the previous paragraphs. Exhibit
B (attached) reflects current hourly pay rates or base pay ranges, as applicable, and management
incentive pay, if any, for non-represented employees.

FISCAL IMPACT
The proposed FY17 Annual Budget is balanced.

ALTERNATIVES

Not adopt the budget or adopt a budget that differs from what has been presented to the Board of
Directors over the past three months. Rules of the Board of Directors require that the budget be
adopted prior to June 30th; adoption of the Budget Resolution by June 30th is required to
authorize expenditures in FY17.

RECOMMENDATION
Adoption of the following motion:

MOTION
Adoption of the attached Resolution in the matter of approving the Annual Budget for the San
Francisco Bay Area Rapid Transit District and authorizing expenditures for the fiscal year July 1,

2016 to June 30, 2017.



Attachment 1

Fiscal Year 2017 District Operating Budget
Sources and Uses Detail

FY17
SOURCES
Rail Passenger Revenue $ 509,956,889
ADA Passenger Revenue 877,401
Parking Revenue 33,484,552
Other Operating Revenue 27,506,101
Sub-Total Operating Revenue 571,824,943
Sales Tax Proceeds 249,213,493
Property Tax Proceeds 38,567,042
Measure B / Other 5,575,123
State Transit Assistance 14,000,000
Low Carbon Transit Operations Program 7,000,000
Federal 5307 Grant - MTC Rail Car Fund Swap 47,116,668
Millbrae Use, Operating & Maint. Agreement 864,673
Sub-Total Financial Assistance & Allocations 362,336,999
TOTAL SOURCES 934,161,942
USES
Labor 500,790,787
OPEB Unfunded Liability 2,449,579
ADA Paratransit 14,205,377
Purchased Transportation 13,793,877
Power 40,987,000
Other Non-Labor 120,510,147
Sub-Total Operating Expense 692,736,767
Extraordinary Expense - MTC Rail Car Fund Swap 47,116,668
Debt Service 52,744,366
Allocation - Capital Rehabilitation 43,456,986
Allocation - Rail Car Sinking Fund 45,000,000
Allocation - Priority Capital Programs 35,383,974
Allocation - Stations & Access Projects 5,243,360
Allocations - Other 1,656,499
Allocation - Rail Car Project from SFO Net Result 13,272,901
Sub-Total Allocations 196,758,086
TOTAL USES 936,611,521
OPEB Unfunded Liability (2,449,579)
NET RESULT $ -
Average Weekday Trips 445 441
Operating Ratio 82.5%
Farebox Recovery Ratio 73.7%

PRELIMINARY Changes

$ -

(5,072,368)

(5,072,368)
(5,072,368)

(1,183,812)

(15,500)
(1,199,312)

(1,000,000)
(2,812,142)

(3,873,056)
(5,072,368)

$ -

FY17
ADOPTED

$ 509,956,889

877,401
33,484,552
27,506,101
571,824,943
249,213,493
38,567,042
5,575,123
8,927,632
7,000,000
47,116,668

864,673

357,264,631
929,089,574

499,606,975
2,449,579
14,205,377
13,793,877
40,987,000
120,494,647
691,537,455

47,116,668

51,744,366
40,644,844
45,000,000
35,383,974

5,182,446

1,656,499
13,272,901

192,885,030
931,539,153

(2,449,579)

445,441
82.7%
73.9%



- Attachment 2

FY17 Capital Budget
Headcount and Planned Expenditures
Program Summary by Category

Program Cateqo Capital Planned
9 gory Headcount* Expenditures
FY17 FY17
System Renovation™
Rolling Stock 63.3 200,717,252
Mainline 206.7 71,489,463
Stations 26.3 64,813,955
Controls & Communications 140.2 69,643,192
Facilities 23.7 172,432,829
Work Equipment 1.4 5,366,005
Total System Renovation 461.6 584,462,695
Safety & Security 30.6 68,010,005
Earthquake Safety 18.1 60,558,630
Service & Capacity Enhancement 21.4 48,617,576
System Expansion 204.0 121,333,993
Capitol Corridor 24.0 3,700,000
Reimbursable**** 17.0 1,800,000

CAP costs are
included in each
of the line items

Cost Allocation Plan 48.0 above

TOTALS 824.8 888,482,900

* Total authorized permanent positions.

«* All expenses for the Capitol Corridor service to be reimbursed as allocated to
the Capitol Corridor Joint Powers Board in the Annual State Budget Act.

= Pogitions fully reimbursed by Muni, Caltrans, and others for BART staff
expenses incurred in performing services for those organizations.



Attachment 3

FY17 Operating and Capital Budget Initiatives (General Fund)

OPERATING Pos. Labor  Non-Labor

Workforce Development Grant 250,000 -
OPERATING TOTAL - 250,000 -
CAPITAL

C-Car Cab Window Replacement
CAPITAL TOTAL

FY17 Stations & Access Projects (from Parking Revenue)

OPERATING Pos. Labor  Non-Labor
Embarcadero Platform Management™ 2 137,213 -
Parking Community Safety Officers 4 421,928 -
Station Project Manager 1 208,783 -
Public Safety Initiative - 50,000
Principal Planner - Access** 1 195,535 .-
Principal Planner - Transit Oriented Development®* i 195,535 -
Customer Service Tracking Program™* 100,000

OPERATING TOTAL ' 9 1,159,004 150,000

CAPITAL
Embarcadero Platform Management (capital portion)*

Wayfinding
Concord Plaza
Bike Parking

Station Sustainability

Water Intrusion Remediation

Public Address System

Dublin/Pleasanton Station Access

Customer Service Tracking Program (capital portion)**
CAPITAL TOTAL

*Revised from Preliminary Budget. Positions are for 1/2 year (January 2017)
**Revisions from Preliminary Budget

Total
250,000
250,000

600,000
600,000

Total
137,213
421,928
208,793

50,000
195,535
195,535
100,000

1,309,004

Total
204,086
1,850,000
848,360
650,000
475,000
455,000
350,000
250,000
100,000
5,182,446



BEFORE THE BOARD OF DIRECTORS OF THE
SAN FRANCISCO BAY AREA RAPID TRANSIT DISTRICT

Im the matter of approving

The Annual Budget for the

San Francisco Bay Area Rapid

Transit District and authorizing

Expenditures for the Fiscal Year

July 1, 2016, to June 30, 2017 Resolution No.

WHEREAS, the Board of Directors of the San Francisco Bay Area Rapid Transit District
published notices on May 4, May 5 and May 6, 2016 in newspapers of general circulation in the
County of San Francisco, the County of Contra Costa, and the County of Alameda of its intention
to adopt an Annual Budget for the Fiscal Year July 1, 2016, to June 30, 2017; and

WHIEREAS, the Board of Directors of the San Francisco Bay Area Rapid Transit District
desires to adopt an Annual Budget for the Fiscal Year July 1, 2016, to June 30, 2017; and

WHEREAS, the Board of Directors of the San Francisco Bay Area Rapid Transit District
is required by Public Utilities Code Section 28767 to determine and create, by resolution, such
number and character of positions as are necessary to properly carry out the functions of the
District; and

WHEREAS, the Tranéporta’tion Development Act (TDA), Public Utilities Code §99200,
et seq., provides for the disbursement of funds from the Local Transportation Fund of the Counties
of Alameda and Contra Costa for use by eligible claimants for the purpose of operating assistance;
and

WHEREAS, the State Transit Assistance (STA) fund makes funds available pursuant to
Public Utilities Code Section 99313.6 for allocation to eligible applicants to support approved
transit projects; and

WHEREAS, as attested to by opinions of the Office of the General Counsel, the San
Francisco Bay Area Rapid Transit District is an eligible applicant for Net Toll Revenues and MTC
Rail Extension Reserve bridge toll revenues pursuant to Section 30892 of the Streets and Highways
Code; and is an eligible claimant for TDA and STA funds pursuant to Public Utilities Code Section
99260; and

WHEREAS, the agreement between the San Francisco Bay Area Rapid Transit District
and San Mateo County Transit District, dated April 27, 2007, states that the San Francisco Bay
Area Rapid Transit District will provide service on the SFO extension in a manner consistent with
BART’s system-wide operating policies; and



WHEREAS, the system-wide operating plan for Fiscal Year 2017 was presented to the
Board of Directors on May 12, 2016, in a presentation entitled Fiscal Year 2017 Preliminary
Budget Operating Sources, Uses and Service Plan; and

WHEREAS, the California Governor’s Office of Emergency Services makes funds
available from the FY 2016-2017 California Transit Security Grant Program ~ California Transit
Assistance Fund (CTSGP-CTAF) to eligible applicants to support approved security transit
projects;

NOW, THEREF@RE, BE IT RESOLVED that the attached Annual budget (marked
Exhibit A and incorporated herein as though set forth at length) is hereby adopted; and

BE IT FURTHER RESOLVED that, subject to the resolved clauses, said Annual Budget
includes appropriations of monies expected to be available in the General Fund, Capital Funds
including Construction Funds and existing and anticipated Federal, State and local grants, for
expenditures in the amounts and for the purposes set forth in said budget; and

BE IT FURTHER RESOLVED that the General Manager is authorized to enter into
services agreements (including professional, technical, maintenance and repair agreements) and
lease or license agreements for District use of real property, facilities, equipment and software
provided that:

(1) The General Manager shall first determine that the work or services concerned, in
the amounts authorized in a service agreement, cannot satisfactorily be performed
by the officers or employees of the District;

(2) Agreements that are let by public bidding, service, lease, and license agreements,
and amendments thereto, between $25,000 and $100,000, shall be reported bi-
monthly to the Board of Directors;

(3)  Prior authorization by the Board of Directors is required when:

a. The agreement, and amendments thereto, total in the aggregate $100,000 or
more in the fiscal year; or

b. Amendments total in the aggregate $100,000 or more in any subsequent
fiscal year;

@) The General Counsel is authorized to enter into services agreements in amounts up
to $100,000 with special counsel not previously designated by the Board without
prior notice to the Board where the General Counsel determines that such
immediate action is necessary to protect the legal interests of the District. Any such
agreement shall be reported by the General Counsel to the Board within the
calendar month thereafter.

(5)  The General Manager’s authority to take immediate remedial measures, as defined
in Section 20224 of the California Public Contract Code, and as authorized in
Resolution No. 4834 shall remain unchanged; and



BE IT FURTHER RESOLVED that the General Manager is authorized to exchange
District goods and services for goods and services from others of approximately equal or greater
value; and

BE IT FURTHER RESOLVED that all disbursements resulting from the exercise of
authority granted the General Manager pursuant to this resolution shall be reported to the Board
of Directors in the District’s quarterly financial report; and

BE IT FURTHER RESOLVED that Resolution No. 5296, adopted June 11, 2015, is
repealed effective August 31, 2016, except as it applies to unexpended capital appropriations, and

BE IT FURTHER RESOLVED that the General Manager or the General Manager’s
designee is authorized to execute and file a Bridge Toll Application, a TDA Application and an
STA Application along with necessary supporting documents, with the Metropolitan
Transportation Commission for allocation of bridge toll revenues, TDA and STA fundsin FY'17;
and

BE IT FURTHER RESOLVED that the General Manager or the General Manager’s
designee is authorized to execute any actions necessary for the purpose of obtaining financial
assistance provided by the California Transit Security Grant Program — FY 2016-2017 California
Transit Assistance Fund (CTSGP-CTAF); and

BE ITFURTHER RESOLVED that the San Francisco Bay Area Rapid Transit District’s
system-wide operating policies shall be generally as set forth in the May 12, 2016, presentation
entitled Fiscal Year 2017 Preliminary Budget Operating Sources, Uses and Service Plan, subject
to such adjustments that staff determines necessary to operate the service in the public’s interest;
and

BE IT FURTHER RESOLVED that the General Manager or the General Manager’s
designee is authorized to execute an agreement with the City and County of San Francisco (CITY)
to provide a transfer payment in FY17, such transfer payment being paid by the District to CITY
in order to facilitate the coordination of transit service and furnish an incentive to CITY for
providing enhanced transfer services between MUNI and BART stations; and

BE IT FURTHER RESOLVED that the General Manager is authorized to make
expenditures and incur liabilities against said funds within the limits set forth in said budget and
the provisions of this Resolution, and to act on behalf of the District in connection with contracts
arising thereunder, by following the procedures provided by law, and by Board of Directors’
Resolutions and Board Rules, except that no contractual obligation shall be assumed by the District
in excess of its ability to pay, and provided further that all expenditures shall be in conformance
with statutory and other restrictions placed on the use of said funds; and

BE IT FURTHER RESOLVED that the General Manager is authorized to exceed Board
Appointed Department/Executive Office budgets by more than ten percent (10%) ten (10) days
after written notice of this intended action has been mailed to the Board of Directors, provided that
the Total Net Operating Expense line item set forth in “Exhibit A is not exceeded and such action
is consistent with Board Rule 5-1.4 and provided further that the General Manager will prepare



and send to the Board, a summary of Department budgets within approximately 30 days after the
adoption of this budget; and

BE IT FURTHER RESOLVED that the General Manager is authorized to exceed the
foregoing ten percent limitation for emergency expenditures which are made in accordance with
Resolution No. 4834 and Public Contract Code Section 20224; and

BE IT FURTHER RESOLVED that the General Manager is authorized to act on behalf
of the District, and to make expenditures and incur liabilities against all funds of the District as
provided for in contracts which have been authorized by the Board of Directors of the District and
that the Board’s authorizations of such contracts also include the necessary appropriations for such
contracts and change orders authorized by Rules approved by the Board, subject, however, to
compliance with such specific appropriation resolutions as may be adopted by the Board from time
1o time; and

BE IT FURTHER RESOLVED that the General Manager or the General Manager’s
designee is authorized to issue free or discounted promotional tickets in FY17 for purposes of
building ridership on the system, consistent with ridership development guidelines; and

BE IT FURTHER RESOLVED that effective July 1, 2016:

(1) The total number of permanent full and permanent part-time positions (“full time
equivalent™) as of July 1, 2016, budgeted for the District shall be 4,017.5 (a part-
time position is counted as 0.625 positions). Additional permanent positions are
authorized, as required, not to exceed 50 positions, of which not more than 25
positions may be charged to operating expense provided the budgeted Total Net
Operating Expense is not thereby exceeded;

(2)  The character and salary ranges of such positions, including officers appointed by
the Board pursuant to Public Utilities Code Section 28811 shall be as set forth in
the agreements entered into with Service Employees’ International Union, Local
1021, Amalgamated Transit Union, Local 1555, American Federation of State and
County Municipal Employees, Local 3993, the BART Police Officers Association
and the BART Police Managers Association as to the employees represented
thereby, and with other Bargaining Units for employees that may later be
represented thereby, and for all other employees as set forth in the attached “Exhibit
B”, incorporated herein as though set forth at length. The employment benefits for
non-represented employees shall be administered by the General Manager in
accordance with Board Rule 4-1.2.

(3) The General Manager is authorized to make future adjustments to the
Professional/Management Salary Ranges (“Exhibit B”) for non-represented
employees in accordance with applicable provisions of the Compensation Manual,
which reflects the District policy and practice to evaluate such ranges on an annual
basis and to establish the mid-points of the pay ranges for positions so that they
approximate the 75" percentile of the average of salaries paid for similar jobs in the
labor market and to promptly advise the Board of any and all such range



adjustments. The General Manager is directed to initiate the annual review by
October of each year.

(4) The District Secretary shall insure that an amendment to Exhibit B be prepared to
reflect any adjustment to the hourly wage rates or professional/management pay
bands as provided above or any adjustment to the Board appointed officers' salaries
as a result of merit adjustments or scheduled increases provided in such officers'
employment agreements that take effect during the fiscal year. The District
Secretary shall attach any such amendment to Exhibit B as an addendum to this
resolution.

(5) The General Manager is authorized to pay non-represented employees on the merit
plan who are eligible for a wage increase of up to 3.7214% as of July 1, 2016 that
portion of their merit increase which exceeds the top of the base salary range with
no increase to the employee's "base wage" above the top of the salary range. The
amount over the top of the salary range shall be paid over the following twelve
month period in equal pay period installments and will be discontinued after the
expiration of the twelve month period unless the pay range is adjusted in accordance
with (3), above, to incorporate that portion that is over the top of the salary range.
Employees must have been rated "effective" or higher overall in their most recent
performance evaluation to be eligible for any merit increase.

(6) Except for Paragraph 1, and to the extent it is modified by Resolution No. 4748,
Resolution No. 4487 remains in full force and effect.

BE IT FURTHER RESOLVED that the General Manager or the General Manager's
designee shall post all grant applications online to the public as they are submitted, except those
that if made public would compromise the security of the system.

###



SAN FRANCISCO BAY AREA
ANNUAL BUDGET - FISCAL YEAR 2017

FUND SOURCES

FUND SOURCES FOR NET OPERATING EXPENSE BUDGET,
DEBT SERVICE AND CAPITAL ALLOCATIONS
Operating Revenue '
Property Tax
1/2 ¢ Sales Tax
Measure B, BB, & J Assistance
FTA - UAFF Operations (SMP)
Other Financial Assistance
Caltrain - Millbrae Station Joint Use
5307 Preventive Maintenance Grant - Rail Car Fund Swap
State Transit Assistance
Low Carbon Transit Operations Program
Total Operating Sources

FUND SOURCE FOR CAPITAL BUDGET
Capital Funds - Cash Flow FY17

TOTAL ESTIMATED FUND SOURCES
FUND USES

FUND USES FOR NET OPERATING EXPENSE BUDGET,
DEBT SERVICE AND CAPITAL ALLOCATIONS
Net Labor Expense'"
Non-Labor Expense
Total Net Operating Expense
Extraordinary Expense - Rail Car Fund Swap
Revenue Bond Debt Service
Allocations to Capital - Rehabilitation
Allocations to Capital - Rail Car Sinking Fund
Allocations to Capital - Priority Capital Programs
Allocations to Capital - Stations & Access Projects
Allocations to Capital - Other
Allocation to Rail Car Project from SFO Net Result
Total Operating Uses

Other Post Employment Benefits Unfunded Liability

FUND USES FOR CAPITAL BUDGET
Capital Funds - Cash Flow FY17

TOTAL ESTIMATED FUND USES

NET FINANCIAL RESULT (DEFICIT)

™ Total Authorized Permanent Positions (FTE) as of 7/01/16 = 4,017.5

D TRANSIT DISTRICT

TOTAL

571,824,943
38,567,042
249,213,493
4,603,535
861,588
110,000
864,673
47,116,668
8,927,632
7,000,000
929,089,574

888,482,900

1,817,572,474

502,056,554
189,480,901
691,637,455
47,116,668
51,744,366
40,644,844
45,000,000
35,383,974
5,182,446
1,656,499
13,272,901
931,639,153

(2,449,579)

688,482,900

1,817,572,474



EXHIBIT B

CHARACTER, BASE SALARIES, PAY BANDS, HOURLY WAGE RATES,
AND MANAGEMENT INCENTIVE PAY OF MANAGEMENT AND
NON-REPRESENTED CLASSIFICATIONS

CHARACTER OF POSITION/PAYROLL

CLASSIFICATION TITLE

HOURLY WAGE RANGE
CLERIC OUR E TERG
ADMINISTRATIVE TECHNICIAN $28.2051 | $27.3740 | $29.4493 | $31.7855 | $32.9992 | $33.4652
ADMINISTRATIVE SECRETARY 27.1535 28.3497 29.4576 | 30.5954 | 31.7627 | 32.2066
SENIOR SECRETARY 25.2862 26.2203 27.1832 | 28.3497 | 29.4874 | 29.9311
SENIOR CLERK 26.9117 28.0962 29.1941 | 30.3211 ] 31.4770 | 31.9209
INTERMEDIATE CLERK 24.0798 25.0617 25.9866 | 26.9420 | 28.0962 | 28.5401
INTERMEDIATE CLERK P/T 26.4639 27.5439 28.5613 | 29.6123 | 30.8819 | 31.3702
PARALEGAL 33.6703 35.1536 36.5273 | 37.9382 | 39.3857 | 39.9361
PIT SURVEY TAKER (SINGLE RATE) 32.3876
ENGINEER INTERN 18.0000

NOTE: The clerical rates are effective 1/1/2016.

PROFESSIONAL/IMANAGEMENT PAY BANDS

$109,479] $242 505

13 135,152 172,320 209,489
12 122,589 156,301 190,013
11 116,749 148,857 180,965
10 111,189 141,767 172,345

9 105,895 135,017 164,139
8 100,852 128,587 156,322
7 91,475 116,632 141,788
6 87,120 111,079 135,038
5 79,020 100,752 122,483
4 75,258 95,955 116,651
3 71,673 91,385 111,096
2 68,260 87,033 105,806
1 61,913 78,940 95,968

NOTE: The professional/ management pay bands were effective 01/01/2015.

Assistant General Manager - Administration and Budget $4,800 8/14/2006
Assistant General Manager - Operations $4,800 6/28/1999
Assistant General Manager - Planning and Development $4,800 11/13/2012
Assistant General Manager- External Affairs 54,800 11/4/2013
Chief Information Officer $4,800 3/1/2013

Chief of Police $4,800 6/16/2012
Deputy General Manager $4,800 5/14/2012
Managing Director - Capitol Corridor $4,800 11/21/2009

Base Salaries 7/1/2016
DISTRICT SECRETARY $190,346.58
CONTROLLER-TREASURER $241,774.58
GENERAL COUNSEL $267,315.58
GENERAL MANAGER $360,763.25

Note: The Board approved the salary adjustments for the District Secretary and General Counsel on December 2, 2015. The Board
approved the salary adjustment for the General Manager on December 10, 2015 and for the Controlier-Treasurer on March 10, 2016.



EXECUTIVE DECISION DOCUMENT

, [a -
GENER/-\L MANAGER-APPROVAL: GENERAL MANAGER ACTION REQD:
’ (ﬁ/ﬁ(/é,u & Qf Approve and forward to the E&O Committee Meeting
NOLAVEIFAVAY
/G BOARD INITIATED ITEM: No

o"gmatorl'P ep Controller/Treasurer | District Secretary TBARCL]

Dept: _ % i »*H? " ‘ X ﬁ
s'gﬁz{éaﬁ g aalty ;7?}/23 \Cli { I/i 411 /Wl [l"J

TITLE:
Change Order for Installation of Escalators at the Antioch BART Station, to eBART

Contract No. 04SF-130 for the Construction of East Contra Costa BART Extension Project
Trackwork, Systems, and Facility Finishes

NARRATIVE:

PURPOSE

To obtain Board authorization for the General Manager to execute a Change Order with a not to
exceed limit of $4,000,000 to Contract No. 04SF-130, for the Construction of East Contra Costa
BART Extension Project Trackwork, Systems, and Facility Finishes. The Change Order is for
installation of two escalators at the Antioch BART Station.

DISCUSSION

Award of Contract No. 04SF-130 to Stacy and Witbec/Amoroso/Modern Railway Systems, a
Joint Venture, was authorized by the Board on May 22, 2014 for the Total Base Bid Price of
$78,318,000. Also authorized at that time were; Option 1 for Pittsburg Civic Center Station
(now known as Pittsburg City Center Station) for the Total Option 1 Bid Price of $4,760,000,
Option 2 for Y1 and Y2 Track Extensions for the Total Option 2 Bid Price of $290,000, and
Option 3 for Maintenance of Way Track for the Total Option 3 Bid Price of $309,000.

The eBART Project consists of an approximately ten-mile extension of the BART System, using
Diesel Multiple Unit (DMU) technology, from the existing Pittsburg/Bay Point BART Station to
a station in the median of State Route 4 (SR4) in the vicinity of Hillcrest Avenue in the City of
Antioch. One other station, the Pittsburg Center Station, is being constructed in the median of
SR4 at the Railroad Avenue overcrossing. :

Infrastructure and space to accommodate future escalator installation was included in the design
of the Antioch BART Station in anticipation of future demand for escalators, pending funding
availability. The Project has progressed to the point that several of the previously identified
Project risks which could have impacted budget reserves have been avoided or mitigated. Subject
to funding partner approval, there is an opportunity to utilize some of the reserve/contingency
funds to install escalators at this time. One escalator will be installed at the Antioch BART
Station Entry House to access the pedestrian overcrossing over westbound lanes of State Route 4,
and another will be installed at the other side of the overcrossing to the Station platform. It is an
advantage to complete as much of this work before revenue service begins as it will be less
disruptive to patrons.



Change Order for Installation of Escalators at Antioch Station , eBART Contract 04SF-130

Pursuant to Board Rule 5-2.4, Change Orders involving expenditures greater than $200,000
require Board approval.

The Office of the General Counsel will approve this Change Order as to form prior to execution.
The Procurement Department will review this Change Order prior to execution for compliance
with procurement guidelines.

FISCAL IMPACT
Funding for the not to exceed amount of $4,000,000 for the award of this Change Order is
included in the total project budget for FMS #04SF130 — eBART Trackwork, Systems and
Finishes. The Office of the Controller/Treasurer certifies that funds are currently available to
meet this obligation. The following table depicts funding assigned to the referenced project and
is included in totality to track funding history against spending authority. Funds needed to meet
this request will be expended from a combination of these sources as listed.

Fund Number|Fund Description IFund Source Funded Amount

535A FY 10-11 Prop 1B -PTMISEA State $13,000,000
6104 RM1 eBART Alloc#14383306 Regional : $4,000,000
6407 AB1171 eBART Alloc #14391432  [Regional $7,944,000,
6512 City of Pittsburg - eBART Local ; $5,074,000
6644 CCTA Reso#13-49-P Local $30,856,000
6645 ECCRFFA Co-Op Agmt 26-14 [ocal $29,018,000
664D CCTA Resol 14-52-P Local $2,400,000,
Total $92,292,000,

As of May 10, 2016, $92,292,000 is the total budget for this project. BART has expended
$44,443,535, committed $40,200,474 to date for other actions. This action will commit
$4,000,000 leaving $3,647,991 balance in this project.

There is no fiscal impact on available unprogrammed District Reserves.

ALTERNATIVE

The Board may decline to authorize execution of the Change Order. If the Change Order is not
executed, the two escalators proposed will not be fabricated and installed at the Antioch BART
Station at the present time. Installation of escalators will still be possible in the future if desired,
although the work would be performed after revenue service begins and will require special
measures to protect the public and will likely result in unnecessary risks and costs.

RECOMMENDATION
It is recommended that the Board adopt the following motion:

MOTION

The General Manager is authorized to execute a Change Order with a not to exceed limit of
$4,000,000 for the installation of escalators at the Antioch BART Station to Contract No.
04SF-130, for the Construction of East Contra Costa BART Extension Project Trackwork,

Systems, and Facility Finishes, subject to funding partner approval.



ba

%
; GEN‘ERAL MANAGFR APPRO\//AL GENERAL MANAGER ACTION REQ'D:

i g A
}ZLQ @m W pprove and forward to the Board

DATE: (u/ { / [ ¢ AN § BOARD INITIATED ITEM: No

& 3

Originator/Prepdred by: Balvir Thind dene angu sel Controller/Tgeasurer | District Secretary =] BARE™ |
Dept, Electrjcal Engmeenng J \ v /
B el T
| 11’“ \ N\ X
A i

EXECUTIVE DECISION DOCUMENT

o

4
Signature/Date: <% /3%/ 9@/(’; \\":; c‘ﬁ; ’l/ éé[ 1 [] [1
77
| Status: Routed |Date Created: 04/28/2016 ]
TITLE: o

AWARD OF CONTRACT 09DJ-140A FOR REPAIR AND MAINTENANCE OF ANODE
CABLES, ANODE ARRAY ASSEMBLIES, AND CATHODIC PROTECTION SYSTEM

NARRATIVE:
PURPOSE:

To obtain Board authorization for the General Manager to award Contract No. 09DJ-140A,
Repair and Maintenance of Anode Cables, Anode Array Assemblies, and Cathodic Protection
System to Vortex Marine Construction (Vortex) of Antioch, CA.

DESCRIPTION:

This Contract is for the repair of non-functioning anode cables and anode array assemblies
adjacent to BART’s Transbay Tube (TBT) in addition to maintenance of the entire TBT cathodic
protection system for one (1) year. The Contract permits the District to exercise Options A, B,
and C to extend the Contract up to three years, beyond the Base year of the Contract.

At present, the steel shell of the TBT is protected from corrosion by the cathodic protection
system, which consists of a series of cathodic protection anodes. These anodes are located some
distance away from the TBT at the bottom of the San Francisco Bay, and provide required
current to charge the tube shell to a negative voltage. This negative voltage in turn protects the
steel shell from corrosion. There are thirty (30) anode array assemblies protecting the TBT.
Each anode is connected to a power source located in the TBT with an armored submarine cable
at the bottom of the Bay. The steel shell around the concrete tube structure is required for its
structural integrity and to protect it from mechanical damage and water leakage. As the anode
ages, the anode material gradually deteriorates until it no longer functions. In addition, ship
traffic, at times, has damaged the connecting cable between the anode and the power source,
requiring replacement. At present, five (5) anodes are not functioning and are in need of either
repair or replacement of its arrays or cables.

An Advance Notice to Bidders was sent to 85 prospective Bidders with A and C10 contracting
licenses on February 22, 2016. This Contract was advertised on February 24, 2016 in the Daily
Pacific Builder, Examiner, and Daily Construction Services. Contract books were delivered to
twenty three (23) plan rooms. A pre-Bid meeting was held on Friday, March 18, 2016 with nine



(9) prospective Bidders attending. Fourteen (14) firms purchased the Contract Documents.
Prior to the Bid opening, the District issued two (2) Addenda to this Contract.

On Tuesday, April 12, 2016 at 2:00 PM, Bids were opened and three (3) firms submitted the
following bids:

BIDDERS TOTAL BASE BID PRICE TOTAL BID PRICE
(Including Options A, B, and C)

Manson Construction, Inc $1,262.860.00 $4,955,410.00

Seattle, WA

Vortex Marine Construction $860,368.00 $3,510,807.00

Antioch CA

Dutra Construction, $898,100.00 $3,610,800.00

San Rafael, CA

ENGINEER’S ESTIMATE $1.160.000.00 $4,772,918.00

District staff has determined that Vortex’s Base Bid of $860,368.00 is responsive to the
solicitation and is fair and reasonable based on the Engineer’s Estimate. Furthermore, staff’s
review of Vortex's license, business experience, and financial capabilities has resulted in a
determination that Vortex is a responsible Bidder.

In addition, staff has determined that the Contract Work is categorically exempt from the
provisions of the California Environmental Quality Act (CEQA) pursuant to Title 14, California
Code of Regulations, Section 15301, Existing Facilities, because it consists of the repair and
minor alterations of existing facilities involving no expansion of use.

Pursuant to the District’s Non-Discrimination for Subcontracting Program, the availability
percentages for this contract are 23% for Minority Business Enterprises (MBE) and 12% for
Woman Business Enterprises (WBE). The bidder will not be subcontracting any work and will
do all work with its own forces. Therefore, the District’s Non-Discrimination for Subcontracting
Program does not apply.

Pursuant to the District’s Non-Federal Small Business Program, the Office of Civil Rights set a
5% prime preference for this Contract for Small Businesses (SB) certified by the California
Department of General Services (DGS). Since Vortex Marine Construction, Inc. is the lowest
responsive Bidder, and is eligible for the 5% Small Business preference, the application of the
Small Business Program will not alter the award to Vortex Marine Construction, Inc.

AWARD OF CONTRACT 09DJ-140A FOR REPAIR AND MAINTENANCE OF ANODE CABLES, ANODE ARRAY AS!



FISCAL IMPACT:

Funding of $860,368.00 for award of Contract No 09DJ-140A is included in the total project
budget for 09DJ004, Repair & Maintenance of Cathodic Protection. Funds needed to meet
this request will be expended from a combination of these sources as listed.

Fund

No. Fund Description Source Amount
851W | FYO07-11 Operating Allocation to Capital BART $ 600,000
8526 FY14 - Operating Allocation to Capital BART $ 250,000
8529 FY16 — Operating Allocation to Capital BART $ 400,000
Total $1,250,000

As of May 16, 2016, $1,250,000.00 is the total budget for this project. BART has expended
$0.00, committed $0.00 to date for other actions. This action will commit $860,368.00 leaving
$389,632.00 balance in this project.

There is no fiscal impact on available unprogrammed District Reserves.

ALTERNATIVES:

The alternative is not to repair and maintain the anode cables, anode array assemblies and
cathodic protection system. This will leave part of Transbay Tube unprotected against corrosion
due to lack of cathodic protection.

RECOMMENDATION:

It is recommended that the Board of Directors adopt the following motion:

MOTION:

The General Manager is authorized to award Contract No. 09DJ-140A for Repair and
Maintenance of Anode Cables, Anode Array Assemblies and Cathodic Protection System, to
Vortex Marine Construction of Antioch, CA for the Total Base Bid Price of $860,368.00,
pursuant to notification to be issued by the General Manager and subject to compliance with the
District's protest procedures. The General Manager is also authorized to exercise Option A for
the Total Option A Bid Price of $871,563.00 and Option B for the Total Option B Bid Price of
$883,633.00, and Option C for the Total Option C Bid Price of $895,243.00, subject to

certification from the Controller-Treasurer of the availability of funding.

AWARD OF CONTRACT 09DJ-140A FOR REPAIR AND MAINTENANCE OF ANODE CABLES, ANODE ARRAY AS!



leé ERA:. MANAGER APRROVAL: ; GENERAL MANAGER ACTION REQ'D: |
i */Ji cwn el /) e ZL/&\ Approve and place on June 9, 2016 Board Agenda {
. i

!

PATE: © [2 [ Zp1 b

. ;

Originator/Prepared by: Steve Sims Séne i Controller/Ti istri

gt repared b Steve Bl WW{@» i er/Treasurer | District Secretary
o NN ity

Signatur {‘7 !,b [ 1 M [ﬁ/@/ié [1

ls;tatus: Routed | Date Created: 05/31/2016 f
TITLE:
Procurement of Traction Power Substations, Phase 1, Contract 15SEK-210 Change Order

No. 22, Removal of Design, Engineering, and Traction Power Equipment

BOARD INITIATED ITEM: No

NARRATIVE:

PURPOSE:

To authorize the General Manager to execute Contract 15EK-210, Procurement of Traction Power
Substations, Phase 1, Change Order No. 22, Removal of Design, Engineering, and Traction Power
Equipment, for a credit of $6,101,686.74.

DISCUSSION:

On December 1, 2011, the Board authorized award of Contract 15EK-210 in the amount of $17,904,407.00
for procurement of eight traction power substations over 5 years to Powell Electrical Systems, Inc. The first
two substations were placed in service in May and October, 2015. Three more substations are now in
production, including one DC equipment house procured through Change Order No. 8 to replace the
Richmond Yard substation DC equipment house, which was damaged by fire. (Richmond Yard substation
equipment was added to the contract by Change Order No. 8.)

The transformers and rectifier equipment in the first two substations placed in service have had significant
problems complying with contract specifications. Mitigation of these quality problems has taken a long time
and is still on-going. Acceptance of more Powell equipment has been postponed until the root causes of
the quality problems are identified and resolved.

These problems have adversely impacted the substation installations, causing delays and large claims
from equipment installation contractors. Spending of some Federal capital program grant money has
likewise been delayed. Staff has determined that to reduce these impacts, the final four substations of
Contract 15EK-210 should be de-scoped and these substations be included in upcoming Bond projects.
This allows Federal grant money to be used for other projects.

The three substations now in production are the Richmond Yard, San Leandro, and Transbay Tube East
substations. Due to the importance of replacing the Richmond Yard substation DC equipment house,
delivery from Powell of the Richmond Yard DC equipment house will be accepted in August with quality
problems remediated on site. Fabrication of equipment to replace the San Leandro and Transbay Tube




East Transition Structure substations will be completed following resolution of quality problems. It is
expected that these problems will be resolved later this year. The substation equipment will be stored and
will be delivered when installation funding becomes available. The District will continue with purchase of
spare parts and training.

The Office of the General Counsel will approve this Change Order as to form, and the Procurement
Department will review the Change Order for compliance with the District's procurement guidelines, prior to
execution. ‘

Contract 15EK-210 is a highly technical procurement contract, and contains no DBE goal.

FISCAL IMPACT:

The unspent amounts will be decommitted in BART's financial management system from Change Order
No. 22 and returned to project reserve. There is no fiscal impact on unprogrammed District Reserves.

ALTERNATIVE:

The Board can elect not to authorize the General Manager to approve Contract 15EK-210 Change Order
No. 22. In this case the District would incur significant risks of accepting defective equipment that could fail
and negatively impact service. Alternatively, spending of Federal grant monies would be delayed for an
unknown amount of time.

RECOMMENDTION:
Recommend that the Board approve the following motion.

MOTION:

The General Manager is authorized to execute Contract 15EK-210, Change Order No. 22, Removal of
Design, Engineering, and Traction Power Equipment for a credit to the District of $6,101,686.74.

Procurement of Traction Power Substations, Phase 1, Contract 15EK-210 Change Order No. 22, Removal of Design,



CAPITOL CORRIDOR JOINT POWERS AUTHORITY
MEETING OF THE BOARD OF DIRECTORS

Wednesday June 15,2016 Simultaneous teleconference calls will take place at:
10 a.m. San Jose City Hall — Tower Building
Sacramento City Council Chambers 200 E. Santa Clara Street, Room #T1853
915 “I” Street San Jose, CA
Sacramento, CA 95814 Bay Area Rapid Transit District
(see attached map) 300 Lakeside Drive, Room 2301
QOakland, CA
DRAFT AGENDA
L. Call to Order
1L Roll Call and Pledge of Allegiance
1. Report of the Chair
IV.  Minutes of the February 17,2016 Meeting Action
V. Consent Calendar Action
1. Budget Update: Auburn Station Facility Upgrades
VI Action and Discussion Items
1. Legislative Matters/Governor’s May Revise State FY 16-17 Budget Action
2. Richmond Station Platform Improvements Action
3. Update: Cap and Trade TIRCP Application/Sacramento-Roseville 3 Track Project — Phase 1 Action
4. Overview of Draft FY 16-17 CCJPA Budget [Operations, Administration, Marketing] Info
5. Update: Programmed Capital Projects and New Rail Vehicle Deliveries Info
6. Managing Director’s Report Info
7. Work Completed Info

a. Business Plan Update (FY 2016-17 — FY 2017-18)

b. May I, 2016 Timetable Change (Connecting Buses only)

c. Marketing Activities (February — May 2016)
8. Work in Progress Info
Oakland — San Jose Phase 2 Project
Sacramento-Roseville 3 Track Project
Positive Train Control Update
Station Signage and Platform Safety Upgrades
Capitol Corridor Station Bicycle eLocker Project
Vision and Service Planning Ad-Hoc Subcommittee: Vision Plan Implementation Program
Proposed Extension of Capitol Corridor Trains to Salinas

h. Upcoming Marketing Activities

VII.  Board Member Reports
VIII.  Public Comments
IX.  Adjournment. Next Meeting Date: 10:00 a.m., September 21, 2016, at City Council Chambers, Suisun

City Hall, 701 Civic Center Blvd., City of Suisun City, CA

@ e At TP

Notes:

Members of the public may address the Board regarding any item on this agenda. Please complete a "Request to Address the Board" form (available at the
entrance of the Boardroom and at a teleconference location, if applicable) and hand it to the Secretary or designated staff member before the item is considered
by the Board. If you wish to discuss a matter that is not on the agenda during a regular meeting, you may do so under Public Comment. Speakers are limited
to three (3) minutes for any item or matter. The CCJPA Board reserves the right to take action on any agenda item.

Consent calendar items are considered routine and will be enacted, approved or adopted by one motion unless a request for discussion or explanation is received
from a CCJPA Board Director or from a member of the audience.

The CCJPA Board provides services/accommodations upon request to persons with disabilities who wish to address Board matters. A request must be made within
one and five days in advance of a Board meeting, depending on the service requested. Call (510) 464-6085 for information.



SAN FRANCISCO BAY AREA RAPID TRANSIT DISTRICT

Memorandum

TO: Board of Directors DATE: June 3, 2016
FROM: General Manager

SUBJECT: Board Matters Agenda Item #8.A: Additional State Bills for Board Discussion
' and/or Action

At the May 26, BART Board meeting, Director Josefowitz requested that five additional pieces
of legislation come before the Board for consideration at the June 9, 2016 Board of Directors
meeting. Director Josefowitz will lead the discussion regarding the bills under the Board Matters
portion of the agenda. Also attached, for additional information, are the fact sheets produced by
the authors’ staff for each piece of legislation.

State Legislation for BART Board Review

e AB 2299 (Bloom) Land use: Housing units.

Rather than allow, AB 2299 would require a local government to adopt a second unit ordinance
and would place certain restrictions on parking requirements imposed by local jurisdictions. The
author points to the implementation of SB 375 (the Sustainable Communities and Climate
Protection Act of 2008) as a major reason to support more infill and affordable housing
development. Increasing numbers of second units in single family and multifamily zones are
creating denser communities, but there is a need to ensure that additional parking requirements
won’t be a barrier to the development of such needed secondary housing. AB 2229 would
prohibit a local government from imposing parking standards for a second unit located within a
2 mile of public transit or shopping or if it is within an architecturally significant or historic
district. This bill would also allow a local government to eliminate parking requirements for any
second unit located in its jurisdiction.

The Bay Area Council and real estate groups like the CA Apartment Association support this
legislation. The California League of Cities and the California State Association of Counties
(CSAC) oppose the bill.

o AB 2428 (Ting) State Highways: Property leases.

The City and County of San Francisco is sponsoring AB 2428 with the goal of encouraging San
Francisco to leverage existing Caltrans property so it can better implement its sustainable
community strategies and enhance recreational and green space opportunities for its citizens.
San Francisco seeks to leverage the unused right-of-way and airspaces adjacent to and below
certain state freeways to develop green spaces and parks by assuring that San Francisco has the
first right of refusal to lease the state owned space at 10% of the current market rate. Caltrans is



required to secure the fair market lease rates for parcels such as these which often takes open
space options out of the running because commercial developments and parking lots can better
afford the investment opportunity. AB 2428 would switch that priority by allowing San
Francisco first claim on the land. This could allow the city to better implement its greenhouse
gas reducing strategies or produce additional affordable housing.

e AB 2501 (Bloom) Housing Density Bonuses.

Density bonuses are used to encourage the production of affordable housing by both market rate
and affordable housing developers who, in return for building additional affordable housing, are
allowed an increase in density over a city’s zoned density. AB 2501 is sponsored by the Western
Center on Law and Poverty and the California Rural Legal Assistance Foundation to address the
state’s growing lack of affordable housing.

The author says this bill would help to clarify some of the ambiguous provisions in density bonus
law that has created uncertainty for developers. The Assembly floor analysis states that the bill:
“establishes a clear process and deadlines for local governments to approve or deny a density
bonus application, clarifies that an applicant for a density bonus need only demonstrate that
requested incentives reduce the cost of the development, increases certainty regarding the number
of additional units available as a result of the density increase, (and) limits the ability of local
governments to impose additional requirements to block density bonus projects.”

The League of Cities and the California State Association of Counties (CSAC) oppose this bill
because they believe it imposes timelines that are too short, whereby local governments could
‘actually approve a project application.

e AB 1069 (Wieckowski) Land Use

In order to deal with the growing housing shortage in the state, the author teamed up with the Bay
Area Council, the sponsor of AB 1069, to eliminate barriers to the construction of “accessory
dwelling units” (ADUs). This bill would relax ADU requirements, and specify where they can
be located, establishing specific standards and lot density. This bill also revises approval or
denial process for ADU applications when local agencies have not adopted an ordinance to do so.

AB 1069 would impose standards on ADUs involving height, setback, lot coverage, architectural
review and maximum size. Specifically related to parking, this bill would disallow the
imposition of parking standards if 1) the ADU is located within % mile of public transit or
shopping, 2) is located within an architecturally and historically significant historic district, 3) it
is part of an existing primary residence, 4) on-street parking permits are required but not offered
to the ADU unit, and 5) a car-share vehicle is located one block from the ADU.

The bill is supported by MTC and a wide spectrum of housing, regional planning and
environmental groups. Because this bill would either change local ordinances relating to ADUs



or establish new state requirements, cities and counties oppose this bill because they argue it will
take away local control on local housing issues.

e SB 986 (Hill) Vehicles: Right Turns

Existing law requires a driver to stop at a red light and prohibits the driver from proceeding until
given an indication to do so. Failing to stop at a red light is a violation carrying a base fine of
$100, as well as a violation point. Unless there is a sign prohibiting it, a driver may turn right at
ared light after coming to a complete stop. The base fine for red-light violations is currently at
$100 -- however, due to additional surcharges, penalties, and assessments, a $100 base fine can
exceed $500.

This bill would lower the base fine from $100 to $35 for turning right on a red light, or turning
left from a one-way street onto another one-way street without first coming to a complete stop.
According to the author, drivers making right turns are generally going at a low speed, and
resulting accidents tend to be much less serious in nature. Senator Hill argues that by reducing
the base fine for rolling right turns, this bill would help ensure the penalty matches the offense.
SB 986 does not affect pedestrian right-of-way statutes or violation points for red light offenses.

This bill is supported by Safer Streets LA, the CA Association of Highway Patrolmen and AAA
Clubs of Northern and Southern California. There is no registered opposition to the bill.

Grace Crunican
Attachments
cc: Board Appointed Officers

Deputy General Manager
Executive Staff



PROBLEM

In 2002 the legislature passed AB 1866
(Chapter 1062, Statutes of 2002), which
required local governments to review
applications for second units magisterially. The
bill was introduced in response to concerns that
some local governments had restrictive
requirements and lengthy approval processes
that effectively precluded the development of
second units. At that time, California’s housing
shortage was already well-documented and the
intent of the measure was to promote the
development of second units as a way to
increase the housing supply.

Unfortunately, during the 14 years since the
passage of AB 1866, California’s housing
shortage has only grown more severe and
some local governments still impose restrictive
requirements that make it difficult to build
second units, like parking restrictions.

California is struggling to adequately meet its
housing needs, especially for housing that is
affordable near jobs centers and public
transportation. While second units can serve as
much needed rental housing, they can also
provide homes for college students, elderly
parents, or individuals with disabilities who
need to live close to their families or others who
can provide them support.

SOLUTION

. ~ AB ;22“99: (Blbom) S
~ Fact Sheet

these units because the parking may not be
feasible in an existing neighborhood.

EXISTING LAW

AB 1866 (Wright), signed into law in 2002.
Required local governments to use a ministerial
process for approving second housing units
and prohibits them from applying any
development standard that would have the
effect of precluding an affordable housing
development from receiving a density bonus
and concessions.

SUPPORT

Apartment Association of Greater Los Angeles
Bay Area Council

California Apartment Association (Sponsor)
California Association of Realtors

California Rural Legal Assistance Foundation
Santa Barbara Rental Property Association
Western Center on Law & Poverty

OPPOSITION

AB 2299 will require rather than allow a local
government to adopt a second unit ordinance
and to limit the local government's ability to
apply certain standards. Within one-half mile of
public transit or shopping, or within in an
architecturally or historically significant district,
an ordinance could not impose any parking
requirement on the second unit. Parking
requirements imposed by local jurisdictions on
second units can be a barrier to the creation of

California League of Cities
California State Association of Counties

Version: 5/12/2016

Office of Assemblymember Richard Bloom
AB 2299 - Fact Sheet
Contact: Guy Strahl (916) 319-2050



2428

Creating Open Space in San Francisco

AB 2428 will help create open space and
recreational areas in San Francisco by allowing
the City and County to lease unused spaces
below and next to state freeways — notably
Highways 80, 101 and 280 - at 10 percent of the
market rate.

BACKGROUND

As one of the nation's most densely populated
cities, San Francisco lacks the open space
needed to implement its Sustainable
Communities Strategy, which is required by the
California Sustainable Communities and Climate
Protection Act of 2008 (SB 375). As part of its
compliance efforts, the City and County is
looking to leveraged unused right-of-way and
airspace below and adjacent to state freeways
in order to develop green spaces, parks, and
recreational facilities.

The City and County is asking the State of
California to partner with this effort by
providing the ability to lease these Caltrans-
owned locations at 10 percent of the current
market rate. In addition San Francisco is asking
for the right of first refusal to these leases.

Without this bill, the City and County must
lease the land a full market rate. For example,
the City and County has already leased one

parcel, the SoMa West Skatepark and Dog Park,
for a $4.8 million lease over 20 years. Because
of the high cost of these leases, it is possible
that the 41,000 square foot space under the
Transbay Terminal that was designed in the
Transbay Redevelopment Plan as open space
could instead be leased for off-street parking.
By encouraging more car travel, such an
outcome would undermine San Francisco’s
push to be a more walkable, environmentally
sustainable community.

THIS BILL

AB 2180 allows the City and County of San
Francisco to lease surplus Caltrans right-of-
ways for 10 percent of the current market rate
if the spaces are used for open space, green
space, or recreational purposes. In addition
San Francisco would have the right of first
refusal to these leases.

SUPPORT

The City and County of San Francisco

STAFF CONTACT

Office of Assemblymember Phil Ting
Christian Griffith or Andrew White
(916) 319-2099 or (916) 319-2019

Office of Assemblymember Philip Y. Ting | AB 2180 Fact Sheet




A32501 (Bloom-a‘ynd‘Low)f;/ e
Density Bonus Reform

PROBLEM

 Fact Sheet

California remains one of the most expensive housing
markets in the United States. The loss of
redevelopment agencies and reductions in state and
federal housing funding have drastically limited the
financial resources available to produce homes
affordable to the growing number of lower-income
Californians who are priced out of the market. One tool
for increasing affordable housing production even at a
time of limited funding is through regulatory incentives
that reduce barriers building housing and encourage
market-based solutions. State Density Bonus Law
provides a variety of concessions and incentives to
housing developers who agree to make a percentage
of the units in their development affordable to low- and
moderate-income households. The law provides
valuable financial benefits to developers that make the
inclusion of affordable units possible. However, the law
has a number of ambiguous provisions that discourage
developers in some areas of the state from utilizing it,
or that are used by some local governments to prevent
developers from accessing the law’s benefits

Developers and local governments need certainty in
order for Density Bonus law to be an effective incentive
to produce affordable housing. Right now that certainty
is lacking.

SOLUTION

o allowed to build in exchange for providing
affordable units.

e Limiting the ability of local governments to
impose additional requirements on density
bonus developers that do not increase a
development project’s feasibility.

EXISTING LAW

AB 2501 would clarify state Density Bonus law to help
encourage market-rate housing developers to include
affordable units in their projects and reduce costs for
affordable housing developers.

The bill would address a number of the law's
ambiguous provisions and strengthen the incentives
available to developers, including the following:

e  Clarifying that the legislative intent of the law is
to encourage the development of affordable
housing.

o  Clarifying that an applicant for a density bonus
need only demonstrate that requested
incentives reduce the cost of development.

e Increasing the certainty regarding the
number of additional units a developer is

State Density Bonus Law (found in California
Government Code Sections 65915 — 65918) provides
developers with powerful tools to encourage the
development of affordable and senior housing,
including up to a 35% increase in project densities,
depending on the amount of affordable housing
provided. Density Bonus Law is about more than the
density bonus itself, however. It is a larger package of
incentives intended to help make the development of
affordable and senior housing economically feasible.
Other benefits to developers under the law include
reduced parking requirements, incentives and
concessions such as reduced setbacks and minimum
square footage requirements, and the ability to donate
land for the development of affordable housing to earn
a density bonus. When applied fairly, these tools and
incentives can help increase the supply of affordable
housing. Additional clarification is needed in the law to
help realize this potential.

SPONSORS

California Rural Legal Assistance Foundation
Western Center on Law and Poverty
California Housing Consortium

California Apartment Association

SUPPORT

Housing California
California Association of Realtors

Office of Assemblymember Richard Bloom
AB 2501 - Fact Sheet
Contact: Guy Strahl (916) 319-2050



OPPOSITION

American Planning Association California
Chapter

California State Association of Counties

City of Lakeport

City of Torrance

Council of Community Housing Organizations
League of California Cities

Version: 5/4/2016

Office of Assemblymember Richard Bloom
AB 2501 - Fact Sheet
Contact: Guy Strahl
(916) 319-2050
Page 2



SUMMARY

EXISTING LAW

California is in a severe housing crisis. The state is home
to 21 of the nation’s 30 most unaffordable rental markets
and California renters pay 50% more on average than
renters in any other state. The largest driver for this
unaffordability crisis is a lack of supply. There are
currently only 664,000 affordable rental homes for 2.2
million extremely low-income and very low-income renter
households. One solution is accessory dwelling units
(ADUs). However, unnecessary and costly barriers
throughout the state have halted their development. SB
1069 will eliminate some of these barriers and thus
facilitate the development of housing that is affordable by
design.

PROBLEM

Housing in California is becoming increasingly
unaffordable. The average California home currently costs
about two and half times the national average home
price. For those looking to rent, a person earning
minimum wage must work three full-time jobs in order to
afford a two-bedroom unit. However, in California’s more
heavily populated metropolitan areas, a minimum wage
worker would have to pick up a fourth and fifth job to
afford the same two-bedroom unit. Throughout the state,
the bottom 25% of income earners spends 67% of their
income on housing. This housing burden is one of the
biggest drivers of institutional and generational poverty
cycles and will not be resolved until more housing can be
developed. As the state’s population continues to grow
and housing demand increases, it is imperative that the
legislature act quickly to facilitate affordable housing
development.

A 2015 Legislative Analyst’s Office report advised the
Legislature to facilitate the development of significantly
more private homes and apartments in California’s
coastal urban areas in order to address the
unaffordability crisis. As a solution, the Association of
Bay Area Governments found that infilling the core of the
Bay Area could accommodate over half the expected
population growth and their housing demand. However,
infill could increase housing costs if not properly
implemented. Accessory dwelling units are one part of the
solution to this housing issue.

ADUs —referred to in existing law as second units- are
additional living quarters on single-family lots that are
independent of the primary dwelling unit. These units are
inherently affordable- costing as little as 25% as much as
a housing unit in a conventional infill development. ADUs
cost less to build, are managed by a homeowner, and
require no public subsidy. Under existing law, any
property owner has the ability to a construct an ADU on
their property should they meet certain zoning and
building requirements. However, a significant number of
homeowners interested in building ADUs on their
property are deterred from constructing these units due
to unnecessary regulatory barriers such as costly
duplicative fees and excessive parking requirements.

Government Code Section 65852.2 defines a second unit
as an attached or detached residential dwelling unit
which provides complete independent living facilities for
one or more persons. The second unit shall include
permanent provisions for living, sleeping, eating, cooking,
and sanitation on the same parcel as the single-family
dwelling is situated. This section also allows any local
agency to provide for the construction of second units by
ordinance. A local ordinance may designate areas where
second units may be permitted and may impose
standards such as parking, setback, lot coverage, and
maximum size.

For local agencies that have not adopted an ordinance
governing ADUs, every local agency shall grant a variance
or special use permit for the creation of ADUSs should the
unit comply with all of the following:
e The unit is not intended for sale and may be
rented
o The lot is zoned for single- or multifamily use
e The lot contains an existing single-family dwelling
e The ADU is either 1) attached to the existing
dwelling and located within the living area or 2)
detached and located on the same lot as the
existing dwelling
» The increased floor area of an attached unit shall
not exceed 30 percent of the existing living area
and shall not exceed 1,200 sq. ft.
o Approval by the local health officer where a
private sewage disposal system is being used, if
required

Existing law allows local agencies to create parking
requirements, so long as they do not exceed one parking
space per unit or per bedroom.

THIS BILL

SB 1069 changes the term “second units” to “accessory
dwelling units” and eases barriers to the construction of
ADUs by:

e  Providing exceptions to parking requirements,
such as when being located within a half mile
from public transit or if the ADU is part of the
existing dwelling.

e Requiring ministerial approval for the remodeling
of existing structures to an ADU when compliant
to building and safety standards.

o Eliminating duplicative construction
requirements that treat ADUs as new land use in
regards to new utility /water/sewer hook-ups.

e Eliminating fire sprinkler requirements for an
ADU when fire sprinklers are not required in the
primary dwelling.

e Increasing maximum size of an accessory dwelling
unit to 50 percent of existing living area.

¢ Reducing the maximum permitting review
timeline for ADU building permit applications
from 120 days to 90 days.

Office of Senator Bob Wieckowski ¢ SB Bill #1069 Fact Sheet ¢ Updated 5/25/2016 ¢
For more information, please contact: Evita Chavez ¢ Eyita, Chavessen,.ci.oov ¢ 916-651-4010




SUPPORT

Bay Area Council (Sponsor)

AARP

Abode Services

Bishop Ranch

Blue Shield of California

BRIDGE Housing

Building Industry Association of the Bay Area
California Association of Realtors
California Building Industry Association
California Council for Affordable Housing
California Housing Consortium
California Infill Federation

California Renters Legal Advocacy and Education Fund
California State Chamber of Commerce
Carol Galante, Faculty Director, UC Berkeley Terner Center
of Housing Innovation

Center for Creative Land Recycling
Chase Communications

City of Berkeley

City of Oakland

Colliers International

Comcast

Cushman & Wakefield

East Bay Leadership Council

Eden Housing

Emerald Fund

Facebook

Greenbelt Alliance

Hallisey & Johnson Law

Hason Bridgett

HKS Architects

The Home Depot

Housing Trust Silicon Valley

Joint Venture Silicon Valley Network
Kaiser Permanente

Karen Chapple, Professor, UC Berkeley City & Regional
Planning

LA-Mas

Lennar Urban

Lily Pad Homes

Local Government Control Commission
Los Angeles Area Chamber of Commerce
Los Angeles Mayor, Eric Garcetti

Los Angeles City Councilmember, Gil Cedillo
MacKenzie Communications, Inc.

Main Street Property Services, Inc.
Manatt, Phelps & Phillips LLP

Marvell

McKinsey & Company

Metropolitan Transportation Commission
Natural Resources Defense Council
Nehemiah Corporation of America

New Avenue Homes

NHA Advisors

Nibbi Brothers Construction

Non-Profit Housing Association of Northern California (NPH)
North Bay Leadership Council

North Lake Tahoe Resort Association
Nossaman LLP

QOakland Chamber of Commerce

Orange County Business Council

Pier 39

Planning and Conservation League

Plumbing-Heating-Cooling Contractors Association
Polaris Pacific

Radiant Brands

Read Investments

Rhoades Planning Group

Richard Rosenberg, Chairman and CEO (RET) Bank of
America

Reuben, Junius & Rose, LLP

Sares Regis Homes

San Francisco Bay Area Planning and Research Association
(SPUR)

San Francisco Chamber of Commerce

San Francisco Housing Action Coalition

San Mateo County Economic Development Association
Supervisor Scott Wiener, District 8 San Francisco

SV Angel

SV@Home

Summer Hill Housing Group

Technology Credit Union

Terner Center for Housing Innovation

TMG Partners

The Two Hundred

University of California ~ Los Angeles Professor Paavo
Monkkonen

UPS

Virgin America

Webcor Builders

Western Center on Law and Poverty

OPPOSITION

Association of California Water Agencies
California State Association of Counties
City of Angels Camp

City of Brentwood

City of Clearlake

City of Cloverdale

City of Daly City

City of Dublin

City of Goleta

City of Lakeport

City of Laguna Hills

City of Lodi

City of Los Banos

City of Manteca

City of Merced

City of Mill Valley

City of Placerville

City of Rancho Cucamonga
City of Rancho Palos Verdes
City of Redding

City of Riverbank

City of Roseville

City of San Carlos

City of San Clemente

City of San Rafael

City of Sunnyvale

City of Tehama

City of Thousand Oaks

City of Torrance

League of California Cities
Ventura Council of Governments

STATUS

Waiting Referral from Assembly Rules

Office of Senator Bob Wieckowski ¢ SB Bill #1069 Fact Sheet ¢ Updated 5/25/2016 ¢
For more information, please contact: Evita Chavez ¢ Lyita. Chavezsen.co.coy ¢ 916-651-4010




IN BRIEF

SB 986 reduces the fine for failing to come to a complete
stop “California Stop” while turning right at a red light.
Thus making it be cited as similar other minor moving
violations with a base fine ticket of $35, rather than the
$100 it is being cited for today. Straight through and left-
turn red light violations would still be cited at the $100
base fine ticket amount.

THE PROBLEM

When a motorist is traveling at 40mph on a straight
through intersection, the likelihood of causing a serious or
fatal crash is much greater. But during a right turn, most
motorists have control of their vehicle, if they see another
vehicle or pedestrian, they are able to stop in time.

Out of 6.3 million crashes nationwide in 1998, less than
0.04 percent of them involved a driver making a right turn
at a red light, according to a 2001 National Highway Traffic
Safety Administration study. The report also found no
fatalities occurred that year from an accident resulting
from a right hand turn on red when the driver yielded to
oncoming traffic.

A $100 base fine ticket (for a moving violation) is usually
reserved for dangerous maneuvers. Other violations that
carry a $100 ticket include: speeding in excess of 25mph
over the speed limit on the freeway, failure to yield to an
emergency vehicle and failure to stop for closed train gate
signals. Even passing unsafely and without sufficient
clearance, driving the wrong way on a one-way street, and
driving on the sidewalk only carry $70 base fine amounts.

Astoundingly, a driver can come to a complete stop and
then proceed to make an unsafe right turn, almost hitting
a pedestrian and would be cited with a $35 base fine ticket.

BACKGROUND

penalties) was approximately $100. After the 1997
legislation was enacted to increase the prices, the total
ticket price was approximately $270. Today, red light
tickets are nearly $500 (including right on red).

A nearly $500 fine for a “rolling right” is simply too
egregious, especially considering much more dangerous
maneuvers are cited for less. A $500 ticket is an excessive
amount of money for most families, especially for a
maneuver that is not overtly dangerous.

This issue has gained attention with the dramatic
proliferation of red light cameras. Reports have
demonstrated that in many municipalities, the vast
majority of tickets issued are for right turn violations when
the driver fails to come to complete stop. These cameras
are focused more on generating cash instead of enhancing
public safety, which was the original purpose.

Additionally, a 2008 Los Angeles Times study revealed that
80% of red light camera tickets go not to those running
through intersections but to drivers making “rolling right”
turns. People who make right turns in general are going at
a low speed, and resulting accidents tend to be much less
serious in nature.

THE SOLUTION

In 1997 legislation was passed to increase penalties for
those drivers making very dangerous decisions, increasing
the base fine amount from $35 to $100 for running red
lights. AB 1191 (Shelly, 1997) inadvertently included right
turn violations. AB 1191 targeted straight through and left
turn violations because they are the most serious and
dangerous violations at intersections. A deadly broadside
by someone sailing through a stop light is the principal
safety problem AB 1191 targeted.

Red light ticket fines have increased dramatically over the
last couple of decades. In 1997, the total price (including

SB 986 simply makes sure the penalty fits with the
seriousness of the offense. Failing to come to a complete
stop at red light when turning right should have the same
fine as making an unsafe right turn which carries a base
fine of $35. SB 986 simply codifies that a “rolling right” be
classified similarly to other moving violations and be cited
as such with a $35 fine.

Right on red violations would still be illegal and add a
point to a driver’s record. SB 986 does not change that,
just the base fine amount.

SUPPORT

California Association of Highway Patrolmen

Legal Services for Prisoners with Children (LSPC)

Safer Streets L.A.

The National Motorists Association

The Automobile Club of Southern California and AAA
Northern California, Nevada, and Utah (the AAA Clubs)
Western States Trucking Association

FOR MORE INFORMATION

Meegen Murray— 651-4013 / Meegen.Murray @sen.ca.gov



	DOC060616-06062016104332
	DOC060616-06062016104447


CONTRACT NO. 045F-170

FOR CONSTRUCTION OF EAST CONTRA COSTA BART
EXTENSION PROJECT SANITARY SEWER CONNECTION

SITE PLAN AND EXISTING PHOTOS
EDD ATTACHMENT





Overall Site Plan

OAKLEY RD

TRAILERS(FOR ON—GOING
BART CONTRACT NO.
04SF-130)

SANITARY SEWER
0 EXISTING JOBSITE ALIGNMENT

CONTRACT NO. 04SF-170
AVAILABLE LAYDOWN

ANTIOCH STATION
E=———__— PAncLO S =
e - A
j __J
L BART STORAGE AREA
J
-7% - —_— — e e e
STATE ROUTE 4

SITE PLAN





PROPERTY
LINE

2,

MANFENANCE
FACLITY ()

FKP, INC,
A * Gate f{} -| f APN 052-030-021
S 100 - (NOTE [8)
N 218722183
E 619592814 |

10" SANITARY SEWER EASEMENT

FH HE)
SSMH 102
WITH LOCKABLE LID
N 218760374

CCCFC & WCD
APN 052-030-022

HOTES:

I SUBMIT ENTRY AND EXIT PITS OF JACK
AND HORE OPERATION FOR D'\acw AND
APPROVAL. PITS SHALL NOT BE
CONFLICT WITH EXISTING L\IDLRWWVD
UTILITIES.

10 APPROX CONSTRUCT MANHOLES PER REFERENCE
55 EASEMENT {E) DETAIL RDO1, MH COVER SHALL BE MARKED
“SANITARY SEWER"

- s

125 “:[) SEE CONTRACT SHI. NC. U102 FOR

v t.LNhH'U.. 10N WORK AREAS,
OTHOLE DATA, AND UTILITY CONTACTS

SEMH 103 DRIG« TO UTILITY WORK.

N 2188108.27

E 6195855.13

SEE PIPELINE CROSSING AGREEWENT FOR
CONSTRUCTION WITHMN UPRC
AIGHT=0F ~WAY.

.L&
(iote 7o)

/

F0'XE0' | AREA
TEMP SEWER
HJHJN: TANK

/3
o
¥

[
.l

OH POWER &

#oite) :
AND COWM. (E)

CHEV.

a}{v Eny 24'50 0~ 'Z'gLEE

40 ROADFARM
CROSSING (E)

FKP, INC,
APN 052-051-1

PROFE Rw/1
LNE

! 034

CRAPHIC SCALE

FIELD VERFY INVERT ELEVATION OF
EMSTING 127 SEWER PIPE AT SSuM 103,

BETWEEN END OF STEEL CASING AND SSWH
I(}? CONTRACTOR MAY SELECT EITHER
TRENCH EXCAVATION OR DIRECTIONAL

DEILL

SET AIM ELEVATION OF SSMH 100 ASOVE
EXISTING GRADE AT 6 INCHES MAXIMUM.

INC.
PN u:v 052-013

MAINTEMANCE FADILITY SHALL BE qrr:uﬁr)
AT ALL TIMES. IF EXISTING GATE

FENCE IS REMOVED, TEMPORARY ITNCE
THE ANTIOCH MUNICIPAL CODE SHALL BE USED TO SECURE THE SITE
SEE REFERENCE ROD1 FOR SANITARY
SEWER CLEANDUT DETAIL,

CONTRACTOR SHALL REMOVE (E) BSS LAT

ASSISTANT CITY ENGNEER {
AND CLEANOQUT, AND PLUG EXISTING SSMH,

DATE:

S5 PIPE SHALL BE PYC SDR18 WiTH

INTEGRAL JOINT RESTRAINT SYSTEM A5
MANUFACTURED BY JM EAGLE - EAGLE
LOC900 OR EQUAL.

OPEN 'I‘FNC}-,’D!R‘E'IMMI: DRILLANG

]

\NCI"_ )

SEWER

SHH 101

80

o APPROX - EXIST
GROUND LINE

ELEVATION

W N (3725 12
I SuT 3700 127

1

N

100 -
ik

P et f1:d0
BEGIN | ASNG

7

07 5T L'L E‘J\'.‘-ING

STA| 11409.00
WY 68.50 N IE
wy 8250/ aut

STA 10468

INV 58,90 Qut

sl | (51

T

LSS

(O

L‘IDTE 1
ARPROX EXST
GROUND EL
{ree

DIREETIONA DRELING
o

PROFILE

LOD ™

NV
WY 27,75 OUT) (E;

ssus 1y
$TA 19485.00

!

. -
-1

5.08
4520
4378 70
4237
216

042

42 42

4708

5374

10400 +00 13400

TR

SAN FRANCISCO BAY AREA RAPID TRANSIT DISTRICT

T
045F~170-U1D1.dwg

TR

| -tn' H 1 -4\'

EAST CONTRA COSTA BART EXTENSION PROJECT

PGH WONG ENGINEERING, INC,

580D Fom B0

SUBMITTED

PGH WONG ENGINEERING, INC,

SANITARY SEWER
UTILITIES

PLAN AND PROFILE

PLAN AND PROFILE





UPSTREAM
CONNECTION

SITE PHOTOS — UPSTREAM AND
DOWNSTREAM MANHOLES











BART

System Renewal
Program Plan | 2016

BUILDING A BETTER BART BART
) [e5]










CONTENTS

Letter From the General Manager
and Board of Directors

Introduction

Program Summary
Program Development
Program Investments

Repair and replace critical safety infrastructure

Relieve crowding, reduce traffic congestion, and expand
opportunities to safely access stations

Benefits of the Plan
Organizational Structure
Implementing Guidelines

JUNE 2016

(o))

10

10
18

20
24
26










LETTER FROM THE GENERAL MANAGER

Dear Bay Area Residents,

BART has served the Bay Area for 44 years, delivering efficient
transportation that supports the region’s economy, reduces traffic
congestion, and protects the environment. BART’s around-the-
clock preventative maintenance practices have sustained the
system’s original infrastructure far longer than expected, but even
well-maintained infrastructure eventually reaches the end of its
useful life and must be renewed. For the BART system, the time
has finally come for a major overhaul.

In consultation with stakeholders from across the region in
more than 200 meetings, BART has developed a program of
investments that will take a major step towards renewing the
BART system. This detailed plan will repair and upgrade critical
infrastructure, including tracks, power systems, tunnels, and
mechanical systems. It will add capacity to the core of the system
in order to continue to support the region’s growing economy
and reduce traffic congestion. Finally, it will improve safety

and access to the BART system, renewing stations, improving
accessibility of stations for seniors and people with disabilities,
and adding new station access opportunities.

This plan benefits both those who ride the BART system and
those who travel on other modes. Through these investments, the
plan will support the region in the following ways:

* Improve safety: BART has no higher
responsibility than to keep its riders safe. This
program will help to preserve BART’s safety

record, enhance earthquake preparedness, and
mMaintain the region’s confidence in the system.

BART SYSTEM RENEWAL PROGRAM PLAN | 2016





* Improve reliability: Bay Area travelers depend
on reliable BART service to connect them to

work, school, airports, sporting events, the arts,
shopping, family, and friends. Renewing the
system’s critical infrastructure will keep BART
trains in service and running on time. Modeling
suggests the program plan will result in 40%
fewer delays caused by mechanical issues than
occur today, a savings of 250 hours of delay each
year.

g’ﬂ * Relieve crowding and reduce Bay Area traffic
(=) congestion: Over BART’s 44-year history, system

ridership has grown with the regional economy,
relieving pressure on the region’s crowded
highways and supporting the emergence of
thriving regional employment centers. Today,
however, BART ridership is at or above the
system’s maximum capacity in its busiest
segments. Investments to increase BART's
capacity will relieve crowding and allow BART
to take more cars off our crowded roads in
continued support of the region’s growth.

The plan includes strict accountability measures to ensure that funds
are spent only on approved projects. It requires an independent
oversight committee made up of people who live in the BART
district, and annual compliance reports distributed to the public that
detail costs and how specific performance measures are met. This
Plan will help to Build a Better BART for the Bay Area’s Future.

Sincerely,

Grace Crunican, General Manager / Cosigned: BART Board Members





» BART SYSTEM RENEWAL PROGRAM PLAN | 2016
4 —= e

4 > 1S
14 M'(A el plEmlw R RNy





Introduction

BART is Critical
to the Bay Area

Since its opening in 1972, BART has become
essential to the mobility, economy and
livability of the Bay Area, for riders and non-
riders alike. A functioning BART system

is essential to the health of our region—
connecting workers and businesses, and
relieving regional traffic congestion. BART
provides access to many of the region’s most
important destinations for work, school, and
recreation and accommodates people of all
income levels as well as youth, seniors, and
people with disabilities. By reducing the need
to drive, BART reduces emissions and air
pollution, supporting a healthier environment.

BART currently carries 440,000 passengers
on a typical weekday. During peak periods,
BART carries nearly double the number of
people from the East Bay to San Francisco
than are carried on the Bay Bridge. On the
yellow Pittsburg Bay Point line, BART carries
nearly as many peak hour riders as are carried
through the Caldecott tunnel. BART is an
essential part of our regional infrastructure,
and demand for BART service is growing.
Forecasts suggest that demand for BART will
increase as the region grows, with 600,000
daily riders projected to use BART by 2040.

BART Faces
Major Challenges

After 44 years of service to the region, BART
faces major challenges.

* As the economy has grown and more
people have chosen to ride BART,
the system has grown increasingly
crowded during peak commute hours.
To meet the demand, BART must
invest to provide more service in the
highest-demand times and places.

e At the same time, important parts of
the infrastructure that make up the
BART system were installed in the
early 1970’s and require replacement
or major overhauls.

* Finally, BART must consider its
stations and how an influx of
additional riders will access BART
stations.

Without action to address BART’s aging
infrastructure and crowded conditions,
BART’s ability to perform its important role
in the region will suffer: delays will increase,
crowding will grow more acute, and the
risk of unsafe conditions will rise. These
consequences would affect not only BART
riders, but everyone who lives in the area
served by BART. Without a reliable BART
system, the region would face worsening
traffic congestion which would also reduce
economic competitiveness.

Funding from currently available sources is not
sufficient to meet these growing needs. BART
must seek new funding sources to continue

to serve its important role in the region. This
program plan is designed to address these
challenges.





BART’s Transbay Tube Riders vs.
Bay Bridge Drivers

AM PEAK HOUR TRAFFIC (WESTBOUND)

30k -

14,200

people in cars* per hour
move over the Bay
at rush hour

People Traveling

o
Bay Bridge Transbay

R *Assumes average of 1.7 persons per vehicle (Caltrans)

27,000

people per hour
move under the Bay
at rush hour

BART’s Yellow Line Riders vs.
Caldecott Tunnel Drivers

AM PEAK HOUR TRAFFIC (WESTBOUND)
10k

8k~

)
=

People Traveling
IS
S

9,700

people in cars* per hour move
through the Caldecott Tunnel
at rush hour

N
=

o
Caldecott BART
Tunnel Yellow

people per hour
move on the Yellow Line
at rush hour

Source: BART Operations Planning, Caltrans

BART SYSTEM RENEWAL PROGRAM PLAN | 2016





BUILDING A BETTER BART

Program Summary

The 2016 BART System Renewal Program (referred to
throughout this document as the Program) responds

to the San Francisco Bay Area’s transportation needs

by investing in the renewal of the BART system. In
consultation with stakeholders from across the region in
more than 200 meetings, BART has developed a program
of investments that will:

* Repair and replace critical safety
infrastructure: BART will renew the basic
infrastructure that comprises the core of
the BART system, including tracks, power
infrastructure, tunnels, and mechanical
infrastructure. BART will also perform critical
earthquake safety upgrades to the Berkeley
Hills Tunnel. After 44 years of service, this
infrastructure requires a major overhaul to
allow BART to continue to meet performance
expectations.

* Relieve crowding and reduce traffic
congestion: BART will implement a package
of projects that will allow it to meet soaring
demand, continue to support the region’s
growing economy, and get more cars off
the road. Projects include modernizing
and replacing major portions of the aging
train control system, upgrading power
infrastructure that limit BART’s ability to
provide service, and expanding maintenance
facilities to store and service a larger fleet of
rail cars.

* Improve station access and safety: BART will
invest in improving and modernizing stations
by improving station safety and security,
adding elevators, and overhauling escalators
to ensure fast and convenient access to
platforms. BART will also make investments
to improve accessibility of stations for people
with disabilities and add more station access
opportunities via upgraded bus facilities,
bicycle facilities, and parking.






Summary of Investments

REPAIR AND REPLACE

$ Millions

Benefits

=
Safet T Crowding +
V| Reliability | Relief

CRITICAL SAFETY $3,165 | 90% \/ \/ \/
INFRASTRUCTURE

Renew track $625 18% \/ \/

Renew power infrastructure $1,225 35% \/ \/

Repair tunnels and structures $570 16% \/ \/

Renew mechanical infrastructure | $135 4% \/ \/

Replace train control and other

major system infrastructure to $400 12% \/ \/ \/
increase peak period capacity

Renew stations $210 6% \/ \/ \/
RELIEVE CROWDING, REDUCE

TRAFFIC CONGESTION, AND $335 10% \/ \/ \/
EXPAND OPPORTUNITIES TO

SAFELY ACCESS STATIONS

Expand opportunities to safely

access stations $135 4% \/ \/ \/
Design and engineer future

projects to relieve crowding, o

increase system redundancy, $200 6% \/ \/
and reduce traffic congestion

TOTAL $3,500 100%

Note on Governance: Governance measures will include an independent oversight committee, spending restrictions, and annual

audits. Funding cannot be taken away by the state.

Note on Planned Expenditures: Spending in the two major investment categories is fixed. As BART tailors investments to respond
to system needs, actual spending within each of the two major categories may vary by up to 15% of the total. For example, if the
tunnels and structures repair projects need less of this funding, up to 15% of the grand total for repairing and replacing critical
safety infrastructure (15% of $3.165B) can be shifted to another of the projects within that category such as renewing power
infrastructure. However, BART cannot transfer that 15% savings to projects in the other major category to expand opportunities to

safely access stations.

BART SYSTEM RENEWAL PROGRAM PLAN | 2016

7





BUILDING A BETTER BART

Program Development

BART is a
responsible steward
of bond funds

Bay Area voters last approved

a bond measure for BART in
2004 to fund BART’s Earthquake
Safety Program. Funds from
that bond have been invested

in maintaining the safety of the BART system, including its
elevated structures, stations, maintenance facilities, and other
buildings. The program has upgraded critical elements of BART
infrastructure to current seismic design standards to support
the safety of BART riders and BART employees. The Earthquake
Safety Program has also achieved $350 million in construction
savings that BART was able to reinvest in the program to further
strengthen the system.

To date, 58% of bond funds have been expended, and the
program has completed 91% of planned station upgrades, 95%
of planned elevated structure upgrades, and 100% of planned
upgrades to parking garages, maintenance facilities, and other
infrastructure. The majority of the remaining resources wiill

be dedicated to planned work on the Transbay Tube, which is
ongoing. Independent oversight has proceeded as planned.
While the Earthquake Safety Program is achieving its objectives,
additional earthquake safety investment is required to address
seismic safety needs that have been identified since the program
began.

An economic analysis of the 2004 Earthquake Safety Program
shows that the program has not only improved safety but

also helped to grow the region’s economy. The investment of
$1.27 billion over 18 years (2004-2022) is projected to yield
approximately $2.2 billion in total economic activity and create
nearly 13,000 direct and indirect jobs.






Projects are carefully
selected and prioritized

BART uses a Strategic Asset Management
Program (AMP) to guide decisions about
system reinvestment, minimize risk, and
maintain financial stability. The AMP relies on
detailed, ongoing data collection about each
asset in the system, and follows international
best practices to assess the likelihood of near-
term failure for each asset and understand the
impact that such a failure would have on the
BART system, its riders, and the region.

The AMP was used to select the investments
included in the program. It will also be used
on an ongoing basis to guide decisions about
the appropriate timing of the projects funded
by this program. The process will guide annual
prioritization of investments.

COLLECTION

This plan was developed
with broad public
participation

This program plan was developed with
extensive public involvement through the
‘Better BART’ Initiative. BART has held more
than 200 meetings with diverse stakeholder
groups throughout the Bay Area, including
elected officials, businesses, labor groups,
environmental organizations, users of

all modes of transportation, senior and
disability advocacy groups, community based
organizations, social justice advocates, and
many others. These meetings have been
designed to educate the Bay Area public
about BART’s 44-year-old system and the
critical infrastructure investments needed to
keep the system safe and reliable, and to get
feedback on participants’ needs and priorities.
BART has distributed survey questionnaires to
all meeting attendees and received over 1,500
responses to date.

BART SYSTEM RENEWAL PROGRAM PLAN | 2016 9





BUILDING A BETTER BART

Program of Investments

This program includes two categories of investment, which together are
designed to keep BART safe and reliable. Each investment category is
described in detail below, including the types of infrastructure projects it
includes. Specific individual projects will be selected for funding through
a detailed process of risk assessment as documented in BART’s Strategic
Asset Management Plan. More information on project selection and
implementation process can be found in the Implementing Guidelines

section of this document.

Repair and replace
critical safety
infrastructure

BART was the first modern rapid transit
system in the US: construction began in 1968
and the system has been in operation since
1972. To ensure responsible stewardship

of public funds, BART staff has dedicated
themselves to strategic maintenance, which
has allowed some system infrastructure to last
far longer than expected. However, even “best
in the business” maintenance cannot keep
obsolete infrastructure functioning forever.

The core of the program is a major investment
to refurbish and replace BART’s most critical
infrastructure. There are thousands of
infrastructure elements in the BART system,
and most are largely invisible to passengers.
However, all these elements are fundamental
to BART’s daily operation and the experience
of passengers.

The other core element of the program is a
series of investments that will relieve crowding
and allow the BART system to accommodate
regional growth, providing an alternative

to increased driving on the region’s already
crowded roads. Over the last decade, daily

10

Addresses Goals

090

SAFETY  RELIABILITY CROWDING
RELIEF

90%

of Program

$3,165

Million






ridership on BART has increased 36%, closely
tracking growth in regional employment.
Growing ridership has already begun to

place extraordinary demands on the BART
system. Today, trains between Oakland and
San Francisco exceed BART’s standards for
crowding during commute hours. Responding
to this trend, BART has used all available

resources to relieve crowding, including keeping

89% of its rail fleet in service at all times and
adjusting schedules to provide service when
and where it is needed most.

However, as the economy continues to
expand, growth in demand for BART service
will soon outpace the system’s resources. To
meet growing demand, BART must be able to
provide more service at the highest-demand
times and places.

RENEW TRACK
Estimated at 18% of Program; $625 M

BART tracks are worn down from 44 years of
use and require major repairs. BART is already
working aggressively to address issues with
tracks and structures with currently available
funding. For example, during summer 2015,
BART undertook a major effort to renew

the tracks and structures west of the West
Oakland Station. However, to maintain system
performance for the long term and reduce
the risk of major failures, additional funds

are needed to refurbish and replace track
infrastructure. Examples of projects in this
category include:

* Replace 90 miles of rails: BART crews
will replace 90 miles of original rails
that have been worn down from 44
years of use. They will replace hundreds
of original rail ties supporting those
rails.

¢ Rebuild major interlockings:
Interlockings allow BART trains to cross
from one set of tracks to another safely.
This infrastructure must be rebuilt to
allow BART to continue to operate
safely and at normal speeds.

¢ Replace critical supporting track
infrastructure: Critical infrastructure
that supports BART’s rails is more
than 40 years old and must be
replaced for both reliability and
safety reasons. For example, the steel
fasteners that connect BART’s rails
to the concrete trackways below
require replacement. The program
will fund replacement of this critical
infrastructure. BART forecasts
that the planned investments will
result in fewer track-related delays,
improving service on a daily basis
as well as substantially reducing the
risk of major failure that could affect
passenger safety.

BART SYSTEM RENEWAL PROGRAM PLAN | 2016 n





RENEW POWER INFRASTRUCTURE
Estimated at 35% of Program, $1,225 M

BART trains run on 100% electric power.

The infrastructure that distributes electricity
throughout the system and delivers power

to trains is aging and in need of major
refurbishment. This program will fund
refurbishment and replacement of BART’s
power infrastructure to maintain and improve
service reliability. This investment category will
fund the following types of projects:

* Replace original power distribution
infrastructure. A network of power
cables distributes electricity
throughout the BART system. Many of
these cables are original to the system
and are at growing risk of failure. In
addition, key locations in the system
lack redundancy; failure at any of
these locations will result in long-term
delays in BART service and extended
periods of increased regional traffic
congestion. This program funds repair
and replacement of approximately 90
miles of original power distribution
infrastructure.

e Refurbish and replace electrical
substations. BART has 62 substations
that convert electricity to the proper

12

voltage and deliver it to the third

rail to power trains. Many of these
substations are original to the system
and require constant attention to
keep them operational and safe.

This program funds replacement of
high-priority electrical substations

to maintain and improve service
reliability.

* Replace and upgrade backup power
supplies. Safe, reliable train operations
require an uninterrupted supply
of power at BART facilities. The
program will allow BART to replace
the aging emergency generator at
its central operations control center,
and the backup power supplies that
ensure continuous power to train
control equipment, communication
equipment, and emergency lighting at
multiple BART stations.

Renewed power infrastructure will make
service more reliable and more resilient. These
investments will significantly reduce the risk
of severe BART service disruptions that could
impact regional traffic for an extended period
of time.





REPAIR TUNNELS AND
STRUCTURES
Estimated at 16% of Program, $570 M

BART tracks are supported by a range of
structures and tunnels to provide service
throughout the region. Like much of the
system’s infrastructure, these tunnels and
support structures have been in use for
decades and some are in need of major
rehabilitation. Repairing damage to key
structures will support continued passenger
safety and reliable BART operations. This
investment category will fund the following
types of projects:

¢ Repair damage from water intrusion
in the Market Street tunnels. BART’s
aging Market Street tunnels have
suffered significant damage as a
result of water intrusion. Over time,
water leaks damage the tunnel walls
as well as the rails inside, increasing
the risk of both service delays and
potential safety problems. For
example, in May 2015 track damage
due to water intrusion caused a track

failure near Civic Center Station that
delayed BART service for several
hours, severely impacting regional
traffic congestion. This program

funds repairs to water intrusion in the
tunnels, reducing the risk of major
safety problems and improving service
reliability.

Repair damage from water intrusion
in stations. Water intrusion has also
damaged structures at BART stations,
including platforms and trackways.This
program will fund repair to structures
at 16 stations.

Repair Hayward Earthquake Fault
Creep within the Berkeley Hills
Tunnel. The continuous movement of
the Hayward Fault near the western
edge of the Berkeley Hills Tunnel has
caused the tunnel to shift from its
original position. BART must realign
the tunnel for safety reasons. This
realignment will involve modifications
to the concrete interior and walkway
inside the tunnel.

BART SYSTEM RENEWAL PROGRAM PLAN | 2016 13





RENEW MECHANICAL
INFRASTRUCTURE
Estimated at 4% of Program, $135 M

BART service relies on critical mechanical
infrastructure, including fire suppression
systems, tunnel emergency ventilation
systems, heating, ventilation and air
conditioning systems, water pumps, train
repair shop compenents, generators, fueling
facilities, and others. Most of these systems
are over 40 years old. While invisible to
passengers, they are vital to keeping trains
running normally. This program will fund
renewal of this mechanical infrastructure to
ensure safety and reliability. This investment
category will fund the following types of
projects:

e Refurbish and replace fire safety
systems. A network of pumps and
sprinklers throughout the BART
system helps keep people safe and
protects important equipment from
fire damage. This infrastructure is
aging and must be replaced. The
program will fund replacement of
sprinklers as well as the complex
fire suppression infrastructure that
protects train control rooms.

14

¢ Refurbish and replace water
management infrastructure. BART’s
water management infrastructure
prevents flooding of important
facilities, including the Transbay Tube,
and allows the system to comply with
environmental regulations. Excessive
flooding can result in closed stations
or trackways. The program will allow
BART to refurbish and repair water
infrastructure that is aging and at
risk of failure, protecting critical
infrastructure and maintaining the
safety and reliability of the train
system under all conditions.

¢ Refurbish and replace repair
shop infrastructure. BART’s repair
shops have specialized mechanical
infrastructure that is necessary to
keep trains running. The program will
allow BART to refurbish and replace
this aging infrastructure, improving
the efficiency of maintenance work
and keeping more rail cars on the
tracks.

Repairing mechanical infrastructure will
reduce risks to passenger safety, improve
service reliability, and help to minimize future
maintenance costs.






‘5‘-"_‘ Ve 1\ "2'11 + T

|

REPLACE TRAIN CONTROL

AND OTHER MAJOR SYSTEM
INFRASTRUCTURE TO INCREASE
PEAK PERIOD CAPACITY
Estimated at 12% of Program, $400 M

To meet growing demand, BART must increase
train service at the highest-demand times and
places. However, several important elements
of the BART system, including the train control
system, rail car storage and maintenance
facilities, and power systems, are already
operating at capacity. The program will allow
BART to upgrade this infrastructure enough

to increase BART’s peak period passenger
capacity. This investment category will provide
funding for the following types of projects:

* Replace major train control system
infrastructure. A train control system
consists of both hardware and
software that are used to control
speed and movement on the rail
network, keeping trains running
smoothly and eliminating any

possibility of a collision. The system
BART uses today is a modified version
of the original system put in place

44 years ago, and it has two major
limitations. First, errors in the aging
system are a major cause of train
delay. Currently, more than half of
BART’s infrastructure-related delays
are due to errors in the train control
system, causing BART riders to

suffer from more than 400 hours of
delay annually. Second, the system
was not built to handle the demands
of 2015 and beyond; it can safely
accommodate no more than one

train every 2.5 minutes on all lines
combined through the Transbay Tube.

This program (and other funding
sources leveraged through the
program plan) will replace important
train control infrastructure with up-
to-date technology, allowing trains
to operate at more closely spaced
intervals and at faster speeds,
permitting 25% more trains through

BART SYSTEM RENEWAL PROGRAM PLAN | 2016 15





16

the Transbay Tube. At the same

time, a new, modern train control
system will improve BART’s reliability,
decreasing train control-related delays
and enhancing safety by upgrading
the reliability of the technology that
prevents train collisions.

Upgrade traction power capacity.
When BART’s power infrastructure
was designed in the late 1960’s,
today’s level of demand for service
was not envisioned. To enable BART
to run more train service, the system
must have more electrical power in the
Transbay Tube and in downtown San
Francisco than the system is designed
to handle. The program will allow
BART to add needed traction power
cables and electrical substations to
supply more electrical power in these
critical parts of the system, allowing
BART to fully utilize the modern train
control system.

Expand vehicle storage and
maintenance capacity. To take
advantage of the capacity offered

by the replaced train control system
and added traction power capacity,
BART must also prepare to operate a
larger fleet of rail cars. New cars will
be acquired through BART’s Fleet of
the Future program, which is separate
from this program and includes a
significant amount of federal funding.
However, BART will not be able to
operate this larger fleet without
expanded maintenance facilities.

This program funds expansion and
reconfiguration of BART’s existing
maintenance facility in Hayward,
giving BART the ability to service the
existing fleet more efficiently, and to
store and to maintain the larger Fleet
of the Future, which is essential for
providing more service than is offered
today.

BART Operations Planning staff estimates that
these investments, combined with the planned
increase in the rail car fleet, will work together
to increase BART’s peak period passenger
capacity in the Transbay corridor by 36%; this
is equivalent to adding another three lanes in
each direction on the Bay Bridge.

RENEW STATIONS
Estimated at 6% of Program, $210 M

The program plan will allow BART to renew
its aging stations, improving comfort, safety
and security, and overall station capacity. By
inviting more riders into the BART system,
these investments will also help to keep cars
off the road. Examples of projects in this area
include:

e Invest in safety, security, and reduced
fare evasion. BART will invest in
enhanced station lighting and better
sight lines to improve passenger
safety and security, and invest in new
infrastructure to improve security and
reduce fare evasion.

* Repair, replace, and upgrade
escalators and elevators to increase
capacity and improve stations for
people with disabilities. BART will
invest in replacing, and providing
canopies to weatherproof system
escalators to ensure fast and
convenient access to and from
platforms, with a particular focus
at the busiest subway stations on
Market and Mission Streets in San
Francisco, and in downtown Oakland.
BART will also add new elevators
and reconfigure existing elevators.
These investments are crucial both
for enhancing the capacity of the
most crowded stations, and for
providing safe, comfortable access for
all, particularly seniors, people with
disabilities, and families with strollers.





¢ Upgrade stations to better reflect and
connect to surrounding communities.
BART stations are gateways to
existing communities and targeted
sustainable growth areas. These
funds will leverage planned station
renovation projects, for example at
Balboa Park, Civic Center, Concord
Downtown Berkeley, Richmond,
and West Oakland, to install design
elements, and art that will improve the
experience of stations for passengers
while better connecting those stations
to surrounding communities.

c D, EXII

<o

L=

BART SYSTEM RENEWAL PROGRAM PLAN | 2016 17





Relieve crowding,
reduce traffic
congestion, and
expand opportunities to
safely access stations

The program plan will improve safe and
reliable access to the BART system by
renewing BART stations and by enhancing
opportunities to access those stations. The
program also sets aside a small percentage
of the overall bond investment to prepare for
the next generation of regional transportation
needs including investments in efficiency,
resiliency, and system capacity.

e

EXPAND OPPORTUNITIES TO
SAFELY ACCESS STATIONS
Estimated at 4% of Program, $135 M

BART’s stations are the gateways to the
system. However, like much of the rest of

the system, many of BART’s stations are

more than 40 years old and are in need of
renewal. Key stations, such as Montgomery
and Embarcadero, have substantial crowding
issues on platforms and escalators during
peak times. As demand for BART has grown,
crowding has also increased for those trying
to access BART. Parking for both vehicles and
bicycles reaches capacity early in the morning
at many BART stations. At the same time,
aging and out-of-date facilities at original
stations limit many BART riders who might like
to reach stations on foot, on buses, or using
emerging ride-sharing services.

The goals of BART’s access program include:
a healthier, safer, and greener BART system;
more riders; a more efficient and productive
system; a better rider experience; and
equitable services.

BART will leverage funding from the program
plan with funds from several sources, including

18

Addresses Goals

090

SAFETY  RELIABILITY CROWDING
RELIEF

10%

of Program

$335

Million

BART parking fees as well as state, local,

and regional grant funds, to enhance access
opportunities throughout the BART system
in a way that best addresses these goals.
Examples of projects in this category include:

e Enhance access for seniors and
people with disabilities. The program
will fund projects to enhance station
accessibility and ensure that stations
are available to all. BART will make
improvements to escalators and
elevators to increase reliability for
seniors and people with disabilities.
BART also has plans to replace
handrails and guardrails at 34
stations, upgrade the public address
systems so passengers can better
hear important announcements





and improve customer safety by
renovating the fire alarm system to
include flashing strobe lights designed
to alert those with hearing issues
during an emergency.

Improve parking availability. The
program will fund projects to improve
the availability of parking systemwide.
Improved parking management
strategies will be combined with
efforts to increase the supply of
parking for BART riders at stations
where it can be done cost-effectively
and in partnership with local
communities.

Expand bicycle facilities. The program
will fund implementation of BART’s
Bicycle Capital Plan, which focuses

on enhancing secure bicycle parking
throughout the system. BART’s plan
calls for adding 6,000 secure bicycle
parking spaces to help achieve the
goal of accommodating bike parking
for 8% of BART passengers. New
secure bicycle parking facilities are
now planned at Pleasant Hill, Concord,
MacArthur, and Lafayette Stations.
Stations that will require secure
bicycle parking facilities in the next
five years include Lake Merritt, San
Leandro, West Oakland, Rockridge,
Glen Park, North Berkeley, Del Norte,
and Dublin/Pleasanton Stations. BART
will also partner to help implement
the expanded Bay Area Bike Share
program and other important bicycle
projects.

Renew bus intermodal facilities. Many
of BART’s bus intermodal facilities
were designed and built decades

ago. The program will fund projects

to upgrade these facilities to be

more efficient for passengers and

bus operators, to feel safer and more
comfortable, and to better fit into
surrounding communities. Added real-

time arrival information will make bus
ridership more convenient. BART will
also invest in projects to meet growing
demand for drop-off and pick-up
zones.

Access planning will be carried out on a
station-by-station basis, with a focus on a
cost-effective package of investments that
respond to the local context and the needs of
BART customers.

DESIGN AND ENGINEER
FUTURE PROJECTS TO RELIEVE
CROWDING, INCREASE SYSTEM
REDUNDANCY, AND REDUCE

TRAFFIC CONGESTION
Estimated at 6% of Program, $200 M

As early as the 1950’s, forward-thinking Bay
Area residents had the vision to anticipate
the region’s growing need for safe, reliable,
efficient transportation and created the BART
system. In the years since, BART system
ridership has grown in parallel with the
regional economy. BART has absorbed a large
share of new travel demand, keeping hundreds
of thousands of cars off the region’s crowded
roadways every day and helping major job
centers to emerge and thrive in places that
would not have otherwise been possible.

This program will make the core system more
efficient and resilient, provide redundancy

to speed up recovery from delays, and
prepare for the next generation of regional
transportation needs. In the near-term, these
projects could include rail crossovers, storage
tracks, turnbacks, station platform doors,

and ultimately, a second Transbay crossing.
Investments in this category will be used

to evaluate, design, engineer, and perform
environmental studies, subject to funding
eligibility requirements, for infrastructure
projects to help meet the growing demand for
BART service.

BART SYSTEM RENEWAL PROGRAM PLAN | 2016 19





BUILDING A BETTER BART

Benefits of the Plan

Building a Better BART

BART modeling shows that without reinvestment, the condition of
BART’s essential infrastructure will worsen over time.® A study lead by

UC Berkeley professor Elizabeth Deakin found that with a decline in the
reliability of the BART, thousands of riders would choose to drive, causing
major daily bottlenecks along Highway 24, [-80, |-880 and [1-580.

Through this program, BART will work to halt and reverse the
deterioration of system infrastructure. Among the goals of the program
will be to reduce risk to BART and its riders, and to achieve a system that
is less costly to maintain than it would be without the program.

Source: Alameda.CIC

20





Safety: Keeps riders and
employees safe and secure

BART has no higher responsibility than
keeping its riders and employees safe. Over its
44 years of service to the Bay Area, BART’s
safety record is as strong as any transit service
in North America. That record is maintained
by the vigilance of BART system workers and
sound system management practices that
have prevented collisions, derailments, and
other major system failures. By contrast, other
transit systems of similar age have already
begun to experience major safety incidents
related to aging infrastructure.

The program plan will help to preserve BART’s
strong safety record and maintain the region’s
confidence in the system. For example:

* Rail renewal will allow BART to
continue to safely operate at normal
speeds throughout the system.

* A new, modern train control system
will allow BART to operate more
frequent service safely.

* Repairs to tunnels and structures will
ensure that these structures are safer
for riders and workers.

* Investments in improved lighting
and other facilities at BART stations
will help to enhance the passenger
experience, facilitate easy access to
the system, and improve personal
security in and around BART stations.

BART SYSTEM RENEWAL PROGRAM PLAN | 2016 21





Reliability: Keeps BART
dependable

After more than four decades of service,
reinvestment to repair and replace the
system’s critical infrastructure is essential to
restoring the high level of reliability that Bay
Area travelers have come to depend on from
BART. The program plan will yield a system
with 40% fewer delays caused by mechanical
issues than occur today, a savings of 250
hours of delay each year. For example:

* The new, modern train control system
will cause fewer delay incidents than
the current aging system, which was
responsible for more than half of all
infrastructure-related delays in 2014.

* Replacing 90 miles of original rails
and rebuilding the system’s major rail
merges will reduce delay incidents
caused by track failures. Even more

22

importantly, these projects wiill
substantially reduce the risk of major
failures that could cause the system to
encounter severe, ongoing delays now
faced by other rail systems around the
country.

Renewing BART’s power
infrastructure will reduce delays. By
adding redundancy to the power
infrastructure, BART will be far less
likely to suffer severe and ongoing
delays that could have major impacts
on regional traffic.

The elements of the program plan
that enhance system capacity also
play a role in making the system more
reliable. With less crowding on trains
and platforms, BART will be able to
recover more quickly from any delays
that do occur.





Crowding relief: Reduces
traffic, protects the
environment, and makes
room for the economy
to grow

Over BART’s 44-year history, system ridership
has grown in step with the regional economy,
relieving pressure on the region’s crowded
highways. Today, however, BART ridership is
at or above its maximum capacity in major
segments of the system during peak commute
hours. Investments in BART capacity will
relieve crowding and allow BART to continue
to take more cars off the region’s roads. For
example:

¢ A set of investments in system
capacity, including a modern train
control system, an expanded train
car maintenance facility in Hayward

to accommodate a larger fleet of rail
cars, and more power capacity, will
provide space for approximately 36%
more riders in the Transbay market -
equivalent capacity to another three
lanes in each direction on the Bay
Bridge.

BART’s proposed station investments,
including the overhaul of station
escalators and reconfiguration of
platform elevators, will be important
to relieving crowding at the busiest
stations and allowing BART ridership
room to grow.

By providing an alternative to driving
for many trips, BART helps keep cars
off the road, reducing emissions and
improving the region’s air and water
quality. By keeping BART safe and
reliable while making space for more
riders, the program will preserve these
environmental benefits for future
generations.

550K — —2.0M
BART Ridership vs. Employment in San Francisco,
Alameda, and Contra Costa Counties

~ ~
(2] (%]
2 5
§ 450K |- 1.75M 2
3 E
g Il BART Daily Ridership =
4 [l BART District Employment “E’
3 3
T 350K —{1sM =
g ' E
kel w
X -
o ke
3 @
[ (a]
e &
5 250K —125M &
Z o

150K I | | | — 1.0M

1986 1990 1995 2000 2005 2010 2015

Source: BART Ridership Reports; US Census, Bureau of Labor Statistics

Quarterly Census of Employment and Wages

BART SYSTEM RENEWAL PROGRAM PLAN | 2016 23





| Organizational Structure

Governing body and
administration

In enacting this measure, voters will authorize
BART to administer the bond proceeds in
accordance with all applicable laws and

with the program. Funds collected may be
spent only for the purposes identified in the
program, as it may be amended as described
in the implementation guidelines. Under no
circumstances may the proceeds of this bond
measure be applied to any purpose other
than for investment in the BART system.
Under no circumstances may these funds be
appropriated by the State of California or any
other governmental agency.

BART is governed by the BART Board of
Directors, which is comprised of nine members
elected from the nine BART districts in Contra
Costa, Alameda, and San Francisco Counties.
Board members serve a four-year term.

Independent oversight

There will be an Independent Oversight
Committee (I0C), which will have the
responsibility of reviewing and overseeing
all expenditures of program funds. The
Independent Oversight Committee reports
directly to the public and has the following
responsibilities:

e The 10C will track progress and
effective use of funds. The IOC wiill
meet quarterly to review project
progress and monitor effective use of
funds.

24

* The IOC meetings must be open
to the public and must be held in
compliance with the Brown Act,
California’s open meeting law, with
information announcing the hearings
well-publicized and posted in advance.

* The IOC will have full access to an
independant auditor supplied by
BART and will have the authority
to request and review specific
information regarding use of program
funds and to comment on the
auditor’s reports.

e The IOC will publish an independent
annual report, including any concerns
the committee has about audits it
reviews. The report will be made
available to the public in a variety
of forums to ensure access to this
information.

IOC members are private citizens who are not
elected officials at any level of government,
nor public employees from agencies that
either oversee or benefit from the program.
Membership is limited to individuals who live
in the BART District. Members are required

to submit a statement of financial disclosure
annually, and membership is restricted to
individuals with no economic interest in any of
BART’s projects or programs.





Implementing Guidelines

Duration of the Plan

BART anticipates that the 2016 System
Renewal Program Plan will be implemented
over the course of twenty-one years,
commencing in Fiscal Year 2017 and
concluding in Fiscal Year 2038. Projects will
be accelerated as practical to maximize the
benefit of planned improvements as quickly as
possible.

Project Selection and
Prioritization

BART uses a Strategic Asset Management
Program (AMP) to guide decisions about
system reinvestment, minimize risk, and
maintain financial stability. The AMP relies on
detailed, ongoing data collection about each
asset in the system, and follows international
best practices to assess the likelihood of near-
term failure for each asset and understand the
impact that such a failure would have on the
BART system, its riders, and the region.

The AMP process will be used to guide
decisions about the appropriate timing of the
projects funded by this program. The process
will allow BART’s staff and Board of Directors,
with input from the Independent Oversight
Committee, to take a systematic, risk-focused
approach to guide which investments will be
undertaken and in what order.

The process for selecting investments from
this program will be closely coordinated with
BART’s larger capital program.

The process will proceed as follows:

¢ Understand critical reinvestment
needs as they arise: On an ongoing
basis, BART staff will use the Strategic
Asset Management process to rank
the highest-priority reinvestment
needs.

¢ Prioritize reinvestment projects every
year: Annually, BART staff and Board
of Directors will use the prioritized
list of needs from the Strategic Asset
Management process to develop a list
of key system reinvestment projects to
be funded in the following year.

¢ Review investments with the
Independent Oversight Committee:
The Independent Oversight
Committee will review the identified
project list.

¢ Integrate projects with the larger
BART capital program: The selected
projects will be integrated into BART’s
larger Capital Improvement Plan and
associated capital budget.

¢ Adopt the capital program in a
publicly noticed hearing: The capital
budget will be reviewed and adopted
by the BART Board of Directors
following a publicly noticed hearing.

¢ Review project implementation
with the Independent Oversight
Committee: The Independent
Oversight Committee will meet
throughout the year to review
progress on project implementation.

Because it is impossible to know the exact cost
of renewal projects before implementation,
bond resources have been divided into two
major spending areas:

BART SYSTEM RENEWAL PROGRAM PLAN | 2016 25





* Repair and replace critical safety
infrastructure ($3,165 M, 90% of
Program)

* Relieve crowding, reduce traffic
congestion, and expand opportunities
to safely access stations ($335 M, 10%
of Program)

Spending in the two major investment
categories is fixed.

As BART tailors investments to respond to
system needs, actual spending within each of
the two major categories may vary by up to
15% of the total. For example, if the tunnels
and structures repair projects need less of

this funding, up to 15% of the grand total

for repairing and replacing critical safety
infrastructure (15% of $3.165B) can be shifted
to another of the projects within that category
such as renewing power infrastructure.
However, BART could not transfer that 15%
savings to projects in the other major category
to expand opportunities to safely access
stations.

Taxpayer Safeguards,
Audits, and Accountability

Accountability is of utmost importance in
delivering public investments with public
dollars. BART is committed to transparency
and accountability as a public agency. Many
safeguards are built into this measure to
ensure voter accountability in expenditure of
funds.

¢ Annual audits and independent
oversight committee review: BART’s
financial reports are subject to an
independent audit by a Certified
Public Accountant (CPA) firm, on an
annual basis. Expenditures are also
subject to an annual review by an
Independent Oversight Committee.
The Independent Oversight
Committee will prepare an annual
report on spending and progress in

26

implementing the Plan that will be
published and distributed throughout
the BART district. On a periodic basis,
the Independent Oversight Committee
will review the performance and
benefit of projects and programs
based on performance criteria
established by BART as appropriate.

¢ Annual Capital Budget: Each year,
BART will adopt a capital budget
that includes an estimate of bond
proceeds, other anticipated revenues
and planned expenditures. The budget
will be adopted at a public meeting of
the BART Board of Directors.

e Capital Improvement Program
Updates: Project descriptions will be
detailed and fully defined for inclusion
in BART’s Capital Improvement
Program, which will be updated every
two years. The Capital Improvement
Plan will be adopted at a public
meeting of the BART Board of
Directors.

Restrictions on Funds

The San Francisco Bay Area Rapid Transit
District has the authority to expend these
funds, if approved by the voters, only as
permitted by the California Constitution.
They may only be used for the acquisition
or improvement of real property and would
not, therefore be able to finance transit
vehicles and other equipment used for BART
operations.

¢ Expenditures are restricted to
investment in the BART system:
Under no circumstances may the
proceeds of bond measure be
applied to any purpose other than for
investment in the BART system. Under
no circumstances may these funds be
appropriated by the State of California
or any other governmental agency.





¢ No general operating expenditures:
The proceeds of the bond measure
cannot be used to support BART’s
general operating needs, but must
be dedicated to the capital program
outlined in this Program Plan.

Environmental and equity reviews:
All projects funded by the bond
measure are subject to laws and
regulations of federal, state and local
government, including but not limited
to the requirements of the California
Environmental Quality Act (CEQA),
and Title VI of the Civil Rights Act, as
applicable. All projects and programs
funded in this Plan will be required to
conform to the requirements of these
regulations, as applicable.

funds programmed for that project
or have excess funding, funding for
that project will be reallocated to
another project or program of the
same type, such as repair and replace
critical safety infrastructure, relieve
crowding and reduce Bay Area traffic
congestion, or improve safety and
access to the BART system, at the
discretion of BART.

Project Financing
Guidelines

e Fiduciary duty: The authorization

of this Bond measure gives BART
the fiduciary duty of administering
the proceeds for the benefit of the
residents of the BART district. Funds
may be accumulated by BART over
a period of time to pay for larger
and longer-term projects. All interest
income generated by these proceeds
will be used for the purposes outlined
in this Plan and will be subject to
audits.

Leveraging funds: Wherever possible,
BART will use bond proceeds to
leverage or match funds from outside
funding sources, including state,
federal, and regional funds.

Fund allocations: Should a planned
project become undeliverable,
infeasible or unfundable due to
circumstances unforeseen at the
time this Plan was created, or
should a project not require all

BART SYSTEM RENEWAL PROGRAM PLAN | 2016 27











I Station Access &
Transit-Oriented Development
Policies

BART Board of Directors
June 9, 2016





I TIeA Station Access and Transit-Oriented Development Policies

Presentation Overview

* Background Context: Why Policy Updates Now?
* Review Proposed Station Access Policy
 Review Proposed TOD Policy

* Relationship of Station Access & TOD

 Two Requests for Adoption

BART Planning, Development & Construction 1





I Background Context

Shared Policy Objectives

e Support the Bay Area’s regional growth plan
* Promote equity and equitable access
* Encourage transportation choices

e Support ridership growth, and in particular growth
of ridership at times when the system has capacity

e Strengthen connections between people, places, and
services.

e Guide investments in and near stations

BART Planning, Development & Construction 2





Proposed

Station Access Policy

BART Planning, Development & Construction 3





BART Station Access Policy

What We Heard

e BART Board feedback

* More aspirational station types, show all stations

* Allow secondary investments off BART property

» Strengthen reference to leveraging partnerships

» Clarify process (reqularity of updates, reporting, etc.)
e Outreach to local partners

* Localjurisdictions and partner agencies feedback:
* More aspirational station types to reflect local planning efforts
* Local design and context sensitivity
* Recommendations on priority
* Definitions and clarifications

e BART Advisory Committees





BART Station Access Policy

b Changes to Policy Since April 28

Updates to supporting objectives (red-line text)

* Move hierarchy to Goal A: station level design focus on safety

* Add Goal D objective related to high quality design

* Add Goal F objective highlighting importance of leveraging partnerships
Add detail to Invest and Implement Strategies

Investment Matrix

* Transit becomes secondary investment for all types

* Update to wording for investment categories

» Clarifications regarding parking management and TOD parking

Typology Map becomes Implementation Key (not for adoption)
e Stations types more aspirational

* Addition of stations under construction & airport stations

* Addition of station type definitions

Station Design Hierarchy - no major changes





BART Station Access Policy

Station Access Typology - Investment Matrix

STATION TYPE

PRIMARY
INVESTMENTS

SECOMNDARY
INVESTMENTS

ACCOMMODATED

URBAN WITH
PARKING

BALANCED

INTERMODAL

INTERMODALY
AUTO RELIANT

AUTO
DEPENDENT

kgl Lrpelff fana Trareke sed
el Perking®  Sulle
Fick-Lig

*Parking Management is a secondary investment at all stations with parking.
*Parking replacement for transit-oriented development to be determined by BART’s Transit-Oriented Development Policy. 6

Primary Investments:

BART will prioritize investments of
funds and staff time on and off of
BART property, consistent with access
goals; priority projects best achieve
policy goals, focus on safety and
sustainability.

Secondary Investments:

BART will invest funds and staff time
on and off of BART property,
consistent with policy goals; secondary
investments balance policy goals.

Accommodated:

BART will maintain and manage
existing assets, and partner with other
access providers as needed.

Not Encouraged:
BART will not invest in construction of
parking expansion.

Note: TNC is for Transportation Network
Company (shared use mobility)





- . . PITTSEURG S PITTSOURS
Station Access Policy Implementation Key swPONT <o senocn
MGRTH -::l_'IMCCIF:IZ:-.-'f.‘ — ) —
H MARTINEZ
Station Access Typology Map ‘ ®
— STATION TYPE y concarn
RICHEIDND
. rd
LESS . EL CERAITEY DEL MNOIRTE . FLEASGHT HILL
AUTO 5HARE .‘ ’
EL cerrito pLaza
l . Urban L roar D inin crrex
) ) @ DERKELEY
@ Urban with Parking 2 - D
Do N TN BEREELEY I .' LAFRAYETTE
.l Balanced Intermodal [ ] /
FrntlE R 4
Intermodal - Auto Reliant M ROCERIDGE
MALAHTHUE i
' . Auto Dependent I
MORE - T5TH STHEET & AR LAMNL
AL SHARE A OAKLAND CITY CENTER
{ !
DELAAE 12TH STACET
Station Under Construction EMdHARCALERD .-__—- D ]
rouTsomeRy st ° \ FRUITVALE
® airport ' ' LAKE
POWELLST 4 meaerr
\ COLISEUM ¢
CINIC CENTER ,“ . CIAKL AN SIRPORT
Crrent [ ] \
type F ® SAM LLANDRD
\ 16TH 5T MISSION i osk @
I \ CanTEE WEST [UELIM ¢
i PLEASAMTON
.— Aspirational 247 5T Mission i nav ran @ WALLEY ®
trpe GLEN PeRE 7 ""- L] ® CAUBLIR ¢
) FLEASAMTOR
BALEL®, FARK + HAYFWARD
Note: To be updated every five years, in coordination . \
with Sration Profile Survey dota ® SOUTH HAVWARD
Ly CITY .
) \ UKIGN CITY
COLRAA * L& BEUMDY \
L '] FREMDINT
SOLUTH 54K FRAMCISCD ﬁ .. S0 ]
. HILLERAE \ WERN SPRINGSS

. SOUTH FRERASDNT

' MILPITAS

P emmvEsss





BART Station Access Policy

oo Next Steps

* Aim to return to board in November 2016
* Performance Measures, with targets and timeline
e 4-year work plan

* Report on work plan status annually





Proposed

Transit-Oriented Development Policy

BART Planning, Development & Construction 9





I Proposed TOD Policy

Changes to Policy Since May 26

Strategy A: Solidify ground lease and competitive selection
process

Strategy B: Incorporate mixed-use and clarify how to achieve
TOD on and off BART property

Strategy C: Clarify parking language and incorporate mixed-use
Strategy D: Clarify reinvestment of revenues

Strategy E: Add strategy to increase overall housing production,
clarify 30% target for transit-dependent populations

BART Planning, Development & Construction 10





I Proposed TOD Policy

Work Plan Outline

1. Complete Initial Elements as Planned:
 TOD Guidelines: Design & Development Practices
* Land Use & Affordable Housing Strategy: Priority Locations
for Investment, Desired Land Use Mix

2. Retroactivity: for projects not yet in CEQA stage

3. Performance Targets: based on land use strategy & resources
available

4. Investment strategy to maximize TOD potential, Return on
Investment (ROI)

Aim to return to Board in November 2016

BART Planning, Development & Construction 11





Relationship of

Station Access & TOD

nnnnnnnnn ing, Development & Construction 12





I, A Relationship of Station Access & TOD

Cross-References in Policies

e City Station Area Plans have implications for both
access and TOD

e Station Access Types help define design of TOD

projects on BART property to:

* Maintain and increase ridership

* Ensure all customers can continue to access BART
* Fit within context of community aspirations

BART Planning, Development & Construction 13





I Relationship of Station Access & TOD

Joint Implementation

Recent and Upcoming Changes to Support Policies:

* Closer relationship between Planning & Property
Development functions

* Forthcoming guidelines and Work Plans to clarify
investment coordination approach

 Land use strategy will be informed by station
access types

BART Planning, Development & Construction 14





I Relationship of Station Access & TOD

Joint Implementation

Examples of joint implementation approaches

e Pursue grant funding (e.g. Affordable Housing
Sustainable Communities program development
& station access projects)

 Use TOD value capture strategies to improve
station access (and other BART facilities)

e (Coordinated investments in access & TOD

BART Planning, Development & Construction 15





Requests for Adoption






I Station Access & TOD Policies

Requests for Adoption

Staff request two separate motions
* Adoption of Station Access Policy

 Adoption of Transit-Oriented Development Policy

BART Planning, Development & Construction 17






DRAFT BART STATION ACCESS POLICY

DRAFT BART STATION ACCESS POLICY
DRAFT 5/31/2016

VISION

For more than 40 years, the San Francisco Bay Area Rapid Transit District (BART) has been a
steward of major public investment to connect people and places. The BART Station Access Policy
is designed to support the broader livability goals of the Bay Area, reinforce sustainable
communities, and enable riders to get to and from stations safely, comfortably, affordably, and
cost-effectively.

GOALS

A. Safer, Healthier, Greener. Advance the region’s safety, public health, and greenhouse
gas (GHG) and pollution-reduction goals.

1.

2.

3.

Ensure safe access for all users of the BART system, including users with disabilities.
Promote and invest in active transportation access modes to improve public health.

Prioritize the most sustainable access modes, with a focus on the lowest greenhouse gas
and pollutant emissions per trip.

Reduce the access mode share of the automobile by enhancing multi-modal access to and
from BART stations in partnership with communities and access providers.

Develop station-level designs that are consistent with the Station Design Access
Hierarchy (Figure 1).

B. More Riders. Invest in station access to connect more riders cost-effectively, especially
where and when BART has available capacity.

1.

As ridership grows, invest in and manage access resources so as not to exacerbate peak
period — peak direction crowding, including by ensuring users can find parking spaces at
all times of day.

Develop access solutions that promote reverse-peak and off-peak ridership to optimize
use of the BART system.

C. More Productive and Efficient. Manage access investments, programs, and current
assets to achieve goals at the least cost.

1.

Consider life-cycle costs, including capital and operating budget implications, using best
asset management practices.

Factor land value in decision-making, prioritizing access that generates the most riders
with the least space.

Consider the Station Access Investment Framework (Figure 2) in identifying contextual
access investments at each station, and seek to move stations from their existing to their
aspirational types.

D. Better Experience. Be a better neighbor, and strive for an excellent customer experience,
including on the first and last mile of the trip to and from BART stations.

1.

Expand station access choices for all riders.





DRAFT BART STATION ACCESS POLICY

2. Promote Transit-Oriented Development (TOD) on and off of BART property as a
powerful access tool, putting more riders within walking distance of stations, connecting
communities.

3. Collaborate with local jurisdictions to improve station access and create more
sustainable communities, including by promoting access improvements off BART

property.
4. Ensure high quality design for access improvements, with careful consideration of the
local context and the quality of the environment accessing BART.
E. Equitable Services. Invest in access choices for all riders, particularly those with the
fewest choices.
1. Ensure that disadvantaged communities share in the benefits of BART accessibility.

2. Strive to be a partner to reduce the cost of living (i.e., transportation and housing) in the
Bay Area for low-income communities by increasing access and housing options (i.e.
TOD), providing greater access to opportunity.

3. Use Universal Design principles to improve safety and ensure access is available for
everyone at all times.
F. Innovation and Partnerships. Be an innovation leader, and establish durable
partnerships with municipalities, access providers, and technology companies.
1. Involve BART riders in station access decision-making.

2. Develop partnerships with municipalities, transit operators, developers, technology
providers, corporate shuttle providers, Transportation Network Companies, bike share
operators, advocacy groups and other entities to best meet access goals.

3. Continue to research and pilot emerging technologies and new forms of access services
to keep up with the rapidly-changing transportation ecosystem.

4. Remain technology- and operator-agnostic; make long-term investments in the access
technologies and services that best meet the needs of BART riders.

5. Prioritize projects that leverage other fund sources and local matches both to further
build partnerships and to capture more value from BART investments.

STRATEGIES

Plan, Innovate and Pariner
1. Plan for systemwide access mode shift to reduce drive alone rates.
2. Partner with interested stakeholders to improve access to the BART system.

3. Plan all BART facilities to be accessible to all users, including users with disabilities.

Invest and Implement

1. Invest in the pedestrian and bicycle assets with a focus on BART property, and partner to
advance projects off BART property, including partnering on local initiatives, such as
Vision Zero, Safe Routes to School, and Safe Routes to Transit.





DRAFT BART STATION ACCESS POLICY

2. Invest in transit connections, including investments that improve passenger experience
in transit transfers (shelters, real-time information); seek to reduce barriers to transit
connections; and partner with local transit service providers on last mile improvements.

3. Prioritize station access investments that support ridership growth where and when the
system has capacity.

4. Improve management of existing parking resources, and invest in or partner on strategic
parking resources; including shared parking, on-street parking, programs to maximize
existing parking assets, and locating new parking resources only where other approaches
are not sufficient, consistent with the station typology investment matrix.

Manage and Assess

1. Manage resources we have.

2. Regularly collect and analyze station access data

FIGURE 1: STATION ACCESS DESIGN HIERARCHY

3o

BICYCLE

TRANSIT AND Paratransit*

o -

DROP-OFF AND
PICK-UP Private Taxi and
Auto TNC

Disabled
Motorcycle/Scooter
Short Term Auto
Carshare

Carpool

Electric Vehicle
Standard Vehicle

*All Stations must be paratransit accessible
Note: All stations must always remain readily accessible to and usable by persons with disabilities





DRAFT BART STATION ACCESS POLICY

FIGURE 2: STATION ACCESS INVESTMENT FRAMEWORK

STATION TYPE

PRIMARY
INVESTMENTS

SECONDARY
INVESTMENTS

ACCOMMODATED

URBAN WITH
PARKING

BALANCED
INTERMODAL

INTERMODAL/
AUTO RELIANT

AUTO
DEPENDENT

Bicycle

&

Bicycle

o

Bicycle

-

Transit and
Shuttle

e

Transit and
Shuttle

Y

Transitand  Drop-Off
Shuttle and
Pick-Up

Bicycle Drop-Off  Transit and
and Shuttle
Pick-Up

Bicycle Drop-Off Auto Transit and
and Parking®  Shuttle
Pick-Up

o &

Taxi and Drop-Off
TNC and
Pick-Up

=)

Taxi and Drop-Off
TNC and
Pick-Up

Taxi and Auto
TNC Parking®

Taxi and Auto
TNC Parking*

Taxi and
TNC

Primary Investment:

BART will prioritize investments of
funds and staff time on and off of
BART property, consistent with access
goals; priority projects best achieve
policy goals, focus on safety and
sustainability.

Secondary Investment:

BART will invest funds and staff time
on and off of BART property,
consistent with policy goals;
secondary investments balance policy
goals.

Accommodated:

BART will maintain and manage
existing assets, and partner with
other access providers as needed.

Not Encouraged:
BART will not invest in construction of
parking expansion.

Note: TNC is for Transportation
Network Company (shared use
mobility)

*Parking Management is a secondary investment at all stations with parking.
*Parking replacement for transit-oriented development to be determined by BART’s Transit-Oriented Development Policy.

4






BART STATION ACCESS POLICY IMPLEMENTATION KEY
Station Access Typology Map

— STATION TYPE ——

LESS

AUTO SHARE
@ urban
@ Urban with Parking
. Balanced Intermodal
. Intermodal - Auto Reliant
@ Auto Dependent

MORE
AUTO SHARE

Station Under Construction

@ Airport

Current
type
\

. — Aspirational
type

Note: To be updated every five years, in coordination
with Station Profile Survey data

PITTSBURG /
BAY POINT

PITTSBURG

CENTER ANTIOCH

NORTH CONCORDI’. — ) — )
MARTINEZ

CONCORD
RICHMOND .

N 4
. EL CERRITO DEL NORTE . PLEASANT HILL

\

EL CERRITO PLAZA .

NORTH . WALNUT CREEK

® BERKELEY ®
- ORINDA ’ LAFAYETTE

DOWNTOWN BERKELEY
L} /

“ ROCKRIDGE

MACARTHUR @

@ 19TH STREET / OAKLAND

ASHBY

WEST
OAKLAND @ OAKLAND CITY CENTER/

12TH STREET

EMBARCADERD g s ()
@

MONTGOMERY ST. ,

POWELLST. _ ¢

CIVIC CENTER '

@
[

16TH ST MISSION @)

24TH ST MISSION @)
GLEN PARK ¢

BALBOAPARK _ ¢

DAY CTY @
COLMA . SAN BRUNO
SOUTH SAN FRANCISCO w. SFO
MILLBRAE

LAKE \ FRUITVALE

MERRITT
\ COLISEUM /

. OAKLAND AIRPORT

l \. SAN LEANDRO

0AK
® \ casTRo  WEST DUBLIN/
¥ ALLEY PLEASANTON
BAY FAIR
“ . DUBLIN /
PLEASANTON

HAYWARD \

. SOUTH HAYWARD

\ UNION CITY

\ FREMONT

\ WARM SPRINGS/

' SOUTH FREMONT

. MILPITAS

/

. BERRYESSA





BART STATION ACCESS TYPOLOGY DEFINITIONS

= Urban: This station type is a high-ridership station with a combined walk, bike, and
transit access share of greater than 75% with drive alone rates of 5% or less and no
BART-managed parking. Almost all auto access is from drop-off activity; highway access
is not convenient. The station can be often found in a downtown or neighborhood
business district. The street system is typically an urban or historic grid. The station may
be underground or otherwise has a limited spatial footprint. The station is well-served
by many types of transit service that stop on adjacent streets.

= Urban with Parking: This station type has similar characteristics as “Urban” station
type with the exception of parking and lower non-driving access rates. Stations included
in this category have small parking lots with limited spaces which fill up in the early
morning. Urban with Parking stations have combined walk, bike, and transit access
shares of approximately 60% to 75% with transit contributing the lowest amount to this
aggregate as these stations do not serve as major bus connections. The availability of
some parking translates into drive alone rates of up to 25%. The station can be often
found in a neighborhood business or residential district or a district both businesses and
residential.

= Balanced Intermodal: A Balanced Intermodal station is well-served by transit, though
there is also parking provided by BART and in some cases other/private operators. The
station would typically be found on an urban or suburban grid network. Balanced
Intermodal stations have both walking and drive alone/carpool rates of approximately
25%-40%. A medium-to-large transit terminal is provided onsite, serving primarily
corridor and local transit. Parking spaces fill early because the parking lot is not very
large.

= |ntermodal — Auto Reliant: Although this station type is also well-served by transit,
there is more provision for parking on a medium size station footprint. The station
would be found in a suburban grid or suburban residential area. A medium-to-large
transit terminal is provided on-site, serving regional and local transit; the station is
probably designated a regional transit hub. Intermodal — Auto Reliant stations have
combined drive alone/carpool and dropoff/taxi/other rates of 55% to 80%. Walk access
is lower than average. Parking spaces do not necessarily fill early because there is a large
amount of parking. Nonetheless, parking utilization rates are high.

= Auto Dependent: This station represents the highest level of investment in auto-
based access. With a large station footprint, structured and/or surface parking, and
adjacent highway access, the station’s ridership is considered low to moderate. The
large footprint may also allow for a small to moderate-sized multimodal station. Auto
Dependent Stations have combined drive alone/carpool and dropoff/taxi/other rates of
approximately 67% or higher. For many stations with parking garages, transit and walk
mode shares vary widely; it is important to note that a station which is considered Auto
Dependent is predominantly an auto-only station with lower levels of transit, bicycle,
and walk access.






OH&S DRAFT #1 - Distributed 05/26/16

THIRD SUPPLEMENTAL INDENTURE
between
SAN FRANCISCO BAY AREA RAPID TRANSIT DISTRICT
and

U.S. BANK NATIONAL ASSOCIATION,
as Trustee

Dated as of August 1, 2016

AUTHORIZING THE ISSUANCE OF
SAN FRANCISCO BAY AREA RAPID TRANSIT DISTRICT
SALES TAX REVENUE BONDS,
$[PRINCIPAL] 2016 REFUNDING SERIES A

(Supplemental to the Master Indenture dated as of September 1, 2012)

OHSUSA:765051581





SECTION 14.01
SECTION 14.02
SECTION 14.03
SECTION 14.04
SECTION 14.05
SECTION 14.06
SECTION 14.07
SECTION 14.08
SECTION 14.09
SECTION 14.10
SECTION 14.11
SECTION 14.12
SECTION 14.13

SECTION 14.14
SECTION 14.15
SECTION 14.16
SECTION 14.17

SECTION 14.18
SECTION 14.19
EXHIBIT A
EXHIBIT B
EXHIBIT C

OHSUSA:765051581

THIRD SUPPLEMENTAL INDENTURE
TABLE OF CONTENTS
2016 Refunding Series

AUTHORIZATION AND TERMS OF 2016 REFUNDING

OPTIONAL REDEMPTION OF 2016 REFUNDING BONDS
MANDATORY REDEMPTION OF 2016 REFUNDING BONDS

MANDATORY PURCHASE IN LIEU OF REDEMPTION

SELECTION OF 2016 REFUNDING BONDS FOR REDEMPTION

NOTICE OF REDEMPTION
PARTIAL REDEMPTION OF 2016 REFUNDING BONDS
EFFECT OF REDEMPTION
FORM OF 2016 REFUNDING BONDS ..........cccooiiiiiiiinnn
ISSUANCE OF 2016 REFUNDING BONDS

APPLICATION OF PROCEEDS OF 2016 REFUNDING BONDS

TRANSFER OF FUNDS FROM 1990 INDENTURE...........

BONDS

ESTABLISHMENT AND APPLICATION OF 2016 COSTS OF

ISSUANCE FUND
NO RESERVE FUND
USE OF DEPOSITORY

CONTINUING DISCLOSURE COVENANT .....ocoviiiiiiiiiieieeee e

TERMS OF 2016 REFUNDING BONDS SUBJECT TO TH

E

INDENTURE ...

EFFECTIVE DATE OF THIRD SUPPLEMENTAL INDEN
EXECUTION IN COUNTERPARTS
FORM OF SERIES 2016 BONDS
LISTING OF REFUNDED BONDS

TURE

FORM OF 2016 COSTS OF ISSUANCE FUND REQUISITION





Third Supplemental Indenture
(Supplemental to the Master Indenture dated as of September 1, 2012)
Authorizing the Issuance of
San Francisco Bay Area Rapid Transit District
Sales Tax Revenue Bonds,
S$[PRINCIPAL] 2016 Refunding Series A

This Third Supplemental Indenture, dated as of August 1, 2016 (the “Third Supplemental
Indenture”), between the San Francisco Bay Area Rapid Transit District (the “District”) and U.S.
Bank National Association, as trustee (the “Trustee”);

WITNESSETH:

WHEREAS, this Third Supplemental Indenture is supplemental to the Master Indenture,
dated as of September 1, 2012 (as supplemented and amended from time to time pursuant to its
terms, including as supplemented and amended by this Third Supplemental Indenture, the
“Indenture”), between the District and the Trustee;

WHEREAS, the Indenture provides that the District may issue Bonds from time to time
as authorized by a Supplemental Indenture;

WHEREAS, in accordance with the Act, the District has heretofore issued its sales tax
revenue bonds (the “Prior Bonds™) under and pursuant to an Indenture, dated as of July 1, 1990,
as supplemented and amended by the First Supplemental Indenture, dated as of August 7, 1990,
the Second Supplemental Indenture, dated as of August 29, 1991, the Third Supplemental
Indenture, dated as of June 7, 1995, the Fourth Supplemental Indenture, dated as of April 1,
1997, the Fifth Supplemental Indenture, dated as of March 12, 1998, the Sixth Supplemental
Indenture, dated as of October 7, 1999, the Seventh Supplemental Indenture, dated as of July 12,
2001, the Eighth Supplemental Indenture, dated as of September 7, 2005, the Ninth
Supplemental Indenture, dated as of June 29, 2006, the Tenth Supplemental Indenture, dated as
of November 30, 2006 and the Eleventh Supplemental Indenture, dated as of May 19, 2010
(hereinafter collectively referred to as the “1990 Indenture”), between the District and U.S. Bank
National Association, successor by merger to U.S. Bank Trust National Association, which was
successor to First Trust of California, National Association, which was successor to Bank of
America National Trust and Savings Association, which was successor to Security Pacific
National Bank, as trustee (the “Prior Trustee”);

WHEREAS, the following Prior Bonds were issued pursuant to the 1990 Indenture and
are outstanding in the following amounts:

Original Principal Outstanding
Series Issuance Date Amount Principal Amount
2006 A November 30, 2006 $108,110,000 $95,840,000
2010 May 19, 2010 129,595,000 121,065,000

OHSUSA:765051581





WHEREAS, in accordance with the Act, the District has heretofore issued its sales tax
revenue bonds (the “2012 Bonds” and, together with the Prior Bonds and other bonds issued on a
parity with the 2012 Bonds, the “Bonds”) under and pursuant to the Indenture;

WHEREAS, the following Bonds were issued pursuant to the Indenture and are
outstanding in the following amounts:

Original Principal Outstanding
Series Issuance Date Amount Principal Amount
2012A October 4, 2012 $130,475,000 $121,305,000
2012B October 4, 2012 111,085,000 104,770,000
2015A October 8, 2015 186,640,000 186,640,000

WHEREAS, in accordance with the Act and the Indenture, the District has determined to
issue the San Francisco Bay Area Rapid Transit District Sales Tax Revenue Bonds, 2016
Refunding Series A (the “2016 Refunding Bonds”), in the aggregate principal amount of
$[PRINCIPAL], to provide funds to refund a portion of the Prior Bonds, consisting of the 2006
A Bonds specified in Exhibit B hereto (hereinafter referred to as the “Refunded Bonds™), in order
to achieve debt service savings and/or to restructure existing debt service;

WHEREAS, the District has determined to issue the 2016 Refunding Bonds, payable on a
parity with the Bonds pursuant to the Indenture;

[WHEREAS, in order to provide for the defeasance of the Refunded Bonds, the District
and U.S. Bank National Association, as escrow agent (the “Bonds Escrow Agent”), will execute
an Escrow Agreement (BART Bonds), dated as of August 1, 2016 (the “Bonds Escrow
Agreement”) to provide for the defeasance and redemption of the Refunded Bonds]; and

WHEREAS, all capitalized terms used and not otherwise defined herein shall have the
meanings assigned to such terms in the Indenture.

NOW, THEREFORE, the parties hereto agree, as follows:
SECTION 14.01 Authorization and Terms of 2016 Refunding Bonds.

(A)  Pursuant to the provisions of the Indenture and the provisions of the Act, a fourth
Series of Bonds entitled to the benefit, protection and security of such provisions is hereby
authorized in the aggregate principal amount of $[PRINCIPAL] for the purpose of refunding the
Refunded Bonds. Such Series of Bonds shall be designated as, and shall be distinguished from
the Bonds of all other Series by the title, “San Francisco Bay Area Rapid Transit District Sales
Tax Revenue Bonds, 2016 Refunding Series A.” The 2016 Refunding Bonds shall be of the
tenor known as Current Interest Bonds.

(B) The 2016 Refunding Bonds shall be issued as fully registered bonds in the
denominations of $5,000 or integral multiples thereof. The 2016 Refunding Bonds shall be

OHSUSA:765051581





initially registered in the name of “Cede & Co.,” as nominee of The Depository Trust Company,
and shall be evidenced by one 2016 Refunding Bond of each Series maturing on each of the
maturity dates as set forth below in this Section 14.01 in a denomination corresponding to the
total principal amount of the 2016 Refunding Bonds of such Series to mature on such date. Each
2016 Refunding Bond shall be assigned a distinctive number or letter or letter and number, and a
record of the same shall be maintained by the Trustee. Registered ownership of the 2016
Refunding Bonds, or any portion thereof, may thereafter be transferred as set forth in
Section 2.05.

Interest on the 2016 Refunding Bonds shall be computed on the basis of a 360-day year
comprised of twelve 30-day months. Interest on the 2016 Refunding Bonds shall be payable on
January 1, 2017, and semiannually thereafter on July 1 and January 1 of each year by check
mailed by first class mail on each interest payment date to the Owner thereof as of the close of
business on the fifteenth (15th) day of the calendar month immediately preceding such interest
payment date (whether or not the 15th day is a business day) (the “Record Date”); provided,
however, that Owners of at least $1,000,000 in aggregate principal amount of 2016 Refunding
Bonds may, at any time prior to a Record Date, give the Trustee written instructions for payment
of such interest on each succeeding interest payment date by wire transfer.

The principal of and premium, if any, on the 2016 Refunding Bonds shall be payable
when due upon presentation and surrender thereof at the Corporate Trust Office of the Trustee in
lawful money of the United States of America.

(C)  The 2016 Refunding Bonds shall be dated as of their date of issuance, shall bear
interest from that date at the following rates per annum and shall mature on July 1 in the
following years in the following principal amounts:

Maturity Date Principal Interest Maturity Date Principal Interest
(July 1) Amount Rate (July 1) Amount Rate

2017 $ % 2028 $ %
2018 2029

2019 2030

2020 2031

2021 2032

2022 2033

2023 2034

2024 2035

2025 2036

2026 2037

2027

SECTION 14.02 Optional Redemption of 2016 Refunding Bonds. The 2016
Refunding Bonds maturing on or before July 1, 2026 shall not be subject to redemption prior to
their respective stated maturities. The 2016 Refunding Bonds maturing on or after July 1, 2027
shall be subject to redemption prior to their respective stated maturities, at the option of the
District, from any source of available funds, as a whole or in part, on any date on or after July 1,

OHSUSA:765051581





2026 at the principal amount of 2016 Refunding Bonds called for redemption plus accrued
interest to the date fixed for redemption, without premium.

The District shall give the Trustee written notice at least forty-five days, or such lesser
number of days in the sole discretion of the Trustee, before any date fixed for the redemption of
the 2016 Refunding Bonds to be redeemed pursuant to this Section, designating the maturity or
maturities of the 2016 Refunding Bonds to be redeemed, the portions thereof to be redeemed and
the fact and date of such redemption and, if such redemption is to be made with Sales Tax
Revenues, the District shall deposit with the Trustee such Sales Tax Revenues prior to giving
notice of such redemption or shall provide written notice to the Trustee that such deposit shall be
made on or prior to the date fixed for redemption.

SECTION 14.03 Mandatory Redemption of 2016 Refunding Bonds.

The 2016 Refunding Bonds are not subject to mandatory redemption.

SECTION 14.04 Mandatory Purchase In Lieu of Redemption.

Each Owner, by purchase and acceptance of any 2016 Refunding Bonds irrevocably
grants to the District the option to purchase such 2016 Refunding Bonds, at any time such 2016
Refunding Bonds is subject to optional redemption as provided in Section 14.02 hereof at a
purchase price equal to the Redemption Price then applicable to such 2016 Refunding Bonds. In
order to exercise such option, the District shall direct the Trustee to provide notice of mandatory
purchase, such notice to be provided, as and to the extent applicable, in accordance with the
provisions set forth in Section 4.01 and Section 14.06 hereof. On the date fixed for purchase of
any 2016 Refunding Bonds pursuant to this Section 14.04, the District shall pay the purchase
price of such 2016 Refunding Bonds to the Trustee in immediately available funds and the
Trustee shall pay the same to the Owners of 2016 Refunding Bonds being purchased against
delivery thereof. Following such purchase, the Trustee shall register such 2016 Refunding
Bonds in accordance with the written instructions of the District. No purchase of any 2016
Refunding Bonds pursuant to this Section 14.04 shall operate to extinguish the indebtedness
evidenced by such 2016 Refunding Bonds. No Owner may elect to retain a 2016 Refunding
Bonds subject to mandatory purchase pursuant to this Section 14.04. Notwithstanding the
foregoing, nothing contained herein is meant to prevent the District from purchasing 2016
Refunding Bonds on the open market for cancellation.

SECTION 14.05 Selection of 2016 Refunding Bonds for Redemption. The District
shall designate which maturities of 2016 Refunding Bonds are to be called for redemption
pursuant to Section 14.02. Whenever provision is made in this Indenture for the redemption of
less than all of the 2016 Refunding Bonds maturing on a specific maturity date, the Trustee shall
select the 2016 Refunding Bonds of such maturity to be redeemed, from the Outstanding 2016
Refunding Bonds of such maturity not previously called for redemption, in minimum
denominations of $5,000 (of principal), by lot in any manner which the Trustee in its sole
discretion shall deem appropriate. The Trustee shall promptly notify the District in writing of the
2016 Refunding Bonds so selected for redemption.

OHSUSA:765051581





SECTION 14.06 Notice of Redemption. Notice of redemption shall be given by the
Trustee, in the form and in accordance with the terms of, Section 4.01 of the Indenture.

With respect to any notice of optional redemption of 2016 Refunding Bonds delivered
pursuant to this Section 14.06, unless, upon the giving of such notice, such 2016 Refunding
Bonds shall be deemed to have been paid within the meaning of Article X hereof, such notice
shall state that such redemption shall be conditional upon the receipt by the Trustee on or prior to
the date fixed for such redemption of amounts sufficient to pay the principal of, and premium, if
any, and interest on, such 2016 Refunding Bonds to be redeemed, and that if such amounts shall
not have been so received said notice shall be of no force and effect and the District shall not be
required to redeem such 2016 Refunding Bonds. In the event that such notice of redemption
contains such a condition and such amounts are not so received, the redemption shall not be
made and the Trustee shall within a reasonable time thereafter give notice to the Owners to the
effect that such amounts were not so received and such redemption was not made, such notice to
be given by the Trustee in the same manner and to the same parties, as notice of such redemption
was given pursuant to this Section 14.06.

Any notice of optional redemption of the 2016 Refunding Bonds may be conditional and
if any condition stated in the notice of redemption is not satisfied on or prior to the redemption
date, said notice will be of no force and effect and the District will not redeem such 2016
Refunding Bonds. The Trustee will within a reasonable time thereafter give notice, to the persons
and in the manner in which the notice of redemption was given, that such condition or conditions
were not met and that the redemption was cancelled.

The Trustee shall provide CUSIP number identification, with appropriate dollar amounts
for each CUSIP number, on all redemption notices, redemption payments and interest payments,
whether by check or by wire transfer.

Any notice given pursuant to this Section 14.06 may be rescinded by written notice given
to the Trustee no later than the date specified for redemption. The Trustee shall give notice of
such rescission as soon thereafter as practicable in the same manner, and to the same parties, as
notice of such redemption was given pursuant to this Section 14.06.

SECTION 14.07 Partial Redemption of 2016 Refunding Bonds. Upon surrender of
any 2016 Refunding Bonds redeemed in part only, the District shall execute and the Trustee shall
authenticate and deliver to the Owner thereof, at the expense of the District, a new 2016
Refunding Bonds of authorized denominations, equal in aggregate principal amount to the
unredeemed portion of the 2016 Refunding Bonds surrendered.

SECTION 14.08 Effect of Redemption. Notice of redemption having been duly given
as aforesaid, and moneys for payment of the Redemption Price of, together with interest accrued
to the redemption date on, the 2016 Refunding Bonds (or portions thereof) so called for
redemption being held by the Trustee, on the redemption date designated in such notice, the 2016
Refunding Bonds (or portions thereof) so called for redemption shall become due and payable at
the Redemption Price specified in such notice, together with interest accrued thereon to the date
fixed for redemption, interest on the 2016 Refunding Bonds so called for redemption shall cease

OHSUSA:765051581





to accrue, said 2016 Refunding Bonds (or portions thereof) shall cease to be entitled to any
benefit or security under this Indenture, and the Owners of said 2016 Refunding Bonds shall
have no rights in respect thereof except to receive payment of said Redemption Price and
accrued interest to the date fixed for redemption.

All 2016 Refunding Bonds redeemed shall be cancelled upon surrender thereof and
destroyed.

SECTION 14.09 Form of 2016 Refunding Bonds. The 2016 Refunding Bonds and the
certificate of authentication to be executed thereon shall be in substantially the form set forth as
Exhibit A to this Third Supplemental Indenture. The 2016 Refunding Bonds numbers, maturity
dates and interest rates shall be inserted therein in conformity with Section 14.01.

SECTION 14.10 Issuance of 2016 Refunding Bonds. At any time after the execution
and delivery of this Third Supplemental Indenture, the District may execute and the Trustee shall
authenticate and deliver the 2016 Refunding Bonds upon the Order of the District.

SECTION 14.11 Application of Proceeds of 2016 Refunding Bonds. The proceeds of
the sale of the 2016 Refunding Bonds, $ , comprised of $[PRINCIPAL].
aggregate principal amount, plus original issue premium from the 2016 Refunding Bonds of
$ and less an aggregate underwriters’ discount of $ , shall be
deposited with the Trustee and shall be held in trust and set aside or transferred by the Trustee as
follows:

(A)  The Trustee shall transfer $ of such proceeds from the 2016
Refunding Bonds to the Bonds Escrow Agent for deposit in the escrow fund created pursuant to
the Bonds Escrow Agreement.

(B)  The Trustee shall deposit the remainder of said proceeds, $ , In the
2016 Costs of Issuance Fund, a segregated fund established pursuant to Section 14.13.

SECTION 14.12 Transfer of Funds from 1990 Indenture. The Trustee shall further
transfer $ for deposit in the escrow fund created pursuant to the Bonds Escrow
Agreement from the following funds held under the 1990 Indenture in the following amounts:

(A)  From the Revenue Fund, including the Interest and Principal accounts held
therein, $ ; and

(B)  From the Bond Reserve Fund, $

SECTION 14.13 Establishment and Application of 2016 Costs of Issuance Fund.

(A)  The Trustee shall establish, maintain and hold in trust a separate fund designated
as the “2016 Costs of Issuance Fund.” The moneys deposited in the 2016 Costs of Issuance
Fund from the proceeds of the 2016 Refunding Bonds shall be used and withdrawn by the
District to pay the Costs of Issuance of the 2016 Refunding Bonds. All investment earnings on
funds held in such separate fund shall be deposited in the 2016 Costs of Issuance Fund unless the

OHSUSA:765051581





District instructs the Trustee to deposit such investment earnings or a portion thereof in the
Revenue Fund or the Rebate Fund.

(B)  Before any payment from the 2016 Costs of Issuance Fund shall be made by the
Trustee, the District shall file or cause to be filed with the Trustee a Requisition of the District,
such Requisition of the District to be in substantially such form as is set forth in Exhibit C
hereto.

Upon issuance of each such Requisition, the Trustee shall pay the amount set forth in
such Requisition as directed by the terms thereof out of the 2016 Costs of Issuance Fund. The
Trustee and the District shall retain a record of the Requisitions from the 2016 Costs of Issuance
Fund.

(C)  Any amounts remaining in the 2016 Costs of Issuance Fund one hundred
eighty (180) days after the date of issuance of the 2016 Refunding Bonds shall be transferred to
the Revenue Fund, and the 2016 Costs of Issuance Fund shall be closed.

SECTION 14.14 No Reserve Fund. The 2016 Refunding Bonds shall not be secured
by a reserve fund established pursuant to this Third Supplemental Indenture.

SECTION 14.15 Use of Depository. Notwithstanding any provision of the Indenture or
this Third Supplemental Indenture to the contrary:

(A)  The 2016 Refunding Bonds shall be initially registered as provided in Section
14.01(B). Registered ownership of the 2016 Refunding Bonds, or any portions thereof, may not
thereafter be transferred except:

Q) To any successor of The Depository Trust Company or its nominee, or to
any substitute depository designated pursuant to clause (ii) of this subsection (A) (a “substitute
depository”); provided that any successor of The Depository Trust Company or substitute
depository shall certify to the District and to the Trustee that it is qualified under any applicable
laws to provide the service proposed to be provided by it;

(i)  To any substitute depository designated by the District, upon (1) the
resignation of The Depository Trust Company or its successor (or any substitute depository or its
successor) from its functions as depository, or (2) a determination by the District that The
Depository Trust Company or its successor (or any substitute depository or its successor) is no
longer able to carry out its functions as depository; provided that any such substitute depository
shall be qualified under any applicable laws to provide the services proposed to be provided by
it; or

(ili)  To any person as provided below, upon (1) the resignation of The
Depository Trust Company or its successor (or substitute depository or its successor) from its
functions as depository, provided that no substitute depository can be obtained, or (2)a
determination by the District that it is in the best interests of the District to remove The
Depository Trust Company or its successor (or any substitute depository or its successor) from
its functions as depository.

OHSUSA:765051581





(B) In the case of any transfer pursuant to clause (i) or clause (ii) of subsection
14.15(A), upon receipt of all outstanding 2016 Refunding Bonds by the Trustee, together with a
Certificate of the District to the Trustee, a single new 2016 Refunding Bonds for each maturity
of 2016 Refunding Bonds shall be executed and delivered, registered in the name of such
successor or such substitute depository, or their nominees, as the case may be, all as specified in
such Certificate of the District. In the case of any transfer pursuant to clause (iii) of subsection
14.15(A) hereof, upon receipt of all outstanding 2016 Refunding Bonds by the Trustee, together
with a Certificate of the District to the Trustee, new 2016 Refunding Bonds shall be executed
and delivered in such denominations and registered in the names of such persons as are requested
in such a Certificate of the District, but without any liability on the part of the District or the
Trustee for the accuracy of such designation. Such execution and delivery shall be subject to the
limitations of Section 14.01 hereof, and the Trustee shall not be required to deliver such new
2016 Refunding Bonds within a period less than sixty (60) days from the date of receipt of such a
Certificate of the District.

(C)  In the case of partial redemption or cancellation of any 2016 Refunding Bonds
evidencing all or a portion of the principal maturing in a particular year, The Depository Trust
Company or its successor (or any substitute depository or its successor) shall make an
appropriate notation on the 2016 Refunding Bonds indicating the date and amounts of such
reduction in principal, in form acceptable to the Trustee.

(D)  The District and the Trustee shall be entitled to treat the person in whose name
any 2016 Refunding Bonds is registered as the Bondholder thereof for all purposes of the
Indenture and any applicable laws, notwithstanding any notice to the contrary received by the
Trustee or the District; and the District and the Trustee shall have no responsibility for
transmitting payments to, communication with, notifying, or otherwise dealing with any
beneficial owners of the 2016 Refunding Bonds. Neither the District nor the Trustee will have
any responsibility or obligations, legal or otherwise, to the beneficial owners or to any other
party including The Depository Trust Company or its successor (or substitute depository or its
successor) which is not shown as being the Owner of any 2016 Refunding Bonds, including, but
not limited to, with respect to (i) the 2016 Refunding Bonds, (ii) the accuracy of any records
maintained by The Depository Trust Company or any successor or substitute depository thereto,
(iii) the payment by any such depository of any amount in respect of the principal or redemption
price of or interest with respect to the 2016 Refunding Bonds, (iv) any notice which is permitted
or required to be given to Owners of 2016 Refunding Bonds under the Indenture, or (v) the
selection by such depository of any person to receive payment in the event of a partial
redemption of the 2016 Refunding Bonds.

(E)  So long as all outstanding 2016 Refunding Bonds are registered in the name of
“Cede & Co.,” the District and the Trustee shall cooperate with “Cede & Co.,” as sole registered
Bondholder, in effecting payment of the principal of and redemption premium, if any, and
interest on the 2016 Refunding Bonds by arranging for payment in such manner that funds for
such payments are properly identified and are made on the date they are due.

SECTION 14.16 Continuing Disclosure Covenant. The District and the Trustee
hereby covenant and agree that they will comply with and carry out all of the provisions of the

OHSUSA:765051581





Continuing Disclosure Agreement, dated the Date of Issuance of the 2016 Refunding Bonds (the
“Continuing Disclosure Agreement”), between the District and U.S. Bank National Association,
as trustee and dissemination agent. Notwithstanding any other provision of this Indenture,
failure of the District or the Trustee to comply with the Continuing Disclosure Agreement shall
not be considered an Event of Default; however, the Trustee may, at the written request of any
Participating Underwriter (as such term is defined in the Continuing Disclosure Agreement) or
the Owners of at least 25% aggregate principal amount of Outstanding 2016 Refunding Bonds,
shall, but only to the extent indemnified to its satisfaction from any cost, liability, expense, or
additional charges and fees of the Trustee whatsoever, including without limitation fees and
expenses of its attorneys), or any Owner or Beneficial Owner (as such term is defined in the
Continuing Disclosure Agreement) may take such actions as may be necessary and appropriate,
including seeking mandate or specific performance by court order, to cause the District to
comply with its obligations under this Section.

SECTION 14.17 Terms of 2016 Refunding Bonds Subject to the Indenture. Except
as in this Third Supplemental Indenture expressly provided, every term and condition contained
in the Indenture shall apply to the Third Supplemental Indenture and to the 2016 Refunding
Bonds with the same force and effect as if the same were herein set forth at length, with such
omissions, variations and modifications thereof as may be appropriate to make the same conform
to the First Supplemental Indenture.

The Third Supplemental Indenture and all the terms and provisions herein contained shall
form part of the Indenture as fully and with the same effect as if all such terms and provisions
had been set forth in the Indenture. The Indenture is hereby ratified and confirmed and shall
continue in full force and effect in accordance with the terms and provisions thereof, as
supplemented and amended hereby.

SECTION 14.18 Effective Date of Third Supplemental Indenture. The Third
Supplemental Indenture shall take effect upon its execution and delivery.

SECTION 14.19 Execution in Counterparts. The Third Supplemental Indenture may
be executed in several counterparts, each of which shall be deemed an original, and all of which
shall constitute but one and the same instrument.

OHSUSA:765051581





IN WITNESS WHEREOF, the parties hereto have executed the Third Supplemental
Indenture by their officers thereunto duly authorized as of the day and year first written above.

SAN FRANCISCO BAY AREA RAPID
TRANSIT DISTRICT

By:

Controller/Treasurer
(Seal)

ATTEST:

Secretary

U.S. BANK NATIONAL ASSOCIATION,
as Trustee

By:

Authorized Officer

10
OHSUSA:765051581





EXHIBIT A

[FORM OF 2016 REFUNDING BONDS]
No. $

SAN FRANCISCO BAY AREA RAPID TRANSIT DISTRICT
SALES TAX REVENUE BOND,
2016 REFUNDING SERIES A

Interest Rate Dated
Maturity Date Per Annum Date CUSIP
July 1, % , 2016 797669

REGISTERED OWNER: Cede & Co.

PRINCIPAL AMOUNT: DOLLARS

SAN FRANCISCO BAY AREA RAPID TRANSIT DISTRICT, a rapid transit district
organized and existing under and pursuant to the laws of the State of California (the “District”),
for value received, hereby promises to pay (but only out of the Sales Tax Revenues hereinafter
referred to) to the registered owner named above or registered assigns, on the Maturity Date
specified above, the Principal Amount specified above, together with interest thereon from the
Dated Date specified above until the principal hereof shall have been paid, at the Interest Rate
Per Annum specified above, payable on January 1, 2016, and semiannually thereafter on
January 1 and July 1 in each year. Interest hereon is payable in lawful money of the United
States of America by check mailed by first-class mail on each interest payment date to the
registered owner as of the close of business on the 15th day of the calendar month immediately
preceding such interest payment date (whether or not the 15th day is a business day) (the
“Record Date”); provided, however, that owners of at least $1,000,000 aggregate principal
amount of Bonds (as such term is defined in the Master Indenture, dated as of September 1, 2012
(as supplemented and amended from time to time pursuant to its terms, the “Indenture”),
between the District and the Trustee hereinafter referred to) may, at any time prior to a Record
Date, give the Trustee written instructions for payment of such interest on each succeeding
interest payment date by wire transfer. The principal hereof and premium, if any, hereon are
payable when due upon presentation hereof at the Corporate Trust Office (as such term is
defined in the Indenture) of U.S. Bank National Association, as trustee (together with any
successor as trustee under the Indenture, the “Trustee”), in lawful money of the United States of
America. All capitalized terms used and not otherwise defined herein shall have the meanings
assigned to such terms in the Indenture.

This Bond is one of a duly authorized issue of San Francisco Bay Area Rapid Transit
District Sales Tax Revenue Bonds (the “Bonds”) of the series and designation indicated above.
Said authorized issue of Bonds is not limited in aggregate principal amount, except as otherwise

A-1
OHSUSA:765051581





provided in the Indenture, and consists or may consist of one or more Series of varying
denominations, dates, maturities, interest rates and other provisions, as in the Indenture provided,
all issued or to be issued pursuant to the provisions of the San Francisco Bay Area Rapid Transit
District Act, constituting Part 2 of Division 10 of the California Public Utilities Code and the
Revenue Bond Law of 1941 to the extent made applicable to the District by Section 29143 of
Article 2, Chapter 7, Part2 of said Division 10, and Articles 10 and 11 of Chapter 3 of
Division 2 of Title 5 of, and other generally applicable provisions of, the California Government
Code, as each is amended from time to time (the “Act”). This Bond is issued pursuant to the
Indenture, as supplemented and amended by a First Supplemental Indenture thereto, dated as of
September 1, 2012, a Second Supplemental Indenture thereto, dated as of October 1, 2015, and
as further supplemented and amended by a Third Supplemental Indenture thereto, dated as of
August 1, 2016, each by and between the District and the Trustee, authorizing the issuance of the
San Francisco Bay Area Rapid Transit District Sales Tax Revenue Bonds, 2016 Refunding
Series A.

Reference is hereby made to the Indenture and to the Act for a description of the terms on
which the Bonds are issued and to be issued, the provisions with regard to the nature and extent
of the pledge of the proceeds derived by the District from the transactions and use tax imposed
pursuant to the Act (as more particularly defined in the Indenture, the “Sales Tax Revenues”) and
the rights of the registered owners of the Bonds; and all the terms of the Indenture and the Act
are hereby incorporated herein and constitute a contract between the District and the registered
owners from time to time of this Bond, and to all the provisions thereof the registered owner of
this Bond, by such owners’ acceptance hereof, consents and agrees. Additional Bonds may be
issued, and indebtedness may be incurred, on a parity with the Bonds of this authorized issue but
only subject to the conditions and limitations contained in the Indenture.

The Bonds and the interest thereon (to the extent set forth in the Indenture), together with
the Parity Obligations outstanding or hereafter issued by the District, and the interest thereon, are
payable from, and are secured by a charge and lien on the Sales Tax Revenues. All of the Bonds
and Parity Obligations are equally secured by a pledge of, and charge and lien upon, all of the
Sales Tax Revenues, and the Sales Tax Revenues constitute a trust fund for the security and
payment of the interest on and principal of the Bonds as provided in the Act; but nevertheless out
of Sales Tax Revenues certain amounts may be applied for other purposes as provided in the
Indenture.

The Bonds are special obligations of the District and are payable solely, both as to
principal and interest and as to any premiums upon the redemption thereof, from the Sales Tax
Revenues and certain funds held by the Trustee under the Indenture and the District is not
obligated to pay the Bonds except from such Sales Tax Revenues and such funds. The general
fund of the District is not liable, and the credit or taxing power (other than as described above) of
the District is not pledged, for the payment of the Bonds or their interest. The Bonds are not
secured by a legal or equitable pledge of, or charge, lien or encumbrance upon, any of the
property of the District or any of its income or receipts, except the Sales Tax Revenues. No
holder of this Bond shall ever have the right to compel any exercise of the taxing power of the
District to pay this Bond or the interest hereon.

A-2
OHSUSA:765051581





2016 Refunding Bonds maturing on or before July 1, 2025 shall not be subject to
redemption prior to their respective stated maturities. 2016 Refunding Bonds maturing on and
after July 1, 2026 shall be subject to redemption prior to their respective stated maturities, at the
option of the District, from any source of available funds, as a whole or in part, on any date on or
after July 1, 2025, at the principal amount of Bonds called for redemption, plus accrued interest
to the date fixed for redemption, without premium.

2016 Refunding Bonds that are Term Bonds, if any, are subject to redemption from
Mandatory Sinking Account Payments at the terms and in the amounts as specified in the
Indenture.

This Bond is transferable or exchangeable for other authorized denominations by the
registered owner hereof, in person or by its attorney duly authorized in writing, at the Corporate
Trust Office of the Trustee, but only in the manner, subject to the limitations and upon payment
of the charges provided in the Indenture, and upon surrender and cancellation of this Bond.
Upon such transfer a new fully registered Bond or Bonds without coupons, of authorized
denomination or denominations, of the same Series, tenor, maturity and interest rate for the same
aggregate principal amount will be issued to the transferee in exchange herefor.

The District, the Trustee and any paying agent may deem and treat the registered owner
hereof as the absolute owner hereof for all purposes, and the District, the Trustee and any paying
agent shall not be affected by any notice to the contrary.

The rights and obligations of the District and of the holders and registered owners of the
Bonds may be modified or amended at any time in the manner, to the extent, and upon the terms
provided in the Indenture, which provide, in certain circumstances, for modifications and
amendments without the consent of or notice to the registered owners of Bonds.

It is hereby certified and recited that any and all acts, conditions and things required to
exist, to happen and to be performed, precedent to and in the incurring of the indebtedness
evidenced by this Bond, and in the issuing of this Bond, do exist, have happened and have been
performed in due time, form and manner, as required by the Constitution and statutes of the State
of California, and that this Bond, together with all other indebtedness of the District pertaining to
the Sales Tax Revenues, is within every debt and other limit prescribed by the Constitution and
the statutes of the State of California, and is not in excess of the amount of Bonds permitted to be
issued under the Indenture or the Act.

This Bond shall not be entitled to any benefit under the Indenture, or become valid or
obligatory for any purpose, until the certificate of authentication hereon endorsed shall have been
signed by the Trustee.

A-3
OHSUSA:765051581





IN WITNESS WHEREOF, SAN FRANCISCO BAY AREA RAPID TRANSIT
DISTRICT has caused this Bond to be executed in its name and on its behalf by the facsimile
signature of the President of its Board of Directors and countersigned by the facsimile signature
of its Secretary, and a facsimile of the seal of the District to be impressed or imprinted hereon,
and this Bond to be dated as of the Dated Date set forth above.

SAN FRANCISCO BAY AREA RAPID
TRANSIT DISTRICT

By
President, Board of Directors
San Francisco Bay Area
Rapid Transit District
(SEAL)
Attested:
Secretary,
San Francisco Bay Area
Rapid Transit District
A-4

OHSUSA:765051581





[FORM OF CERTIFICATE OF AUTHENTICATION]

This is one of the Bonds described in the within-mentioned Indenture and registered on
the date set forth below.

Dated:

U.S. BANK NATIONAL ASSOCIATION,
as Trustee

By

Authorized Signatory

DTC LEGEND

Unless this Bond is presented by an Authorized Representative of The Depository
Trust Company, a New York corporation (“DTC”), to District or its agent for registration of
transfer, exchange, or payment, and any Bond issued is registered in the name of Cede & Co. or
in such other name as is requested by an Authorized Representative of DTC (and any payment is
made to Cede & Co. or to such other entity as is requested by an Authorized Representative of
DTC), ANY TRANSFER, PLEDGE, OR OTHER USE HEREOF FOR VALUE OR
OTHERWISE BY OR TO ANY PERSON IS WRONGFUL inasmuch as the Registered Owner
hereof, Cede & Co., has an interest herein.

A-5
OHSUSA:765051581





[FORM OF ASSIGNMENT]

For value received, hereby sell, assign and transfer unto
the within Bond and hereby irrevocably constitute and appoint
attorney, to transfer the same on the books of the District at the office of the
Trustee, with full power of substitution in the premises.

NOTE: The signature to this Assignment must

correspond with the name on the face of the within

Bond in every particular, without alteration or
Dated: enlargement or any change whatsoever.

Signature Guaranteed by:

NOTE: Signature must be guaranteed by an eligible
guarantor institution.

A-6
OHSUSA:765051581





EXHIBIT B

LISTING OF REFUNDED BONDS

San Francisco Bay Area Rapid Transit District Sales Tax Revenue Bonds, Refunding Series

2006 A
Maturity Date Interest Principal CUSIP
(July 1) Rate Amount (797669)

2017 4.000 1,105,000 RNO
2018 4.000 1,520,000 RP5
2019 4.000 3,485,000 RQ3
2020 4.125 3,630,000 RR1
2021 4.125 3,780,000 RS9
2022 4.125 3,940,000 RT7
2023 4.250 4,115,000 RU4
2024 4.250 4,290,000 RV2
2025 4.250 4,475,000 RWO
2026 4.250 4,670,000 RX8
2027 4.250 4,870,000 RY6
2029" 4.250 10,395,000 RZ3
2031" 4.250 11,310,000 SAT7
2033" 4.250 12,315,000 SB5
2036" 4.250 20,550,000 SC3

* Term Bonds

OHSUSA:765051581

B-1





EXHIBIT C

FORM OF 2016 COSTS OF ISSUANCE FUND REQUISITION

Requisition No.

2016 Costs of Issuance Fund

The undersigned, hereby certifies as follows:

1. I am the Controller/Treasurer of the San Francisco Bay Area Rapid Transit
District, a public transit district duly organized and existing under and pursuant to the laws of the
State of California (the “District”).

2. Pursuant to the provisions of the Indenture, dated as of September 1, 2012 (as
supplemented and amended from time to time pursuant to its terms, the “Indenture”), between
the District and U.S. Bank National Association, as trustee (the “Trustee”), I am delivering this
Requisition on behalf of the District. All capitalized terms used and not otherwise defined herein
shall have the meanings assigned to such terms in the Indenture.

3. The undersigned hereby requests that the Trustee pay from the 2016 Costs of
Issuance Fund created pursuant to Section 14.13 of the Indenture the amounts specified in
Schedule 1 hereto to the persons identified in Schedule I.

4. The undersigned, acting on behalf of the District, hereby certifies that:
(a) obligations in the amounts set forth in Schedule | attached hereto have been incurred by the
District and are presently due and payable; (b) each item is a proper charge against the 2016
Costs of Issuance Fund; and (c) each item has not been previously paid from the 2016 Costs of
Issuance Fund.

Dated:

SAN FRANCISCO BAY AREA RAPID
TRANSIT DISTRICT

By:

Controller/Treasurer

OHSUSA:765051581





SCHEDULE I TO REQUISITION NO.

Name and Address Payment Nature of Payment
of Party To Be Paid Amount Expenditure Instructions

OHSUSA:765051581






OH&S Draft #1 — Distributed 05/26/16

$[PRINCIPAL]"
SAN FRANCISCO BAY AREA RAPID TRANSIT DISTRICT
SALES TAX REVENUE BONDS, 2016
REFUNDING SERIES A

OFFICIAL NOTICE OF SALE
(as of , 2016)

NOTICE IS HEREBY GIVEN that electronically submitted proposals will be received
by the San Francisco Bay Area Rapid Transit District (herein called the “District”) on

Wednesday, July 20, 2016

at the hour of 8:00 a.m., California time, for the purchase of ${PRINCIPAL]" aggregate principal
amount of Sales Tax Revenue Bonds designated “San Francisco Bay Area Rapid Transit District
Sales Tax Revenue Bonds, 2016 Refunding Series A” (herein called the “Series 2016 Bonds”), to
be issued pursuant to the Indenture, dated as of September 1, 2012, as supplemented and
amended, including by the Third Supplemental Indenture, to be dated as of August 1, 2016
(hereinafter collectively referred to as the “Indenture”), between the District and U. S. Bank
National Association, as trustee (the “Trustee”). The District reserves the right to postpone to a
later date and/or change to a different time said public sale by announcing such postponement
through the Thomson Municipal Market Monitor (www.TM3.com) (the “News Service”) not
later than 2:00 p.m. (California time) on the day prior to the time bids are to be received. If no
legal bid or bids are received for the Series 2016 Bonds on said date (or such later date as is
established as provided herein) at the time specified, bids will be received for the Series 2016
Bonds on such other date and at such other time as shall be designated through the News Service.
Potential bidders will be notified via the News Service not later than 2:00 p.m. (California time)
on the day prior to the date prescribed for the receipt of bids of any change to the principal
payment schedule for the Series 2016 Bonds to be utilized for the bidding process. As an
accommodation to bidders, telephonic, telecopied or emailed notice of the change of the sale date
or time or of a change in the principal payment schedule will be given to any bidder requesting
such notice to the District’s Financial Advisor, Sperry Capital, Inc., Three Harbor Drive, Suite
101, Sausalito, California 94965; Attn: (Phone: ). Failure of any bidder
to receive such telephonic, telecopied or emailed notice shall not affect the legality of the sale.

Bidders are referred to the Preliminary Official Statement dated , 2016 for
additional information regarding the District, the Series 2016 Bonds and the security therefor,
and other matters. See “OFFICIAL STATEMENT” below.

TERMS RELATING TO THE SERIES 2016 BONDS

Important Note: This notice will be submitted to i-Deal LLC (“i-Deal”) for posting
at the TM3 website and in the Parity bid delivery system. In the event i-Deal’s summary of

“ Preliminary, subject to change.

OHSUSA:765072796.2





the terms of sale of the Bonds disagrees with this Official Notice of Sale (this “Official
Notice of Sale”), in any particulars, the terms of this Official Notice of Sale (as amended, if
necessary, with notice of any amendment hereto to be given as described above) shall
control.

SERIES: $[PRINCIPAL]" aggregate principal amount of Series 2016 Bonds, which are
being issued as fully registered Series 2016 Bonds in denominations of $5,000 or multiples
thereof, provided that no Series 2016 Bond shall represent principal maturing in more than one
year, all dated the date of delivery thereof. The Series 2016 Bonds are the fourth series issued
under the Indenture and additional series of bonds may be issued on a parity with the Bonds on
the terms and subject to the conditions set forth in the Indenture.

INTEREST RATE; PREMIUM OR DISCOUNT BIDS: Interest is payable on
January 1, 2017 and semiannually thereafter on July 1 and January 1 of each year. Bidders must
specify the rate or rates of interest that the Series 2016 Bonds hereby offered for sale shall bear.
Bidders will be permitted to bid different rates of interest; but (i) each interest rate specified in
any bid must be in a multiple of one-eighth or one-twentieth of one percent per annum and a zero
rate of interest cannot be specified; (ii) no Series 2016 Bond shall bear more than one rate of
interest; (iii) each Series 2016 Bond shall bear interest from its dated date to its stated payment
date at the interest rate specified in the bid; (iv) all Series 2016 Bonds payable at any one time
shall bear the same rate of interest; and (v) no rate of interest should exceed five percent (5.00%)
per annum; premium bids must be paid as part of the purchase price, and no bid will be accepted
which contemplates the waiver of any interest or other concession by the bidder as substitute for
payment in full of the purchase price. Bidders may not bid a purchase price of less than 100% of
the aggregate principal amount of the Series 2016 Bonds. Bids that do not conform to the terms
of this section may be rejected. See “TERMS OF SALE - RIGHT OF REJECTION” below.
The District reserves the right to modify or amend the terms of the sale prior to the time bids are
received and to waive any irregularity in bids received.

BOOK-ENTRY ONLY: The Series 2016 Bonds shall be issued in registered form by
means of a book-entry system with no distribution of the Series 2016 Bonds made to the public.
One Series 2016 Bond representing each Bond maturity date and interest rate will be issued to
The Depository Trust Company, New York, New York (“DTC”), registered in the name of
Cede & Co., its nominee. The book-entry system will evidence ownership of the Series 2016
Bonds in the principal amount of $5,000 or any integral multiple thereof, with transfers of
ownership effected on the records of DTC. Delivery of the Bonds will be made through the
facilities of DTC, or through the facilities of the Trustee via FAST transfer, and is presently
expected to take place on or about August __, 2016.

PAYMENT OF DTC FEES AND CALIFORNIA DEBT AND INVESTMENT
ADVISORY COMMISSION FEES: The District will submit or cause to be submitted all
requisite documents to DTC for DTC-eligibility purposes. However, the successful bidder (the
“Purchaser”) of the Series 2016 Bonds will be responsible for payment of all fees charged by
DTC. The Purchaser will also be responsible for paying the fees of the California Debt and

“ Preliminary, subject to change.

OHSUSA:765072796.2





Investment Advisory Commission (“CDIAC”) required by California law (California
Government Code Section 8856).

MATURITY™: The Series 2016 Bonds shall mature on July 1 in each of the years, and
in the amounts, as follows:

Year Year
(July 1) Amount” (July 1) Amount”

2017 $ $
2018
2019
2020
2021
2022
2023
2024
2025
2026
2027
2028
2029
2030
2031
2032
2033
2034
2035
2036
2037

Total $[PRINCIPAL]

ADJUSTMENT OF PRINCIPAL PAYMENTS: The principal amounts set forth in
this Official Notice of Sale reflect certain estimates of the District with respect to the likely
interest rates of the winning bid and the premium and underwriting discount contained in the
winning bid. Potential bidders will be notified via the News Service not later than 2:00 p.m.
(California time) on the business day prior to the date bids are to be received, of any change to
the principal payment schedule for the Series 2016 Bonds to be utilized for the bidding process.
The final maturity schedule will be designed so that the financing objectives of the District will
be met. The District requires that the present value debt service savings be at least five percent
(5.00%) of the principal amount of the Series 2006 A Bonds of the District being refunded that
are outstanding in the principal amount of $ . The District reserves the right to
increase or decrease the aggregate principal amount of the Series 2016 Bonds as necessary for
the District to achieve its refunding objectives, following the submission of the bids. Each
principal payment is subject to increase or decrease in $5,000 increments. The Purchaser may

* Preliminary, subject to change.

OHSUSA:765072796.2





not withdraw its bid or change its interest rates bid as a result of any changes made to the
principal amounts. Subsequent to the adjustment of principal payments, the dollar amount of the
purchase price will be changed so that the net compensation to the Purchaser (expressed as a
percentage of the aggregate principal amount of Series 2016 Bonds) does not increase or
decrease from what it would have been if no adjustment had been made to the principal amounts,
taking into consideration the reoffering yields for the different maturities.

SERIAL BONDS AND/OR TERM BONDS: Bidders may provide that all the Series
2016 Bonds be executed and delivered as Serial Bonds or may provide that any one or more
consecutive annual principal amounts be combined into one or more Term Bonds.

REOFFERING PRICE CERTIFICATE: Immediately upon notification that it has
submitted the winning bid, the Purchaser shall provide the initial offering prices at which it has
offered or reasonably expects to offer all of the Series 2016 Bonds of each maturity to the
general public (excluding bond houses, brokers or similar persons acting in the capacity of
underwriters or wholesalers) in a bona fide public offering. Prior to delivery of the Series 2016
Bonds, the Purchaser shall be required to provide to the District a reoffering price certification in
form and substance similar to the certificate attached as Appendix A to the Official Bid Form. In
addition, based on reasonable request of Orrick, Herrington & Sutcliffe LLP, bond counsel to the
District, the Purchaser will provide information regarding its sales of the Series 2016 Bonds. For
purposes of this paragraph, sales of the Bonds to other securities brokers or dealers will not be
considered sales to the general public.

REDEMPTION™: The Series 2016 Bonds maturing on or before July 1, 2026 are not
subject to redemption prior to their respective stated maturities. The Series 2016 Bonds
maturing on or after July 1, 2027 are subject to redemption prior to their respective stated
maturities at the option of the District from any source of available funds, as a whole or in part
on any date on or after July 1, 2026, at the principal amount of the Series 2016 Bonds called for
redemption plus accrued interest thereon to the date fixed for redemption, without premium.

PURPOSE: The Series 2016 Bonds are to be issued to (i) refund the Series 2006 A
Bonds (as further described in the Preliminary Official Statement) of the District, and (ii) pay
costs of issuance of the Series 2016 Bonds.

SECURITY: The Series 2016 Bonds are payable from, and are secured by a pledge of,
Sales Tax Revenues, as further defined in the Preliminary Official Statement.

TAX-EXEMPT STATUS: In the opinion of Orrick, Herrington & Sutcliffe LLP, bond
counsel to the District (“Bond Counsel”), based upon an analysis of existing laws, regulations,
rulings and court decisions and assuming, among other matters, the accuracy of certain
representations and compliance with certain covenants, interest on the Series 2016 Bonds is
excluded from gross income for federal income tax purposes under Section 103 of the Internal
Revenue Code of 1986 and is exempt from State of California personal income taxes. See
“TAX MATTERS?” in the Preliminary Official Statement. In the event that prior to the
issuance of the Series 2016 Bonds (a) the income received by private owners of bonds of the

“ Preliminary, subject to change.

OHSUSA:765072796.2





same type and character as the Series 2016 Bonds shall be declared to be includable in gross
income (either at the time of such declaration or at any future date) for purposes of federal
income tax laws, either by the terms of such laws or by ruling of a federal income tax authority
or official which is followed by the Internal Revenue Service, or by decision of any federal court,
or (b) any federal income tax law is adopted that will have a substantial adverse tax effect upon
owners of the Series 2016 Bonds as such, the Purchaser may, at its option, prior to the tender of
said Series 2016 Bonds, be relieved of its obligation under the contract to purchase the Series
2016 Bonds, and in such case the deposit accompanying its bid will be returned.

LEGAL OPINIONS: The legal opinion of Bond Counsel, approving the validity of the
Series 2016 Bonds will be furnished to the Purchaser without cost. In addition, the successful
bidder or bidders will receive a disclosure opinion addressed to them regarding the Official
Statement from Bond Counsel to the effect that no facts came to the attention of the attorneys
rendering legal services in connection with the Official Statement that caused Bond Counsel to
believe that the Official Statement as of its date (except for any CUSIP numbers, financial,
accounting, statistical, economic, engineering or demographic data or forecasts, numbers, charts,
tables, graphs, estimates, projections, assumptions or expressions of opinion included or referred
to therein) contained any untrue statement of a material fact or omitted to state any material fact
necessary to make the statements therein, in light of the circumstances under which they were
made, not misleading.

TERMS OF SALE

BEST BID: Unless all bids with respect to the Series 2016 Bonds are rejected, as
described below under “—RIGHT OF REJECTION,” the Series 2016 Bonds will be awarded
to the bidder offering to purchase the Series 2016 Bonds at the lowest true interest cost to the
District. The true interest cost for each bid will be determined on the basis of the aggregate
present value of each semiannual payment. The present value will be calculated to the expected
delivery date of August _ , 2016 and will be based on the bid amount (aggregate principal
amount plus any premium). In the event two or more bids specify the same lowest true interest
cost, then the selection for award of the Series 2016 Bonds will be made among such bidders by
the Financial Advisor by lot. All interest will be computed on a 360-day year 30-day month
basis from August __, 2016, the expected delivery date of the Series 2016 Bonds. The cost of
preparing the Series 2016 Bonds will be borne by the District.

RIGHT OF REJECTION: The District reserves the right, in its discretion, to reject any
and all proposals and to waive any irregularity or informality in any proposals. The District
retains absolute discretion to determine whether any bid is timely, complete or legible. The
District takes no responsibility for informing any bidder prior to the time for receiving bids that
its bid is incomplete, illegible or not received.

PROMPT AWARD: The District will take action awarding the Series 2016 Bonds or
rejecting all bids not later than thirty (30) hours after the expiration of the time herein prescribed
for the receipt of proposals unless such time of award is waived by the Purchaser. Notice of the
award will be given promptly to the Purchaser following preliminary verification of the yields
and the sufficiency of amounts to be deposited in the escrow fund for the Prior Bonds of the
District.

OHSUSA:765072796.2





QUALIFICATION FOR SALE; BLUE SKY: Compliance with Blue Sky laws shall
be the sole responsibility of the Purchaser. The Purchaser will assume responsibility for taking
any action necessary to qualify the Series 2016 Bonds for offer and sale in jurisdictions other
than California, and for complying with the laws of all jurisdictions on resale of the Series 2016
Bonds, and shall indemnify and hold harmless the District, the District and its officers and
officials from any loss or damage resulting from any failure to comply with any such law.

Compliance with Blue Sky laws shall be the sole responsibility of the Purchaser, and the
Purchaser shall pay all fees and disbursements related to the qualification of the Series 2016
Bonds for sale under the securities or Blue Sky laws of various jurisdictions. The District will
furnish such information and take such action not inconsistent with law as the Purchaser may
request and the District shall deem necessary or appropriate to qualify the Series 2016 Bonds for
offer and sale under the Blue Sky or other securities laws and regulations of such states and other
jurisdictions of the United States of America as may be designated by the Purchaser; provided,
however, that the District shall not execute a general or special consent to service of process or
qualify to do business in connection with such qualification or determination in any jurisdiction.
The Purchaser will not offer to sell, or solicit any offer to buy, the Series 2016 Bonds in any
jurisdiction where it is unlawful for such Purchaser to make such offer, solicitation or sale,
and the Purchaser shall comply with the Blue Sky and other securities laws and regulations
of the states and jurisdictions in which the Purchaser sells the Series 2016 Bonds.

DELIVERY AND PAYMENT: Delivery of the Series 2016 Bonds will be made to the
Purchaser through DTC and is expected to occur on August __, 2016. Payment for the Series
2016 Bonds must be made in immediately available funds. Any expense of providing
immediately available funds, whether by transfer of Federal Reserve Bank funds or otherwise,
shall be borne by the Purchaser.

RIGHT OF CANCELLATION: The Purchaser shall have the right, at its option, to
cancel the contract of purchase if the District shall fail to issue the Series 2016 Bonds and tender
the same for delivery within 60 days from the date of sale thereof, and in such event the
Purchaser shall be entitled to the return of the deposit accompanying his bid.

FORM OF BID: All bids must be for not less than all of the Series 2016 Bonds hereby
offered for sale, plus such (net) premium as is specified in the bid. Bids shall specify a price of
not less than the principal amount of the Series 2016 Bonds. Each bid must be delivered by
electronic transmission as described below and be received by 8:00 a.m., California time, on
Wednesday, July 20, 2016 (subject to the limitations set forth in “WARNINGS REGARDING
ELECTRONIC BIDS” immediately below). Each bid must be in accordance with the terms and
conditions set forth in this Official Notice of Sale. Each bid must be accompanied by a Deposit
(see “GOOD FAITH DEPOSIT” below). All bids shall be deemed to incorporate all of the
terms of this Official Notice of Sale.

ELECTRONIC BIDS: Solely as an accommodation to bidders, the District will receive
bids delivered electronically through the following service (the “Bid Service” or “Parity”).

OHSUSA:765072796.2





= iDeal
BIDCOMP Comepetitive Bidding System and Parity Electronic Bid
Submission System
395 Hudson Street
New York, NY 10014
Phone: (212) 806-8304
Fax: (212) 989-9281
Internet address: http://www.tm3.com

If any provision of this Official Notice of Sale conflicts with information provided by the
Bid Service, this Official Notice of Sale shall control. Each bidder submitting an electronic bid
agrees by doing so that it is solely responsible for all arrangements with (including any charges
by) the Bid Service, that the District does not endorse or encourage or the use of the Bid Service,
and that the Bid Service is not acting as an agent of the District. Instructions for submitting
electronic bids must be obtained from the Bid Service, and the District does not assume any
responsibility for ensuring or verifying bidder compliance with the Bid Service’s procedures.
The District shall be entitled to assume that any bid received via the Bid Services has been made
by a duly authorized agent of the bidder.

If a bidder submits an electronic bid for the Series 2016 Bonds, such bidder thereby
agrees to the following terms and conditions: (i) If any provision in this Official Notice of Sale
with respect to the Series 2016 Bonds conflicts with information or terms provided or required
by the Bid Service, this Official Notice of Sale, including any amendments issued through the
News Service, shall control; (ii) each bidder shall be solely responsible for making necessary
arrangements to access the Bid Service for purposes of submitting its bid in a timely manner and
in compliance with the requirements of this Official Notice of Sale; (iii) the District shall not
have any duty or obligation to provide or assure access to the Bid Service to any bidder, and the
District shall not be responsible for proper operation of, or have any liability for, any delays,
interruptions or damages caused by use of the Bid Service or any incomplete, inaccurate or
untimely bid submitted by any bidder through the Bid Service; (iv) the District is using the Bid
Service as a communication mechanism, and not as an agent of the District, to conduct the
electronic bidding for the Series 2016 Bonds; (v) the Bid Service is acting as an independent
contractor, and is not acting for or on behalf of the District; (vi) the District is not responsible for
ensuring or verifying bidder compliance with any procedures established by the Bid Service;
(vii) the District may regard the electronic transmission of a bid through the Bid Service
(including information regarding the purchase price for the Series 2016 Bonds and interest rates
for any maturity of the Series 2016 Bonds) as though the information were submitted on the
Official Bid Form and executed on the bidder’s behalf by a duly authorized signatory; (viii) if the
bidder’s bid is accepted by the District, the Official Bid Form, this Official Notice of Sale and
the information that is transmitted electronically through the Bid Service shall form a contract,
and the bidder shall be bound by the terms of such contract; (ix) information provided by the Bid
Service to bidders shall form no part of any bid or any contract between the Purchaser and the
District unless that information is included in this Official Notice of Sale provided by the
District.

WARNINGS REGARDING ELECTRONIC BIDS: THE DISTRICT WILL
ACCEPT BIDS IN ELECTRONIC FORM SOLELY THROUGH PARITY ON THE OFFICIAL

OHSUSA:765072796.2





BID FORM CREATED FOR SUCH PURPOSE. EACH BIDDER SUBMITTING AN
ELECTRONIC BID UNDERSTANDS AND AGREES BY DOING SO THAT IT IS SOLELY
RESPONSIBLE FOR ALL ARRANGEMENTS WITH PARITY, THAT PARITY IS NOT
ACTING AS AN AGENT OF THE DISTRICT. INSTRUCTIONS AND FORMS FOR
SUBMITTING ELECTRONIC BIDS MUST BE OBTAINED FROM PARITY, AND THE
DISTRICT ASSUMES NO RESPONSIBILITY FOR ENSURING OR VERIFYING BIDDER
COMPLIANCE WITH THE PROCEDURES OF PARITY. THE DISTRICT SHALL ASSUME
THAT ANY BID RECEIVED THROUGH PARITY HAS BEEN MADE BY A DULY
AUTHORIZED AGENT OF THE BIDDER.

THE DISTRICT, THE FINANCIAL ADVISOR AND BOND COUNSEL ASSUME NO
RESPONSIBILITY FOR ANY ERROR CONTAINED IN ANY BID SUBMITTED
ELECTRONICALLY, OR FOR FAILURE OF ANY BID TO BE TRANSMITTED,
RECEIVED OR OPENED AT THE OFFICIAL TIME FOR RECEIPT OF BIDS. THE
OFFICIAL TIME FOR RECEIPT OF BIDS WILL BE DETERMINED BY THE DISTRICT AT
THE PLACE OF BID OPENING AND THE DISTRICT SHALL NOT BE REQUIRED TO
ACCEPT THE TIME KEPT BY PARITY AS THE OFFICIAL TIME. THE DISTRICT
ASSUMES NO RESPONSIBILITY FOR INFORMING ANY BIDDER PRIOR TO THE
DEADLINE FOR RECEIVING BIDS THAT ITS BID IS INCOMPLETE OR NOT
RECEIVED. IN THE EVENT OF A MALFUNCTION IN THE ELECTRONIC BIDDING
PROCESS, BIDDERS SHOULD SUBMIT THEIR BIDS ON THE OFFICIAL BID FORM
ATTACHED HERETO BY FAX TO: , ATTENTION:

GOOD FAITH DEPOSIT: A Good Faith Deposit (“Deposit”) in the form of a certified
or cashier’s check or a wire transfer in the amount of $500,000, payable to the order of the
District, will be due immediately from the bidder as a guarantee that the bidder will accept and
pay for the Series 2016 Bonds in accordance with the terms of the bid. The Deposit must be
made by the successful bidder by 3:30 p.m. on the day following the notification of the award. If
a check is used, it must be delivered no later than the time for submission of an electronic bid to
the District’s offices, 300 Lakeside Drive, 23" Floor, Oakland, California 94612, Attention:
Controller/Treasurer, and be drawn on a bank or trust company having an office in San Francisco
or Los Angeles, California. If the Deposit is made by wire transfer, such wire transfer must be in
immediately available funds and to the account at the wire address specified by the District to the
Purchaser. The Deposit will be applied to the purchase price of the Series 2016 Bonds. If after
the award of the Series 2016 Bonds the Purchaser fails to complete its purchase on the terms
stated in its proposal, the Deposit will be retained by the District. The certified or cashier’s
check accompanying an unaccepted proposal will be returned promptly. No interest on the
Deposit will accrue to any bidder.

STATEMENT OF TRUE INTEREST COST; REOFFERING YIELDS: Each
bidder is requested, but not required, to state in his bid the percentage true interest cost to the
District, which shall be considered as informative only and not binding on either the bidder or
the District. The accepted bidder shall submit a Reoffering Price Certificate in the form attached
as Appendix A to the Official Bid Form, all as described under “REOFFERING PRICE
CERTIFICATE” herein.

OHSUSA:765072796.2





NO LITIGATION: There is no litigation pending concerning the validity of the Series
2016 Bonds, the existence of the District or the District or the entitlement of the officers thereof
to their respective offices, and the District will furnish to the Purchaser a no-litigation certificate
certifying to the foregoing as of and at the time of the delivery of the Series 2016 Bonds.

CUSIP NUMBERS: 1t is anticipated that CUSIP numbers will be printed on the Series
2016 Bonds, but neither failure to print such numbers on any Series 2016 Bond nor any error
with respect thereto shall constitute cause for a failure or refusal by the Purchaser to accept
delivery of and pay for the Series 2016 Bonds in accordance with the terms of this Official
Notice of Sale. All expenses in relation to the printing of CUSIP numbers on the Series 2016
Bonds shall be paid for by the District; provided, however, that the CUSIP Service Bureau
charge for the assignment of said numbers shall be the responsibility of and shall be paid
for by the Purchaser.

CALIFORNIA DEBT AND INVESTMENT ADVISORY COMMISSION FEE:
Attention of bidders is directed to California Government Code Section 8856, which provides
that the lead underwriter or the Purchaser of the Series 2016 Bonds will be charged the
California Debt and Investment Advisory Commission fee.

OFFICIAL STATEMENT: A Preliminary Official Statement has been prepared,
copies of which may be obtained upon request made to the Financial Advisor. The Preliminary
Official Statement shall be “deemed final” by the District prior to the sale date for purposes of
Securities Exchange Commission Rule 15¢2-12(b)(1), but is subject to revision, amendment and
completion in a final Official Statement. A copy of the certificate executed by the District
indicating that the Preliminary Official Statement has been deemed final as of its date will be
provided to potential bidders upon request to the Financial Advisor. The Controller/Treasurer of
the District or her designee has reviewed and will further review the Official Statement and will
certify that as of the date of the final Official Statement, to the best of such officer’s knowledge
and belief, the Official Statement does not contain an untrue statement of a material fact or omit
to state any material fact necessary in order to make the statements made, in the light of the
circumstances under which they were made, not misleading. The District will deliver to the
Purchaser a certificate of the District as to the above, dated the date of delivery of the Series
2016 Bonds, and further certifying that the signatory knows of no material adverse change in the
condition or affairs of the District that would make it unreasonable for the Purchaser to rely upon
the Official Statement in connection with the resale of the Series 2016 Bonds, and authorizing
the Purchaser to distribute copies of the Official Statement in connection with the resale of the
Series 2016 Bonds. The District will furnish to the Purchaser, at no expense to the Purchaser, an
electronic copy of the Official Statement and, upon request, up to __ printed copies of the
Official Statement within seven (7) business days of the award date. Additional copies will be
made available upon request, submitted to the Financial Advisor no later than twenty-four hours
after the time of receipt of bids, at the Purchaser’s expense, for use in connection with any resale
of the Series 2016 Bonds.

By making a bid for the Series 2016 Bonds, the Purchaser agrees (i) to disseminate to all
members of the underwriting syndicate, if any, copies of the final Official Statement, including
any supplements prepared by the District, (ii) to promptly file a copy of the final Official
Statement, including any supplements prepared by the District, with the Municipal Securities

OHSUSA:765072796.2





Rulemaking Board (“MSRB”), and (iii) to take any and all other actions necessary to comply
with applicable Securities and Exchange Commission and MSRB rules governing the offering,
sale and delivery of the Series 2016 Bonds to the ultimate purchasers.

CONTINUING DISCLOSURE: In order to assist bidders in complying with Securities
Exchange Commission Rule 15¢2-12(b)(5) (the “Rule”), the District will undertake, pursuant to
a Continuing Disclosure Agreement, to provide certain annual financial information relating to
the District and notices of the occurrence of certain events, if material. A description of this
undertaking is set forth in the Preliminary Official Statement and will also be set forth in the
Official Statement. The District has not failed within the last five years to comply with its
undertakings under the Rule in any material respect. See “CONTINUING DISCLOSURE” in
the Preliminary Official Statement.

10
OHSUSA:765072796.2





RIGHT TO MODIFY OR AMEND: The District reserves the right to modify or
amend this Official Notice of Sale in any respect; provided, however, that any such modification
or amendment shall be made not later than 2:00 p.m. (California time) on the day prior to the
date bids are to be received and shall be communicated to potential bidders through the News
Service. Failure of any bidder to receive notice of any modification shall not affect the
sufficiency of any such notice.

Dated: , 2016

/sl
Controller/Treasurer,
San Francisco Bay Area Rapid Transit District

11
OHSUSA:765072796.2





OFFICIAL BID FORM

[This bid form is provided solely for the convenience of bidders. Bidders may only submit a bid
electronically through Parity. See “ELECTRONIC BIDS” in the Official Notice of Sale.]

$[PRINCIPAL]"
San Francisco Bay Area Rapid Transit District
Sales Tax Revenue Bonds
2016 Refunding Series A

TO: SAN FRANCISCO BAY AREA BIDDING FIRM’S NAME:
RAPID TRANSIT DISTRICT

Ladies and Gentlemen: DATE: , 2016
As provided in the Official Notice of Sale, dated , 2016 (as revised, the “Official

Notice of Sale”), with regard to this financing, we offer to purchase all $ * aggregate principal

amount of the San Francisco Bay Area Rapid Transit District Sales Tax Revenue Bonds, 2016 Refunding
Series A (“Bonds”), more particularly described in Preliminary Official Statement, dated :
2016. We hereby pay $ which is not less than the principal amount of the Bonds with
principal and interest to be payable in the amounts and at the interest rates set forth below. The Purchase
Price equals the aggregate principal amount of the Bonds ($ *) plus a premium of
$

Schedule of Maturity Dates, Principal Amounts ™, and Interest Rates

(Check One)
Maturity Mandatory™
Date Principal* Serial™ Sinking Fund Interest
(July 1) Component Maturity Prepayment Rate

(=]

2017 $
2018
2019
2020
2021
2022
2023
2024
2025
2026
2027
2028
2029
2030
2031
2032
2033
2034
2035
2036
2037

%o

$[PRINCIPAL]

*

Subject to adjustment as described under “ADJUSTMENT OF PRINCIPAL PAYMENTS.”
Place a check in the appropriate column indicating whether the principal component is a serial maturity or mandatory
sinking fund prepayment. Circle the final maturity of each term Bond specified.

OHSUSA:765072796.2





Our calculation of the true interest cost (determined as described in the section of the Official Notice
of Sale entitled “Best Bid” ), which is considered to be informative only and not a part of the proposal, is
as follows: The total amount of interest payable on the Bonds during the life of the issue under the
attached bid is $ . The amount of premium is $ . The true interest cost is

%.

Check One:

There is enclosed herewith a (certified) (cashier’s) check for $ payable to the
order of the San Francisco Bay Area Rapid Transit District.

We agree to provide a wire transfer by 3:30 p.m. on the day following the notification of the
- award, in the amount of $500,000 in immediately available funds to the account at the wire
address specified by the District to us.

We agree that if we are the successful bidder for the Bonds we will provide the District with a
Final Reoffering Price Certificate in the form attached as Exhibit A hereto.

We hereby represent that as of the date of award and as of the date of delivery of the Bonds, all
members of our account either participate in DTC or clear through or maintain a custodial relationship
with an entity that participates in said depository.

Following is a list of the members of our account Respectfully submitted,
on whose behalf this bid is made.

List of Members of Account: Firm:

Account Manager

By:
Printed Name:
Title:

Address:

Telephone No.:
Fax No.:

OHSUSA:765072796.2





APPENDIX A TO BID FORM

FORM OF REOFFERING PRICE CERTIFICATE"

(the “Underwriter”), in connection with the purchase by it from the
San Francisco Bay Area Rapid Transit District (the “Issuer”) of its Sales Tax Revenue Bonds, 2016
Refunding Series A, in the aggregate principal amount of $ (the “Bonds”), hereby certifies and
represents the following, based upon the information available to it:

1. As of , 2016 (the “Sale Date”), the Underwriter (a) reasonably
expected to make a bona fide offering of all of the Bonds at the prices set forth on the cover of the
Official Statement (the “Initial Offering Prices”) to the general public, and (b) reasonably expected that
the respective Initial Offering Price applicable to each maturity would be the first price at which at least
10% of such maturity of the Bonds would be sold (excluding bond houses, brokers or other similar
persons acting in the capacity of underwriters or wholesalers). At the time the Underwriter agreed to
purchase the Bonds, based upon then prevailing market conditions, we had no reason to believe any of the
Bonds would be initially sold to the general public at initial offering prices greater than (or, in the case of
obligations sold on a yield basis, at initial yields lower than) the Initial Offering Prices.

2. The aggregate of the Initial Offering Prices is $ . The Initial Offering
Prices represent fair market prices for the Bonds as of the Sale Date.

3. As of the date of execution of this Certificate, all of the Bonds have actually been
offered to the general public in a bona fide public offering at the Initial Offering Prices and the first price
at which at least 10% of each maturity of the Bonds has been sold to the general public (excluding such
bond houses, brokers or similar persons or organizations acting in the capacity of underwriters or
wholesalers) was the Initial Offering Prices [except for the maturity(ies)].

[4. With respect to the maturity(ies) of the Bonds listed in the immediately preceding
section, such Bonds were continuously offered to the general public at the Initial Offering Price(s) for a
period of _ hours after the Underwriter was awarded the Bonds (the “Initial Offering Period”), and the
Underwriter made reasonable efforts to sell such Bonds to the general public at the Initial Offering
Price(s) throughout the Initial Offering Period. During the Initial Offering Period such Bonds were not
offered to bond houses, brokers, or similar persons acting in the capacity of underwriters or wholesalers.
Market conditions during the Initial Offering Period prevented a substantial amount of such Bonds from
being sold at or above the Initial Offering Price(s).]

Dated: , 2016 [Name of Purchaser]

Name:
Title:

* To be delivered by the successful bidder as described under “REOFFERING PRICE
CERTIFICATE?” in the Official Notice of Sale.

OHSUSA:765072796.2






OH&S Draft #1 — Distributed 05/31/16

NOTICE OF INTENTION TO SELL
$100,000,000*
SAN FRANCISCO BAY AREA RAPID TRANSIT DISTRICT
(State of California)
SALES TAX REVENUE BONDS
2016 REFUNDING SERIES A

NOTICE IS HEREBY GIVEN that the above Bonds will be offered for public
sale by the San Francisco Bay Area Rapid Transit District (the “District”), State of California, on
Wednesday, July 20, 2016, at the hour of 8:00 A.M., California time (or on such other date and
time as may be determined by the District as provided in the paragraph below), through the
PARITY® electronic bid submission system, subject to all of the terms and conditions of the
Official Notice of Sale describing the Bonds, copies of which (along with a Preliminary Official
Statement relating to the Bonds) may be requested from Sperry Capital Inc., Three Harbor Drive,
Suite 101, Sausalito, CA 94965, Financial Advisor to the District (telephone , fax
(415) 339-6030), or are available to authorized users at the PARITY® website at
www.iDealprospectus.com. Legal Opinion: Orrick, Herrington & Sutcliffe LLP, San Francisco,
California.

The date and time of the Bond sale may be changed at the sole discretion of the
District by providing notice thereof through Thompson Municipal Market Monitor (TM3) as
soon as practicable prior to the then-scheduled sale date and time of the Bonds.

Dated: July 7, 2016.

* Preliminary, subject to change.

OHSUSA:765293350.2






This Preliminary Official Statement and the information contained herein are subject to completion and amendment. Under no circumstances shall this Preliminary Official Statement constitute an offer to sell or the solicitation of

an offer to buy, nor shall there be any sale of these securities, in any jurisdiction in which such offer, solicitation or sale would be unlawful prior to the registration or qualification under the securities laws of such jurisdiction.

OH&S DRAFT 6/2/2016
PRELIMINARY OFFICIAL STATEMENT DATED JULY __, 2016

NEW ISSUE - BOOK-ENTRY ONLY RATINGS: Standard & Poor’s: “_”
Fitch: «_”

See “RATINGS” herein.

In the opinion of Orrick, Herrington & Sutcliffe LLP, Bond Counsel to the District, based upon an analysis of existing laws,
regulations, rulings and court decisions and assuming, among other matters, the accuracy of certain representations and
compliance with certain covenants, interest on the 2016 Series A Bonds is excluded from gross income for federal income tax
purposes under Section 103 of the Internal Revenue Code of 1986 and is exempt from State of California personal income taxes. In
the further opinion of Bond Counsel, interest on the 2016 Series A Bonds is not a specific preference item for purposes of the
federal individual or corporate alternative minimum taxes, although Bond Counsel observes that such interest is included in
adjusted current earnings when calculating corporate alternative minimum taxable income. Bond Counsel expresses no opinion
regarding any other tax consequences related to the ownership or disposition of, or the amount, accrual or receipt of interest on,
the 2016 Series A Bonds. See “TAX MATTERS” herein.

SALES TAX REVENUE BONDS
2016 REFUNDING SERIES A
Dated: Date of Delivery Due: July 1, as shown on the inside cover

The San Francisco Bay Area Rapid Transit District Sales Tax Revenue Bonds, 2016 Refunding Series A (the “2016 Series A
Bonds”) are being issued by the San Francisco Bay Area Rapid Transit District (the “District”) to, along with other District funds,
provide sufficient funds to (i) refund $94,450,000" principal amount of the San Francisco Bay Area Rapid Transit District Sales Tax
Revenue Bonds, Refunding Series 2006A (the “Prior Bonds”), and (ii) fund costs of issuance associated with the 2016 Series A
Bonds. See “PLAN OF REFUNDING” herein. The 2016 Series A Bonds are deliverable in fully registered form and, when issued,
will be registered in the name of Cede & Co., as nominee of The Depository Trust Company, New York, New York (“DTC”).
Individual purchases of the 2016 Series A Bonds will be made in principal amounts of $5,000 and integral multiples thereof and
will be in book-entry-only form. Purchasers of the 2016 Series A Bonds will not receive bonds representing their beneficial
ownership in the 2016 Series A Bonds but will receive a credit balance on the books of their respective DTC Direct Participants or
DTC Indirect Participants. The 2016 Series A Bonds will not be transferable or exchangeable except for transfer to another
nominee of DTC or as otherwise described herein.

BART $ *
m SAN FRANCISCO BAY AREA RAPID TRANSIT DISTRICT

Interest on the 2016 Series A Bonds is payable on January 1 and July 1 of each year, commencing January 1, 2017, and the
principal of the 2016 Series A Bonds is payable July 1 in the amounts and the years set forth on the inside cover by U.S. Bank
National Association, as trustee, to Cede & Co., and such interest and principal payments are to be disbursed to the beneficial
owners of the 2016 Series A Bonds through their respective DTC Direct Participants or DTC Indirect Participants.

The 2016 Series A Bonds are subject to redemption prior to maturity as described herein. See “DESCRIPTION OF THE 2016
SERIES A BONDS” herein.

The 2016 Series A Bonds are special obligations of the District, payable from and secured by a pledge of Sales Tax Revenues
derived from a transaction and use tax levied by the District in Alameda and Contra Costa Counties and the City and County of San
Francisco, as more fully described herein. The 2016 Series A Bonds are issued on a parity with certain other bonds issued by the
District and currently outstanding. See “SECURITY FOR THE 2016 SERIES A BONDS” herein.

BIDS FOR THE PURCHASE OF THE 2016 SERIES A BONDS WILL BE RECEIVED BY THE DISTRICT AT 8:00 A.M.
PACIFIC TIME ON JULY 7, 2016, AS PROVIDED IN THE OFFICIAL NOTICE OF SALE INVITING BIDS DATED JULY 7,
2016, UNLESS POSTPONED AS SET FORTH IN SUCH OFFICIAL NOTICE OF SALE. See “SALE OF THE 2016 SERIES A
BONDS” herein.

This cover page contains certain information for reference only. It is not a summary of this issue. Investors must read
the entire Official Statement to obtain information essential to the making of an informed investment decision.

The 2016 Series A Bonds will be offered when, as and if issued by the District, subject to the approval of validity by Orrick,
Herrington & Sutcliffe LLP, San Francisco, California, Bond Counsel to the District. Certain legal matters will be passed upon for
the District by its General Counsel, Matthew Burrows, Esq., and by Orrick, Herrington & Sutcliffe LLP, Disclosure Counsel to the
District. The 2016 Series A Bonds in book-entry-only form are expected to be delivered through the facilities of DTC on or about
August __, 2016.

" Preliminary, subject to change.

OHSUSA:765024972.2





The date of this Official Statement is ,2016.

OHSUSA:765024972.2





$ *
SAN FRANCISCO BAY AREA RAPID TRANSIT DISTRICT
SALES TAX REVENUE BONDS
2016 REFUNDING SERIES A

MATURITY SCHEDULE"
Maturity CuUsIP?
Date Principal Interest (Base:
(July 1) Amount” Rate Yield 797669)

" Preliminary, subject to change.

fCUsIP® is a registered trademark of the American Bankers Association. CUSIP Global Services (CGS) is managed on behalf of the American Bankers Association
by S&P Capital 1Q. Copyright © 2016 CUSIP Global Services. All rights reserved. CUSIP® data herein is provided by CUSIP Global Services. This data is not
intended to create a database and does not serve in any way as a substitute for the CGS database. CUSIP numbers are provided for convenience only and neither the
District nor the Underwriters takes any responsibility for the accuracy thereof. The CUSIP numbers are subject to being changed after the issuance of the 2016 Series
A Bonds as a result of various subsequent actions, including, but not limited to, a refunding, in whole or in part of the 2016 Series A Bonds.

OHSUSA:765024972.2





This Official Statement does not constitute an offer to sell or solicitation of an offer to buy, nor will there be any offer or solicitation or
sale of the 2016 Series A Bonds by any person in any jurisdiction in which it is unlawful for such person to make such offer, solicitation or sale.
No dealer, broker, salesman or other person has been authorized by the San Francisco Bay Area Rapid Transit District (the “District”) to give any
information or to make any representation other than that contained herein and, if given or made, such other information or representation must
not be relied upon as having been authorized. Neither the delivery of this Official Statement nor the sale of any of the 2016 Series A Bonds
implies that the information herein is correct as of any time subsequent to the date hereof. The information and expressions of opinion herein are
subject to change without notice, and neither the delivery of this Official Statement nor any sale made hereunder will, under any circumstances,
create the implication that there has been no change in the matters described herein since the date hereof.

This Official Statement is not to be construed as a contract with the purchasers of the 2016 Series A Bonds. Statements contained in
this Official Statement which involve estimates, forecasts or matters of opinion, whether or not expressly so described herein, are intended solely
as such and are not to be construed as representations of facts. All summaries of statutes and documents are made subject to the provisions of
such statutes and documents, respectively, and do not purport to be complete statements of any or all of such provisions.

FORWARD LOOKING STATEMENTS

This Official Statement, including the cover and inside cover page and all appendices hereto, contains forecasts, projections and
estimates that are based on current expectations or assumptions. When included in this Official Statement, the words “expects,” “forecasts,”
“projects,” “intends,” “anticipates,” “estimates,” “assumes” and analogous expressions are intended to identify forward-looking statements which
speak only as of the date of this Official Statement. Any such statements inherently are subject to a variety of risks and uncertainties which could
cause actual results to differ materially from those that have been projected. Such risks and uncertainties include, among others, changes in
economic conditions, federal, state and local statutory and regulatory initiatives, litigation, seismic events, and various other events, conditions
and circumstances, many of which are beyond the control of the District. The inclusion in this Official Statement of such forecasts, projections
and estimates should not be regarded as a representation by the District that such forecasts, projections and estimates will occur. Such forecasts,
projections and estimates are not intended as representations of fact or guarantees of results. The District disclaims any obligation or undertaking
to release publicly any updates or revisions to any forward-looking statement contained herein to reflect any changes in the District’s
expectations with regard thereto or any change in events, conditions or circumstances on which any such statement is based.

2 < 2

THE ACHIEVEMENT OF CERTAIN RESULTS OR OTHER EXPECTATIONS CONTAINED IN SUCH FORWARD LOOKING
STATEMENTS INVOLVE KNOWN AND UNKNOWN RISKS, UNCERTAINTIES AND OTHER FACTORS WHICH MAY CAUSE
ACTUAL RESULTS, PERFORMANCE OR ACHIEVEMENTS DESCRIBED TO BE MATERIALLY DIFFERENT FROM ANY FUTURE
RESULTS, PERFORMANCE OR ACHIEVEMENTS EXPRESSED OR IMPLIED BY SUCH FORWARD-LOOKING STATEMENTS. THE
DISTRICT DOES NOT PLAN TO ISSUE ANY UPDATES OR REVISIONS TO THOSE FORWARD-LOOKING STATEMENTS IF OR
WHEN ANY OF ITS EXPECTATIONS, OR EVENTS, CONDITIONS OR CIRCUMSTANCES ON WHICH SUCH STATEMENTS ARE
BASED OCCUR, OTHER THAN AS DESCRIBED UNDER “CONTINUING DISCLOSURE” HEREIN.

This Official Statement is submitted in connection with the sale of securities referred to herein and may not be reproduced or be used,
as a whole or in part, for any other purpose.

The 2016 Series A Bonds have not been registered under the Securities Act of 1933, as amended, in reliance upon an exemption
contained therein, and have not been registered or qualified under the securities laws of any state.

The District maintains a website. References to website addresses presented herein are for informational purposes only and may be in
the form of a hyperlink solely for the reader’s convenience. Unless specifically indicated otherwise, such websites and the information or links
contained therein are not incorporated into, and are not part of, this Official Statement and should not be relied upon in making investment
decisions with respect to the 2016 Series A Bonds.

IN CONNECTION WITH THE OFFERING OF THE 2016 SERIES A BONDS, THE UNDERWRITERS MAY OVER-ALLOT OR
EFFECT TRANSACTIONS THAT STABILIZE OR MAINTAIN THE MARKET PRICE OF THE 2016 SERIES A BONDS AT A LEVEL
ABOVE THAT WHICH MIGHT OTHERWISE PREVAIL IN THE OPEN MARKET. SUCH STABILIZING, IF COMMENCED, MAY BE
DISCONTINUED AT ANY TIME. THE UNDERWRITERS MAY OFFER AND SELL THE 2016 SERIES A BONDS TO CERTAIN
DEALERS AND DEALER BANKS AND BANKS ACTING AS AGENT AT PRICES LOWER THAN THE PUBLIC OFFERING PRICES
STATED ON THE COVER PAGE HEREOF, AND SAID PUBLIC OFFERING PRICES MAY BE CHANGED FROM TIME TO TIME BY
THE UNDERWRITERS.

[BART System Map to be inserted]

OHSUSA:765024972.2





OHSUSA:765024972.2

SAN FRANCISCO BAY AREA RAPID TRANSIT DISTRICT

300 Lakeside Drive, 23rd Floor
Oakland, California 94612

BOARD OF DIRECTORS

Tom Radulovich Gail Murray John McPartland
President Vice President Director
Nicholas Josefowitz Joel Keller Zakhary Mallett
Director Director Director
Thomas Blalock Robert Raburn Rebecca Saltzman
Director Director Director
OFFICERS

Grace Crunican — General Manager
Rosemarie V. Poblete — Controller/Treasurer
Kenneth A. Duron — District Secretary
Mark P. Smith — Independent Police Auditor

GENERAL COUNSEL
Matthew Burrows, Esq.

TRUSTEE

U.S. Bank National Association
San Francisco, California

BOND COUNSEL AND DISCLOSURE COUNSEL

Orrick, Herrington & Sutcliffe LLP
San Francisco, California

FINANCIAL ADVISOR

Sperry Capital Inc.
Sausalito, California

[VERIFICATION AGENT]





TABLE OF CONTENTS

INTRODUCGTION ..ottt ettt ettt ettt sttt et b e bttt b e et es e e bt e bt et e b e s e et e st eeteut e bt eb e st et esteatebeebenb et enteseeneebeerens 1
GENETAL ..ot
Authority for Issuance and Purpose and Application of Proceeds .....
SECULILY oottt ettt et
References.........

PLAN OF REFUNDING.......ccccctiiriiieieieieieeeeeie e

DESCRIPTION OF THE 2016 SERIES A BONDS ...
GEMETAL ..ttt ettt ettt e h bt bttt a e h e b et h ekt e h ettt a e bt bt st ettt eae et ebe 5
OPtional REAEMPLION ......o.eiuiiiiitiiiieici ettt ettt ettt e b et a et a e et aeeae st be st et eneeneas 5
Selection of Bonds for Redemption ....
Mandatory REAEMPIION. ......eiuieieetieierieeiesttetesteete e et e et esbeeteestesteessesseessesseesseseessenseassenseenseseessensessseseassensasssensenssensn 5
Purchase In Lieu 0f ReAEMPLION ......c.eiiiiiiiiiitiiee ettt ettt sttt es bt sb et e te e eneeneanens 6
Notice of Redemption
BOOK-ENtIY-OnLY SYSEEIM. ....ctiiiiitiiieiiiiet ettt et b et e bt e at e bt e a et e e st e bt e st e sbeesee bt eabenbesmtenbesneenee
Payments Upon Abandonment of Book-Entry-Only SyStem..........ccccoiiiiiiiiiiiniiiiiieiesieeei ettt
Transfers and Exchanges Upon Abandonment of Book-Entry-Only System..

ESTIMATED SOURCES AND USES OF FUNDS.......ootttiittiitieiriet ittt ettt ettt steststesestesessebetesenessesessesensenens

DEBT SERVICE REQUIREMENTS ...ttt ettt ettt b bbb b ettt b e ea et b et eneene s

SECURITY FOR THE 2016 SERIES A BONDS
GENETAL ettt b et b et e bt e a e b e st h e e h e h e bt e bt e h e bttt h e e st eb e e a e bt e e ne bt et e nbe e bt enaeenten
SALES TAX REVEIUES ...ttt ettt ettt s st e bt bt e b et et e st e st es e ek e e b e et e b e e emeese e st ese et e benbeneeneeneenene
Application of Sales Tax Revenues ....
Bond Reserve Fund..........cccccoceeeennenne
Additional Bonds and Parity Debt ..
Subordinate Obligations..................
Special Obligations....................

INVESTMENT CONSIDERATIONS.......ccooieiirieirieeeieiereeieenes
Economy of the Three BART Counties and the State....
Bankruptcy......coceue.e.
Risk of Earthquake....................

Other FOTce Majeure EVEINLS .......oouiiiiiiiiiieiieeetet ettt ettt ettt ettt st e bt bt et steebt et sbeenbesbtebesbeentesbeeneas
Threats and AcCtS O TEITOTISIT ......coueoviiiiiiriirtert ettt sttt ettt b e sttt ettt a e sa ettt ebe b s b aen e et ebeeae e
Changes in Taxable Items
Effect of Growth in INternet COMMETTE. ........cueuiiuiriiitiriirteieteieteet sttt ettt sttt ettt et b ettt be e e
Constitutional Limitations On APPIOPIIAtIONS......ccueeuieruereerierreerierseetesteetessestesseesaessesseessessaessesseessessasssesseessessesssessessees
Proposition 218 and Proposition 26
FULTRET TNItIATIVES ...ttt ettt b et e s e st e bt b e b e e e st es e e a e es e eb e e b e et et eneeneese et e ebeseneeneeneenene
Potential Labor DISTUPLIONS .......eoueueieieiiitiitertet ettt ettt ettt ee et e s b et e e s e e st eteabesbeste e eneeneeseebeaseseneeneeneeeeane
No Acceleration Provision
L0SS OF TaX EXCIMIPIION . ..coutiiieniiitiete sttt ettt ettt et ettt et e h e et e s bt et e e bt e beeb e et e eat et e sbeenbesbeensesbeeneas

LEGAL MATTERS. ...ttt ettt sttt etttk b e et es et b ekt s b e st b e bt b et e b e st e b e st et e s et eb et e b et e b es e et ese st eb et et et abesenne

TAX MATTERS

ABSENCE OF MATERIAL LITIGATION ..ottt ettt sttt b ettt et ettt bt et eseene e e

RATINGS ...ttt h bttt s e a e bt e bt s bttt e st e bt e bt e bt e e e 4t b et a s e st eb e e bt e bt b et em e e st ebeebe e b et et eneeseeneeeene

FINANCIAL ADVISOR ................

CONTINUING DISCLOSURE......

SALE OF SERIES 2016 A BONDS.......ccccceoieiiieieieieee

[VERIFICATION OF MATHEMATICAL ACCURACY ..

FINANCIAL STATEMENTS....

MISCELLANEOUS ..ottt eb e s sa s b
APPENDIX A SAN FRANCISCO BAY AREA RAPID TRANSIT DISTRICT FINANCIAL AND

OPERATING INFORMATION.......oiiiiiiiiiieieieiteeteteet ettt sttt A-1
APPENDIX B SAN FRANCISCO BAY AREA RAPID TRANSIT DISTRICT REPORT ON AUDITS OF

FINANCIAL STATEMENTS FOR THE YEARS ENDED JUNE 30, 2015 AND 2014 ..........ccc.c.... B-1
APPENDIX C SAN FRANCISCO BAY AREA RAPID TRANSIT DISTRICT STATEMENT OF

INVESTMENT POLICY ..o C-1
APPENDIX D SUMMARY OF CERTAIN PROVISIONS OF THE INDENTURE AND THE 1990

INDENTURE RESERVE FUND ......cooiiiiiiiiiiieeeeenete et D-1
APPENDIX E THE ECONOMY OF THE THREE BART COUNTIES.......c.cccciitiiiiiiiiiiniencceeeeeee e E-1
APPENDIX F DTC AND THE BOOK-ENTRY-ONLY SYSTEM .....coiiiiiiiiiiiiiieteceeeeese et F-1
APPENDIX G PROPOSED FORM OF CONTINUING DISCLOSURE AGREEMENT ..........c.cccccoviiiininiiiiiiice G-1

i

OHSUSA:765024972.2





APPENDIX H

OHSUSA:765024972.2

PROPOSED FORM OF OPINION OF BOND COUNSEL

il





OFFICIAL STATEMENT

$ .
SAN FRANCISCO BAY AREA RAPID TRANSIT DISTRICT
SALES TAX REVENUE BONDS
2016 REFUNDING SERIES A

INTRODUCTION
General

The purpose of this Official Statement, which includes the cover page and appendices hereto, is
to set forth certain information in connection with the issuance by the San Francisco Bay Area Rapid
Transit District (the “District” or “BART”) of $ " aggregate principal amount of San Francisco
Bay Area Rapid Transit District Sales Tax Revenue Bonds, 2016 Refunding Series A (the “2016 Series A
Bonds™).

The District was created in 1957 pursuant to the laws of the State of California (the “State”) to
provide rapid transit service in the San Francisco Bay area. The District is composed of all of the area in
the Counties of Alameda and Contra Costa and the City and County of San Francisco and owns additional
property and extends service in the County of San Mateo. The District’s transit system extends over 100
miles and is the major transit provider of transbay traffic from the East Bay to downtown San Francisco,
averaging over 221,000 transbay passengers each weekday and over 125 million passengers annually. The
District is governed by an elected board of directors consisting of nine members. For additional
information concerning the District, see APPENDIX A — “SAN FRANCISCO BAY AREA RAPID
TRANSIT DISTRICT FINANCIAL AND OPERATING INFORMATION.”

Authority for Issuance and Purpose and Application of Proceeds

The 2016 Series A Bonds are to be issued pursuant to the laws of the State of California,
including Article 2, Chapter 7, Part 2, Division 10 of the California Public Utilities Code, as amended
from time to time, and applicable portions of the Revenue Bond Law of 1941, as amended from time to
time and Articles 10 and 11 of Chapter 3, Part 1 of Division 2 of Title 5 of the Government Code
(collectively, the “Act”) and pursuant to a Master Indenture, dated as of September 1, 2012 (the “Master
Indenture”), between the District and U.S. Bank National Association, as trustee (the “Trustee”), as
supplemented and amended (the “Indenture”) including as supplemented by the Third Supplemental
Indenture, dated as of August 1, 2016 (the “Third Supplemental Indenture”), between the District and the
Trustee.

Bonds issued under the Indenture will be parity debt to the outstanding bonds issued pursuant to
the indenture dated as of July 1, 1990 (as supplemented and amended, the “1990 Indenture”), between the
District and U.S. Bank National Association, as successor trustee. Unlike the 1990 Indenture, the
Indenture does not require that each Series of Bonds be secured by a reserve fund. See APPENDIX D —
“SUMMARY OF CERTAIN PROVISIONS OF THE INDENTURE AND THE 1990 INDENTURE
RESERVE FUND.”

* Preliminary, subject to change.

OHSUSA:765024972.2





Security

General. The 2016 Series A Bonds are special obligations of the District, payable from and
secured by a pledge of sales tax revenues derived from a seventy-five percent (75%) portion of a
transactions and use tax levied by the District in Alameda and Contra Costa Counties and the City and
County of San Francisco in an amount equal to one-half of one percent (0.5%) of gross retail receipts, as
more fully described herein. See “SECURITY FOR THE 2016 SERIES A BONDS.”

Outstanding Bonds. The 2016 Series A Bonds are issued on a parity with certain outstanding
bonds of the District issued pursuant to the parity 1990 Indenture and the Indenture. The outstanding
bonds consist of the San Francisco Bay Area Rapid Transit District Sales Tax Revenue Bonds, Refunding
Series 2006A (the “Series 2006A Bonds”) issued in the principal amount of $108,110,000, of which $§[ ]
are Outstanding, the San Francisco Bay Area Rapid Transit District Sales Tax Revenue Bonds, Refunding
Series 2010 (the “Series 2010 Bonds”) issued in the principal amount of $129,595,000, of which $[ ] are
Outstanding, the San Francisco Bay Area Rapid Transit District Sales Tax Revenue Bonds, Refunding
Series 2012A (the “Series 2012A Bonds”) issued in the principal amount of $130,475,000, of which $§[ ]
are Outstanding, the San Francisco Bay Area Rapid Transit District Sales Tax Revenue Bonds, Refunding
Series 2012B (the “Series 2012B Bonds”) issued in the principal amount of $111,085,000, of which $[ ]
are Outstanding, and the San Francisco Bay Area Rapid Transit District Sales Tax Revenue Bonds, 2015
Refunding Series A (the “Series 2015A Bonds™) issued in the principal amount of $186,640,000, of
which $[ ] are Outstanding. The 2016 Series A Bonds are being issued to refund the Series 2006A
Bonds. The Series 2006A Bonds, the Series 2010 Bonds, the Series 2012A Bonds, the Series 2012B
Bonds, the Series 2015A Bonds and the 2016 Series A Bonds, together with any future series of parity
bonds, are hereinafter collectively referred to as the “Bonds.”

References

This Introduction is not a summary of this Official Statement. It is only a brief description of and
guide to the entire contents of this Official Statement, including the cover page and appendices hereto,
and the documents summarized or described herein, a full review of which should be made by potential
investors. All descriptions and summaries of various documents hereinafter set forth do not purport to be
comprehensive or definitive, and reference is made to each document for complete details of all terms and
conditions. All statements herein are qualified in their entirety by reference to each document. The
offering of the 2016 Series A Bonds is made only by means of this entire Official Statement and is subject
in all respects to the information contained herein. All capitalized terms used and not otherwise defined
herein will have the meanings assigned to such terms in APPENDIX D — “SUMMARY OF CERTAIN
PROVISIONS OF THE INDENTURE AND THE 1990 INDENTURE RESERVE FUND - Definitions”
or, if not defined therein, in the Indenture.

PLAN OF REFUNDING

The District intends to apply the proceeds of the 2016 Series A Bonds, together with other funds
of the District, to current refund $94,450,000" principal amount of the Series 2006A Bonds and to pay
costs of issuance of the 2016 Series A Bonds. The Series 2006A Bonds to be refunded by a portion of the
2016 Series A Bonds are hereinafter referred to as the “Prior Bonds.” The Prior Bonds that will be
defeased upon issuance of the 2016 Series A Bonds are listed below. See “ESTIMATED SOURCES
AND USES OF FUNDS” [and “VERIFICATION OF MATHEMATICAL ACCURACY.”]

The moneys required to refund the Prior Bonds will be derived from the net proceeds of the 2016
Series A Bonds and other available funds. The Prior Bonds are expected to be redeemed on ,

* Preliminary, subject to change.

OHSUSA:765024972.2





2016. Pursuant to the Escrow Agreement to be entered into between the District and the U.S. Bank
National Association, as escrow agent for the Series 2006A Bonds (the “Escrow Agent”), such moneys
will be deposited in the escrow fund established for the Prior Bonds (the “Escrow Fund”) and held in cash
or applied to purchase direct obligations of the United States of America (the “Government Securities”) to
the redemption date. [The Government Securities will be purchased and held by the Escrow Agent in the
Escrow Fund in an amount sufficient to redeem the Prior Bonds to be refunded on the redemption date, at
a redemption price equal to the principal amount of the Prior Bonds to be redeemed, plus interest thereon
to the redemption date. See “VERIFICATION OF MATHEMATICAL ACCURACY.”]

(Remainder of This Page Intentionally Left Blank)

OHSUSA:765024972.2





The Prior Bonds that the District expects to defease in whole upon issuance of the 2016 Series A
Bonds are set forth below.

San Francisco Bay Area Rapid Transit District
Sales Tax Revenue Bonds, Series 2006A"
Redemption Date: , 2016"
Redemption Price: 100%

Maturity Date CcusIpt
(July 1) Interest Rate Principal Amount (Base: 797669)
2017 4.000% $1,105,000 RNO
2018 4.000 1,520,000 RP5
2019 4.000 3,485,000 RQ3
2020 4.125 3,630,000 RRI
2021 4.125 3,780,000 RS9
2022 4.125 3,940,000 RT7
2023 4.250 4,115,000 RU4
2024 4.250 4,290,000 RV2
2025 4.250 4,475,000 RWO
2026 4.250 4,670,000 RX8
2027 4.250 4,870,000 RY6
2029* 4.250 10,395,000 RZ3
2031% 4250 11,310,000 SA7
2033* 4250 12,315,000 SB5
2036 4.250 20,550,000 SC3

* Preliminary, subject to change.

T CUSIP® is a registered trademark of the American Bankers Association. CUSIP Global Services (CGS) is managed on behalf of the American
Bankers Association by S&P Capital 1Q. Copyright © 2016 CUSIP Global Services. All rights reserved. CUSIP® data herein is provided by
CUSIP Global Services. This data is not intended to create a database and does not serve in any way as a substitute for the CGS database.
CUSIP numbers are provided for convenience only and neither the District nor the Underwriters takes any responsibility for the accuracy
thereof. The CUSIP numbers are subject to being changed as a result of various subsequent actions, including, but not limited to, a refunding,
in whole or in part of the 2016 Series A Bonds.

# Term Bonds.

OHSUSA:765024972.2





DESCRIPTION OF THE 2016 SERIES A BONDS
General

The 2016 Series A Bonds will be dated as of their date of issuance and mature at the times and in
the principal amounts as set forth on the inside cover page of this Official Statement. Interest on the 2016
Series A Bonds will be payable on January 1 and July 1 of each year, commencing January 1, 2017.
Interest on the 2016 Series A Bonds will be computed on the basis of a 360-day year of twelve 30-day
months.

The 2016 Series A Bonds will be delivered in fully registered form only and, when issued, will be
registered in the name of Cede & Co., as nominee of The Depository Trust Company, New York, New
York (“DTC”). DTC will act as securities depository for the 2016 Series A Bonds. Beneficial Ownership
interests in the 2016 Series A Bonds may be purchased by or through a DTC Participant (as described
below) in book-entry-only form in denominations of $5,000 or any integral multiple thereof. See
APPENDIX F —“DTC AND THE BOOK-ENTRY-ONLY SYSTEM.”

Optional Redemption”

The 2016 Series A Bonds maturing on or before July 1, 2026 are not subject to redemption prior
to their stated maturities. The 2016 Series A Bonds maturing on or after July 1, 2027 will be subject to
redemption prior to their respective stated maturities, at the option of the District, from any source of
available funds, as a whole or in part, on any date on or after July 1, 2026, at the principal amount of 2016
Series A Bonds called for redemption plus interest accrued thereon to the date fixed for redemption
without premium.

Selection of Bonds for Redemption

The District will designate which maturities of 2016 Series A Bonds are to be called for
redemption pursuant to the Indenture. If less than all of the 2016 Series A Bonds maturing on a specific
maturity date are called for redemption, the Trustee will select the 2016 Series A Bonds of such maturity
to be redeemed from the outstanding 2016 Series A Bonds of such maturity not previously called for
redemption, in minimum denominations of $5,000 (of principal), by lot in any manner which the Trustee
in its sole discretion deems appropriate.

Mandatory Redemption®

The 2016 Series A Bonds which are Term Bonds maturing on July 1, 20 will also be subject to
redemption in part, by lot, from Mandatory Sinking Account Payments required by the Indenture on each
July 1 on or after July 1, 20__, at the principal amount of the 2016 Series A Bonds to be redeemed plus
accrued interest, if any, to the redemption date. Such Mandatory Sinking Account Payments will be
sufficient to redeem (or pay at maturity) the following principal amounts of such 2016 Series A Bonds on
the dates set forth below:

* Preliminary, subject to change.

OHSUSA:765024972.2





Sinking Account

Payment Date Sinking Account
(July 1) Payment

Pursuant to the Indenture, money in the Sinking Accounts may be used to purchase 2016 Series A
Bonds which are Term Bonds maturing on July 1, 20, in lieu of mandatory redemption.

Purchase In Lieu of Redemption

Pursuant to the Indenture, the District has the option to purchase the 2016 Series A Bonds at any
time that the 2016 Series A Bonds are subject to optional redemption as provided in the Indenture at a
purchase price equal to the redemption price then applicable to such 2016 Series A Bonds in which case
such 2016 Series A Bonds purchased in lieu of redemption may be remarketed and would remain
outstanding after such purchase. See APPENDIX D — “SUMMARY OF CERTAIN PROVISIONS OF
THE INDENTURE AND THE 1990 INDENTURE RESERVE FUND.”

Notwithstanding the foregoing, the District always retains the right to purchase the 2016 Series A
Bonds in the open market, at market rates, for cancellation.

Notice of Redemption

Notice of any redemption of 2016 Series A Bonds will be mailed by the Trustee by first class
mail to the Owner of any 2016 Series A Bonds designated for redemption at least 20 but not more than 60
days prior to the redemption date (but failure to receive any such notice or any defect therein will not
affect the sufficiency of the redemption proceedings).

With respect to any notice of optional redemption of 2016 Series A Bonds delivered pursuant to
the Indenture, unless, upon the giving of such notice, such 2016 Series A Bonds will be deemed to have
been paid within the meaning of the Indenture, such notice will state that such redemption will be
conditional upon the receipt by the Trustee on or prior to the date fixed for such redemption of amounts
sufficient to pay the principal of, and premium, if any, and interest on, such 2016 Series A Bonds to be
redeemed, and that if such amounts will not have been so received said notice will be of no force and
effect and the District will not be required to redeem such 2016 Series A Bonds. In the event that such
notice of redemption contains such a condition and such amounts are not so received, the redemption will
not be made and the Trustee will within a reasonable time thereafter give notice to the Owners to the
effect that such amounts were not so received and such redemption was not made, such notice to be given
by the Trustee in the same manner and to the same parties, as notice of such redemption was given
pursuant to the Indenture.

Any notice given pursuant to the Indenture (other than a notice given in connection with a
mandatory sinking account redemption) may be rescinded by written notice given to the Trustee by the
District no later than the date specified for redemption. The Trustee will give notice of such rescission as
soon thereafter as practicable in the same manner, and to the same parties, as notice of such redemption
was given pursuant to the Indenture.

OHSUSA:765024972.2





Book-Entry-Only System

As noted above, DTC will act as securities depository for the 2016 Series A Bonds. See
APPENDIX F —“DTC AND THE BOOK-ENTRY-ONLY SYSTEM.”

Payments of interest on, principal of and premium, if any, on the 2016 Series A Bonds will be
made to DTC or its nominee, Cede & Co., as registered owner of the 2016 Series A Bonds. Each such
payment to DTC or its nominee will be valid and effective to fully discharge all liability of the District or
the Trustee with respect to the principal, redemption price of or interest on the 2016 Series A Bonds to the
extent of the sum or sums so paid.

The District and the Trustee cannot and do not give any assurances that DTC Participants or DTC
Indirect Participants will distribute to the Beneficial Owners (i) payments of interest and principal with
respect to the 2016 Series A Bonds, (ii) confirmation of ownership interests in the 2016 Series A Bonds,
or (iii) redemption or other notices sent to DTC or Cede & Co., its nominee, as Owner of the 2016 Series
A Bonds, or that they will do so on a timely basis.

Payments Upon Abandonment of Book-Entry-Only System

In the event that the book-entry-only system ceases to be used with respect to the 2016 Series A
Bonds, payment of interest on the 2016 Series A Bonds will be made by check mailed by first class mail
on each interest payment date to the Owners thereof as of the close of business on the fifteenth (15th) day
of the calendar month immediately preceding such interest payment date; provided, however, that Owners
of at least $1,000,000 aggregate principal amount of 2016 Series A Bonds may, at any time prior to the
fifteenth day of the calendar month immediately preceding such interest payment date, give the Trustee
written instructions for payment of such interest on each succeeding interest payment date by wire
transfer. Principal of, and premium, if any, on the 2016 Series A Bonds will be payable at the corporate
trust office of the Trustee designated for such purpose. The 2016 Series A Bonds will be in the form of
fully registered Bonds and will be issued in denominations of $5,000 or any integral multiple thereof.

Transfers and Exchanges Upon Abandonment of Book-Entry-Only System

The book-entry-only system for registration of the ownership of the 2016 Series A Bonds in
book-entry-only form may be discontinued at any time if: (1) after notice to the District and the Trustee,
DTC determines to resign as securities depository for the 2016 Series A Bonds; or (2) after notice to DTC
and the Trustee, the District determines that a continuation of the system of book-entry transfers through
DTC (or through a successor securities depository) is not in the best interests of the District. In each of
such events (unless, in the case described in clause (1) above, the District appoints a successor securities
depository), the 2016 Series A Bonds will be delivered in such denominations and registered in the names
of such persons as are requested in a certificate of the District, but without any liability on the part of the
District or the Trustee for the accuracy of such designation. Whenever DTC requests the District and the
Trustee to do so, the District and the Trustee will cooperate with DTC in taking appropriate action after
reasonable notice to arrange for another securities depository to maintain custody of or to print bonds
evidencing the 2016 Series A Bonds. Thereafter, all 2016 Series A Bonds are transferable or
exchangeable as described in the Indenture.

OHSUSA:765024972.2





ESTIMATED SOURCES AND USES OF FUNDS

Set forth below are the estimated sources and uses of funds in connection with the 2016 Series A
Bonds:

Sources of Funds:

Principal Amount of 2016 Series A Bonds $
[Net] Original Issue Premium/Discount

Funds Released from 1990 Indenture

Total Sources: $
Uses of Funds:
Refunding Escrow Deposits'"

Costs of Issuance®

Total Uses: $

M See “PLAN OF REFUNDING.”

@ TIncludes purchaser’s discount, rating agency fees, trustee fees, trustee counsel fees, escrow agent fees and expenses, [verification agent
fees,] printing costs, Bond and Disclosure Counsel and Financial Advisor fees and expenses and other miscellaneous expenses.

(Remainder of This Page Intentionally Left Blank)

OHSUSA:765024972.2





DEBT SERVICE REQUIREMENTS

The debt service requirements for the Outstanding Series 2006A Bonds, the Series 2010 Bonds,
the Series 2012A Bonds, the Series 2012B Bonds, and the Series 2015A Bonds are shown in the
following table. The District expects to refund $94,450,000" principal amount of the Prior Bonds listed
below with the proceeds of the 2016 Series A Bonds.

Outstanding Sales Tax BondsV

[To be updated]

2016 Series A Bonds

Total Bond
Fiscal Year 1990 2012 Principal Interest Total® Debt Service®
2016 $ 33,989,406 $17,355,979 $51,345,385
2017 14,237,813 37,759,902 51,997,715
2018 13,896,563 38,353,705 52,250,268
2019 14,254,863 38,278,021 52,532,884
2020 23,119,213 29,430,842 52,550,055
2021 23,111,894 29,585,734 52,697,628
2022 28,451,938 24,358,983 52,810,921
2023 28,433,088 24,467,415 52,900,503
2024 28,416,006 24,616,984 53,032,990
2025 15,591,275 37,572,168 53,163,443
2026 15,575,394 37,774,538 53,349,932
2027 15,569,563 37,854,921 53,424,484
2028 15,562,338 38,011,104 53,573,442
2029 15,557,438 38,157,079 53,714,517
2030 7,295,169 21,972,275 29,267,444
2031 7,294,819 22,133,771 29,428,590
2032 7,294,481 22,320,137 29,614,618
2033 7,293,731 22,503,565 29,797,296
2034 7,297,038 22,692,243 29,989,281
2035 7,293,975 19,397,473 26,691,448
2036 7,299,013 14,417,647 21,716,660
2037 7,291,725 14,558,443 21,850,168
2038 - 6,337,684 6,337,684
2039 - 6,333,297 6,333,297
2040 - 6,329,478 6,329,478
2041 - 6,325,799 6,325,799
2042 - 6,316,939 6,316,939
2043 - 6,312,468 6,312,468
TOTAL® $ 344,126,738 $ 651,528,594 $995,655,332

M Includes debt service on the Prior Bonds to be refunded by 2016 Series A Bonds.

@ Totals may not add due to rounding.

* Preliminary, subject to change.

OHSUSA:765024972.2





SECURITY FOR THE 2016 SERIES A BONDS
General

The 2016 Series A Bonds are special obligations of the District payable from and secured by a
pledge of sales tax revenues, comprised of seventy-five percent (75%) of the amounts derived from a one-
half of one percent (0.5%) transactions and use tax (the “Sales Tax” or the “District Sales Tax”) imposed
within Alameda and Contra Costa Counties and the City and County of San Francisco (collectively, the
“Three BART Counties”) pursuant to Section 29140 of the California Public Utilities Code, after
deduction by the California State Board of Equalization (the “State Board of Equalization™) of its fee for
administering the Sales Tax (such sales tax revenues being hereinafter referred to as the “Sales Tax
Revenues™). See “— Sales Tax Revenues” below.

Only Sales Tax Revenues are pledged by the District for the payment of principal of, redemption
premium, if any, and interest on the 2016 Series A Bonds and no other revenues of the District are
pledged to repayment of the Bonds, including the 2016 Series A Bonds. The payment of principal of,
redemption premium, if any, and interest on the 2016 Series A Bonds is on a parity with the payment of
principal of, redemption premium, if any, and interest on and reserve requirements of all Bonds
Outstanding under the Indenture and the 1990 Indenture and any Additional Bonds and Parity Obligations
hereafter issued by the District pursuant to the Indenture. As of [ ] 1, 2016, the District has $[ ]
aggregate principal amount of Bonds Outstanding.

“Parity Obligations” means any indebtedness, bond, installment sale obligation, lease obligation
or other obligation of the District for borrowed money or interest rate swap agreement (but only as to the
regular payments thereunder, fees, expenses and termination payments being subordinate obligations)
having an equal lien and charge upon the Sales Tax Revenues and therefore payable on a parity with the
Bonds (whether or not any Bonds are Outstanding). The District currently has no Parity Obligations
outstanding other than the Bonds and certain reserve fund surety bond contracts under the 1990 Indenture,
and all its outstanding issues of Bonds bear interest at fixed interest rates.

The District has covenanted in the Indenture not to create any pledge, lien or charge on Sales Tax
Revenues having priority over the lien of the Bonds. The District has also covenanted in the Indenture
not to create any pledge, lien or charge on Sales Tax Revenues on a parity with the lien of the Bonds and
Parity Obligations except as described under “SECURITY FOR THE 2016 SERIES A BONDS -
Additional Bonds and Parity Debt” and “- Subordinated Obligations.”

Sales Tax Revenues

The District is authorized by Section 29140 of the California Public Utilities Code to levy, within
the Three BART Counties, the Sales Tax, which is a transactions tax of one-half of one percent (0.5%) of
the gross receipts of retailers from the sale of tangible personal property sold at retail in the Three BART
Counties and a use tax at the same rate upon the storage, use or other consumption in the Three BART
Counties of such property purchased from any retailer for storage, use or other consumption in the Three
BART Counties, subject to certain limited exceptions.

Collection of the Sales Tax is administered by the State Board of Equalization. The State Board
of Equalization is authorized to charge a fee for collection of the Sales Tax, and the fee is determined
pursuant to State legislation. For Fiscal Year 2015-16, the State Board of Equalization fee was $[ _].

After deducting its fee, the State Board of Equalization is required by statute to allocate
seventy-five percent (75%) of the Sales Tax receipts to the District. The remaining twenty-five percent
(25%) of the Sales Tax collected by the State Board of Equalization is allocated by the Metropolitan

10
OHSUSA:765024972.2





Transportation Commission (“MTC”), on the basis of regional priorities established by MTC, among the
District, the City and County of San Francisco for the San Francisco Municipal Transportation Agency,
which includes buses, street cars, cable cars and electric trolley buses, and the Alameda-Contra Costa
Transit District (“AC Transit”) for transit service. The Sales Tax is authorized by State law, is not voter
approved and has no limit on the term of its collection.

In addition to the Sales Tax and other sales taxes levied at the county level or the city and county
level, the State also imposes a 7.50% sales tax. The 2016 Series A Bonds are secured only by Sales Tax
Revenues and not other sales taxes levied by the State or counties. The current breakdown of the State’s
basic 7.50% rate imposed on a Statewide basis is as set forth below.

e 5.00% represents the State general fund tax rate (decreased from 6.00% effective July 1,
2011).

e 1.00% is imposed under the State’s uniform local sales and use tax law (decreased from
1.25% before July 1, 2004), with 0.75% dedicated to cities and counties and 0.25%
dedicated to county transit systems.

e 0.50% is dedicated to local governments for health and welfare program realignment.
e 0.50% is dedicated to local governments for public safety employees.

e 0.25% is deposited into the State Fiscal Recovery Fund to repay the State’s Economic
Recovery Bonds (as described below).

e 0.25% is dedicated to the State Education Protection Account for school districts, county
offices of education, charters schools, and community college districts.

On January 1, 2013, the State sales tax rate increased by 0.25% from 7.25% to 7.50% as a result
of a proposition (“Proposition 30”) passed by voters at the November 2012 election. The 0.25% tax
increase is scheduled to cease December 31, 2016.

In addition to the sales tax levied Statewide and the 0.5% District Sales Tax, the Three BART
Counties have local transportation authorities which each collect a 0.5% sales tax. Currently, the total
sales tax levied in each of the Three BART Counties is as follows: City and County of San Francisco,
8.75%; County of Alameda, 9.50%; County of Contra Costa, 8.50%. Certain cities in the Counties below
have higher sales tax rates:

Alameda County Contra Costa County
City of Albany 10.00% City of Antioch 9.00%
City of Hayward 10.00% City of Concord 9.00%
City of San Leandro 10.00% City of El Cerrito 10.00%
City of Union City 10.00% City of Hercules 9.00%
City of Orinda 9.00%
City of Pinole 9.50%
City of Pittsburg 9.00%
City of Richmond 9.50%
City of San Pablo 9.25%

Source: State Board of Equalization.

11
OHSUSA:765024972.2





In general, the Statewide sales tax applies to the gross receipts of retailers from the sale of
tangible personal property and the statewide use tax is imposed on the storage, use or other consumption
in the State of property purchased from a retailer for such storage, use or other consumption. The
Statewide use tax does not apply to cases where the sale of the property is subject to the Statewide sales
tax. Therefore, the Statewide use tax is generally applied to purchases made outside of the State for use
within the State. The District Sales Tax is imposed upon the same transactions and items subject to the
statewide sales tax and the statewide use tax (hereinafter collectively referred to as the “State Sales Tax™),
with the same exceptions.

Many categories of transactions are exempt from the State Sales Tax and from the District Sales
Tax. The most important are: sales of food products for home consumption; prescription medicine; edible
livestock and their feed; seed and fertilizer used in raising food for human consumption; and gas,
electricity and water when delivered to consumers through mains, lines, and pipes. In addition,
“Occasional Sales” (i.e., sales of property not held or used by a seller in the course of activities for which
he or she is required to hold a seller’s permit) are generally exempt from the State Sales Tax and from the
District Sales Tax; however, the “Occasional Sales” exemption does not apply to the sale of an entire
business and other sales of machinery and equipment used in a business. Sales of property to be used
outside the District which are shipped to a point outside the District, pursuant to the contract of sale, by
delivery to such point by the retailer, or by delivery by the retailer to a carrier for shipment to a consignee
at such point, are also exempt from the State Sales Tax and from the District Sales Tax.

Action by the State Legislature or by voter initiative could change the transactions and items
upon which the State Sales Tax and the District Sales Tax are imposed. Such changes could have either
an adverse or beneficial impact on the District Sales Tax Revenues.

Sales Tax Revenues consist of amounts that the District actually receives from the State Board of
Equalization, calculated on a cash basis. The month of receipt reflects the estimated amount for sales tax
transactions that occurred approximately two months prior. At the end of each quarter, an adjustment
(i.e., increase or decrease) is made to those estimates and included in the quarter-end disbursement.

(Remainder of This Page Intentionally Left Blank)

12
OHSUSA:765024972.2





The following table shows the Sales Tax Revenues received by the District for Fiscal Years
ended June 30, 1996 through June 30, 2015. For comparison purposes, the Fiscal Year 2015-16 budgeted
amount is also shown.

SALES TAX REVENUES

Fiscal Year Percentage
Ended June 30 Sales Tax Revenues® Change

1996 $126,077,000 9.46%
1997 134,984,000 7.06
1998 144,675,000 7.18
1999 151,806,000 4.93
2000 170,911,000 12.58
2001 191,648,000 12.13
2002 172,774,000 (9.84)
2003 167,441,000 (3.08)
2004 170,566,000 1.86
2005 178,392,000 4.58
2006 191,680,000 7.44
2007 198,805,000 3.72
2008 202,632,000 1.93
2009 184,286,000 (9.05)
2010 166,520,000 (9.64)
2011 180,819,000 8.59
2012 195,214,000 8.00
2013 208,561,000 6.84
2014 221,149,000 6.04
2015 233,148,000 5.43
2016 [244,625,000] [4.92]

(M Sales Tax Revenues have been rounded to the nearest thousand.
© Budgeted.
Source: District.

For fiscal year ending June 30, 2015, the District received $[233,148,133] in Sales Tax Revenues,
or [5.43]% more than Sales Tax Revenues received in the prior fiscal year. The District has budgeted
$[244,625,494] in sales tax revenue for the fiscal year ending June 30, 2016.

The District’s imposition of the Sales Tax and the allocation of the Sales Tax receipts pursuant to
Section 29140 of the California Public Utilities Code are subject to legislative review and amendment.
Any repeal or amendment of the Sales Tax provisions of the California Public Utilities Code by the State
Legislature would be an Event of Default under the Indenture unless the District determined that such
repeal or amendment did not materially and adversely affect the rights of the holders of Bonds. See
APPENDIX D — “SUMMARY OF CERTAIN PROVISIONS OF THE INDENTURE AND THE 1990
INDENTURE RESERVE FUND — Events of Default and Remedies.”

The District levies the Sales Tax pursuant to District Ordinance No. 1 adopted on November 20,
1969, as amended. The District has covenanted in the Indenture that, so long as any Bonds are
outstanding, it will not amend, modify or alter such Ordinance in any manner which would reduce the
amount of or timing of receipt of Sales Tax Revenues and that it will continue to levy and collect the
Sales Tax to the full amount permitted by law.

13
OHSUSA:765024972.2





Application of Sales Tax Revenues

Pursuant to an agreement between the District and the State Board of Equalization, dated
August 5, 1982, as amended, the State Board of Equalization remits all Sales Tax Revenues directly to the
Trustee, as Trustee under the 1990 Indenture, on a monthly basis. The 1990 Indenture provides that Sales
Tax Revenues remitted to the Trustee will be set aside with respect to the Outstanding Bonds and reserve
requirements under the 1990 Indenture and on a parity basis with respect to Parity Debt (as such term is
defined in the 1990 Indenture) as provided in the proceedings for such Parity Debt. The 2016 Series A
Bonds are Parity Debt to the Outstanding Bonds and the Indenture is the proceedings for such Parity
Debt. Under the Indenture, the Sales Tax Revenues will be deposited in the Revenue Fund and will be
applied by the Trustee to the following funds established by the Indenture in the following order of
priority; provided that on a parity with such deposits the Trustee will set aside or transfer amounts with
respect to outstanding Parity Obligations (which will be proportionate in the event such amounts are
insufficient to provide for all deposits required as of any date to be made with respect to the Bonds and
such Parity Obligations):

Expense Account. The Trustee will set aside in the Expense Account amounts payable by the
District to the State Board of Equalization for costs and for its services in connection with the collection
of the transactions and use taxes (in excess of costs previously deducted by the State Board of
Equalization) and all Trustee’s and paying agent’s fees.

Interest Fund. The Trustee will set aside in the Interest Fund as soon as practicable in each
month an amount equal to one-sixth of the aggregate half-yearly amount of interest becoming due and
payable on the Outstanding Current Interest Bonds during the next ensuing six months, until the requisite
half-yearly amount of interest on all such Outstanding Current Interest Bonds is on deposit in the Interest
Fund; provided that from the date of delivery of the Current Interest Bonds until the first interest payment
date with respect to the Current Interest Bonds the amounts so paid will be sufficient on a monthly pro
rata basis to pay the aggregate amount of interest becoming due and payable on said interest payment
date. No deposit need be made into the Interest Fund if the amount contained therein is at least equal to
the interest to become due and payable on the interest payment dates falling within the next six months
upon all the Bonds then Outstanding and on July 1 of each year any excess amounts in the Interest Fund
not needed to pay interest on such date will be transferred to the District.

Principal Fund; Sinking Accounts. The Trustee will deposit in the Principal Fund as soon as
practicable in each month an amount equal to at least one-twelfth of the aggregate yearly amount of Bond
Obligation becoming due and payable on the Outstanding Serial Bonds having annual maturity dates
within the next 12 months, plus one-twelfth of the aggregate of the Mandatory Sinking Account Payments
to be paid during the next twelve-month period into the respective Sinking Accounts for the Term Bonds
of all Series for which a Sinking Account will have been created and for which annual mandatory
redemption is required from such Sinking Account (See “DESCRIPTION OF THE 2016 SERIES A
BONDS — Mandatory Redemption™); provided that if the District certifies to the Trustee that any
principal payments are expected to be refunded on or prior to their respective due dates or paid from
amounts on deposit in the Bond Reserve Fund that would be in excess of the Bond Reserve Requirement
upon such payment, no amounts need be set aside towards such principal to be so refunded or paid.

No deposit need be made into the Principal Fund so long as there will be in such fund (i) moneys
sufficient to pay the Bond Obligations of all Serial Bonds then Outstanding and maturing by their terms
within the next twelve months plus (ii) the aggregate of all Mandatory Sinking Account Payments
required to be made in such twelve-month period, but less any amounts deposited into the Principal Fund
during such twelve month period and theretofore paid from the Principal Fund to redeem or purchase
Term Bonds during such twelve-month period.

14
OHSUSA:765024972.2





Bond Reserve Fund. If a Bond Reserve Fund has been established for a Series of Bonds, upon the
occurrence of any deficiency therein, the Trustee will deposit as soon as possible in each month in the
Bond Reserve Fund, an amount equal to one-twelfth of the aggregate amount of each unreplenished prior
withdrawal from the Bond Reserve Fund and the amount of any deficiency due to any required valuations
of the investments in the Bond Reserve Fund until the balance in the Bond Reserve Fund is at least equal
to the Bond Reserve Requirement. In addition, the Trustee will, on a pro rata basis with such deposits,
reimburse to the provider of a letter of credit, insurance policy or surety bond satisfying a portion of the
Bond Reserve Requirement one-twelfth of the amount of any unreplenished prior withdrawal on such
letter of credit, insurance policy or surety bond.

In addition to reimbursing the provider of an insurance policy or surety bond or letter of credit (a
“Reserve Facility”) satisfying the Bond Reserve Requirement the amount of any unreplenished prior
withdrawal on such Reserve Facility, the Trustee will, on a subordinate basis with such deposits, pay to
such provider any reasonable expenses (together with interest thereon), and interest on the amount of any
unreplenished prior withdrawal, calculated as specified in the agreement relating to such Reserve Facility.
Repayment of such expenses and accrued interest will be made from and to the extent of available Sales
Tax Revenues after the replenishment of the Bond Reserve Fund and such withdrawals. Any Sales Tax
Revenues remaining in the Revenue Fund after the foregoing transfers will be transferred on the same
Business Day to the District. The District may use and apply the Sales Tax Revenues when received by it
for any lawful purpose of the District.

If three days prior to any principal payment date, interest payment date or mandatory redemption
date the amounts on deposit in the Interest Fund and Principal Fund, including the Sinking Accounts
therein, with respect to the payments to be made on such date are insufficient to make such payments, the
Trustee will immediately notify the District, by telephone confirmed in writing, of such deficiency and
direct that the District transfer the amount of such deficiency to the Trustee on such payment date. The
District will transfer to the Trustee from any Sales Tax Revenues in its possession the amount of such
deficiency on or prior to the principal, interest or mandatory redemption date referenced in such notice.

Bond Reserve Fund

The District will not be establishing a Reserve Fund for the 2016 Series A Bonds. A Bond
Reserve Fund and certain surety bonds are held under the 1990 Indenture. Such reserve fund and the
surety bonds held therein secure only the Bonds issued under the 1990 Indenture and not Bonds issued
under the Indenture including the 2016 Series A Bonds or any Additional Bonds.

See APPENDIX D — “SUMMARY OF CERTAIN PROVISIONS OF THE INDENTURE AND
THE 1990 INDENTURE RESERVE FUND — SUMMARY OF THE 1990 INDENTURE RESERVE
FUND.”

Additional Bonds and Parity Debt

Additional Bonds may be issued on a parity with the Bonds provided that, among other things:
(1) Sales Tax Revenues and Associated Sales Tax Revenues relating to any recently annexed jurisdiction
for any period of 12 consecutive months during the immediately preceding 18 months are at least equal to
1.5 times the Maximum Annual Debt Service (as defined below) for all Series of Bonds and Parity
Obligations then outstanding, including the Bonds to be issued; (2) Sales Tax Revenues estimated by the
District for the Fiscal Year in which the Additional Bonds are to be issued and for each of the next
succeeding four Fiscal Years will equal at least 1.5 times the amount of Annual Debt Service on all Series
of Bonds and Parity Obligations, including the Bonds to be issued; and (3) Sales Tax Revenues for the
Fiscal Year in which the additional Series of Bonds are to be issued under the laws then in existence at the

15
OHSUSA:765024972.2





time of the issuance of such additional Series of Bonds will be at least 1.0 times the amount of the
District’s obligations with respect to repayment of any withdrawals under a Reserve Facility if any, then
due and owing under the Reserve Facility.

The District may, by Supplemental Indenture, establish one or more Series of Bonds and the
District may issue, and the Trustee may authenticate and deliver to the purchasers thereof, Bonds of any
Series so established, in such principal amount as will be determined by the District, as well as Parity
Debt, but only upon compliance by the District with certain provisions of the Indenture and the 1990
Indenture (until its discharge) and subject to certain specific conditions precedent to the issuance of any
series of Bonds set forth in the Indenture. = See APPENDIX D — “SUMMARY OF CERTAIN
PROVISIONS OF THE INDENTURE AND THE 1990 INDENTURE RESERVE FUND — Additional
Bonds; Refunding Bonds; Parity Obligations; Subordinate Obligations.”

“Maximum Annual Debt Service” will mean the greatest amount of principal and interest
becoming due and payable on all Bonds and Parity Obligations in the Fiscal Year in which the calculation
is made or any subsequent Fiscal Year as set forth in a Certificate of the District; provided, however, that
for the purposes of computing Maximum Annual Debt Service:

(a) if the Bonds or Parity Obligations are Variable Rate Indebtedness for which an Interest
Rate Swap Agreement is not in place, the interest rate on such debt will be calculated at the greater per
annum rate (not to exceed 12%) of: (i) the average of the SIFMA Swap Index for the ten years preceding
the date of calculation, and (ii) the highest interest rate listed in The Bond Buyer “25 Bond Revenue Bond
Index” published one month preceding the date of sale of such Series of Bonds or Parity Obligations; or,
if such Variable Rate Indebtedness is to bear interest expected to be included in gross income for federal
income tax purposes (taxable bonds), such higher rate of interest as will be specified in a Certificate of the
District;

(b) principal and interest payments on Bonds and Parity Obligations will be excluded to the
extent such payments are to be paid from amounts on deposit with the Trustee or other fiduciary in
escrow specifically therefore and to the extent that such interest payments are to be paid from the
proceeds of Bonds or Parity Obligations held by the Trustee or other fiduciary as capitalized interest
specifically to pay such interest by the Trustee or other fiduciary and to the extent such payments are to
be paid from pledged Subsidy Payments the District expects to receive;

(©) in determining the principal amount due in each Fiscal Year, payment will (unless a
different subsection of this definition applies for purposes of determining principal maturities or
amortization) be assumed to be made in accordance with any amortization schedule established for such
debt, including any Mandatory Sinking Account Payments or any scheduled redemption or payment of
Bonds on the basis of Accreted Value, and for such purpose, the redemption payment or payment of
Accreted Value will be deemed a principal payment and interest that is compounded and paid as Accreted
Value will be deemed due on the scheduled redemption or payment date of such Capital Appreciation
Bond or Combination Bond;

(d) if the Bonds or Parity Obligations are debt, the principal of which the District determines
(in a Supplemental Indenture or other document delivered on a date not later than the date of issuance of
such Bonds or Parity Obligations) that the District intends to pay with moneys which are not Revenues
(such as commercial paper, balloon indebtedness or bond anticipation notes), but from future debt
obligations of the District, grants received from the State or federal government, or any agency or
instrumentality thereof, or any other source of funds of the District, the principal of such Bonds or Parity
Obligations will be treated as if such principal were due based upon a 30-year level amortization of

16
OHSUSA:765024972.2





principal from the date of calculation and the interest on such Bonds or Parity Obligations will be
calculated as if such Bonds were Variable Rate Indebtedness;

(e) if any Bonds feature an option, on the part of the Bondowners or an obligation under the
terms of such Bonds, to tender all or a portion of such Bonds to the District, the Trustee, or other
fiduciary or agent and require that such Bonds or portion thereof be purchased if properly presented, then
for purposes of determining the amounts of principal and interest due in any Fiscal Year on such Bonds,
the options or obligations of the Owners of such Bonds to tender the same for purchase or payment prior
to their stated maturity or maturities will be ignored and not treated as a principal maturity and repayment
obligations related to the purchase price of such Bonds provided by a Liquidity Facility and the obligation
of the District with respect to the provider of such Liquidity Facility, other than its obligations on such
Bonds, will be excluded from the tests for the issuance of Parity Obligations until such time as such
obligation exist due to such purchase and thereafter, such repayment obligations of the District to the
provider of such Liquidity Facility will be included in the computation of the Maximum Annual Debt
Service in accordance with the terms of such obligation;

€3} with respect to any Variable Rate Indebtedness for which an Interest Rate Swap
Agreement is in place, if (i) the interest rate on such Variable Rate Indebtedness, plus (ii) the payments
received and made by the District under an Interest Rate Swap Agreement with respect to such variable
interest rate, are expected to produce a synthetic fixed rate to be paid by the District (e.g., an interest rate
swap under which the District pays a fixed rate and receives a variable rate that is expected to equal or
approximate the rate of interest on such Variable Rate Indebtedness), the Variable Rate Indebtedness will
be treated as bearing such synthetic fixed rate for the duration of the synthetic fixed rate; and

(g2) if any Bonds or Parity Obligations bear a fixed interest rate or the Bonds or Parity
Obligations proposed to be issued will bear a fixed interest rate and an Interest Rate Swap Agreement is
entered into with respect to such Bonds or Parity Obligations, if (i) the interest rate on such fixed rate
Bonds or Parity Obligations, plus (ii) the payments received and made by the District under an Interest
Rate Swap Agreement with respect to such fixed rate Bonds or Parity Obligations, are expected to
produce a synthetic variable rate to be paid by the District (e.g., an interest rate swap under which the
District pays a variable rate and receives a fixed rate that is expected to equal or approximate the rate of
interest on such fixed interest rate debt), the fixed interest rate debt, will be treated as bearing such
synthetic variable rate for the duration of the Interest Rate Swap Agreement calculated as if such Bonds
or Parity Obligations were Variable Rate Indebtedness.

“Interest Rate Swap Agreement” means an interest rate swap agreement relating to a Series of
Bonds or portion thereof or Parity Debt in which the party with which the District or the Trustee may
contract is limited to: (i) entities the debt securities of which are rated in one of the two highest long-term
debt Rating Categories by either Fitch or Standard & Poor’s and the debt securities of which are rated not
lower than the third highest long-term debt Rating Category by the other rating agency; (ii) entities the
obligations of which under the interest rate swap agreement are either guaranteed or insured by an entity
the debt securities or insurance policies of which are so rated; or (iii) entities the debt securities of which
are rated in the third highest long-term debt Rating Categories by Fitch or Standard & Poor’s or whose
obligations are guaranteed or insured by an entity so rated and, in either case, the obligations of which
under the interest rate swap agreement are continuously and fully secured by Investment Securities
described in clauses (i) through (iv) of the definition thereof, which will have a market value determined,
by the party designated in such interest rate swap agreement, at least monthly (exclusive of accrued
interest) at least equal to the termination value, if any, that would be payable by the provider of the
interest rate swap agreement under such interest rate swap agreement and which will be deposited with a
custodian acceptable to the District.

17
OHSUSA:765024972.2





“Subsidy Payments” means payments made by the U.S. Department of the Treasury to the
District pursuant to Section 6431 of the Internal Revenue Code

The District currently has no Parity Debt other than Bonds and reserve fund surety bond
agreements outstanding under the 1990 Indenture, and has no Variable Rate Indebtedness or Interest Rate
Swap Agreements relating to any Bonds Outstanding, nor has it issued any Bonds for which it expects to
receive Subsidy Payments. All Outstanding Bonds of the District bear interest at fixed interest rates to
maturity.

Subordinate Obligations

No provision of the Indenture limits the ability of the District to issue bonds or other obligations
payable from Sales Tax Revenues which are junior and subordinate to the payment of principal, premium,
interest and reserve fund requirements of the Bonds and all Parity Debt. See APPENDIX D —
“SUMMARY OF CERTAIN PROVISIONS OF THE INDENTURE AND THE 1990 INDENTURE
RESERVE FUND — Additional Bonds; Refunding Bonds; Parity Obligations; Subordinate Obligations —
Subordinate Obligations.”

There are currently no outstanding debt obligations of the District payable from and secured on a
subordinate basis with a lien upon Sales Tax Revenues.

Special Obligations

The 2016 Series A Bonds are special obligations of the District payable solely from Sales Tax
Revenues and no other revenues of the District are pledged to the payment thereof. The 2016 Series A
Bonds are not a general obligation of the District, the State or any political subdivision thereof and the
District is not obligated to levy any form of taxation, other than the Sales Tax, for the payment of the
2016 Series A Bonds.

INVESTMENT CONSIDERATIONS
Economy of the Three BART Counties and the State

The 2016 Series A Bonds are secured by a pledge of Sales Tax Revenues, which consist primarily
of the Sales Tax less an administrative fee paid to the State Board of Equalization. The level of Sales Tax
Revenues collected at any time is dependent upon the level of retail sales within the Three BART
Counties, which level of retail sales is, in turn, dependent upon the level of economic activity in the Three
BART Counties and in the State generally.

The economy of the Three BART Counties has recovered from the recession as evidenced by
increased Sales Tax Revenues in recent fiscal years, accompanied by increased employment rates and an
increase in total personal income and taxable sales.

For information relating to current economic conditions within the Three BART Counties and the
State, see APPENDIX E — “THE ECONOMY OF THE THREE BART COUNTIES.”

Bankruptcy
Because it is a municipal governmental entity, BART may be eligible to file a bankruptcy petition

under Chapter 9 (“Chapter 9”) of the United States Bankruptcy Code (the “Bankruptcy Code”) under
certain circumstances.

18
OHSUSA:765024972.2





If the Sales Tax Revenues are “special revenues” under Chapter 9, then Sales Tax Revenues
collected after the date of the bankruptcy filing will be subject to the lien of the Indenture. “Special
revenues” are defined to include taxes specifically levied to finance one or more projects or systems of
the debtor, but excluding receipts from general property, sales, or income taxes levied to finance the
general purposes of the debtor. It is possible that a bankruptcy court would conclude that the sales tax is a
sales tax levied to finance the general purposes of BART, and thus that the Sales Tax Revenues are not
special revenues.

If the Sales Tax Revenues are subject to a “statutory lien” as defined in the Bankruptcy Code,
then Sales Tax Revenues collected after the date of the bankruptcy filing will be subject to the statutory
lien for the benefit of the holders of the Bonds. California state law provides that the payment of interest
on and principal of the Bonds and any premiums upon the redemption of any thereof are secured by a
pledge, charge, and lien upon the sales tax revenues. BART believes that this law creates a statutory lien
on the Sales Tax Revenues under the Bankruptcy Code, but the definition of a statutory lien is not entirely
clear, and no assurance can be given that a bankruptcy court would not conclude otherwise.

Chapter 9 also provides that Chapter 9 does not limit or impair the power of the applicable state
to control its municipalities in the exercise of the political or governmental powers of such municipality,
including expenditures for such exercise. California state law provides that so long as any Bonds or
interest thereon are unpaid the Sales Tax Revenues and interest thereon will not be used for any other
purpose. BART believes that this law would be respected in any bankruptcy proceeding so that the Sales
Tax Revenues could not be used by BART for any purpose other than to make payments on the Bonds,
but there are very few court decisions as to the precise meaning of this provision of Chapter 9, and no
assurance can be given that a bankruptcy court would not conclude otherwise.

If it were to be determined that the Sales Tax Revenues are not special revenues and that there is
no statutory lien, then the lien of the indenture likely will not attach to any Sales Tax Revenues collected
after the date of the bankruptcy filing. If it is also determined that the Sales Tax Revenues can be used for
other purposes, then it is not clear whether the holders of the Bonds would be treated as general unsecured
creditors of BART or whether the holders of the Bonds would have no further claim against any assets of
BART.

Under any circumstance, the bankruptcy court may determine that BART is entitled to use Sales
Tax Revenues to pay the necessary operating expenses of the BART system prior to paying debt service
on the Bonds, regardless of the provisions of the Indenture.

If BART is in bankruptcy, the Trustee and the holders of the Bonds may be prohibited from
taking any action to collect any amount from BART (including Sales Tax Revenues subject to a statutory
lien) or to enforce any obligation of BART, unless the permission of the bankruptcy court is obtained.
These restrictions may also prevent the Trustee from making payments to the holders of the Bonds from
funds in the Trustee’s possession during the pendency of the bankruptcy proceedings.

While the State Board of Equalization has agreed that it will pay the Sales Tax Revenues directly
to the Trustee, so that BART receives them only after debt service set asides, it is not clear whether this
arrangement is enforceable in bankruptcy or whether BART will instead be able to require that Sales Tax
Revenues be paid directly to it by the State Board of Equalization.

BART may be able, without the consent and over the objection of the Trustee and the holders of
the Bonds, to alter the priority, interest rate, payment terms, maturity dates, covenants (including tax-
related covenants), and other terms or provisions of the Indenture and the Bonds, as long as the
bankruptcy court determines that the alterations are fair and equitable.

19
OHSUSA:765024972.2





There may be other possible effects of a bankruptcy of BART that could result in delays or
reductions in payments on the Bonds or in other losses to the holders of the Bonds.

Regardless of any specific adverse determinations in a bankruptcy proceeding, the fact of a
bankruptcy proceeding by BART could have an adverse effect on the liquidity and value of the Bonds.

Risk of Earthquake

The District is located in a seismically active region. Active earthquake faults underlie both the
District and the surrounding Bay Area, most notably the Hayward Fault and the San Andreas Fault (both
located within the District). The Loma Prieta earthquake, the most recent significant seismic event in the
District, occurred in 1989 and was centered about 70 miles south of Oakland on the San Andreas Fault. It
registered 7.1 on the Richter scale of earthquake intensity, and caused fires and collapse of and structural
damage to buildings, highways and bridges in the Bay Area.

In April 2008, the Working Group on California Earthquake Probabilities (a collaborative effort
of the U.S. Geological Survey (the “U.S.G.S.”), the California Geological Society, and the Southern
California Earthquake Center) reported that there is a 63% chance that one or more quakes of
magnitude 6.7 or larger will occur in the Bay Area before the year 2038. Such earthquakes may be very
destructive. For example, the U.S.G.S. predicts a magnitude 7 earthquake occurring today on the
Hayward Fault would likely cause almost $100 billion of damage. Property within the District could
sustain extensive damage in a major earthquake, and a major earthquake could adversely affect the area’s
economic activity and decrease the assessed value of property in the District.

Other Force Majeure Events

Operation of the BART System and amount of Sales Tax Revenues is also at risk from other
events of force majeure, such as damaging storms, winds and floods, fires and explosions, spills of
hazardous substances, strikes and lockouts, sabotage, wars, blockades and riots. The District cannot
predict the potential impact of such events on the financial condition of the District or the level of Sales
Tax Revenues.

Threats and Acts of Terrorism

BART police and other law enforcement authorities have undertaken security measures in an
effort to reduce the probability that portions of the BART System could be attacked by terrorists.
However, such measures are not guaranteed to prevent an attack on the BART System. The District
cannot predict the likelihood of a terrorist attack on any portion of the BART System. Components of the
BART System are not insured against terrorist attack. See APPENDIX A — “SAN FRANCISCO BAY
AREA RAPID TRANSIT DISTRICT FINANCIAL AND OPERATING INFORMATION — BART
FINANCINGS AND CAPITAL PROGRAMS — Security Enhancement Program.”

Changes in Taxable Items

With limited exceptions, the Sales Tax is imposed upon the same transactions and items subject
to the sales tax levied statewide by the State. The State Legislature or the voters within the State, through
the initiative process, could change or limit the transactions and items upon which the State Sales Tax and
the District Sales Tax are imposed. Any such change or limitation could have an adverse impact on the
Sales Tax Revenues collected. For a further description of the District Sales Tax, see “SECURITY FOR
THE 2016 SERIES A BONDS — Sales Tax Revenues.” See also APPENDIX E — “THE ECONOMY OF
THE THREE BART COUNTIES” for data relating to taxable transactions in the Three BART Counties.

20
OHSUSA:765024972.2





Effect of Growth in Internet Commerce

It is possible that collections of District Sales Tax in the future could be adversely impacted due
to the growth of commerce over the internet. Goods purchased from out-of-state retailers for delivery to a
customer within the District could displace sales from retailers located within the District. Even though
such purchases are subject to California use tax and within the District Sales Tax, such sales often are
unreported.

Constitutional Limitations on Appropriations

State and local government agencies in California are each subject to annual “appropriations
limits” imposed by Article XIII B of the Constitution of the State of California (“Article XIII B”). Article
XIII B prohibits government agencies and the State from spending “appropriations subject to limitation”
in excess of the appropriations limit imposed. “Appropriations subject to limitation” are authorizations to
spend “proceeds of taxes,” which include all tax revenues and investment earnings thereon, certain state
subventions and certain other funds, including proceeds received by an entity of local government from
regulatory licenses, user charges or other user fees to the extent that such proceeds exceed “the cost
reasonably borne by that entity in providing the regulation, product, or service.” “Appropriations subject
to limitation” under Article XIII B do not include appropriations required to comply with mandates of
courts or of the Federal government, appropriations for qualified outlay projects (as defined by the
Legislature), or appropriations for debt service on indebtedness existing prior to the passage of Article
XIII B or thereafter authorized by the voters.

As amended at the June 5, 1990 election by Proposition 111, Article XIII B provides that, in
general terms, the District’s appropriations limit is based on the limit for the prior year adjusted annually
to reflect changes in cost of living, population and, when appropriate, transfer of financial responsibility
of providing services from one governmental unit to another. Proposition 111 liberalized the
aforementioned adjustment factors as compared to the original provisions of Article XIII B. If revenues
from “proceeds of taxes” during any two consecutive Fiscal Years exceed the combined appropriations
limits for those two years, the excess must be returned by a revision of tax rate or fee schedules within the
two subsequent Fiscal Years.

Section 7900 et seq. of the Government Code of the State of California defines certain terms used
in Article XIII B and sets forth the methods for determining the appropriations limits for local
jurisdictions. [The District’s appropriations limit for the Fiscal Year ending June 30, 2015 is
$527,436,883 and the “appropriations subject to the limitation” are $373,112,728, or $154,324,155 under
the limit.] It is not anticipated that the District will ever reach its appropriations limit. However, if it
were ever to reach such limit, it is arguable that amounts appropriated to pay debt service on the Bonds
are appropriations for capital outlay projects and therefore not subject to the limit.

Proposition 218 and Proposition 26

On November 5, 1996, California voters approved an initiative known as the Right to Vote on
Taxes Act (“Proposition 218). Proposition 218 added Articles XIII C and XIII D to the California
Constitution. Article XIII C requires majority voter approval for the imposition, extension or increase of
general taxes and two-thirds voter approval for the imposition, extension or increase of special taxes by a
local government, which is defined to include local or regional governmental agencies such as the
District. Article XIII C also removes limitations on the initiative power with regard to reducing or
repealing previously authorized local taxes. In the opinion of the District, however, any attempt by the
voters to use the initiative provisions under Proposition 218 to rescind or reduce the levy and collection of
the Sales Tax in a manner which would prevent the payment of debt service on the 2016 Series A Bonds

21
OHSUSA:765024972.2





would violate the Impairment Clause of the United States Constitution and, accordingly, would be
precluded. However, it is likely that the interpretation and application of Proposition 218 will ultimately
be determined by the courts. Proposition 26, approved by the voters of California on November 2, 2010,
also amended Article XIII C to define “tax” to include in the two-thirds voter approval requirement local
levies, charges or exactions previously considered fees with certain specified exemptions.

Further Initiatives

Article XIIIB and Propositions 218 and 26 were each adopted as measures that qualified for the
ballot pursuant to California’s initiative process. From time to time other initiative measures could be
adopted, which may affect the District’s ability to levy and collect the Sales Tax.

Potential Labor Disruptions

BART employees are represented by employee bargaining units that under State law are
permitted to strike during negotiations for a contract. During strikes, the District does not operate service,
which results in lost operating revenues. In 2013, the District suffered strikes during contract
negotiations. See APPENDIX A — “SAN FRANCISCO BAY AREA RAPID TRANSIT DISTRICT
FINANCIAL AND OPERATING INFORMATION - San Francisco Bay Area Rapid Transit District —
Employees and Labor Relations.” The District cannot predict the potential impact of future labor
disruptions on the financial condition of the District.

No Acceleration Provision

The Indenture does not contain a provision allowing for the acceleration of the 2016 Series A
Bonds in the event of a default in the payment of principal and interest on the 2016 Series A Bonds when
due. In the event of a default by the District, each Series 2016 Series A Bondholder will have the right to
exercise the remedies, subject to the limitations thereon, set forth in the Indenture. See APPENDIX D —
“SUMMARY OF CERTAIN PROVISIONS OF THE INDENTURE AND THE 1990 INDENTURE
RESERVE FUND.”

Loss of Tax Exemption

As discussed under “TAX MATTERS,” interest on the 2016 Series A Bonds could become
includable in federal gross income, possibly from the date of issuance of the 2016 Series A Bonds, as a
result of acts or omissions of the District subsequent to the issuance of the 2016 Series A Bonds. Should
interest become includable in federal gross income, the 2016 Series A Bonds are not subject to
redemption by reason thereof and will remain outstanding until maturity or earlier redemption.

LEGAL MATTERS

The validity of the 2016 Series A Bonds and certain other legal matters are subject to the
approving opinion of Orrick, Herrington & Sutcliffe LLP, San Francisco, California, Bond Counsel to the
District (“Bond Counsel”). A complete copy of the proposed form of the opinion to be delivered by Bond
Counsel is attached hereto as APPENDIX H. Compensation of Bond Counsel is contingent upon the
issuance of the 2016 Series A Bonds. Bond Counsel does not take any responsibility for the accuracy,
completeness or fairness of this Official Statement. Approval of certain other legal matters will be passed
upon for the District by Matthew Burrows, Esq., General Counsel to the District and by Orrick,
Herrington & Sutcliffe LLP, Disclosure Counsel to the District.

22
OHSUSA:765024972.2





TAX MATTERS

In the opinion of Orrick, Herrington & Sutcliffe LLP, Bond Counsel to the District, based upon an
analysis of existing laws, regulations, rulings and court decisions, and assuming, among other matters, the
accuracy of certain representations and compliance with certain covenants, interest on the 2016 Series A
Bonds is excluded from gross income for federal income tax purposes under Section 103 of the Internal
Revenue Code of 1986 (the “Code”) and is exempt from State of California personal income taxes. In the
further opinion of Bond Counsel, interest on the 2016 Series A Bonds is not a specific preference item for
purposes of the federal individual or corporate alternative minimum taxes, although Bond Counsel
observes that such interest is included in adjusted current earnings when calculating corporate alternative
minimum taxable income. A complete copy of the proposed form of opinion of Bond Counsel is set forth
in APPENDIX H hereto.

To the extent the issue price of any maturity of the 2016 Series A Bonds is less than the amount
to be paid at maturity of such 2016 Series A Bonds (excluding amounts stated to be interest and payable
at least annually over the term of such 2016 Series A Bonds), the difference constitutes “original issue
discount,” the accrual of which, to the extent properly allocable to each Beneficial Owner thereof, is
treated as interest on the 2016 Series A Bonds which is excluded from gross income for federal income
tax purposes and State of California personal income taxes. For this purpose, the issue price of a
particular maturity of the 2016 Series A Bonds is the first price at which a substantial amount of such
maturity of the 2016 Series A Bonds is sold to the public (excluding bond houses, brokers, or similar
persons or organizations acting in the capacity of underwriters, placement agents or wholesalers). The
original issue discount with respect to any maturity of the 2016 Series A Bonds accrues daily over the
term to maturity of such 2016 Series A Bonds on the basis of a constant interest rate compounded
semiannually (with straight-line interpolations between compounding dates). The accruing original issue
discount is added to the adjusted basis of such 2016 Series A Bonds to determine taxable gain or loss
upon disposition (including sale, redemption, or payment on maturity) of such 2016 Series A Bonds.
Beneficial Owners of the 2016 Series A Bonds should consult their own tax advisors with respect to the
tax consequences of ownership of 2016 Series A Bonds with original issue discount, including the
treatment of Beneficial Owners who do not purchase such 2016 Series A Bonds in the original offering to
the public at the first price at which a substantial amount of such 2016 Series A Bonds is sold to the
public.

2016 Series A Bonds purchased, whether at original issuance or otherwise, for an amount higher
than their principal amount payable at maturity (or, in some cases, at their earlier call date) (“Premium
Bonds”) will be treated as having amortizable bond premium. No deduction is allowable for the
amortizable bond premium in the case of bonds, like the Premium Bonds, the interest on which is
excluded from gross income for federal income tax purposes. However, the amount of tax-exempt
interest received, and a Beneficial Owner’s basis in a Premium Bond, will be reduced by the amount of
amortizable bond premium properly allocable to such Beneficial Owner. Beneficial Owners of Premium
Bonds should consult their own tax advisors with respect to the proper treatment of amortizable bond
premium in their particular circumstances.

The Code imposes various restrictions, conditions and requirements relating to the exclusion from
gross income for federal income tax purposes of interest on obligations such as the 2016 Series A Bonds.
The District has made certain representations and covenanted to comply with certain restrictions,
conditions and requirements designed to ensure that interest on the 2016 Series A Bonds will not be
included in federal gross income. Inaccuracy of these representations or failure to comply with these
covenants may result in interest on the 2016 Series A Bonds being included in gross income for federal
income tax purposes, possibly from the date of original issuance of the 2016 Series A Bonds. The
opinion of Bond Counsel assumes the accuracy of these representations and compliance with these

23
OHSUSA:765024972.2





covenants. Bond Counsel has not undertaken to determine (or to inform any person) whether any actions
taken (or not taken), or events occurring (or not occurring), or any other matters coming to Bond
Counsel’s attention after the date of issuance of the 2016 Series A Bonds may adversely affect the value
of, or the tax status of interest on, the 2016 Series A Bonds. Accordingly, the opinion of Bond Counsel is
not intended to, and may not, be relied upon in connection with any such actions, events or matters.

Although Bond Counsel is of the opinion that interest on the 2016 Series A Bonds is excluded
from gross income for federal income tax purposes and is exempt from State of California personal
income taxes, the ownership or disposition of, or the accrual or receipt of amounts treated as interest on,
the 2016 Series A Bonds may otherwise affect a Beneficial Owner’s federal, state or local tax liability.
The nature and extent of these other tax consequences depends upon the particular tax status of the
Beneficial Owner or the Beneficial Owner’s other items of income or deduction. Bond Counsel expresses
no opinion regarding any such other tax consequences.

Current and future legislative proposals, if enacted into law, clarification of the Code or court
decisions may cause interest on the 2016 Series A Bonds to be subject, directly or indirectly, in whole or
in part, to federal income taxation or to be subject to or exempted from state income taxation, or
otherwise prevent Beneficial Owners from realizing the full current benefit of the tax status of such
interest. For example, the Obama Administration’s budget proposals in recent years have proposed
legislation that would limit the exclusion from gross income of interest on the obligations like the 2016
Series A Bonds to some extent for high-income individuals. The introduction or enactment of any such
legislative proposals or clarification of the Code or court decisions may also affect, perhaps significantly,
the market price for, or marketability of, the 2016 Series A Bonds. Prospective purchasers of the 2016
Series A Bonds should consult their own tax advisors regarding the potential impact of any pending or
proposed federal or state tax legislation, regulations or litigation, as to which Bond Counsel is expected to
express no opinion.

The opinion of Bond Counsel is based on current legal authority, covers certain matters not
directly addressed by such authorities, and represents Bond Counsel’s judgment as to the proper treatment
of the 2016 Series A Bonds for federal income tax purposes. It is not binding on the Internal Revenue
Service (“IRS”) or the courts. Furthermore, Bond Counsel cannot give and has not given any opinion or
assurance about the future activities of the District, or about the effect of future changes in the Code, the
applicable regulations, the interpretation thereof or the enforcement thereof by the IRS. The District has
covenanted, however, to comply with the requirements of the Code.

Bond Counsel’s engagement with respect to the 2016 Series A Bonds ends with the issuance of
the 2016 Series A Bonds, and, unless separately engaged, Bond Counsel is not obligated to defend the
District or the Beneficial Owners regarding the tax-exempt status of the 2016 Series A Bonds in the event
of an audit examination by the IRS. Under current procedures, parties other than the District and their
appointed counsel, including the Beneficial Owners, would have little, if any, right to participate in the
audit examination process. Moreover, because achieving judicial review in connection with an audit
examination of 2016 Series A Bonds is difficult, obtaining an independent review of IRS positions with
which the District legitimately disagrees, may not be practicable. Any action of the IRS, including but
not limited to selection of the 2016 Series A Bonds for audit or the course or result of such audit, or an
audit of bonds presenting similar tax issues may affect the market price for, or the marketability of, the
2016 Series A Bonds, and may cause the District or the Beneficial Owners to incur significant expense.

ABSENCE OF MATERIAL LITIGATION

At the time of delivery of and payment for the 2016 Series A Bonds, the District will certify that,
except as disclosed herein, there is no action, suit, proceeding, inquiry or investigation, at law or in

24
OHSUSA:765024972.2





equity, before or by any court, regulatory agency, public board or body, pending with respect to which the
District has been served with process or, to the knowledge of the District, threatened against the District
in any way affecting the existence of the District or the titles of its officers to their respective offices or
seeking to restrain or to enjoin the issuance, sale or delivery of the 2016 Series A Bonds, the application
of the proceeds thereof in accordance with the Indenture, or the levy or collection of the Sales Tax or
application of the Sales Tax Revenues or other moneys to be pledged to pay the principal of and interest
on the 2016 Series A Bonds, or the pledge thereof, or in any way contesting or affecting the validity or
enforceability of the 2016 Series A Bonds, the Indenture, the Continuing Disclosure Agreement or in any
way contesting the completeness or accuracy of this Official Statement.

RATINGS

Standard & Poor’s Ratings Services, a Standard & Poor’s Financial Services LLC business
(“S&P”) and Fitch Ratings (“Fitch”) have assigned ratings of “  and “_,” respectively, to the 2016
Series A Bonds. Such ratings reflect only the views of such organizations and any desired explanation of
the significance of such ratings should be obtained from such rating agencies furnishing the same at the
following addresses: Standard & Poor’s Ratings Services, 55 Water Street, New York, New York 10041
and Fitch Ratings, One State Street Plaza, New York, New York 10004. Generally, a rating agency bases
its rating on the information and materials furnished to it and on investigations, studies and assumptions
of its own. There is no assurance that any credit ratings given to the 2016 Series A Bonds will be
maintained for any period of time or that the ratings may not be lowered or withdrawn entirely by such
rating agencies, if, in their judgment, circumstances so warrant. The District undertakes no responsibility
to oppose any such revision or withdrawal. Any such downward revision or withdrawal of such rating
may have an adverse effect on the market price of the 2016 Series A Bonds.

FINANCIAL ADVISOR

Sperry Capital Inc., Sausalito, California, serves as Financial Advisor to the District with respect
to the sale of the 2016 Series A Bonds. The Financial Advisor has not conducted a detailed investigation
of the affairs of the District to determine the completeness or accuracy of this Official Statement and has
not independently verified any of the data contained herein and has no responsibility for the accuracy or
completeness thereof.

The compensation of the Financial Advisor is contingent upon the issuance of the 2016 Series A
Bonds.

CONTINUING DISCLOSURE

To enable purchasers to comply with the requirements of Rule 15c¢2-12 promulgated by the
Securities Exchange Commission (the “Rule”), the District will enter into a Continuing Disclosure
Agreement with the Trustee, as dissemination agent, for the benefit of the Beneficial Owners (as such
term is defined in such Continuing Disclosure Agreement) from time to time of the 2016 Series A Bonds.
A copy of the proposed form of Continuing Disclosure Agreement is set forth in APPENDIX G hereto.
[The District has always been current in the filing of its required annual report filings under the Rule;
however, within the last five years the District has determined that certain annual reports were not linked
to all of the specific CUSIP numbers to which they related and that certain annual reports, while including
District wide assessed value information, did not include specific assessed value information by County
as may have been required by a continuing disclosure agreement. The District recently filed notices on
the Municipal Securities Rulemaking Board Electronic Municipal Market Access System (“EMMA”)
with respect to the affected bonds and provided the additional information. The District has engaged

25
OHSUSA:765024972.2





BLX Group to assist with its continuing disclosure obligations and U.S Bank National Association to
serve as Dissemination Agent.]

SALE OF SERIES 2016 A BONDS

The Series 2016 A Bonds are scheduled to be sold at a competitive bid on July , 2016 as
provided in the Official Notice of Sale, dated July _ , 2016 (the “Official Notice of Sale”). The Official
Notice of Sale provides that all Series 2016 A Bonds would be purchased if any were purchased, the
obligation to make such purchase being subject to certain terms and conditions set forth in the Official
Notice of Sale, the approval of certain legal matters by Bond Counsel and certain other conditions. The
Purchaser will represent to the District that the 2016 Series A Bonds have been reoffered to the public at
the price or yields stated on the cover page hereof.

[VERIFICATION OF MATHEMATICAL ACCURACY

Upon delivery of the 2016 Series A Bonds, the arithmetical accuracy of certain computations
relating to the: (i) adequacy of forecasted receipts of principal and interest on the escrow securities and
cash held in the escrow fund relating to the Prior Bonds; (ii) the scheduled payments of principal and
interest with respect to the Prior Bonds on and prior to their projected maturity and/or redemption dates;
(iii) yields on the securities to be deposited pursuant to the escrow fund relating to the Prior Bonds upon
delivery of the 2016 Series A Bonds, and (iv) level of debt service saving, will be verified by
(the “Verification Agent”). Such verification will be based solely upon information and
assumptions supplied by the Underwriters or the Financial Advisor. The Verification Agent has not made
a study or evaluation of the information and assumptions on which such computations are based and,
accordingly, has not expressed an opinion on the data used, the reasonableness of the assumptions or the
achievability of the forecasted outcome. ]

FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

The financial statements of the District included in Appendix B to this Official Statement have
been examined by Macias, Gini & O’Connell LLP (the “Auditor”), whose report thereon appears in such
Appendix. The Auditor was not requested to consent to the inclusion of its report in Appendix B, nor has
the Auditor undertaken to update its report or to take any action intended or likely to elicit information
concerning the accuracy, completeness or fairness of the statements made in this Official Statement, and
no opinion is expressed by the Auditor with respect to any event subsequent to the date of its report.

MISCELLANEOUS

This Official Statement is not to be construed as a contract or agreement between the District and
the purchasers, holders or Beneficial Owners of any of the 2016 Series A Bonds. All of the preceding
summaries of the 2016 Series A Bonds, the Indenture, applicable legislation and other agreements and
documents are made subject to the provisions of the 2016 Series A Bonds and such documents,
respectively, and do not purport to be complete statements of any or all of such provisions. Reference is
hereby made to such documents on file with the District for further information in connection therewith.

Any statements made in this Official Statement involving matters of opinion or of estimates,
whether or not expressly stated, are set forth as such and not as representations of fact, and no
representation is made that any of the estimates will be realized.

The execution and delivery of this Official Statement by the Controller/Treasurer of the District
has been duly authorized by the District. Concurrently with the delivery of the 2016 Series A Bonds, the
District will furnish to the Underwriters a certificate of the District to the effect that this Official

26
OHSUSA:765024972.2





Statement, as of the date of this Official Statement and as of the date of delivery of the 2016 Series A
Bonds, does not contain any untrue statement of a material fact or omit to state any material fact
necessary to make the statements herein, in the light of the circumstances under which they were made,

not misleading.

SAN FRANCISCO BAY AREA RAPID TRANSIT
DISTRICT

By:

Controller/Treasurer

27
OHSUSA:765024972.2





APPENDIX A

SAN FRANCISCO BAY AREA RAPID TRANSIT DISTRICT
FINANCIAL AND OPERATING INFORMATION

A-1
OHSUSA:765024972.2





APPENDIX B

SAN FRANCISCO BAY AREA RAPID TRANSIT DISTRICT
REPORT ON AUDITS OF FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
FOR THE YEARS ENDED JUNE 30, 2015 AND 2014

B-1
OHSUSA:765024972.2





APPENDIX C

SAN FRANCISCO BAY AREA RAPID TRANSIT DISTRICT
STATEMENT OF INVESTMENT POLICY

The Treasurer of the District shall invest District funds in a manner the Treasurer deems prudent,
suitable and advantageous under existing circumstances and in accordance with the following objectives,
in order of priority:

1. Preservation of Capital
2. Liquidity — funds shall be invested only until date of anticipated need or for a lesser period.

3. Yield — generation of a favorable return on investment without compromise of the first two
objectives.

The Treasurer may invest in Securities authorized by the Public Utilities Code Sections 29100
through 29102; Government Code Sections 53601, 53601.1 and 53635 and Board Resolution 2697 with
the following exception: the Treasurer will not invest in commercial paper, financial or commodity
futures, options contracts, medium-term corporate notes, or mutual funds unless specifically authorized
by the Board.

The Treasurer may invest in repurchase agreements and will accept as security only securities of
the U.S. government and U.S. governmental agencies which have a market value, including accrued
interest, equal to the amount of the repurchase agreement. The maturity date of the collateral may,
however, be later than that required by Objective 2 above.

The Treasurer may invest in reverse repurchase agreements with a maturity of 90 days or less.

The Treasurer may invest in “swaps” defined as, the simultaneous buying and selling of a security
of approximately the same maturity to increase yield, cash flow or to improve quality.

In addition to the securities authorized above, the Treasurer may invest in public time deposits in
financial institutions having at least one branch within the BART boundaries. The Treasurer will accept
as collateral securities authorized by the Government Code Section 53651 (a) through (p) excluding
subsection (m) promissory notes secured by first mortgages and first trust deeds. The Treasurer will
require 110% collateralization, less the portion authorized by Government Code Section 53653 on public
time deposits, except for San Francisco Federal Home Loan Bank Letters of Credit, in which case the
collateralization will be 105%.

The Treasurer has the authority to waive the required collateralization and substitute Federal
Deposit Insurance Corporation (FDIC) for the first $100,000 of the investment.

The Treasurer will continue to seek minority Banks and Savings and Loan Associations, as
defined by the Federal Government, for the placement of some of the District’s funds.

The Treasurer may invest in money market mutual funds as authorized by Section 53601(k) of
the Government Code up to a maximum total of $25,000,000. The funds must carry a credit rating of
“AAA” by both Standard & Poor’s and Moody’s and their portfolio must consist entirely of direct

C-1
OHSUSA:765024972.2





obligations of the U. S. Government, its agencies or instrumentalities, and repurchase agreements backed
by such obligations.

The Treasurer may invest in the State of California Local Agency Investment Fund as authorized
by Government Code Sections 16429.1 et seq. in an amount not to exceed $25,000,000.

The District’s investment policy shall also discourage the investment of funds in any institution or
business which conducts operations or invests funds in any country whose laws discriminate against

individuals based upon race, color or creed.

The foregoing defines the Treasurer’s investment policies for calendar year 2003 and thereafter
unless and until they are modified by the Treasurer and approved by the Board.

OHSUSA:765024972.2





APPENDIX D

SUMMARY OF CERTAIN PROVISIONS OF THE INDENTURE
AND THE 1990 INDENTURE RESERVE FUND

D-1
OHSUSA:765024972.2





SUMMARY OF CERTAIN PROVISIONS OF THE INDENTURE

The following is a brief summary of certain provisions of the Indenture, dated as of September 1,
2012, as supplemented and amended, including as supplemented and amended by the Third Supplemental
Indenture, dated as of August 1, 2016 (the “Third Supplemental Indenture”), between the San Francisco
Bay Area Rapid Transit District (the “District”) and U.S. Bank National Association, as trustee (the
“Trustee™). Such summary does not purport to be complete or definitive, is supplemental to the summary
of other provisions of the Indenture contained elsewhere in this Official Statement, and is qualified in its
entirety by reference to the full terms of the Indenture. All capitalized terms used and not otherwise
defined in this Official Statement shall have the meanings assigned to such terms in the Indenture. Copies
of the Indenture are available from the District.

Definitions

“Accreted Value” means, with respect to any Capital Appreciation Bond, the principal amount
thereof plus the interest accrued thereon, compounded at the approximate interest rate thereon on each
date specified therein and, with respect to any Combination Bond, the principal amount thereof plus the
interest accrued thereon, compounded at the approximate interest rate thereon, on each date specified
therein for compounding and after the last date specified for such compounding, the principal and interest
so determined as of such last compounding date. The Accreted Value at any date shall be the amounts
set forth in the Accreted Value Table as of such date, if such date is a compounding date, and if not, as of
the immediately preceding compounding date.

“Accreted Value Table” means the table denominated as such which appears as an exhibit to a
Supplemental Indenture providing for a Series of Capital Appreciation Bonds issued pursuant to such
Supplemental Indenture.

“Act” means Article 2, Chapter 7, Part 2, Division 10 of the Public Utilities Code of the State of
California, as amended from time to time hereafter, and the Revenue Bond Law of 1941, as amended
from time to time hereafter, to the extent made applicable to the District by Section 29143 of Article 2,
Chapter 7, Part 2 of said Division 10, and Articles 10 and 11 of Chapter 3, Part 1 of Division 2 of Title 5
of, and other generally applicable provisions of, the Government Code of the State of California, as
amended from time to time hereafter.

“Alternate Credit Enhancement” means, with respect to a Series of Bonds, any insurance, letter of
credit, line of credit, surety bond or other instrument, if any, which secures or guarantees the payment of
principal of and interest on a Series of Bonds, issued by an insurance company, commercial bank, pension
fund or other financial institution, and delivered or made available to the Trustee, as a replacement or
substitution for any Credit Enhancement then in effect.

“Alternate Liquidity Facility” means, with respect to a Series of Bonds, a line of credit, letter of
credit, standby purchase agreement or similar liquidity facility, issued by a commercial bank, insurance
company, pension fund or other financial institution, and delivered or made available to the Trustee, as a
replacement or substitute for any Liquidity Facility then in effect.

“Annual Debt Service” means for any Fiscal Year the aggregate amount of principal and interest
on all Bonds and Parity Obligations becoming due and payable during such Fiscal Year calculated using
the principles and assumptions set forth under the definition of Maximum Annual Debt Service.

“Associated Sales Tax Revenues” means, for any designated period, an amount of Sales Tax
Revenues that would have been received by the District from a transaction and use tax imposed in a

D-2
OHSUSA:765024972.2





jurisdiction, if such jurisdiction had been annexed to the District during such period of time, as set forth in
a Certificate of the District delivered to the Trustee.

“Authorized Representative” means the President of the Board, the General Manager, the
Treasurer, or any other person designated to act on behalf of the District by a written certificate furnished
to the Trustee containing the specimen signature of such person and signed on behalf of the District by
any of such officials.

“Board” means the Board of Directors of the District.

“Bond Obligation” means, as of any given date of calculation, (1) with respect to any Outstanding
Current Interest Bond, the principal amount of such Bond, (2) with respect to any Outstanding
Combination Bonds, the Accreted Value thereof and (3) with respect to any Outstanding Capital
Appreciation Bond, the Accreted Value thereof.

“Bond Reserve Fund” means the fund by that name established with respect to one or more Series
of Bonds pursuant to one or more Supplemental Indentures establishing the terms and provisions of such
Series of Bonds.

“Bond Reserve Requirement” means, as of any date of calculation, an amount equal to the
aggregate of the Bond Reserve Requirements, if any, established by the District for one or more Series of
Bonds Outstanding as such requirement is specified in the Supplemental Indenture pursuant to which
such Series of Bonds is issued.

“Bonds” means the San Francisco Bay Area Rapid Transit District Sales Tax Revenue Bonds
authorized by, and at any time Outstanding pursuant to, the Indenture.

“Business Day” means any day other than (1) a Saturday, Sunday, or a day on which banking
institutions in the State are authorized or obligated by law or executive order to be closed, and (2) for
purposes of payments and other actions relating to Bonds secured by a Credit Enhancement or Liquidity
Facility, a day upon which commercial banks in the city in which is located the office of the issuing bank
at which demands for payment under the Credit Enhancement or Liquidity Facility are to be presented are
authorized or obligated by law or executive order to be closed.

“Capital Appreciation Bonds” means the Bonds of any Series designated as Capital Appreciation
Bonds in the Supplemental Indenture providing for the issuance of such Series and on which interest is
compounded and paid at maturity or on prior redemption.

“Certificate,” “Statement,” “Request,” “Requisition,” and “Order” of the District mean,
respectively, a written certificate, statement, request, requisition or order signed in the name of the
District by the President of the Board or the General Manager or the Secretary or Treasurer of the District
or any other person authorized by the General Manager to execute such instruments.

“Code” means the Internal Revenue Code of 1986, and the regulations applicable thereto or
issued thereunder, or any successor to the Internal Revenue Code of 1986. Reference to any particular
Code section shall, in the event of such a successor Code, be deemed to be reference to the successor to
such Code section.

“Combination Bonds” means the Bonds of any Series designated as Combination Bonds in the
Supplemental Indenture providing for the issuance of such Series and on which interest is compounded
for a period of time and, following a specific date, is paid currently on the compounded amount.

D-3
OHSUSA:765024972.2





“Continuing Disclosure Agreement” means, with respect to each Series of Bonds requiring an
undertaking regarding disclosure under Rule 15c¢2-12, the Continuing Disclosure Agreement, dated the
date of issuance of such Series of Bonds, executed by the District and a Dissemination Agent, as the same
may be supplemented, modified or amended in accordance with its terms.

“Costs of Issuance” means all items of expense directly or indirectly payable by or reimbursable
to the District and related to the authorization, execution, sale and delivery of the Bonds, including but not
limited to advertising and printing costs, costs of preparation and reproduction of documents, filing and
recording fees, travel expenses and costs relating to rating agency meetings and other meetings
concerning the Bonds, initial fees and charges of the Trustee, legal fees and charges, fees and
disbursements of consultants and professionals, financial advisor fees and expenses, rating agency fees,
fees and charges for preparation, execution, transportation and safekeeping of Bonds, surety, insurance
and credit enhancements costs, termination fees payable in connection with the termination of an Interest
Rate Swap Agreement, and any other cost, charge or fee in connection with the delivery of Bonds.

“Credit Enhancement” means, with respect to a Series of Bonds, any insurance, letter of credit,
line of credit, surety bond or other instrument, if any, which secures or guarantees the payment of
principal of and interest on a Series of Bonds, issued by an insurance company, commercial bank or other
financial institution, and delivered or made available to the Trustee, as from time to time supplemented or
amended pursuant to its terms, or, in the event of the delivery or availability of an Alternate Credit
Enhancement, such Alternate Credit Enhancement.

“Credit Provider” means, with respect to a Series of Bonds, the insurance company, commercial
bank or other financial institution issuing (or having primary obligation, or acting as agent for the
financial institutions obligated, under) a Credit Enhancement then in effect with respect to such Series of
Bonds.

“Current Interest Bonds” means the Bonds of any Series designated as Current Interest Bonds in
the Supplemental Indenture providing for the issuance of such Series of Bonds and which pay interest at
least semiannually to the Owners thereof excluding the first payment of interest thereon.

“Dissemination Agent” means, with respect to each Series of Bonds requiring an undertaking
regarding disclosure under Rule 15¢2-12(b)(5), the dissemination agent under the Continuing Disclosure
Agreement delivered in connection with such Series of Bonds, or any successor dissemination agent
designated in writing by the District and which has entered into a Continuing Disclosure Agreement with
the District.

“District” means San Francisco Bay Area Rapid Transit District and any successor entity thereto.

“DTC” means The Depository Trust Company, New York, New York, or any successor thereto.

“Electronic Means” means facsimile transmission, email transmission or other similar electronic
means of communication providing evidence of transmission, including a telephone communication
confirmed by any other method set forth in this definition.

“EMMA” means Electronic Municipal Market Access.

“Event of Default” means any of the events specified as such in the Indenture.

“Expense Account” means the account by that name established pursuant to the provisions of the
Indenture.

D-4
OHSUSA:765024972.2





“Fiscal Year” means the period beginning on July 1 of each year and ending on the next
succeeding June 30, or any other 12-month period hereafter selected and designated as the official fiscal
year period of the District which designation shall be provided to the Trustee in a Certificate of the
District.

“Fitch” means Fitch Inc., and its successors and assigns, except that if such corporation shall be
dissolved or liquidated or shall no longer perform the functions of a securities rating agency, then the term
“Fitch” shall be deemed to refer to any other nationally recognized securities rating agency selected by
the District.

“Indenture” means the Master Indenture, dated as of September 1, 2012, by and between the
District and the Trustee, as originally executed or as it may from time to time be supplemented or
amended by any Supplemental Indenture delivered pursuant to the provisions thereof. As of the date of
issuance of the 2016 Series A Bonds, “Indenture” includes the Third Supplemental Indenture, dated as of
August 1, 2016.

“Interest Fund” means the fund by that name established pursuant to the provisions of the
Indenture.

“Interest Rate Swap Agreement” shall mean an interest rate swap agreement relating to a Series of
Bonds or portion thereof or Parity Obligations in which the party with which the District or the Trustee
may contract is at the time of entering into such contract limited to: (i) entities the debt securities of which
are rated in one of the two highest long-term debt Rating Categories by either Fitch or Standard & Poor’s
and the debt securities of which are rated not lower than the third highest long-term debt Rating Category
by the other rating agency; (ii) entities the obligations of which under the interest rate swap agreement are
either guaranteed or insured by an entity the debt securities or insurance policies of which are so rated; or
(iii) entities the debt securities of which are rated in the third highest long-term debt Rating Categories by
Fitch or Standard & Poor’s or whose obligations are guaranteed or insured by an entity so rated and, in
either case, the obligations of which under the interest rate swap agreement are continuously and fully
secured by Investment Securities described in clauses (i) through (iv) of the definition thereof, which shall
have a market value determined, by the party designated in such interest rate swap agreement, at least
monthly (exclusive of accrued interest) at least equal to the termination value, if any, that would be
payable by the provider of the interest rate swap agreement under such interest rate swap agreement and
which shall be deposited with a custodian acceptable to the District.

“Investment Securities” means the following:

1) any bonds or other obligations which as to principal and interest constitute direct
obligations of, or are unconditionally guaranteed by, the United States of America, including
obligations of any of the federal agencies and federally sponsored entities set forth in clause (iii)
below to the extent unconditionally guaranteed by the United States of America;

(i1) any certificates, receipts, securities or other obligations evidencing ownership of,
or the right to receive, a specified portion of one or more interest payments or principal payments,
or any combination thereof, to be made on any bond, note, or other obligation described above in
clause (i);

(iii) obligations of the Federal National Mortgage Association, the Government

National Mortgage Association, Federal Home Loan Banks, Farmers Home Administration and
Federal Home Loan Mortgage Corporation;

OHSUSA:765024972.2





(iv) housing authority bonds issued by public agencies or municipalities and fully
secured as to the payment of both principal and interest by a pledge of annual contributions under
an annual contributions contract or contracts with the United States of America; or project notes
issued by public agencies or municipalities and fully secured as to the payment of both principal
and interest by a requisition or payment agreement with the United States of America;

v) obligations of any state, territory or commonwealth of the United States of
America or any political subdivision thereof or any agency or department of the foregoing;
provided that at the time of their purchase such obligations are rated in either of the two highest
Rating Categories by Standard & Poor’s (if Standard & Poor’s is then rating the Bonds);

(vi) any bonds or other obligations of any state of the United States of America or
any political subdivision thereof (a) which are not callable prior to maturity or as to which
irrevocable instructions have been given to the trustee of such bonds or other obligations by the
obligor to give due notice of redemption and to call such bonds for redemption on the date or
dates specified in such instructions, (b) which are secured as to principal and interest and
redemption premium, if any, by a fund consisting only of cash or bonds or other obligations of
the character described above in clause (i), (ii) or (iii) which fund may be applied only to the
payment of such principal of and interest and redemption premium, if any, on such bonds or other
obligations on the interest payment dates and the maturity date or dates thereof or the specified
redemption date or dates pursuant to such irrevocable instructions, as appropriate, and (c) as to
which the principal of and interest on the bonds and obligations of the character described above
in clause (i), (ii) or (iii) which have been deposited in such fund along with any cash on deposit in
such fund are sufficient to pay the principal of and interest and redemption premium, if any, on
the bonds or other obligations described in this clause (vi) on the interest payment dates and the
maturity date or dates thereof or on the redemption date or dates specified in the irrevocable
instructions referred to in subclause (a) of this clause (vi), as appropriate;

(vii)  bonds, notes, debentures or other evidences of indebtedness issued or guaranteed
by any corporation which are, at the time of purchase, rated by a nationally recognized rating
agency in its highest short-term Rating Category, or, if the term of such indebtedness is longer
than 3 years, rated by Standard & Poor’s (if Standard & Poor’s is then rating the Bonds) in one of
its two highest long-term Rating Categories, for comparable types of debt obligations;

(viii) demand or time deposits or certificates of deposit, whether negotiable or
nonnegotiable, issued by any bank or trust company organized under the laws of any state of the
United States of America or any national banking association (including the Trustee), provided
that such certificates of deposit shall be purchased directly from such a bank, trust company or
national banking association and shall be either (1) continuously and fully insured by the Federal
Deposit Insurance Corporation, or (2) continuously and fully secured by such securities and
obligations as are described above in clauses (i) through (v), inclusive, which shall have a market
value (exclusive of accrued interest) at all times at least equal to the principal amount of such
certificates of deposit and shall be lodged with the Trustee, as custodian, by the bank, trust
company or national banking association issuing such certificates of deposit, and the bank, trust
company or national banking association issuing each such certificate of deposit required to be so
secured shall furnish the Trustee with an undertaking satisfactory to it that the aggregate market
value of all such obligations securing each such certificate of deposit will at all times be an
amount equal to the principal amount of each such certificate of deposit and the Trustee shall be
entitled to rely on each such undertaking or unsecured certificates of deposit, time deposits,
money market deposits, demand deposits and bankers’ acceptances of any bank (including those
of the Trustee, its parent and its affiliates) the short-term obligations of which are rated on the

D-6
OHSUSA:765024972.2





date of purchase “A-1” or better by S&P and certificates of deposit (including those of the
Trustee, its parent and its affiliates);

(ix) taxable commercial paper or tax-exempt commercial paper rated in the highest
Rating Category by Standard & Poor’s (if Standard & Poor’s is then rating the Bonds);

x) variable rate obligations required to be redeemed or purchased by the obligor or
its agent or designee upon demand of the Owner thereof secured as to such redemption or
purchase requirement by a liquidity agreement with a corporation and as to the payment of
interest and principal either upon maturity or redemption (other than upon demand by the Owner
thereof) thereof by an unconditional credit facility of a corporation, provided that the variable rate
obligations themselves are rated in the highest Rating Category for its short-term rating, if any,
and in either of the two highest Rating Categories for its long-term rating, if any, by Standard &
Poor’s (if Standard & Poor’s is then rating the Bonds), and that the corporations providing the
liquidity agreement and credit facility have, at the date of acquisition of the variable rate
obligation by the Trustee, an outstanding issue of unsecured, uninsured and unguaranteed debt
obligations rated in either of the two highest long-term Rating Categories by Standard & Poor’s
(if Standard & Poor’s is then rating the Bonds);

(x1) any repurchase agreement with any bank or trust company organized under the
laws of any state of the United States or any national banking association (including the Trustee)
having a minimum permanent capital of one hundred million dollars ($100,000,000) or
government bond dealer reporting to, trading with, and recognized as a primary dealer by the
Federal Reserve Bank of New York, which agreement is secured by any one or more of the
securities and obligations described in clauses (i), (ii), (iii) or (iv) above, which shall have a
market value (exclusive of accrued interest and valued at least monthly) at least equal to the
principal amount of such investment and shall be lodged with the Trustee or other fiduciary, as
custodian for the Trustee, by the bank, trust company, national banking association or bond dealer
executing such repurchase agreement, and the entity executing each such repurchase agreement
required to be so secured shall furnish the Trustee with an undertaking satisfactory to it that the
aggregate market value of all such obligations securing each such repurchase agreement (as
valued at least monthly) will be an amount equal to the principal amount of each such repurchase
agreement and the Trustee shall be entitled to rely on each such undertaking;

(xii)  any cash sweep or similar account arrangement of or available to the Trustee, the
investments of which are limited to investments described in clauses (i), (i), (iii), (iv), (v) and
(xi) of this definition of Investment Securities and any money market fund, the entire investments
of which are limited to investments described in clauses (i), (ii), (iii), (iv), (v) and (xi) of this
definition of Investment Securities; provided that as used in this clause (xii) and clause (xiii)
investments will be deemed to satisfy the requirements of clause (xi) if they meet the
requirements set forth in clause (xi) ending with the words “clauses (i), (ii), (iii) or (iv) above”
and without regard to the remainder of such clause (xi);

(xiii)  any investment agreement with a financial institution or insurance company or
whose obligations are guaranteed by such an entity which has at the date of execution thereof and
during the term thereof an outstanding issue of unsecured, uninsured and unguaranteed debt
obligations or a claims paying ability rated in either of the two highest long-term Rating
Categories by Standard & Poor’s (if Standard & Poor’s is then rating the Bonds);

OHSUSA:765024972.2





(xiv)  bonds, notes, certificates, bills, acceptances or other securities in which funds of
the District may now or hereafter be legally invested as provided by the law in effect at the time
of such investment;

(xv)  the Local Agency Investment Fund (LAIF) or similar pool operated by or on
behalf of the State of California and is authorized to accept investments of money held under the
Indenture; and

(xvi) any investment approved by the Board for which confirmation, which may be in
the form of a general renewal of rating, is received from Fitch (if Fitch is then rating the Bonds)
and Standard & Poor’s (if Standard & Poor’s is then rating the Bonds) that such investment will
not adversely affect such agency’s rating on such Bonds.

“Letter of Credit Account” means an account by that name established to hold funds that are
drawn on Credit Enhancement provided in the form of a letter of credit and that are to be applied to pay
the principal of or interest on a Series of Bonds, which account shall be established pursuant to the
Supplemental Indenture establishing the terms and provisions of such Series of Bonds.

“Liquidity Facility” means, with respect to a Series of Bonds, a line of credit, letter of credit,
standby purchase agreement or similar liquidity facility securing or guaranteeing the payment of purchase
price of such Series of Bonds and issued by a commercial bank, insurance company, pension fund or
other financial institution, and delivered or made available to the Trustee, as from time to time
supplemented or amended pursuant to its terms, or, in the event of the delivery or availability of an
Alternate Liquidity Facility, such Alternate Liquidity Facility.

“Liquidity Facility Bonds” means any Bonds purchased with moneys drawn under (or otherwise
obtained pursuant to the terms of) a Liquidity Facility, but excluding any Bonds no longer considered to
be Liquidity Facility Bonds in accordance with the terms of the applicable Liquidity Facility.

“Liquidity Facility Rate” means, with respect to a Series of Bonds, the interest rate per annum, if
any, specified as applicable to Liquidity Facility Bonds in the Liquidity Facility delivered in connection
with such Series of Bonds.

“Liquidity Provider” means, with respect to a Series of Bonds, the commercial bank, insurance
company, pension fund or other financial institution issuing (or having primary obligation, or acting as
agent for the financial institutions obligated, under) a Liquidity Facility then in effect with respect to such
Series of Bonds.

“Mandatory Sinking Account Payment” means, with respect to Bonds of any Series and maturity,
the amount required by the Indenture or a Supplemental Indenture to be deposited by the District in a
Sinking Account for the payment of Term Bonds of such Series and maturity.

“Maximum Annual Debt Service” shall mean the greatest amount of principal and interest
becoming due and payable on all Bonds and Parity Obligations in the Fiscal Year in which the calculation
is made or any subsequent Fiscal Year as set forth in a Certificate of the District; provided, however, that
for the purposes of computing Maximum Annual Debt Service:

(a) if the Bonds or Parity Obligations are Variable Rate Indebtedness for which an
Interest Rate Swap Agreement is not in place, the interest rate on such debt shall be calculated at
the greater per annum rate (not to exceed 12%) of: (i) the average of the SIFMA Swap Index for
the ten years preceding the date of calculation, and (ii) the highest interest rate listed in The Bond
Buyer “25 Bond Revenue Bond Index” published one month preceding the date of sale of such

D-8
OHSUSA:765024972.2





Series of Bonds or Parity Obligations; or, if such Variable Rate Indebtedness is to bear interest
expected to be included in gross income for federal income tax purposes (taxable bonds), such
higher rate of interest as shall be specified in a Certificate of the District;

(b) principal and interest payments on Bonds and Parity Obligations shall be
excluded to the extent such payments are to be paid from amounts on deposit with the Trustee or
other fiduciary in escrow specifically therefor and to the extent that such interest payments are to
be paid from the proceeds of Bonds or Parity Obligations held by the Trustee or other fiduciary as
capitalized interest specifically to pay such interest by the Trustee or other fiduciary and to the
extent such payments are to be paid from pledged Subsidy Payments the District expects to
receive;

(©) in determining the principal amount due in each Fiscal Year, payment shall
(unless a different subsection of this definition applies for purposes of determining principal
maturities or amortization) be assumed to be made in accordance with any amortization schedule
established for such debt, including any Mandatory Sinking Account Payments or any scheduled
redemption or payment of Bonds on the basis of Accreted Value, and for such purpose, the
redemption payment or payment of Accreted Value shall be deemed a principal payment and
interest that is compounded and paid as Accreted Value shall be deemed due on the scheduled
redemption or payment date of such Capital Appreciation Bond or Combination Bond;

(d) if the Bonds or Parity Obligations are debt, the principal of which the District
determines (in a Supplemental Indenture or other document delivered on a date not later than the
date of issuance of such Bonds or Parity Obligations) that the District intends to pay with moneys
which are not Revenues (such as commercial paper, balloon indebtedness or bond anticipation
notes), but from future debt obligations of the District, grants received from the State or federal
government, or any agency or instrumentality thereof, or any other source of funds of the District,
the principal of such Bonds or Parity Obligations will be treated as if such principal were due
based upon a 30-year level amortization of principal from the date of calculation and the interest
on such Bonds or Parity Obligations shall be calculated as if such Bonds were Variable Rate
Indebtedness;

(e) if any Bonds feature an option, on the part of the Bondowners or an obligation
under the terms of such Bonds, to tender all or a portion of such Bonds to the District, the
Trustee, or other fiduciary or agent and require that such Bonds or portion thereof be purchased if
properly presented, then for purposes of determining the amounts of principal and interest due in
any Fiscal Year on such Bonds, the options or obligations of the Owners of such Bonds to tender
the same for purchase or payment prior to their stated maturity or maturities shall be ignored and
not treated as a principal maturity and repayment obligations related to the purchase price of such
Bonds provided by a Liquidity Facility and the obligation of the District with respect to the
provider of such Liquidity Facility, other than its obligations on such Bonds, shall be excluded
from the tests for the issuance of Parity Obligations until such time as such obligation exist due to
such purchase and thereafter, such repayment obligations of the District to the provider of such
Liquidity Facility shall be included in the computation of the Maximum Annual Debt Service in
accordance with the terms of such obligation;

() with respect to any Variable Rate Indebtedness for which an Interest Rate Swap
Agreement is in place, if (i) the interest rate on such Variable Rate Indebtedness, plus (ii) the
payments received and made by the District under an Interest Rate Swap Agreement with respect
to such variable interest rate, are expected to produce a synthetic fixed rate to be paid by the
District (e.g., an interest rate swap under which the District pays a fixed rate and receives a

D-9
OHSUSA:765024972.2





variable rate that is expected to equal or approximate the rate of interest on such Variable Rate
Indebtedness), the Variable Rate Indebtedness shall be treated as bearing such synthetic fixed rate
for the duration of the synthetic fixed rate; and

(2) if any Bonds or Parity Obligations bear a fixed interest rate or the Bonds or
Parity Obligations proposed to be issued will bear a fixed interest rate and an Interest Rate Swap
Agreement is entered into with respect to such Bonds or Parity Obligations, if (i) the interest rate
on such fixed rate Bonds or Parity Obligations, plus (ii) the payments received and made by the
District under an Interest Rate Swap Agreement with respect to such fixed rate Bonds or Parity
Obligations, are expected to produce a synthetic variable rate to be paid by the District (e.g., an
interest rate swap under which the District pays a variable rate and receives a fixed rate that is
expected to equal or approximate the rate of interest on such fixed interest rate debt), the fixed
interest rate debt, shall be treated as bearing such synthetic variable rate for the duration of the
Interest Rate Swap Agreement calculated as if such Bonds or Parity Obligations were Variable
Rate Indebtedness.

“1990 Indenture” means the indenture dated as of July 1, 1990, by and between the District and
U.S. Bank National Association, as successor trustee, pursuant to which the District has issued sales tax
revenue bonds, which bonds shall be Parity Obligations thereunder.

“Opinion of Bond Counsel” means a written opinion of a law firm of national standing in the
field of public finance selected by the District.

“Outstanding,” when used as of any particular time with reference to Bonds, means (subject to
the provisions of Section 11.09) all Bonds theretofore, or thereupon being, authenticated and delivered by
the Trustee under this Indenture except (1) Bonds theretofore cancelled by the Trustee or surrendered to
the Trustee for cancellation; (2) Bonds with respect to which all liability of the District shall have been
discharged in accordance with the provisions of the Indenture; and (3) Bonds for the transfer or exchange
of or in lieu of or in substitution for which other Bonds shall have been authenticated and delivered by the
Trustee pursuant to the Indenture; provided, however, that in the event the principal of or interest due on
any Bonds shall be paid by the Credit Provider pursuant to the Credit Enhancement issued in connection
with such Bonds, such Bonds shall remain Outstanding for all purposes and shall not be considered
defeased or otherwise satisfied or paid by the District and the pledge of Revenues and all covenants,
agreements and other obligations of the District to the Owners shall continue to exist and shall run to the
benefit of such Credit Provider and such Credit Provider shall be subrogated to the rights of such Owners.

“Owner” or “Bondholder” or “Bondowner,” whenever used with respect to a Bond, means the
person in whose name such Bond is registered.

“Parity Obligations” means any indebtedness, bond, installment sale obligation, lease obligation
or other obligation of the District for borrowed money or interest rate swap agreement (but only as to the
regular payments thereunder, fees, expenses and termination payments being subordinate obligations)
having an equal lien and charge upon the Sales Tax Revenues and therefore payable on a parity with the
Bonds (whether or not any Bonds are Outstanding).

“Person” means a corporation, firm, association, partnership, trust, or other legal entity or group
of entities, including a governmental entity or any agency or political subdivision thereof.

“Principal Fund” means the fund by that name established pursuant to the provisions of the
Indenture.

OHSUSA:765024972.2





“Project” means the planning, acquisition, construction, operation or maintenance of any facility
or facilities necessary or convenient for the transportation of passengers and their incidental baggage by
any means, or incidental to, or in connection with, the operation of the transit system of the District,
which shall constitute an “enterprise” within the meaning of Section 54309 of the California Government
Code. Such facilities shall include, but are not limited to, any and all works, structures, property, rolling
stock or other facilities of any kind which the District is authorized to acquire, construct or complete.

“Project Fund” means the fund by that name established by a Supplemental Indenture to hold the
proceeds of a Series of Bonds or a portion thereof prior to expenditure on the Project.

“Proportionate Basis,” when used with respect to the redemption of Bonds, means that the
amount of Bonds of each maturity to be redeemed shall be determined as nearly as practicable by
multiplying the total amount of funds available for redemption by the ratio which the amount of Bond
Obligation of Bonds of such maturity bears to the amount of all Bond Obligation of Bonds to be
redeemed, provided that if the amount available for redemption of Bonds of any maturity is insufficient to
redeem a multiple of $5,000 principal amount or Accreted Value payable at maturity, such amount shall
be applied to the redemption of the highest possible integral multiple (if any) of $5,000 principal amount
or Accreted Value payable at maturity. For purposes of the foregoing, Term Bonds shall be deemed to
mature in the years and in the amounts of the Mandatory Sinking Account Payments, and Capital
Appreciation Bonds, Combination Bonds and Current Interest Bonds maturing or subject to Mandatory
Sinking Account Payments in the same year shall be treated as separate maturities. When used with
respect to the payment or purchase of Bonds, “Proportionate Basis™ shall have the same meaning set forth
above except that “pay” or “purchase” shall be substituted for “redeem” or “redemption” and “paid” or
“purchased” shall be substituted for “redeemed.”

“Purchase Fund” means a fund by that name established to hold funds to be applied to pay the
purchase price of a Series of Bonds, which fund shall be established pursuant to the Supplemental
Indenture establishing the terms and provisions of such Series of Bonds.

“Rating Agency” means, as and to the extent applicable to a Series of Bonds, each of Fitch and
Standard & Poor’s then maintaining a rating on such Series of Bonds at the request of the District.

“Rating Category” means (i) with respect to any long-term rating category, all ratings designated
by a particular letter or combination of letters, without regard to any numerical modifier, plus or minus
sign or other modifier and (ii) with respect to any short-term or commercial paper rating category, all
ratings designated by a particular letter or combination of letters and taking into account any numerical
modifier, but not any plus or minus sign or other modifier.

“Rebate Fund” means that fund by that name established pursuant to the provisions of the
Indenture.

“Rebate Instructions” means those calculations and directions required to be delivered to the
Trustee by the District under the Tax Certificate.

“Rebate Requirement” means the Rebate Requirement as such term is defined in the Tax
Certificate.

“Redemption Price” means, with respect to any Bond (or portion thereof) the principal amount or

accreted value of such Bond (or portion thereof) plus the applicable premium, if any, payable upon
redemption thereof pursuant to the provisions of such Bond and the Indenture.

OHSUSA:765024972.2





“Reserve Facility” means any insurance policy, letter of credit or surety bond issued by a Reserve
Facility Provider, meeting the requirements set forth in the Indenture, and delivered to the Trustee in
satisfaction of all or a portion of the Bond Reserve Requirement applicable to one or more Series of
Bonds.

“Reserve Facility Provider” means any issuer of a Reserve Facility.

“Revenue Fund” means the Sales Tax Revenue Fund established pursuant to the provisions of the
Indenture.

“Sales Tax Revenues” means the amounts available for distribution to the District pursuant to
Section 29142.2(a) of the Act on account of the transactions and use tax imposed pursuant to Section
29140 of the Act.

“Serial Bonds” means Bonds, maturing in specified years, for which no Mandatory Sinking
Account Payments are provided.

“Series” whenever used with respect to Bonds, means all of the Bonds designated as being of the
same series, authenticated and delivered in a simultaneous transaction, regardless of variations in
maturity, interest rate, redemption and other provisions, and any Bonds thereafter authenticated and
delivered upon transfer or exchange or in lieu of or in substitution for (but not to refund) such Bonds as
provided in the Indenture.

“SIFMA Swap Index” means, on any date, a rate determined on the basis of the seven-day high
grade market index of tax-exempt variable rate demand obligations, as produced by Municipal Market
Data and published or made available by the Securities Industry & Financial Markets Association
(“SIFMA™) or by any Person acting in cooperation with or under the sponsorship of SIFMA and
acceptable to the District and effective from such date.

“Sinking Accounts” means the accounts in the Principal Fund so designated and established
pursuant to the Indenture for the payment of Term Bonds.

“Standard & Poor’s” or “S&P” means Standard & Poor’s Ratings Services, a division of The
McGraw-Hill Companies, Inc., a corporation duly organized and existing under and by virtue of the laws
of the State of New York, and its successors and assigns, except that if such corporation shall be
dissolved or liquidated or shall no longer perform the functions of a securities rating agency, then the term
“Standard & Poor’s” shall be deemed to refer to any other nationally recognized securities rating agency
selected by the District.

“State” means the State of California.

“Subordinate Obligations” means any obligations of the District issued or incurred in accordance
with the Indenture.

“Subordinate Obligations Fund” means the fund by that name established pursuant to the
Indenture.

“Subsidy Payments” means payments to be made by the United States Treasury to the Trustee,
for credit to the accounts held by the Trustee on behalf of the District, with respect to the interest due on a
Series of Bonds that qualify for one or more direct subsidy payments or other form of credits or payments
pursuant to the Code, including, without limitation, pursuant to Section 54AA or Section 6431 of the
Code or any successor to either such provision.

D-12
OHSUSA:765024972.2





“Supplemental Indenture” means any indenture duly executed and delivered, supplementing,
modifying or amending the Indenture, but only if and to the extent that such Supplemental Indenture is
specifically authorized under the Indenture.

“Swap Revenues” means all regularly-scheduled amounts (but not termination payments) owed
or paid to the District by any counterparty under any Interest Rate Swap Agreement after offset for the
regularly-scheduled amounts (but not termination payments) owed or paid by the District to such
counterparty under such Interest Rate Swap Agreement.

“System” means any and all works, structures, property, rolling stock or other facilities of any
kind, which the District is now or hereafter authorized by law to acquire, construct or complete.

“Tax Certificate” means the Tax Certificate delivered by the District at the time of the issuance
and delivery of any Series of Bonds, as the same may be amended or supplemented in accordance with its
terms.

“Term Bonds” means Bonds payable at or before their specified maturity date or dates from
Mandatory Sinking Account Payments established for that purpose and calculated to retire such Bonds on
or before their specified maturity date or dates.

“Trustee” means U.S. Bank National Association, a national banking association organized and
existing under the laws of the United States of America, or its successors as Trustee as provided in the
Indenture.

“Variable Rate Indebtedness” means any indebtedness the interest rate on which is not fixed at
the time of incurrence of such indebtedness, and has not at some subsequent date been fixed, at a single
numerical rate for the entire term of the indebtedness.

“2016 Costs of Issuance Fund” means the fund by that name established pursuant to the Third
Supplemental Indenture.

Additional Bonds; Refunding Bonds; Parity Obligations; Subordinate Obligations

Additional Bonds. The District may, by Supplemental Indenture, establish one or more Series of
Bonds, payable from Sales Tax Revenues and secured by a pledge under the Indenture equally and ratably
with Bonds previously issued, and the District may issue, and the Trustee may authenticate and deliver to
or upon the written order of the District, Bonds of any such Series so established, in such principal
amount as shall be determined by the District, but only upon compliance by the District with certain
requirements and conditions, including the following:

(a) The Trustee shall have received a Certificate of the District stating that no Event of
Default has occurred and is then continuing.

(b) The Trustee shall have received an Opinion of Bond Counsel to the effect that the
Supplemental Indenture authorizing such Series of Bonds has been duly executed and delivered
by the District, that the Bonds of such Series, when duly executed by the District and
authenticated by the Trustee, will be valid and binding special obligations of the District.

(c) The Trustee shall have received a Certificate of the District certifying that: (1) the
amount of Sales Tax Revenues received plus the amount of Associated Sales Tax Revenues
relating to any recently annexed jurisdiction for any period of 12 consecutive months during the
18 months immediately preceding the date on which such additional Series of Bonds will become

D-13
OHSUSA:765024972.2





Outstanding shall have been at least equal to 1.5 times the amount of Maximum Annual Debt
Service on all Series of Bonds and Parity Obligations then Outstanding, and the additional Series
of Bonds then proposed to be issued; (2) the amount of Sales Tax Revenues for the Fiscal Year in
which the Bonds are to be issued and each of the next succeeding 4 Fiscal Years under the laws
then in existence at the time of issuance of such additional Series of Bonds are estimated by the
District to be at least 1.5 times the amount of Annual Debt Service on all Series of Bonds and
Parity Obligations then Outstanding, including the additional Series of Bonds then proposed to be
issued, in each such Fiscal Year; and (3) Sales Tax Revenues for the Fiscal Year in which the
additional Series of Bonds are to be issued under the laws then in existence at the time of the
issuance of such additional Series of Bonds shall be at least 1.0 times the amount of the District’s
obligations with respect to repayment of any withdrawals under a Reserve Facility, if any, then
due and owing under the Reserve Facility.

Refunding Bonds. Refunding Bonds may be authorized and issued by the District, without
compliance with the requirements described immediately above under the subcaption “Additional
Bonds,” in an aggregate principal amount sufficient (together with any additional funds available or to
become available) to provide funds for the payment of all of the following:

(a) The principal or Redemption Price of the Outstanding Bonds or Parity
Obligations to be refunded.

(b) All expenses incident to the calling, retiring or paying of such Outstanding Bonds
or Parity Obligations and the Costs of Issuance of such refunding Bonds.

(©) Interest on all Outstanding Bonds or Parity Obligations to be refunded to the date
such Bonds or Parity Obligations will be called for redemption or paid at maturity.

(d) Interest on the refunding Bonds from the date thereof to the date of payment or
redemption of the Bonds or Parity Obligations to be refunded.

Before such additional Series of refunding Bonds shall be issued and delivered, the District shall
file the following documents with the Trustee:

(a) An Opinion of Bond Counsel to the effect that the execution of the Supplemental
Indenture authorizing the refunding Bonds has been duly authorized by the District, that such
Series, when duly executed by the District and authenticated and delivered by the Trustee, will be
valid and binding special obligations of the District, and that upon delivery of such Series the
aggregate principal amount of Bonds then Outstanding will not exceed the amount permitted by
law or by the Indenture.

(b) If any of the Bonds to be refunded are to be redeemed prior to their stated
maturity dates, irrevocable instructions to the Trustee to give the applicable notice of redemption
or a waiver of the notice of redemption signed by the Owners of all or the portion of the Bonds or
Parity Obligations to be redeemed, or proof that such notice has been given by the District;
provided, however, that in lieu of such instructions or waiver or proof of notice of redemption,
the District may cause to be deposited with the Trustee all of the Bonds and Parity Obligations
proposed to be redeemed (whether cancelled or uncancelled) with irrevocable instructions to the
Trustee to cancel said Bonds or Parity Obligations so to be redeemed upon the exchange and
delivery of said refunding Bonds.

(©) A Certificate of the District certifying that: (1) the amount of Sales Tax
Revenues received plus the amount of Associated Sales Tax Revenues relating to any recently

D-14
OHSUSA:765024972.2





annexed jurisdiction for any period of 12 consecutive months during the 18 months immediately
preceding the date on which such additional Series of Bonds will become Outstanding shall have
been at least equal to 1.5 times the amount of Maximum Annual Debt Service on all Series of
Bonds and Parity Obligations then Outstanding, and the additional Series of Bonds then proposed
to be issued (provided that in calculating the amount of Maximum Annual Debt Service on all
Series of Bonds and Parity Obligations then Outstanding, the Bonds and Parity Obligations to be
refunded by such refunding Bonds shall not be treated as Outstanding); (2) the amount of Sales
Tax Revenues for the Fiscal Year in which the Bonds are to be issued and each of the next
succeeding 4 Fiscal Years under the laws then in existence at the time of issuance of such
additional Series of Bonds are estimated by the District to be at least 1.5 times the amount of
Annual Debt Service on all Series of Bonds and Parity Obligations then Outstanding, including
the additional Series of Bonds then proposed to be issued, in each such Fiscal Year; and (3) Sales
Tax Revenues for the Fiscal Year in which the additional Series of Bonds are to be issued under
the laws then in existence at the time of the issuance of such additional Series of Bonds shall be at
least 1.0 times the amount of the District’s obligations with respect to repayment of any
withdrawals under a Reserve Facility, if any, then due and owing under the Reserve Facility.

Parity Obligations. The District will not, so long as any of the Bonds are outstanding, issue any
obligations or securities, payable in whole or in part from Sales Tax Revenues, except additional Bonds
issued pursuant to the provisions of the Indenture described above under the subcaption “Additional
Bonds,” refunding Bonds issued pursuant to the provisions of the Indenture described above under the
subcaption “Refunding Bonds,” and Parity Obligations payable on a parity with the Bonds, which Parity
Obligations will have, when issued, an equal lien and charge upon the Sales Tax Revenues, provided that
the following conditions to the issuance of such Parity Obligations are satisfied:

(D) Such Parity Obligations have been duly and legally authorized for any lawful
purpose.

2) No Event of Default shall have occurred and then be continuing, as evidenced by
a Certificate the District filed with the Trustee.

3) Unless such Parity Obligations are for refunding purposes as specified in the
Indenture, the District shall have obtained and placed on file with the Trustee a Certificate of the
District certifying that the debt service coverage ratio requirements applicable to the issuance of
additional Bonds described above under the subcaption “Additional Bonds” have been met with
respect to such Parity Obligations.

4) The District shall have filed with the Trustee an Opinion of Bond Counsel to the
effect that such Parity Obligations have been duly authorized in accordance with law.

5) The Trustee shall be designated as paying agent or trustee for such Parity
Obligations and the District shall deliver to the Trustee a transcript of the proceedings providing
for the issuance of such Parity Obligations (but the Trustee shall not be responsible for the
validity or sufficiency of such proceedings or such Parity Obligations).

Subordinate Obligations. Subordinate Obligations that are payable as to principal, premium,
interest and reserve fund requirements, if any, only out of Sales Tax Revenues after the prior payment of
all amounts then required to be paid under the Indenture from Sales Tax Revenues for principal, premium,
interest and reserve fund requirements, if any, for all Bonds Outstanding, and all Parity Obligations
outstanding, as the same become due and payable, and at the times and in the amounts as required in the
Indenture and in the instrument or instruments pursuant to which any Parity Obligations were issued or

D-15
OHSUSA:765024972.2





incurred, provided that the following conditions to issuance or incurrence of such Subordinate Obligations
are satisfied:

@) Such Subordinate Obligations have been duly and legally authorized by the
District for any lawful purpose.

2) No Event of Default shall have occurred and then be continuing, as evidenced by
the delivery to the Trustee of a Certificate of the District to that effect.

3) As and to the extent applicable, the Trustee shall be designated as paying agent
or trustee for such Subordinate Obligations and the District shall deliver to the Trustee a
transcript of the proceedings providing for the issuance of such Subordinate Obligations (but the
Trustee shall not be responsible for the validity or sufficiency of such proceedings or such
Subordinate Obligations).

Termination Payments. Termination payments and fees and expenses on Interest Rate Swap
Agreements, Liquidity Provider or Credit Provider fees and expenses and other obligations that may be
secured by a lien and charge on the Sales Tax Revenues subordinate to the lien and charge upon the Sales
Tax Revenues that secures the Bonds, Parity Obligations and payment of principal of and interest on
Subordinate Obligations.

Mandatory Purchase In Lieu of Redemption

Each Owner, by purchase and acceptance of any 2016 Series A Bonds, irrevocably grants to the
District the option to purchase such 2016 Series A Bonds at any time such 2016 Series A Bonds is subject
to optional redemption as provided in the Indenture at a purchase price equal to the Redemption Price
then applicable to such 2016 Series A Bonds. In order to exercise such option, the District shall direct the
Trustee to provide notice of mandatory purchase, such notice to be provided, as and to the extent
applicable, in accordance with the provisions set forth in the Indenture. On the date fixed for purchase of
any 2016 Series A Bonds pursuant to this paragraph, the District shall pay the purchase price of such
2016 Series A Bonds to the Trustee in immediately available funds and the Trustee shall pay the same to
the Owners of 2016 Series A Bonds being purchased against delivery thereof. Following such purchase,
the Trustee shall register such 2016 Series A Bonds in accordance with the written instructions of the
District. No purchase of any 2016 Series A Bonds pursuant to this paragraph shall operate to extinguish
the indebtedness evidenced by such 2016 Series A Bonds. No Owner may elect to retain 2016 Series A
Bonds subject to mandatory purchase pursuant to this paragraph. Notwithstanding the foregoing, nothing
contained herein is meant to prevent the District from purchasing 2016 Series A Bonds on the open
market for cancellation.

Establishment and Application of Funds and Accounts; Investments

The following funds and accounts are established pursuant to the Indenture: the Revenue Fund,
the Interest Fund, the Principal Fund, the Bond Reserve Fund, the Redemption Fund, the Rebate Fund,
Subordinate Obligations Fund and the Expense Account. In addition, the 2016 Costs of Issuance Fund is
established pursuant to the Third Supplemental Indenture.

For a description of the allocation of Sales Tax Revenues and the Interest Fund, Principal Fund,
Bond Reserve Fund and Expense Account see “SECURITY FOR THE 2016 SERIES A BONDS” in the front
portion of this Official Statement.

Redemption Fund. All moneys deposited by the District with the Trustee for the purpose of
optionally redeeming Bonds of any Series shall, unless otherwise directed by the District, be deposited in

D-16
OHSUSA:765024972.2





the Redemption Fund. All amounts deposited in the Redemption Fund shall be used and withdrawn by
the Trustee solely for the purpose of redeeming Bonds of such Series and maturity as shall be specified by
the District in a request to the Trustee, in the manner, at the times and upon the terms and conditions
specified in the Supplemental Indenture pursuant to which such Series of Bonds was created; provided
that, at any time prior to giving such notice of redemption, the Trustee shall, upon receipt of a Request of
the District, apply such amounts to the purchase of Bonds of such Series at public or private sale, as and
when and at such prices (including brokerage and other charges) as is directed by the District, except that
the purchase price (exclusive of accrued interest) may not exceed the Redemption Price or Accreted
Value then applicable to such Bonds. All Term Bonds purchased or redeemed from the Redemption Fund
shall be allocated to Mandatory Sinking Account Payments applicable to such Series and maturity of
Term Bonds as may be specified in a Request of the District.

Investments. All moneys in any of the funds and accounts held by the Trustee and established
pursuant to the Indenture shall be invested, as directed by the District solely in Investment Securities,
subject to the limitations set forth in the Indenture. If and to the extent the Trustee does not receive
investment instructions from the District with respect to the moneys in the funds and accounts held by the
Trustee pursuant to the Indenture, such moneys will be invested in Investment Securities described in
clause (xii) of the definition thereof and the Trustee shall request investment instructions from the District
for such moneys.

Moneys in the Bond Reserve Fund shall be invested in Investment Securities available on demand
or maturing within 10 years of the date of such investment. Moneys in the remaining funds and accounts
shall be invested in Investment Securities maturing or available on demand not later than the date on
which it is estimated that such moneys will be required by the Trustee.

Unless otherwise provided in a Supplemental Indenture, all interest, profits and other income
received from the investment of moneys in any fund or account, other than the Rebate Fund or a Project
Fund, shall be transferred to the District when received. All investment earnings on funds held in each
Project Fund shall be deposited in such Project Fund unless transferred by the District to the Trustee to be
deposited in the Rebate Fund. All interest, profits and other income received from the investment of
moneys in the Rebate Fund shall be deposited in the Rebate Fund pursuant to the Indenture, unless the
Trustee is otherwise directed by the District in accordance with the provisions of the Tax Certificate.

Interest Rate Swaps. The District may and the Trustee shall, upon the Request of the District, and
provided that the Trustee is supplied with an Opinion of Bond Counsel to the effect that such action is
permitted under the laws of the State of California, enter into an Interest Rate Swap Agreement
corresponding to the interest rate or rates payable on a Series of Bonds or any portion thereof and the
amounts received by the District or the Trustee, if any, pursuant to such an Interest Rate Swap Agreement
may be applied to the deposits required under the Indenture. If the District so designates, amounts
payable under the Interest Rate Swap Agreement shall be secured by Sales Tax Revenues and other assets
pledged under the Indenture to the Bonds on a parity basis therewith and, in such event, the District shall
pay to the Trustee for deposit in the Interest Fund, at the times and in the manner provided by the
provisions of the Indenture, the amounts to be paid under such Interest Rate Swap Agreement, as if such
amounts were additional interest due on the Bonds to which such Interest Rate Swap Agreement relates,
and the Trustee shall pay to the other party to the Interest Rate Swap Agreement, to the extent required
thereunder, amounts deposited in the Interest Fund for the payment of interest on the Bonds with respect
to which such agreement was entered into; provided that all termination payments payable with respect to
an Interest Rate Swap Agreement shall only be payable on a subordinate basis to payment of principal
and interest on the Bonds and to costs of replenishing the Bond Reserve Fund, including, without
limitation, any account therein securing a Series of Bonds or any costs associated with a surety bond or

OHSUSA:765024972.2





other instrument permitted under the Indenture to be deposited therein to provide credit support for a
Series of Bonds.

Certain Covenants of the District

Collection of Sales Tax Revenues. The District has duly levied a transactions and use tax in
accordance with the Act, pursuant to and in accordance with Ordinance No. 1, as amended by Ordinance
Nos. 2, 3,4,5,7,8,9 and 10. Said Ordinance has not and will not be amended, modified or altered so
long as any of the Bonds are Outstanding in any manner which would reduce the amount of or timing of
receipt of Sales Tax Revenues, and the District will continue to levy and collect such transactions and use
taxes to the full amount permitted by law. The District has entered into an agreement with the State
Board of Equalization under and pursuant to which the State Board of Equalization processes and
supervises collection of said transactions and use taxes and transmits Sales Tax Revenues directly to the
Trustee. Said agreement will be continued in effect so long as any of the Bonds are Outstanding and shall
not be amended, modified or altered without the written consent of the Trustee so long as any of the
Bonds are Outstanding. The District will receive and hold in trust for (and remit immediately to) the
Trustee any Sales Tax Revenues paid to the District by the State Board of Equalization.

The District covenants and agrees to separately account for all Sales Tax Revenues and to provide
to the Trustee access to such accounting records at reasonable hours and under reasonable circumstances.

The District covenants that so long as the Bonds are Outstanding, it will not, to the best of its
ability, suffer or permit any change, modification or alteration to be made to the legislation authorizing
the levy and collection of the transactions and use tax which would materially and adversely affect the
rights of Bondholders.

General Covenants. The District has covenanted, among other things, (1) to punctually pay or
cause to be paid the principal or Redemption Price of and interest on the Bonds, but only out of Sales Tax
Revenues as provided in the Indenture, (2) to maintain and preserve the System in good repair and
working order at all times and to operate the System in an efficient and economical manner, (3) to keep
proper books of record and accounts, prepared in accordance with generally accepted accounting
principles, relating to Sales Tax Revenues, which shall be available for inspection by the Trustee at
reasonable hours and under reasonable circumstances, (4) to cause the annual preparation and filing with
the Trustee, so long as any of the Bonds are Outstanding, of reasonably detailed financial statements for
the preceding Fiscal Year, which financial statements shall be accompanied by an opinion of an
independent certified public accountant, (5) to pay and discharge, or cause to be paid and discharged, all
taxes, assessments and other governmental charges, if any, lawfully imposed upon the System or any part
thereof or upon any Sales Tax Revenues, when the same shall become due, and (6) to commence and
continue to completion the acquisition and construction of all facilities for which any of the Bonds are
issued.

Tax Covenants. The District has covenanted in the Indenture not to take any action, or fail to take
any action, if any such action or failure to act would adversely affect the exclusion from gross income of
the interest on the Bonds under Section 103 of the Code. The District has covenanted to comply with the
provisions of the Tax Certificate.

The District specifically covenants to pay or cause to be paid to the federal government of the
United States of America the Rebate Requirement at the times and in the amounts determined under and
as described in the Tax Certificate. This covenant shall survive the defeasance of the Bonds or any Series
thereof.

OHSUSA:765024972.2





If the District shall receive an Opinion of Bond Counsel to the effect that any action required
under the tax covenants of the Indenture is no longer required, or to the effect that some further action is
required, to maintain the exclusion from gross income of the interest on the Bonds pursuant to Section
103 of the Code, the District and the Trustee may rely conclusively on such opinion in complying with
the provisions of the Indenture, and such tax covenants in the Indenture shall be deemed to be modified to
that extent.

Events of Default and Remedies
The following events shall be Events of Default:

(a) default in the due and punctual payment of the principal or Redemption Price of
any Bond when and as the same shall become due and payable, whether at maturity as therein
expressed, by proceedings for redemption, by declaration or otherwise, or default in the
redemption from any Sinking Account of any Bonds in the amounts and at the times provided
therefor;

(b) default in the due and punctual payment of any installment of interest on any
Bond when and as such interest installment shall become due and payable;

(©) if the District shall fail to observe or perform any covenant, condition, agreement
or provision in the Indenture on its part to be observed or performed, other than as described in
subsection (a) or (b) above, for a period of 60 days after written notice, specifying such failure
and requesting that it be remedied, has been given to the District by the Trustee; except that, if
such failure can be remedied but not within such 60-day period and if the District has taken all
action reasonably possible to remedy such failure within such 60-day period, such failure shall
not become an Event of Default for so long as the District shall diligently proceed to remedy the
same in accordance with and subject to any directions or limitations of time established by the

Trustee;

(d) if any default shall exist under any agreement governing any Parity Obligations
and such default shall continue beyond the grace period, if any, provided for with respect to such
default;

(e) if the District files a petition in voluntary bankruptcy, for the composition of its

affairs or for its corporate reorganization under any state or federal bankruptcy or insolvency law,
or makes an assignment for the benefit of creditors, or admits in writing to its insolvency or
inability to pay debts as they mature, or consents in writing to the appointment of a trustee or
receiver for itself;

® if a court of competent jurisdiction shall enter an order, judgment or decree
declaring the District insolvent, or adjudging it bankrupt, or appointing a trustee or receiver of the
District, or approving a petition filed against the District seeking reorganization of the District
under any applicable law or statute of the United States of America or any state thereof, and such
order, judgment or decree shall not be vacated or set aside or stayed within 60 days from the date
of the entry thereof;

(2) if, under the provisions of any other law for the relief or aid of debtors, any court
of competent jurisdiction shall assume custody or control of the District or of the Sales Tax
Revenues, and such custody or control shall not be terminated within 60 days from the date of
assumption of such custody or control; or

OHSUSA:765024972.2





(h) if the Legislature of the State shall repeal or amend all or any portion of the
provisions of the Act relating to the retail transactions and use tax, being Section 29140 of the
Public Utilities Code, unless the District determines that said repeal or amendment does not
materially and adversely affect the rights of Bondholders.

Application of Sales Tax Revenues and Other Funds After Default. If and for so long as an Event
of Default shall occur and be continuing, the District shall immediately transfer to the Trustee all Sales
Tax Revenues held by it and the Trustee shall apply all Sales Tax Revenues and any other funds then held
or thereafter received by the Trustee under any of the provisions of the Indenture (except as otherwise
provided in the Indenture) as follows and in the following order:

(D) To the payment of any expenses necessary in the opinion of the Trustee to protect
the interests of the Owners of the Bonds and Parity Obligations, including the costs and expenses
of the Trustee and the Bondholders in declaring such Event of Default, and payment of
reasonable fees and expenses of the Trustee (including reasonable fees and disbursements of its
counsel and other agents) incurred in and about the performance of its powers and duties under
the Indenture;

2) To the payment of the whole amount of Bond Obligation then due on the Bonds
and Parity Obligations (upon presentation of the Bonds and Parity Obligations to be paid, and
stamping thereon of the payment if only partially paid, or surrender thereof if fully paid) subject
to the provisions of the Indenture, with interest on such Bond Obligation, at the rate or rates of
interest borne by the respective Bonds and Parity Obligations, to the payment to the persons
entitled thereto of all installments of interest then due and the unpaid principal or Redemption
Price of any Bonds and Parity Obligations which shall have become due, whether at maturity or
by call for redemption, in the order of their due dates, with interest on the overdue Bond
Obligation and Parity Obligations at the rate borne by the respective Bonds and Parity
Obligations, and, if the amount available shall not be sufficient to pay in full all the Bonds and
Parity Obligations due on any date, together with such interest, then to the payment thereof
ratably, according to the amounts of principal or interest or Accreted Value (plus accrued interest)
due on such date to the persons entitled thereto, without any discrimination or preference.

3) To the payment of reimbursement of withdrawals under any Reserve Facility
and, at the written request of the provider of the Reserve Facility, costs and interested related
thereto.

Trustee to Represent Bondholders. The Trustee is irrevocably appointed (and the successive
respective Owners of the Bonds, by taking and holding the same, shall be conclusively deemed to have so
appointed the Trustee) as trustee and true and lawful attorney-in-fact of the Owners of the Bonds for the
purpose of exercising and prosecuting on their behalf such rights and remedies as may be available to
such Owners under the provisions of the Bonds, the Indenture, the Act and applicable provisions of any
other law. Upon the occurrence and continuance of an Event of Default or other occasion giving rise to a
right in the Trustee to represent the Bondholders, the Trustee in its discretion may, and upon the written
request of the Owners of not less than 25% in aggregate amount of Bond Obligation of the Bonds then
Outstanding, and upon being indemnified to its satisfaction therefor, shall, proceed to protect or enforce
its rights or the rights of such Owners by such appropriate action, suit, mandamus or other proceedings as
it shall deem most effectual to protect and enforce any such right, at law or in equity, either for the
specific performance of any covenant or agreement contained herein, or in aid of the execution of any
power herein granted, or for the enforcement of any other appropriate legal or equitable right or remedy
vested in the Trustee or in such Owners under the Indenture, the Act or any other law; and upon
instituting such proceeding, the Trustee shall be entitled, as a matter of right, to the appointment of a

D-20
OHSUSA:765024972.2





receiver of the Sales Tax Revenues and other assets pledged under the Indenture, pending such
proceedings. All rights of action under the Indenture or the Bonds or otherwise may be prosecuted and
enforced by the Trustee without the possession of any of the Bonds or the production thereof in any
proceeding relating thereto, and any such suit, action or proceeding instituted by the Trustee shall be
brought in the name of the Trustee for the benefit and protection of all the Owners of such Bonds, subject
to the provisions of the Indenture.

Termination of Proceedings. In case any proceedings taken by the Trustee, the Bond Insurer or
any one or more Owners on account of any Event of Default shall have been discontinued or abandoned
for any reason or shall have been determined adversely to the Trustee, the Bond Insurer or the Owners,
then in every such case the District, the Trustee, the Bond Insurer and the Owners, subject to any
determination in such proceedings, shall be restored to their former positions and rights under the
Indenture, severally and respectively, and all rights, remedies, powers and duties of the District, the
Trustee, the Bond Insurer and the Owners shall continue as though no such proceedings had been taken.

Remedies Not Exclusive. No remedy in the Indenture conferred upon or reserved to the Trustee,
the Bond Insurer or to the Owners is intended to be exclusive of any other remedy or remedies, and each
and every such remedy, to the extent permitted by law, shall be cumulative and in addition to any other
remedy given under the Indenture or now or hereafter existing at law or in equity or otherwise.

Bondholders’ Direction of Proceedings. Except as provided under “Bond Insurer’s Direction of
Proceedings” anything in the Indenture to the contrary notwithstanding, the Owners of a majority in
aggregate amount of Bond Obligation of the Bonds then Outstanding shall have the right, by an
instrument or concurrent instruments in writing executed and delivered to the Trustee and upon furnishing
the Trustee with indemnification satisfactory to it, to direct the method of conducting all remedial
proceedings taken by the Trustee under the Indenture, all as more fully described in the Indenture.

Limitation on Bondholders’ Right to Sue. No Owner of any Bond shall have the right to institute
any suit, action or proceeding at law or in equity, for the protection or enforcement of any right or remedy
under the Indenture, the Act or any other applicable law with respect to such Bond, unless: (1) such
Owner shall have given to the Trustee written notice of the occurrence of an Event of Default; (2) the
Owners of not less than 25% in aggregate amount of Bond Obligation of the Bonds then Outstanding
shall have made written request upon the Trustee to exercise the powers granted in the Indenture or to
institute such suit, action or proceeding in its own name; (3) such Owner or said Owners shall have
tendered to the Trustee reasonable indemnity against the costs, expenses and liabilities to be incurred in
compliance with such request; (4) the Trustee shall have refused or omitted to comply with such request
for a period of 60 days after such written request shall have been received by, and said tender of
indemnity shall have been made to, the Trustee; and (5) the Trustee shall not have received contrary
directions from the Owners of a majority in aggregate amount of Bond Obligation of the Bonds then
Outstanding.

Such notification, request, tender of indemnity and refusal or omission are hereby declared, in
every case, to be conditions precedent to the exercise by any Owner of Bonds of any remedy under the
Indenture or under law; it being understood and intended that no one or more Owners of Bonds shall have
any right in any manner whatever by his or their action to affect, disturb or prejudice the security of the
Indenture or the rights of any other Owners of Bonds, or to enforce any right under the Indenture, the Act
or other applicable law with respect to the Bonds, except in the manner in the Indenture provided, and that
all proceedings at law or in equity to enforce any such right shall be instituted, had and maintained in the
manner in the Indenture provided and for the benefit and protection of all Owners of the Outstanding
Bonds, subject to the provisions of the Indenture.

D-21
OHSUSA:765024972.2





Defeasance
Bonds of any Series or a portion thereof may be paid by the District in any of the following ways:

(a) by paying or causing to be paid the Bond Obligations of and interest on such
Outstanding Bonds, as and when the same become due and payable;

(b) by depositing with the Trustee, an escrow agent or other fiduciary, in trust, at or
before maturity, money or securities in the necessary amount (as provided in the Indenture) to pay
or redeem such Outstanding Bonds; or

(©) by delivering to the Trustee, for cancellation by it, such Outstanding Bonds.

If the District shall pay all Bonds Outstanding and also pay or cause to be paid all other sums
payable under the Indenture by the District, then and in that case, at the election of the District (evidenced
by a Certificate of the District filed with the Trustee, signifying the intention of the District to discharge
all such indebtedness and the Indenture), and notwithstanding that any Bonds shall not have been
surrendered for payment, the Indenture and the pledge of Sales Tax Revenues and other assets made
under the Indenture and all covenants, agreements and other obligations of the District under the
Indenture shall cease, terminate, become void and be completely discharged and satisfied.

Discharge of Liability on Bonds. Upon the deposit with the Trustee, escrow agent or other
fiduciary, in trust, at or before maturity, of money or securities in the necessary amount (as provided in
the Indenture and described below under the subcaption “Deposit of Money or Securities with Trustee™)
to pay or redeem any Outstanding Bond (whether upon or prior to its maturity or the redemption date of
such Bond), provided that, if such Bond is to be redeemed prior to maturity, notice of such redemption
shall have been given as in the Indenture provided or provision satisfactory to the Trustee shall have been
made for the giving of such notice, then all liability of the District in respect of such Bond shall cease,
terminate and be completely discharged, provided that the Owner thereof shall thereafter be entitled to the
payment of the principal of and premium, if any, and interest on the Bonds, and the District shall remain
liable for such payment, but only out of such money or securities deposited with the Trustee as aforesaid
for their payment, subject, however, to the provisions of the Indenture described below under the
subcaption “Payment of Bonds After Discharge of Indenture,” and continuing duties of the Trustee under
the Indenture.

Deposit of Money or Securities with Trustee. Whenever in the Indenture it is provided or
permitted that there be deposited with or held in trust by the Trustee money or securities in the necessary
amount to pay or redeem any Bonds, the money or securities so to be deposited or held may include
money or securities held by the Trustee in the funds and accounts established pursuant to the Indenture
and shall be:

(a) lawful money of the United States of America in an amount equal to the principal
amount of such Bonds and all unpaid interest thereon to maturity, except that, in the case of
Bonds which are to be redeemed prior to maturity and in respect of which notice of such
redemption shall have been given as in the Indenture provided or provision satisfactory to the
Trustee shall have been made for the giving of such notice, the amount to be deposited or held
shall be the principal amount or Redemption Price of such Bonds and all unpaid interest thereon
to the redemption date; or

(b) Non-callable Investment Securities described in clauses (i), (ii) or (vi) of the
definition thereof the principal of and interest on which when due will, in the opinion of an
independent certified public accountant delivered to the Trustee, provide money sufficient to pay

D-22
OHSUSA:765024972.2





the principal or Redemption Price of and all unpaid interest to maturity, or to the redemption date,
as the case may be, on the Bonds to be paid or redeemed, as such principal or Redemption Price
and interest become due, provided that, in the case of Bonds which are to be redeemed prior to
the maturity thereof, notice of such redemption shall have been given as in the Indenture provided
or provision satisfactory to the Trustee shall have been made for the giving of such notice;
provided, in each case, that the Trustee shall have been irrevocably instructed (by the terms of the
Indenture or by request of the District) to apply such money to the payment of such principal or
Redemption Price and interest with respect to such Bonds.

Payment of Bonds After Discharge of Indenture. Any moneys held by the Trustee in trust for the
payment of the principal or Redemption Price of, or interest on, any Bonds and remaining unclaimed for 2
years after the principal of all of the Bonds has become due and payable (whether at maturity or upon call
for redemption as provided in the Indenture), if such moneys were so held at such date, or 2 years after
the date of deposit of such moneys if deposited after said date when all of the Bonds became due and
payable, shall, upon Request of the District, be repaid to the District free from the trusts created by the
Indenture, and all liability of the Trustee with respect to such moneys shall thereupon cease; provided,
however, that before the repayment of such moneys to the District as aforesaid, the Trustee may (at the
cost of the District) first mail to the Owners of any Bonds remaining unpaid at the addresses shown on the
registration books maintained by the Trustee a notice, in such form as may be deemed appropriate by the
Trustee, with respect to the Bonds so payable and not presented and with respect to the provisions relating
to the repayment to the District of the moneys held for the payment thereof. All moneys held by or on
behalf of the Trustee for the payment of principal of Accreted Value of or interest or premium on Bonds,
whether at redemption or maturity, shall be held in trust for the account of the Owners thereof and the
Trustee shall not be required to pay Owners any interest on, or be liable to the Owners or any other person
(other than the District) for any interest earned on, moneys so held. Any interest earned thereon shall
belong to the District and shall be deposited monthly by the Trustee into the Revenue Fund.

Amendments

The Indenture and the rights and obligations of the District, the Owners of the Bonds and the
Trustee may be modified or amended at any time by a Supplemental Indenture, with the written consent
of the Owners of a majority in the aggregate amount of Bond Obligation of the Bonds (or, if such
Supplemental Indenture is only applicable to a Series of Bonds, such Series of Bonds) then Outstanding;
provided that if such modification or amendment will, by its terms, not take effect so long as any Bonds
of any particular maturity remain Outstanding, the consent of the Owners of such Bonds shall not be
required and such Bonds shall not be deemed to be Outstanding for the purpose of any calculation of
Bonds Outstanding under this caption.

The Indenture and the rights and obligations of the District and of the Owners of the Bonds and of
the Trustee may also be modified or amended at any time by a Supplemental Indenture entered into by the
District and the Trustee which shall become binding when the written consents of each Credit Provider
for the Bonds shall have been filed with the Trustee, provided that at such time the payment of all the
principal of and interest on all Outstanding Bonds shall be insured by a Credit Enhancement the provider
of which shall be a financial institution or association having unsecured debt obligations rated, or insuring
or securing other debt obligations rated on the basis of such Credit Enhancement, in one of the two
highest Rating Categories of Standard & Poor’s.

No such modification or amendment shall (a) extend the fixed maturity of any Bond or reduce the
amount of principal thereof, or extend the time of payment or reduce the amount of any Mandatory
Sinking Account payment provided for the payment of any Bond, or reduce the rate of interest thereon, or
extend the time of payment of interest thereon, or reduce any premium payable upon the redemption

D-23
OHSUSA:765024972.2





thereof, without the consent of the Owner of each Bond so affected, or (b) reduce the aforesaid percentage
of Bond Obligation the consent of the Owners of which is required to effect any such modification or
amendment, or permit the creation of any lien on the Sales Tax Revenues or other assets pledged under
the Indenture prior to or on a parity with the lien created by the Indenture, or deprive the Owners of the
Bonds of the lien created by the Indenture on such Sales Tax Revenues and other assets (except as
expressly provided in the Indenture), without the consent of the Owners of all of the Bonds then
Outstanding.

The Indenture and the rights and obligations of the District, of the Trustee and of the Owners of
the Bonds may also be modified or amended at any time by a Supplemental Indenture, without the
consent of any Bondholders, but only to the extent permitted by law and only for any one or more of the
following purposes:

D To add to the covenants and agreements of the District in the Indenture contained
other covenants and agreements thereafter to be observed, to pledge or assign additional security
for the Bonds (or any portion thereof) or to surrender any right or power reserved to or conferred
upon the District;

2) To make such provisions for the purpose of curing any ambiguity, inconsistency
or omission, or of curing or correcting any defective provision contained in the Indenture, or in
regard to matters or questions arising under the Indenture, as the District may deem necessary or
desirable, and which shall not materially and adversely affect the interests of the Owners of the
Bonds;

3) To modify, amend or supplement the Indenture in such manner as to permit
qualification under the Trust Indenture Act of 1939, as amended, or any similar federal statute
hereafter in effect and to add such other terms, conditions and provisions as may be permitted by
said act or similar federal statute, and which shall not materially and adversely affect the interests
of the Owners of the Bonds;

4) To make modifications or adjustments necessary, appropriate or desirable to
provide for the issuance of Variable Rate Indebtedness, Capital Appreciation Bonds or Parity
Obligations with such interest rate, payment, maturity and other terms as the District may deem
desirable, subject to the provisions of the Indenture described above under the caption
“Additional Bonds, Refunding Bonds, Parity Obligations, Subordinate Obligations”;

(5) To provide for the issuance of Bonds in book-entry form or bearer form, or as
direct placements loans or as may be necessary to accommodate electronic transactions and
recordkeeping and new technology;

(6) To make modifications or adjustments necessary, appropriate or desirable to
accommodate liquidity or credit enhancements including Reserve Facilities delivered with respect
to any Bond Reserve Fund;

(7 If the District agrees in a Supplemental Indenture to maintain the exclusion of
interest on a Series of Bonds from gross income for purposes of federal income taxation, to make
such provisions as are necessary or appropriate to ensure such exclusion;

®) To provide for the issuance of an additional Series of Bonds pursuant to
provisions of the Indenture described above under the caption “Additional Bonds, Refunding
Bonds, Parity Obligations, Subordinate Obligations;”

D-24
OHSUSA:765024972.2





©)) to make modifications or adjustments necessary, appropriate or desirable to
provide for the appointment of an auction agent, a broker-dealer, a remarketing agent, a tender
agent and/or a paying agent in connection with any Series of Bonds;

(10)  to modify, alter, amend or supplement this Indenture in any other respect,
including amendments that would otherwise be described in the Indenture, if the effective date of
such amendments is a date on which all Bonds affected thereby are subject to mandatory tender
for purchase pursuant to the provisions of the Indenture or if notice of the proposed amendments
is given to Owners of the affected Bonds at least thirty (30) days before the proposed effective
date of such amendments and, on or before such effective date, such Owners have the right to
demand purchase of their Bonds pursuant to the provisions of the Indenture or if all Bonds
affected thereby are in an auction mode and a successful auction is held following notice of such
amendment; and

(11)  For any other purpose that does not materially and adversely affect the interests
of the Owners of the Bonds.

Other Provisions

Waiver of Personal Liability. No Board member, officer, agent or employee of the District or the
Trustee shall be individually or personally liable for the payment of the principal or Redemption Price of
or interest on the Bonds or be subject to any personal liability or accountability by reason of the issuance
thereof; but nothing in the Indenture contained shall relieve any such Board member, officer, agent or
employee of the District or the Trustee from the performance of any official duty provided by law or by
the Indenture.

SUMMARY OF THE 1990 INDENTURE RESERVE FUND

[The 1990 Indenture requires the Trustee to deposit into the Bond Reserve Fund held thereunder
(the “1990 Reserve Fund”) such amounts as shall be necessary so that such amount will be equal to the
Bond Reserve Requirement set forth in the 1990 Indenture (the “1990 Reserve Requirement”). The
Series 2010 Bonds issued under the 1990 Indenture have a separate reserve account within the 1990
Reserve Fund (the “Series 2010 Reserve Account”) which, upon the defeasance of the Prior Bonds, will
be combined with the 1990 Reserve Fund and no longer separately maintained. The amounts held in the
1990 Bond Reserve Fund, including the Series 2010 Reserve Account, are only security for the Bonds
issued under the 1990 Indenture and are not available to pay the 2016 Series A Bonds or any Additional
Bonds issued under the Indenture. Upon issuance of the 2016 Series A Bonds, the 1990 Reserve
Requirement will be approximately $[ ], to be funded in cash and securities. The Bonds under
the 1990 Indenture will be additionally secured by the Reserve Policies (as such term is defined in the
1990 Indenture). The Reserve Policies include one issued by Financial Security Assurance, Inc. (now
known as Assured Guaranty Municipal Corp.) in the amount of $4,410,874. Upon issuance of the 2016
Series A Bonds, excess cash in the 1990 Reserve Fund, including the Series 2010 Reserve Account, will
be deposited in the escrow fund established for the Series 6A Bonds that are being refunded by proceeds
of the 2016 Series A Bonds.

At any time, should there be a deficiency in the 1990 Reserve Fund under the 1990 Indenture, the
Trustee is required to deposit as soon as possible in each month in which the deficiency continues, the
aggregate amount of each un-replenished prior withdrawal from the 1990 Reserve Fund and the full
amount of any deficiency due to any required valuation of the investments in the 1990 Reserve Fund until
the balance in the 1990 Reserve Fund is at least equal to the 1990 Reserve Requirement. On a pro rata
basis with such deposits, the Trustee is also required to reimburse to the provider of a letter of credit,

D-25
OHSUSA:765024972.2





insurance policy or surety bond satisfying a portion of the 1990 Reserve Requirement the amount of any
un-replenished prior withdrawal on such letter of credit, insurance policy or surety bond. The payments
and deposits required under the 1990 Indenture and the payments due under the Indenture have parity
claims against available Sales Tax Revenues.

Cash on deposit in the 1990 Reserve Fund is permitted to be invested in Investment Securities as
defined in the 1990 Indenture. Neither the funds in the Series 2010 Reserve Account, nor the funds and
Reserve Policies held in the 1990 Reserve Fund are available for payment of the 2016 Series A Bonds.]

D-26
OHSUSA:765024972.2





APPENDIX E
THE ECONOMY OF THE THREE BART COUNTIES
General

The San Francisco Bay Area (the “Bay Area”) encompasses the nine counties which border San
Francisco Bay. The Three BART Counties (the City and County of San Francisco, Alameda County and
Contra Costa County) comprise a 1,512 square-mile central core of the nearly 7,000 square miles of land
in the Bay Area. The City and County of San Francisco occupies approximately 49 square miles, while
Alameda County and Contra Costa County are approximately 733 and 734 square miles in size,
respectively. The San Francisco Bay Area Rapid Transit District (the “District” or “BART”) service area
also includes northern San Mateo County, adjacent to the southern border of San Francisco. The
surrounding non-member six counties, four to the north and two to the south, provide reciprocal economic
support, potential users and expansion area for the District’s centrally located System. All capitalized
terms used and not otherwise defined in this Appendix E shall have the meanings set forth in the front
portion of this Official Statement.

The City and County of San Francisco occupies the tip of a peninsula situated between the Pacific
Ocean and San Francisco Bay (the “Bay”) and is separated from Marin County and other northerly
counties by the Golden Gate, which forms the entrance to the Bay and is spanned by the Golden Gate
Bridge. Alameda and Contra Costa Counties, bordering the east side of the Bay across from San
Francisco, stretch eastward up to 40 miles beyond the series of hills between the Bay and the Central
Valley (the Sacramento and San Joaquin Valleys) of California. Contra Costa County is bordered on the
northwest by San Pablo Bay and the north by the Carquinez Strait and the extensive Delta area of the
Sacramento and San Joaquin Rivers, which empty into the Bay. Alameda County adjoins Santa Clara
County at the southern tip of the Bay. Linking the Bay Area are seven major bridges.

Sales taxes levied in the Three BART Counties are a principal source of District revenues. Sales
tax revenues depend on economic activity and trends as well as the demographic characteristics of the
Three BART Counties. Historical trends are summarized below and forecasts are presented for the
population and employment of the Three BART Counties.

Historical Population and Employment Trends
Table 1 shows historical population for cities within the Three BART Counties for the selected

years between 2000 and 2016. Population in the Three BART Counties increased approximately 14.2%
between 2000 and 2016 and approximately 1.1% between 2015 and 2016.

E-1
OHSUSA:765024972.2





Table 1
HISTORICAL POPULATION
Alameda and Contra Costa Counties and City and County of San Francisco
2000, 2010 and 2014 through 2016

% Change
2000 20100 2014@ 2015@ 2016@ 2015-2016
Alameda County

Alameda 72,259 73,812 76,785 77,657 79,277 2.1%
Albany 16,444 18,539 18,682 18,841 18,893 0.3
Berkeley 102,743 112,580 117,399 118,923 119,915 0.8
Dublin 30,023 46,036 53,512 56,014 57,349 24
Emeryville 6,882 10,080 10,822 10,967 11,721 6.9
Fremont 203,413 214,089 224,836 227,582 229,324 0.8
Hayward 140,030 144,186 154,832 157,305 158,985 1.1
Livermore 73,464 80,968 85,049 86,368 88,138 2.0
Newark 42,471 42,573 43,835 44,284 44,733 1.0
Oakland 399,566 390,724 413,626 419,539 422,856 0.8
Piedmont 10,952 10,667 11,018 11,138 11,219 0.7
Pleasanton 63,654 70,285 71,990 73,776 74,982 1.6
San Leandro 79,452 84,950 86,453 87,209 87,700 0.6
Union City 66,869 69,516 71,719 72,412 72,952 0.7
Other Areas 135,717 141,266 147,079 148,750 149,821 0.7

1,443,939 1,510,271 1,587,637 1,610,765 1,627,865 1.1%

Contra Costa County

Antioch 90,532 102,372 110,028 111,973 112,968 0.9%
Brentwood 23,302 51,481 55,353 57,072 58,784 3.0
Clayton 10,762 10,897 11,096 11,159 11,209 0.4
Concord 121,872 122,067 126,851 128,063 129,707 1.3
Danville 41,715 42,039 42,145 42,491 42,865 0.9
El Cerrito 23,171 23,549 23,980 24,132 24,378 1.0
Hercules 19,488 24,060 24,430 24,578 24,791 0.9
Lafayette 23,908 23,893 24,321 24,732 24,924 0.8
Martinez 35,866 35,824 36,497 36,931 37,057 0.3
Moraga 16,290 16,016 16,337 16,434 16,513 0.5
Oakley® 25,619 35,432 38,864 39,609 40,141 1.3
Orinda 17,599 17,643 18,083 18,578 18,749 0.9
Pinole 19,039 18,390 18,560 18,660 18,739 0.4
Pittsburg 56,769 63,264 66,053 67,119 67,817 1.0
Pleasant Hill 32,837 33,152 33,708 33,918 34,077 0.5
Richmond 99,216 103,701 108,447 109,568 110,378 0.7
San Pablo 30,256 29,139 30,196 30,498 30,829 1.1
San Ramon 44,722 72,148 76,472 77,470 78,363 1.2
Walnut Creek 64,296 64,173 67,954 68,652 70,018 2.0
Other Areas 151,557 159,785 167,797 169,506 171,122 1.0

948,816 1,049,025 1,097,172 1,111,143 1,123,429 1.1%

City and County of
San Francisco 776,733 805,235 848,186 857,508 866,583 1.1%
Three BART Counties 3,169,488 3,364,531 3,542,317 3,579,416 3,617,877 1.1%

M As of April 1 of that year.

@ As of January 1 of that year.

© The City of Oakley was incorporated in 1999.

Source: For 2000-2010: State of California, Department of Finance, E-4 Population Estimates for Cities, Counties, and the State,
2001-2010, with 2000 & 2010 Census Counts. Sacramento, California, November 2012; For 2011-16: State of California, Department

E-2
OHSUSA:765024972.2





of Finance, E-4 Population Estimates for Cities, Counties, and the State, 2011-2016, with 2010 Census Benchmark. Sacramento,

California, May 2016.

Table 2-A shows historical nonagricultural employment for the Three BART Counties by industry sector in
calendar year 2015 and Table 2-B shows total nonagricultural employment for the Three BART Counties by
industry sector in calendar years 2005 and 2015.

NONAGRICULTURAL EMPLOYMENT BY INDUSTRY SECTOR

Table 2-A

Alameda and Contra Costa Counties and City and County of San Francisco

Calendar Year 2015
(Not Seasonally Adjusted)

City and County

Alameda County Contra Costa County of San Francisco
Number  Percent®  Number Percent® Number Percent®
Total Nonagricultural Employment™® 745,900 - 349,200 - 668,700 -
Major Classifications
Manufacturing .........cooeeeereeenieeireenns 71,500 9.6% 15,200 4.4% 10,300 1.5%
Transportation, Warehousing and Public
UtIES ...veveeeereveeeeceeieceeeeee e 27,700 3.7 10,500 3.0 12,300 1.8
Wholesale Trade...........ccoveeeenieeecnnnenns 38,100 5.1 9,600 2.7 15,000 2.2
Retail Trade.......c.coooveeveeveeeiereeecieeiennens 70,700 9.5 42,300 12.1 47,700 7.1
Finance and Insurance.............c............ 13,500 1.8 19,300 5.5 38,400 5.7
Real Estate, Rental and Leasing............ 9,900 1.3 6,900 2.0 13,600 2.0
Information...........ccccoveevereeneenieeieenns 12,700 1.7 8,300 2.4 31,700 4.7
Professional & Business Services.......... 132,700 17.8 50,200 14.4 184,600 27.6
Educational & Health Services.............. 114,500 154 63,900 18.3 85,700 12.8
Leisure & Hospitality 67,900 9.1 38,400 11.0 93,300 14.0
Other Services .........oeveeivveveeeeeerierenns 25,500 34 12,600 3.6 26,200 3.9
GOVEINMENL ........ccrrvereererrerierirereneenens 119,300 16.0 49,400 14.1 91,600 13.7

M Totals may reflect rounding.

@ Represents percentage of total nonagricultural employment; reflects rounding.

Source: California Employment Development Department, Labor Market Information Division with March 2015 Benchmark.

Table 2-B

NONAGRICULTURAL EMPLOYMENT BY INDUSTRY SECTOR

Total Three BART Counties
Calendar Years 2005 and 2015
(Not Seasonally Adjusted)

2005 2015
Number Percent® Number Percent®
Total Nonagricultural Employment(") 1,574,300 - 1,763,800 -
Major Classifications
Manufacturing .........eeeevereeneeereenienieenieneennns 105,600 6.7% 97,000 5.5%
Transportation, Warehousing and Public
UtIHEES .o 49,800 32 50,500 2.9
Wholesale Trade... 60,500 3.8 62,700 3.6
Retail Trade.......ccevvveuvennene 155,200 9.9 160,700 9.1
Finance and Insurance 91,500 5.8 71,200 4.0
Real Estate, Rental, and Leasing 30,300 1.9 30,400 1.7
Information..........cc.ccoevveeeiiiiiiiiecceiee e . 48,000 3.0 52,700 3.0
Professional & Business Services.......... 259,600 16.5 367,500 20.8
Educational & Health Services.............. 203,300 12.9 264,100 15.0
Leisure & Hospitality .........ccccevvereeennnee. 155,800 9.9 199,600 11.3
Other Services ........coovvveeeveeeeeieeeceeieeeiveeenn, 56,900 3.6 64,300 3.6
GOVEINMENT .......coeeuireieeeeeeeieeeeeeeeeeirreeeeeens 195,200 12.4 260,300 14.8
E-3

OHSUSA:765024972.2





(M Totals may reflect rounding.
@ Represents percentage of total nonagricultural employment; reflects rounding.
Source: California Employment Development Department, Labor Market Information Division with 2015 Benchmark.

Total nonagricultural employment in the Three BART Counties increased approximately 12% between
2005 and 2015.

As shown in Table 2-A and Table 2-B, the economy of the Three BART Counties is well diversified, with
emphasis on educational and health services, professional and business services, and government.

Alameda County. Alameda County accounts for approximately 45% of the population and approximately
42.3% of the nonagricultural employment of the Three BART Counties. Alameda County’s population increased
approximately 12.7% between 2000 and 2016.

Alameda County has a diverse economic base. A large number of new jobs have been, and are expected to
be, created by firms classified in the services industry. Many of these jobs will be highly skilled professional,
technical, and managerial positions. The two largest employment sectors are professional and business services and
government, which account for approximately 34% of total nonagricultural employment. The transportation,
warehousing and public utilities sector, accompanied by both retail trade and wholesale trade categories, averaged
136,500 jobs in 2015, comprising approximately 18.3% of total nonagricultural employment. The professional and
business services industry averaged 132,700 jobs for 2015, comprising approximately 17.8% of total nonagricultural
employment. Major employers in Alameda County include Kaiser Permanente, University of California at
Berkeley, Alameda County, Lawrence Livermore National Laboratory, Oakland Unified School District, Alta Bates
Summit Medical Center and Lawrence Berkeley National Laboratory, as shown in Table 4-A.

Contra Costa County. Contra Costa County, predominantly a low-density residential area, accounts for
approximately 31.1% of the population and approximately 19.8% of total nonagricultural employment of the Three
BART Counties in 2015. Contra Costa County’s population increased approximately 18.4% between 2000 and
2016.

Contra Costa County has one of the fastest-growing work forces among Bay Area counties, with growth in
its employment base being driven primarily by the need to provide services to an increasing local population.
Contra Costa County has also experienced an influx of white-collar jobs due to the relocation of companies from
more expensive locations in the Bay Area. The professional and business services, educational and health services,
retail trade and government employment sectors account for approximately 58.9% of the nonagricultural
employment base. Major employers in Contra Costa County include Contra Costa County, Safeway Inc., Chevron
Corp. and John Muir/Mount Diablo Health System, as shown in Table 4-A.

City and County of San Francisco. The City and County of San Francisco (the “City”) is a major
employment center of the Three BART Counties, accounting for approximately 37.9% of the nonagricultural
employment and approximately 24% of the population of the Three BART Counties. The population of San
Francisco is relatively dense and has increased slowly in recent years, with an overall increase of approximately
1.1% between 2015 and 2016.

The City has the benefit of a highly skilled, professional labor force. Key industries include tourism, real
estate, banking and finance, retailing, apparel design and manufacturing. Emerging industries include multimedia
and bioscience. Major employers in San Francisco include the City and County of San Francisco, the University of
California at San Francisco, Wells Fargo & Co. Inc., and the San Francisco Unified School District, as shown in
Table 4-B.

Table 3 shows the average annual unemployment rates for the Three BART Counties and the State of
California and the United States for the calendar years 2010 through 2015.

OHSUSA:765024972.2





Table 3
AVERAGE ANNUAL UNEMPLOYMENT RATES

Alameda County, Contra Costa County, City and County of San Francisco,
State of California and the United States
Calendar Years 2010 Through 2015

Calendar Alameda Contra Costa City and County State of

Year County County of San Francisco California United States
2010 10.9% 11.0% 8.9% 12.1% 9.6%
2011 10.1 10.3 8.1 11.0 8.9
2012 8.7 8.9 6.8 9.6 8.1
2013 7.2 7.5 5.5 8.2 7.4
2014 5.8 6.2 4.4 6.9 6.2
2015 4.7 5.0 3.6 5.9 5.3

Sources: California Employment Development Department and U.S. Department of Labor, Bureau of Labor Statistics.

Table 4-A identifies the major employers of Alameda and Contra Costa Counties and Table 4-B identifies
the major employers in the City and County of San Francisco.

Table 4-A
MAJOR EMPLOYERS
Alameda and Contra Costa Counties

As of 2015
[To be updated]
Employer Number of Employees
University of California, Berkeley 23,962
Kaiser Permanente 18,450
Alameda County 9,147
State of California 8,930
Contra Costa County 8,500
Chevron Corp. 6,631
Safeway Inc. 6,270
U.S. Postal Service 5,948
John Muir Health 5,857
Wells Fargo Bank 5,400
City of Oakland 5,055
PG&E Corp. 4,625
Alta Bates Summit Medical Center 4471
Oakland Unified School District 4,359
Lawrence Livermore National Lab 4,051
FedEx Corp. 4,000
Alameda Health System 3,800
Lam Research Corp. 3,465
UPS 3,369
Contra Costa Community College District 3,100
Hayward Unified School District 3,054
Tesla Motors Inc. 3,000
West Contra Costa Unified School District 2,968
San Ramon Valley Unified School District 2,900
E-5

OHSUSA:765024972.2





Sources: San Francisco Business Times, 2015 Book of Lists and San Francisco Business Journal.

Table 4-B
MAJOR EMPLOYERS
City and County of San Francisco

As of 2016
Employer Number of Employees®
City and County of San Francisco 26,207
University of California, San Francisco 20,600
San Francisco Unified School District 8,497
Wells Fargo Bank 8,300
California Pacific Medical Center 5,837
Salesforce 5,000
Gap Inc. 4,438
PG&E Corp. 4,297
State of California 4,078
Kaiser Permanente 3,500
San Francisco State University 3,234
United States Postal Service 2,980
Academy of Art University 2,519
Dignity Health 2,428
Charles Schwab & Co. Inc. 2,400
San Francisco VA Medical Center 2,354
City College of San Francisco 2,339
Accenture 2,200
University of San Francisco 2,141
Safeway Inc. 2,000
Twitter Inc. 2,000
Williams-Sonoma Inc. 1,760
BlackRock 1,547
Google Inc. 1,500
Lucasfilm Ltd. 1,500
PricewaterhouseCoopers LLP (PwC) 1,500

Source: San Francisco Business Times, 2016 Book of Lists
() San Francisco employees.

Population and Employment Forecasts [To be updated]

Table 5 presents population and employment projections for the Three BART Counties prepared by the
Association of Bay Area Governments (“ABAG”). ABAG projects the population of the Three BART Counties to
increase by approximately 4,258,200 people by 2035, as compared to the actual population of 3,543,042 in January
2015, with most of the growth occurring in Contra Costa and Alameda counties. Employment in the Three BART
Counties is projected by ABAG to increase to 2,402,160 in 2035, as compared to the actual 1,826,500 employment
level as of May 2015 (the most recent data available). Most of the growth in employment is projected by ABAG to
occur in the professional and managerial services and health and educational services sectors in each of the Three
BART Counties. ABAG also projects the largest growth in employment will occur in San Francisco County.

OHSUSA:765024972.2





Table 5
PROJECTED POPULATION AND EMPLOYMENT
Alameda and Contra Costa Counties and City and County of San Francisco

Population
[To be updated]
% Change
2016W 2035 2016-2035
County (Actual) (Projected) (Projected)
Alameda........cooeeevievieeiieeieee, 1,627,865 1,905,482 17.1
Contra Costa .....ccoceeveveeecveerveennen. 1,123,429 1,341,741 19.4
San Francisco........cceevvvvvveveeennnnn. 866,583 996,332 15.0
Three BART Counties ................ 3,617,877 4,243,555 17.3%
Employment
Percent
Change
2035 2015-2035
County 2015@ (Projected) (Projected)
Alameda.........ccceevevrieviieieniiennen, 779,600 1,039,680 33.4%
Contra Costa ....cccvvveeeveeeineeeeeeen. 521,300 555,650 6.6
San Francisco.......cccovveevveveennn.. 525,600 806,830 53.4
Three BART Counties ................ 1,826,500 2,402,160 31.5%

M As of May 1, 2016.

@ As of May 2015; not seasonally adjusted.

Sources: State of California Department of Finance; State of California Employment Development Department; Association of Bay
Area Governments, Jobs-Housing Connections Strategy.

Personal Income

The United State Department of Commerce, Bureau of Economic Analysis (the “BEA”) produces
economic accounts statistics that enable government and business decision-makers, researchers, and the public to
follow and understand the performance of the national economy.

The BEA defines “personal income” as income received by persons from all sources, including income
received from participation in production as well as from government and business transfer payments. Personal
income represents the sum of compensation of employees (received), supplements to wages and salaries,
proprietors’ income with inventory valuation adjustment and capital consumption adjustment (CCAdj), rental
income of persons with CCAdj, personal income receipts on assets, and personal current transfer receipts, less
contributions for government social insurance. Per capita personal income is calculated as the personal income
divided by the resident population based upon the Census Bureau’s annual midyear population estimates.

OHSUSA:765024972.2





Table 6 below presents the latest available total income and per capita personal income for the Three
BART Counties, the State and the nation for the calendar years 2010 through 2014 (the most recent annual data
available). The Three BART Counties have traditionally had per capita income levels significantly higher than those
of the State and the nation.

Table 6
PERSONAL INCOME
Alameda County, Contra Costa County, City and County of San Francisco,
State of California and United States
Calendar Years 2010 through 2014

Per Capita
Personal Income Personal Income
Year and Area (millions of dollars)® (dollars)
2014
Alameda County 90,631 56,261
Contra Costa County 70,850 63,752
San Francisco County 77,233 90,600
State of California 1,939,528 49,985
United States 14,683,147 46,049
2013
Alameda County 85,174 53,798
Contra Costa County 66,729 60,885
San Francisco County 72,858 86,619
State of California 1,849,505 48,125
United States 14,064,468 44,438
2012
Alameda County 80,530 51,746
Contra Costa County 66,154 61,290
San Francisco County 70,574 85,061
State of California 1,812,315 47,614
United States 13,904,485 44,266
2011
Alameda County 75,974 49,575
Contra Costa County 60,709 56,919
San Francisco County 63,102 77,308
State of California 1,691,003 44,852
United States 13,233,436 42,453
2010
Alameda County 70,374 46,494
Contra Costa County 56,112 53,293
San Francisco County 57,619 71,503
State of California 1,583,447 42,411
United States 12,459,613 40,277

Source: U.S. Department of Commerce, Bureau of Economic Analysis.
() Numbers reflect rounding.

Table 7 shows the total dollar volume of sales and other taxable transactions (which correlate with sales tax
receipts) in the Three BART Counties for calendar years 2010 through 2014 (the most recent data available).

OHSUSA:765024972.2





Table 7
HISTORICAL TAXABLE TRANSACTIONS
Alameda and Contra Costa Counties and City and County of San Francisco
Calendar Years 2010 Through 2014
($ in thousands)

Fiscal Alameda Contra Costa San Francisco Total Three BART  Percentage
Year County County County Counties Change
2010 $21,541,741 $11,953,846 $13,443,121 $46,938,708 4.4%
2011 23,430,799 12,799,857 14,890,527 51,121,183 8.9
2012 25,181,571 13,997,249 15,953,605 55,132,425 7.8
2013 26,624,571 14,471,988 17,094,163 58,190,722 5.5
2014 28,377,714 15,030,047 18,469,729 61,877,490 6.3

Source: California State Board of Equalization, 2010-2014 Annual Reports.
Table 8 shows taxable transactions by type of business for the Three BART Counties for the year ended
December 31, 2013 (the most recent annual data available).

(Remainder of This Page Intentionally Left Blank)

OHSUSA:765024972.2





Table 8
TAXABLE TRANSACTIONS BY TYPE OF BUSINESS
Alameda and Contra Costa Counties and the City and County of San Francisco
For Calendar Year 2013
($ in thousands)

[To be updated]
Type of Business "oty | " County | of San Franciscy
Retail and Food Services

Motor Vehicle and Parts Dealers 3,138,082 1,823,019 548,713
New Car Dealers 2,609,608 1,471,849 453,704
Used Car Dealers 179,078 139,966 13,361
Other Motor Vehicle Dealers 98,550 38,568 27,699
Auto. Parts, Accessories and Tire Stores 250,847 172,636 53,949
Furniture and Home Furnishings Stores 506,386 277,477 496,720
Furniture Stores 336,129 143,329 239,486
Home Furnishings Stores 170,256 134,148 257,235
Electronics and Appliance Stores 636,277 371,275 383,610
Sb‘é’%lz\gsa”" and Garden Equip. and 1,379,338 879,211 508,070
Building Material and Supplies Dealers 1,291,512 781,371 485,847
Lawn and Garden Equip. and Supplies Stores 87,826 97,841 22,223
Food and Beverage Stores 1,031,311 748,131 740,746
Supermarkets and Other Grocery Stores 706,316 555,481 519,882
Convenience Stores 82,142 64,352 40,355
Specialty Food Stores 38,669 23,761 44,359
Beer, Wine, and Liquor Stores 204,184 104,537 136,151
Health and Personal Care Stores 476,407 303,182 491,692
Pharmacies and Drug Stores 304,556 214,859 294,790
Health and Personal Care Stores 171,850 88,323 196,902
Gasoline Stations 2,218,302 1,623,539 650,678
Clothing and Clothing Accessories Stores 1,331,394 825,235 2,040,734
Men's Clothing Stores 37,703 26,396 52,086
Women's Clothing Stores 167,902 104,351 307,974
ge;hm;rlysg)lr(;tshmg Stores, Accessories, and 845,568 545202 1.217.904
Shoe Stores 169,915 77,148 161,572
Jewelry, Luggage, and Leather Goods Stores 110,305 72,139 301,197
Sporting Goods, Hobby, Book, and Music Stores 493,428 312,720 411,302
Sporting Goods Stores 209,482 139,796 202,771
Hobby, Toy and Musical Instrument Stores 174,658 120,345 74,535
Book, Periodical, and Music Stores 109,288 52,580 133,997
General Merchandise Stores 1,943,081 1,525,347 897,608
Miscellaneous Store Retailers 939,103 427,955 680,080
Florists 16,522 8,009 30,357
Office Supplies and Stationery Stores 287,440 60,387 64,817
Gift, Novelty, and Souvenir Stores 57,295 26,470 143,026
Used Merchandise Stores 36,130 17,880 44,595
Other Miscellaneous Store Retailers 541,716 315,209 397,285
Nonstore Retailers 294,264 180,980 269,544
Food Services and Drinking Places 2,505,728 1,378,947 3,750,056
Full-Service Restaurants 1,145,699 663,214 2,513,819
Limited-Service Eating Places 1,154,897 638,498 750,390
Special Food Services 127,765 30,155 307,757
Drinking Places (Alcoholic Beverages) 77,369 47,080 178,090
Total Retail and Food Services® 16,893,102 10,677,018 11,869,555

All Other Outlets® 9,731,469 3,794,970 5,224,609

Total All Outlets®™ 26,624,571 14,471,988 17,094,163

E-10
OHSUSA:765024972.2





(M Totals may reflect rounding.
Source: California State Board of Equalization.

Table 9 shows a comparison of taxable transactions among several large northern and southern California
counties (including the Three BART Counties) and Statewide over the calendar years 2010 through 2014 (the most
recent annual data available).

Table 9
COMPARISON OF TAXABLE TRANSACTIONS TRENDS
FOR MAJOR CALIFORNIA COUNTIES
Calendar Years 2010 Through 2014

(% in thousands)
% Change
2010 2011 2012 2013 2014 (2013-2014)
Three BART Northern
Counties
Alameda $21,541,741 $23,430,799 $25,181,571 $26,624,571 $28,377,714 6.6%
Contra Costa 11,953,846 12,799,857 13,997,249 14,471,988 15,030,047 3.9
San Francisco 13,443,121 14,890,527 15,953,605 17,094,163 18,469,729 8.0
Total Three BART Counties $46,938,708 $51,121,183 $55,132,425 $58,190,722 61,877,490 6.3
Other Northern Counties
Sacramento $16,904,528 $18,003,765 $19,089,848 $20,097,095 $21,061,901 4.8%
San Mateo 11,966,338 13,020,643 13,906,978 14,611,618 15,298,434 4.7
Santa Clara 30,523,322 33,431,217 36,220,445 37,621,606 39,628,655 53
Southern Counties
Los Angeles $116,942,334 $126,440,737 $135,295,582 $140,079,708 $147,446,927 5.3%
Orange 47,667,179 51,731,139 55,230,612 57,591,217 60,097,128 4.4
Riverside 23,152,780 25,641,497 28,096,009 30,065,467 32,035,687 6.6
San Bernardino 24,687,862 27,322,980 29,531,921 31,177,823 33,055,967 6.0
San Diego 41,623,636 45,090,382 47,947,035 50,297,331 52,711,639 4.8
Ventura 10,225,488 11,020,181 11,958,260 12,824,296 13,366,628 4.2
Statewide $477,347,986 $520,568,055 $558,387,250 $586,839,618 $615,821,874 49
Source: California State Board of Equalization.
E-11

OHSUSA:765024972.2





APPENDIX F

DTC AND THE BOOK-ENTRY-ONLY SYSTEM

The information in this Appendix F concerning The Depository Trust Company (“DTC”’) and
DTC’s book-entry-only system has been obtained from sources that the San Francisco Bay Area Rapid
Transit District (the “District™) believes to be reliable, but the District takes no responsibility for the
accuracy thereof. The District cannot and does not give any assurances that DTC, Direct Participants
or Indirect Participants will distribute to the Beneficial Owners (all as defined below): (a) payments of
principal of, premium if any, and interest on (“Debt Service’) the 2016 Series A Bonds; (b) confirmations
of ownership interest in the 2016 Series A Bonds; or (c) notices sent to DTC or Cede & Co., its nominee,
as the registered owner of the 2016 Series A Bonds, or that they will so do on a timely basis or that DTC,
Direct Participants or Indirect Participants will act in the manner described in this Official Statement.
The current “Rules” applicable to DTC are on file with the Securities and Exchange Commission and the
current “Procedures” of DTC to be followed in dealing with DTC Direct Participants and Indirect
Participants are on file with DTC.

Neither the District nor the Trustee will have any responsibility or obligations to DTC, the Direct
Participants, the Indirect Participants of DTC or the Beneficial Owners with respect to: (1) the accuracy
of any records maintained by DTC or any Direct Participants or Indirect Participants of DTC; (2) the
payment by DTC or any Direct Participants or Indirect Participants of DTC of any amount due to any
Beneficial Owner in respect of the Debt Service on the 2016 Series A Bonds; (3) the delivery by DTC or
any Direct Participants or Indirect Participants of DTC of any notice to any Beneficial Owner that is
required or permitted to be given to owners under the terms of the Indenture; or (4) any consent given or
other action taken by DTC as registered owner of the 2016 Series A Bonds.

The Depository Trust Company (“DTC”), New York, New York, will act as securities depository
for the 2016 Series A Bonds. The 2016 Series A Bonds will be issued as fully registered securities
registered in the name of Cede & Co. (DTC’s partnership nominee) or such other name as may be
requested by an authorized representative of DTC. One fully registered bond certificate will be issued for
each maturity of 2016 Series A Bonds, each in the aggregate principal amount of such maturity, and will
be deposited with DTC.

DTC, the world’s largest securities depository, is a limited-purpose trust company organized
under the New York Banking Law, a “banking organization” within the meaning of the New York
Banking Law, a member of the Federal Reserve System, a “clearing corporation” within the meaning of
the New York Uniform Commercial Code, and a “clearing agency” registered pursuant to the provisions
of Section 17A of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934. DTC holds and provides asset servicing for over
3.5 million issues of U.S. and non-U.S. equity issues, corporate and municipal debt issues, and money
market instruments (from over 100 countries) that DTC’s participants (“Direct Participants™) deposit with
DTC. DTC also facilitates the post-trade settlement among Direct Participants of sales and other
securities transactions in deposited securities, through electronic computerized book-entry transfers and
pledges between Direct Participants’ accounts. This eliminates the need for physical movement of
securities certificates. Direct Participants include both U.S. and non-U.S. securities brokers and dealers,
banks, trust companies, clearing corporations, and certain other organizations. DTC is a wholly owned
subsidiary of The Depository Trust & Clearing Corporation (“DTCC”). DTCC is the holding company for
DTC, National Securities Clearing Corporation and Fixed Income Clearing Corporation, all of which are
registered clearing agencies. DTCC is owned by the users of its regulated subsidiaries. Access to the DTC
system is also available to others such as both U.S. and non-U.S. securities brokers and dealers, banks,
trust companies, and clearing corporations that clear through or maintain a custodial relationship with a
Direct Participant, either directly or indirectly (“Indirect Participants”). DTC has a Standard & Poor’s

F-1
OHSUSA:765024972.2





rating of AA+. The DTC Rules applicable to its Participants are on file with the Securities and Exchange
Commission. More information about DTC can be found at www.dtcc.com.

Purchases of 2016 Series A Bonds under the DTC system must be made by or through Direct
Participants, which will receive a credit for the 2016 Series A Bonds on DTC’s records. The ownership
interest of each actual purchaser of each 2016 Series A Bond (each a “Beneficial Owner”) is in turn to be
recorded on the Direct and Indirect Participants’ records. Beneficial Owners will not receive written
confirmation from DTC of their purchase. Beneficial Owners are, however, expected to receive written
confirmations providing details of the transaction, as well as periodic statements of their holdings, from
the Direct or Indirect Participant through which the Beneficial Owner entered into the transaction.
Transfers of ownership interests in the 2016 Series A Bonds are to be accomplished by entries made on
the books of Direct and Indirect Participants acting on behalf of Beneficial Owners. Beneficial Owners
will not receive certificates representing their ownership interests in 2016 Series A Bonds, except in the
event that use of the book-entry system for the 2016 Series A Bonds is discontinued.

To facilitate subsequent transfers, all 2016 Series A Bonds deposited by Direct Participants with
DTC are registered in the name of DTC’s partnership nominee, Cede & Co., or such other name as may
be requested by an authorized representative of DTC. The deposit of 2016 Series A Bonds with DTC and
their registration in the name of Cede & Co. or such other DTC nominee do not effect any change in
beneficial ownership. DTC has no knowledge of the actual Beneficial Owners of the 2016 Series A
Bonds; DTC’s records reflect only the identity of the Direct Participants to whose accounts such 2016
Series A Bonds are credited, which may or may not be the Beneficial Owners. The Direct and Indirect
Participants will remain responsible for keeping account of their holdings on behalf of their customers.

Conveyance of notices and other communications by DTC to Direct Participants, by Direct
Participants to Indirect Participants, and by Direct Participants and Indirect Participants to Beneficial
Owners will be governed by arrangements among them, subject to any statutory or regulatory
requirements as may be in effect from time to time. Beneficial Owners of 2016 Series A Bonds may wish
to take certain steps to augment the transmission to them of notices of significant events with respect to
the 2016 Series A Bonds, such as redemptions, tenders, defaults, and proposed amendments to the
documents. For example, Beneficial Owners of 2016 Series A Bonds may wish to ascertain that the
nominee holding the 2016 Series A Bonds for their benefit has agreed to obtain and transmit notices to
Beneficial Owners. In the alternative, Beneficial Owners may wish to provide their names and addresses
to the registrar and request that copies of notices be provided directly to them.

Redemption notices shall be sent to DTC. If less than all of the 2016 Series A Bonds within an
issue are being redeemed, DTC’s practice is to determine by lot the amount of the interest of each Direct
Participant in such issue to be redeemed.

Neither DTC nor Cede & Co. (nor any other DTC nominee) will consent or vote with respect to
2016 Series A Bonds unless authorized by a Direct Participant in accordance with DTC’s MMI
Procedures. Under its usual procedures, DTC mails an Omnibus Proxy to the District or to the Trustee as
soon as possible after the record date. The Omnibus Proxy assigns Cede & Co.’s consenting or voting
rights to those Direct Participants to whose accounts 2016 Series A Bonds are credited on the record date
(identified in a listing attached to the Omnibus Proxy).

Redemption proceeds, distributions, and dividend payments on the 2016 Series A Bonds will be
made to Cede & Co., or such other nominee as may be requested by an authorized representative of DTC.
DTC’s practice is to credit Direct Participants’ accounts upon DTC’s receipt of funds and corresponding
detail information from the District or the Trustee, on payable date in accordance with their respective
holdings shown on DTC’s records. Payments by Participants to Beneficial Owners will be governed by

F-2
OHSUSA:765024972.2





standing instructions and customary practices, as is the case with securities held for the accounts of
customers in bearer form or registered in “street name,” and will be the responsibility of such Participant
and not of DTC, the Trustee, or the District, subject to any statutory or regulatory requirements as may be
in effect from time to time. Payment of redemption proceeds, distributions, and dividend payments to
Cede & Co. (or such other nominee as may be requested by an authorized representative of DTC) is the
responsibility of the District or the Trustee, disbursement of such payments to Direct Participants will be
the responsibility of DTC, and disbursement of such payments to the Beneficial Owners will be the
responsibility of Direct and Indirect Participants.

DTC may discontinue providing its services as depository with respect to the 2016 Series A
Bonds at any time by giving reasonable notice to the District or the Trustee. Under such circumstances,
in the event that a successor depository is not obtained, bond certificates are required to be printed and
delivered.

The District may decide to discontinue use of the system of book-entry-only transfers through
DTC (or a successor securities depository). In that event, bond certificates will be printed and delivered
to DTC.

Discontinuation of Book-Entry Only System; Payment to Beneficial Owners

In the event that the book-entry system described above is no longer used with respect to the 2016
Series A Bonds, the provisions of the Indenture relating to place of payment, transfer and exchange of the
2016 Series A Bonds, regulations with respect to exchanges and transfers, bond register, Bonds mutilated,
destroyed or stolen, and evidence of signatures of 2016 Series A Bond Owners and ownership of 2016
Series A Bonds will govern the payment, registration, transfer, exchange and replacement of the 2016
Series A Bonds. Interested persons should contact the District for further information regarding such
provisions of the Indenture.

OHSUSA:765024972.2





APPENDIX G

PROPOSED FORM OF CONTINUING DISCLOSURE AGREEMENT

This Continuing Disclosure Agreement (this “Disclosure Agreement”) is executed and delivered
by the San Francisco Bay Area Rapid Transit District (the “Issuer”) and U.S. Bank National Association,
as dissemination agent (the “Dissemination Agent”), in connection with the issuance of §
principal amount of San Francisco Bay Area Rapid Transit District Sales Tax Revenue Bonds, 2016
Refunding Series A (the “2016 Bonds”). The 2016 Bonds are being issued pursuant to an Indenture,
dated as of September 1, 2012 (the “Master Indenture”), as supplemented and amended by a First
Supplemental Indenture, dated as of September 1, 2012 (the “First Supplemental Indenture”) a Second
Supplemental Indenture, dated as of October 1, 2015 (the “Second Supplemental Indenture™), and a Third
Supplemental Indenture, dated as of August 1, 2016 (the “Third Supplemental Indenture” and, together
with the Master Indenture, the First Supplemental Indenture, and the Second Supplemental Indenture, the
“Indenture”), each by and between the Issuer and the Trustee. The Issuer and the Dissemination Agent
covenant and agree as follows:

SECTION 1.  Purpose of the Disclosure Agreement. This Disclosure Agreement is being
executed and delivered by the Issuer and the Dissemination Agent for the benefit of the Holders and the
Beneficial Owners (as hereinafter defined) of the 2016 Bonds and in order to assist the Participating
Underwriters (as hereinafter defined) in complying with Securities and Exchange Commission Rule 15¢2-
12(b)(5).

SECTION 2. Definitions. In addition to the definitions set forth in the Indenture, which apply
to any capitalized term used in this Disclosure Agreement and not otherwise defined in this Section, the
following capitalized terms shall have the following meanings:

“Annual Report” shall mean any Annual Report provided by the Issuer pursuant to, and as
described in, Sections 3 and 4 of this Disclosure Agreement.

“Beneficial Owner” shall mean any person which has or shares the power, directly or indirectly,
to make investment decisions concerning ownership of any 2016 Bonds (including persons holding 2016
Bonds through nominees, depositories or other intermediaries).

“Disclosure Representative” shall mean the Controller/Treasurer of the Issuer or his designee, or
such other officer or employee of the Issuer as the Controller/Treasurer of the Issuer shall designate in
writing to the Trustee and the Dissemination Agent from time to time.

“Dissemination Agent” shall mean U.S. Bank National Association, acting in its capacity as
Dissemination Agent hereunder, or any successor Dissemination Agent designated in writing by the
Issuer and which has filed with the Trustee a written acceptance of such designation.

“Holder” shall mean the person in whose name any 2016 Bond shall be registered.

“Listed Events” shall mean any of the events listed in Section 5(a) or (b) of this Disclosure
Agreement.

“MSRB” shall mean the Municipal Securities Rulemaking Board or any other entity designated
or authorized by the SEC to receive reports pursuant to the Rule. Until otherwise designated by the

OHSUSA:765024972.2





MSRB or the SEC, filings with the MSRB are to be made through the Electronic Municipal Market
Access (EMMA) website of the MSRB, currently located at http://emma.msrb.org.

“Participating Underwriter” shall mean any of the original underwriters of the 2016 Bonds
required to comply with the Rule in connection with offering of the 2016 Bonds.

“Rule” shall mean Rule 15c¢2-12(b)(5) adopted by the Securities and Exchange Commission
under the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as the same may be amended from time to time.

“SEC” shall mean the Securities and Exchange Commission or any successor agency thereto.
“State” shall mean the State of California.
SECTION 3. Provision of Annual Reports.

(a) The Issuer shall, or shall cause the Dissemination Agent to, not later than eight
(8) months after the end of the Issuer’s fiscal year (presently June 30), commencing with the Annual
Report for the fiscal year of the Issuer ending June 30, 2016, provide to the MSRB an Annual Report
which is consistent with the requirements of Section 4 of this Disclosure Agreement. Each Annual
Report must be submitted in electronic format, accompanied by such identifying information as is
prescribed by the MSRB, and may include by reference other information as provided in Section 4 of this
Disclosure Agreement; provided that the audited financial statements of the Issuer may be submitted
separately from the balance of the Annual Report and later than the date required above for the filing of
the Annual Report if they are not available by that date. Neither the Trustee nor the Dissemination Agent
shall have any duties or responsibilities with respect to the contents of the Annual Report. If the Issuer’s
fiscal year changes, it shall give notice of such change in the same manner as for a Listed Event under
Section 5(e).

(b) Not later than fifteen (15) Business Days prior to the date specified in
subsection (a) for providing the Annual Report to the MSRB, the Issuer shall provide the Annual Report
to the Dissemination Agent. If by such date, the Dissemination Agent has not received a copy of the
Annual Report, the Dissemination Agent shall contact the Issuer to determine if the Issuer is in
compliance with the first sentence of this subsection (b).

(©) If the Dissemination Agent is unable to verify that an Annual Report has been
provided to the MSRB by the date required in subsection (a), the Dissemination Agent shall send a notice,
in electronic format, to the MSRB, such notice to be in substantially the form attached as Exhibit A.

(d) If the Annual Report is delivered to the Dissemination Agent for filing, the
Dissemination Agent shall file a report with the Issuer certifying that the Annual Report has been
provided pursuant to this Disclosure Agreement and stating the date it was provided.

SECTION 4.  Content of Annual Reports. The Annual Report shall contain or include by
reference the following:

(a) The audited financial statements of the Issuer for the prior fiscal year, prepared
in accordance with generally accepted accounting principles as promulgated to apply to governmental
entities from time to time by the Governmental Accounting Standards Board. If the Issuer’s audited
financial statements are not available by the time the Annual Report is required to be filed pursuant to
Section 3(a), the Annual Report shall contain unaudited financial statements in a format similar to the
financial statements contained in the Official Statement, dated , 2016, relating to the 2016

G-2
OHSUSA:765024972.2





Bonds (the “Official Statement”), and the audited financial statements shall be filed in the same manner
as the Annual Report when such audited financial statements become available.

(b) An update (as of the most recently ended fiscal year of the Issuer) for the table
entitled “Sales Tax Revenues” set forth in the Official Statement under the caption “SECURITY FOR
THE 2016 SERIES A BONDS — Sales Tax Revenues” and an update for the table entitled “Debt Service
Requirements” set forth in the Official Statement under the caption “DEBT SERVICE
REQUIREMENTS.”

Any or all of the items listed above may be included by specific reference to other documents,
including official statements of debt issues of the Issuer or related public entities, which have been filed
with the MSRB or the SEC. If the document included by reference is a final official statement, it must be
available from the MSRB. The Issuer shall clearly identify each such other document so included by
reference.

SECTION 5.  Reporting of Significant Events.

(a) Pursuant to the provisions of this Section 5, the Issuer shall give, or cause to be
given, notice of the occurrence of any of the following events with respect to the 2016 Bonds not later
than ten business days after the occurrence of the event:

1. Principal and interest payment delinquencies;

2. Unscheduled draws on debt service reserves reflecting financial difficulties;

3. Unscheduled draws on credit enhancements reflecting financial difficulties;

4, Substitution of credit or liquidity providers, or their failure to perform;

5. Adverse tax opinions or issuance by the Internal Revenue Service of proposed

or final determination of taxability or of a Notice of Proposed Issue (IRS Form 5701 TEB);

6. Tender offers;

7. Defeasances;

8. Rating changes; or;

9. Bankruptcy, insolvency, receivership or similar event of the obligated person.

Note: for the purposes of the event identified in subparagraph (9), the event is considered to occur
when any of the following occur: the appointment of a receiver, fiscal agent or similar officer for the
Issuer in a proceeding under the U.S. Bankruptcy Code or in any other proceeding under state or federal
law in which a court or governmental authority has assumed jurisdiction over substantially all of the
assets or business of the Issuer, or if such jurisdiction has been assumed by leaving the existing
governmental body and officials or officers in possession but subject to the supervision and orders of a
court or governmental authority, or the entry of an order confirming a plan of reorganization, arrangement
or liquidation by a court or governmental authority having supervision or jurisdiction over substantially
all of the assets or business of the Issuer.

G-3
OHSUSA:765024972.2





(b) The Issuer shall give, or cause to be given, notice of the occurrence of any of the
following events with respect to the 2016 Bonds, if material, not later than ten business days after the
occurrence of the event:

1. Unless described in paragraph 5(a)(5), other material notices or determinations
by the Internal Revenue Service with respect to the tax status of the 2016 Bonds or other material events
affecting the tax status of the 2016 Bonds;

2. Modifications to rights of bond holders;

3. Optional, unscheduled or contingent bond calls;

4. Release, substitution, or sale of property securing repayment of the 2016 Bonds;
5. Non-payment related defaults;

6. The consummation of a merger, consolidation, or acquisition involving an

obligated person or the sale of all or substantially all of the assets of the obligated person, other than in
the ordinary course of business, the entry into a definitive agreement to undertake such an action or the
termination of a definitive agreement relating to any such actions, other than pursuant to its terms; or

7. Appointment of a successor or additional paying agent or the change of name of
a paying agent.

(©) The Issuer shall give, or cause to be given, in a timely manner, notice of a
failure to provide the annual financial information on or before the date specified in Section 3, as
provided in Section 3(b).

(d) Whenever the Issuer obtains knowledge of the occurrence of a Listed Event
described in Section 5(b), the Issuer shall determine if such event would be material under applicable
federal securities laws.

(e) If the Issuer learns of the occurrence of a Listed Event described in Section 5(a),
or determines that knowledge of a Listed Event described in Section 5(b) would be material under
applicable federal securities laws, the Issuer shall within ten business days of occurrence file a notice of
such occurrence with the MSRB in electronic format, accompanied by such identifying information as is
prescribed by the MSRB. Notwithstanding the foregoing, notice of the Listed Event described in
subsection (b)(3) need not be given under this subsection any earlier than the notice (if any) of the
underlying event is given to Holders of affected 2016 Bonds pursuant to the Resolution.

SECTION 6.  Format for Filings with MSRB. Any report or filing with the MSRB pursuant to
this Disclosure Agreement must be submitted in electronic format, accompanied by such identifying
information as is prescribed by the MSRB.

SECTION 7.  Termination of Reporting Obligation. The obligations of the Issuer and the
Dissemination Agent under this Disclosure Agreement shall terminate upon the legal defeasance, prior
redemption or payment in full of all of the 2016 Bonds. If such termination occurs prior to the final
maturity of the 2016 Bonds, the Issuer shall give notice of such termination in the same manner as for a
Listed Event under Section 5(e).

G-4
OHSUSA:765024972.2





SECTION 8.  Dissemination Agent. The Issuer may, from time to time, appoint or engage a
Dissemination Agent to assist it in carrying out its obligations under this Disclosure Agreement, and may
discharge such Dissemination Agent, with or without appointing a successor Dissemination Agent. The
Dissemination Agent may resign by providing thirty (30) days written notice to the Issuer. The
Dissemination Agent shall not be responsible in any manner for the form or the content of any notice or
report prepared by the Issuer pursuant to this Disclosure Agreement.

SECTION 9. Amendment; Waiver. Notwithstanding any other provision of this Disclosure
Agreement, the Issuer and the Dissemination Agent may amend this Disclosure Agreement (and the
Dissemination Agent shall agree to any amendment so requested by the Issuer, provided the
Dissemination Agent shall not be obligated to enter into any such amendment that modifies or increases
its duties or obligations hereunder), and any provision of this Disclosure Agreement may be waived,
provided that the following conditions are satisfied:

(a) If the amendment or waiver relates to the provisions of Sections 3(a), 4, 5(a) or
5(b), it may only be made in connection with a change in circumstances that arises from a change in legal
requirements, change in law, or change in the identity, nature or status of an obligated person with respect
to the 2016 Bonds, or the type of business conducted;

(b) This Disclosure Agreement, as amended or taking into account such waiver,
would, in the opinion of nationally recognized bond counsel, have complied with the requirements of the
Rule at the time of the original issuance of the 2016 Bonds, after taking into account any amendments or
interpretations of the Rule, as well as any change in circumstances; and

(©) The amendment or waiver either (i) is approved by the Owners of the 2016
Bonds in the same manner as provided in the Indenture for amendments to the Indenture with the consent
of Owners, or (ii) does not, in the opinion of nationally recognized bond counsel, materially impair the
interests of the Owners or Beneficial Owners of the 2016 Bonds.

In the event of any amendment or waiver of a provision of this Disclosure Agreement, the Issuer
shall describe such amendment in the next Annual Report, and shall include, as applicable, a narrative
explanation of the reason for the amendment or waiver and its impact on the type (or, in the case of a
change of accounting principles, on the presentation) of financial information or operating data being
presented by the Issuer. In addition, if the amendment relates to the accounting principles to be followed
in preparing financial statements, (i) notice of such change shall be given in the same manner as for a
Listed Event under Section 5(e), and (ii) the Annual Report for the year in which the change is made
should present a comparison (in narrative form and also, if feasible, in quantitative form) between the
financial statements as prepared on the basis of the new accounting principles and those prepared on the
basis of the former accounting principles.

SECTION 10. Additional Information. Nothing in this Disclosure Agreement shall be deemed
to prevent the Issuer from disseminating any other information, using the means of dissemination set forth
in this Disclosure Agreement or any other means of communication, or including any other information in
any Annual Report or notice of occurrence of a Listed Event, in addition to that which is required by this
Disclosure Agreement. If the Issuer chooses to include any information in any Annual Report or notice of
occurrence of a Listed Event, in addition to that which is specifically required by this Disclosure
Agreement, the Issuer shall have no obligation under this Disclosure Agreement to update such
information or include it in any future Annual Report or notice of occurrence of a Listed Event.

SECTION 11. Default. In the event of a failure of the Issuer or the Dissemination Agent to
comply with any provision of this Disclosure Agreement, the Trustee, at the written request of any

G-5
OHSUSA:765024972.2





Participating Underwriter or the Owners of at least 25% aggregate principal amount of Outstanding 2016
Bonds, shall, but only to the extent funds in an amount satisfactory to the Trustee have been provided to it
or it has been otherwise indemnified to its satisfaction from any cost, liability, expense or additional
charges and fees of the Trustee whatsoever, including, without limitation, fees and expenses of its
attorneys, or any Owner or Beneficial Owner of the 2016 Bonds may take such actions as may be
necessary and appropriate, including seeking mandate or specific performance by court order, to cause the
Issuer or the Dissemination Agent, as the case may be, to comply with its obligations under this
Disclosure Agreement. A default under this Disclosure Agreement shall not be deemed an Event of
Default under the Indenture, and the sole remedy under this Disclosure Agreement in the event of any
failure of the Issuer or the Dissemination Agent to comply with this Disclosure Agreement shall be an
action to compel performance.

SECTION 12.  Duties, Immunities and Liabilities of Trustee and Dissemination Agent. Article
VIII of the Indenture is hereby made applicable to this Disclosure Agreement as if this Disclosure
Agreement were (solely for this purpose) contained in the Indenture and the Trustee and the
Dissemination Agent shall be entitled to the protections, limitations from liability and indemnities
afforded the Trustee thereunder. The Dissemination Agent (if other than the Trustee or the Trustee in its
capacity as Dissemination Agent) shall have only such duties as are specifically set forth in this
Disclosure Agreement, and the Issuer agrees to indemnify and save the Dissemination Agent and the
Trustee and their officers, directors, employees and agents, harmless against any loss, expense and
liabilities which they may incur arising out of or in the exercise or performance of their powers and duties
hereunder, including the costs and expenses (including attorneys fees) of defending against any claim of
liability, but excluding liabilities due to the Trustee’s or the Dissemination Agent’s negligence or willful
misconduct. The Dissemination Agent shall be paid compensation by the Issuer for its services provided
hereunder in accordance with its schedule of fees as amended from time to time and all expenses, legal
fees and advances made or incurred by the Dissemination Agent in the performance of its duties
hereunder. The obligations of the Issuer under this Section shall survive resignation or removal of the
Trustee or the Dissemination Agent and payment of the 2016 Bonds. The Dissemination Agent has no
power to enforce performance on the part of the Issuer under this Disclosure Agreement.

The Dissemination Agent agrees to accept and act upon instructions or directions pursuant to this
Disclosure Agreement sent by unsecured e-mail, facsimile transmission or other similar unsecured
electronic methods, provided, however, that, the Dissemination Agent shall have received an incumbency
certificate listing persons designated to give such instructions or directions and containing specimen
signatures of such designated persons, which such incumbency certificate shall be amended and replaced
whenever a person is to be added or deleted from the listing. If the Issuer elects to give the Dissemination
Agent e-mail or facsimile instructions (or instructions by a similar electronic method) and the
Dissemination Agent acts upon such instructions, the Dissemination Agent’s understanding of such
instructions shall be deemed controlling. The Dissemination Agent shall not be liable for any losses,
costs or expenses arising directly or indirectly from the Dissemination Agent’s reliance upon and
compliance with such instructions notwithstanding such instructions conflict or are inconsistent with a
subsequent written instruction. The Issuer agrees: (i) to assume all risks arising out of the use of such
electronic methods to submit instructions and directions to the Dissemination Agent, including without
limitation the risk of the Dissemination Agent acting on unauthorized instructions, and the risk of
interception and misuse by third parties; (ii) that it is fully informed of the protections and risks associated
with the various methods of transmitting instructions to the Dissemination Agent and that there may be
more secure methods of transmitting instructions than the method(s) selected by the Issuer; and (iii) that
the security procedures (if any) to be followed in connection with its transmission of instructions provide
to it a commercially reasonable degree of protection in light of its particular needs and circumstances.

OHSUSA:765024972.2





It is understood and agreed that any information that the Dissemination Agent may be instructed
to file with the MSRB shall be prepared and provided to it by the Issuer. The fact that the Dissemination
Agent or any affiliate thereof may have any fiduciary or banking relationship with the Issuer shall not be
construed to mean that the Dissemination Agent has actual knowledge of any event or condition except as
may be provided by written notice from the Issuer.

SECTION 13. Notices. Any notices or communications to or among any of the parties to this
Disclosure Agreement may be given as follows:

(1) If to the Issuer:
San Francisco Bay Area Rapid Transit District
300 Lakeside Drive
Oakland, California 94612-3534
Attention: Controller/Treasurer
Telephone: (510) 464-6070
Fax: (510) 464-6011

(i1) If to the Dissemination Agent:
U.S. Bank National Association
One California Street, Suite 1000
San Francisco, California 94111
Attention: Global Corporate Trust Services
Telephone: (415) 677-3596
Fax: (415) 677-3769

Any person may, by written notice to the other persons listed above, designate a different address
or telephone number(s) to which subsequent notices or communications should be sent. Notices may also
be given by electronic means.

SECTION 14. Beneficiaries. This Disclosure Agreement shall inure solely to the benefit of the
Issuer, the Trustee, the Dissemination Agent, the Participating Underwriters and Holders and Beneficial
Owners from time to time of the 2016 Bonds, and shall create no rights in any other person or entity.

SECTION 15. Governing Law. This Disclosure Agreement shall be governed under the laws of
the State of California.

G-7
OHSUSA:765024972.2





SECTION 16. Counterparts.  This Disclosure Agreement may be executed in several
counterparts, each of which shall be an original and all of which shall constitute but one and the same
instrument.

Date: ,2016.

SAN FRANCISCO BAY AREA RAPID
TRANSIT DISTRICT

By

Controller/Treasurer

U.S. BANK NATIONAL ASSOCIATION,
as Dissemination Agent

By

Authorized Officer

G-8
OHSUSA:765024972.2





Exhibit A

NOTICE TO MUNICIPAL SECURITIES RULEMAKING BOARD OF
FAILURE TO FILE ANNUAL REPORT

Name of Issuer: San Francisco Bay Area Rapid Transit District

Name of Bond Issue: San Francisco Bay Area Rapid Transit District Sales Tax Revenue
Bonds, 2016 Refunding Series A

Date of Issuance of Bonds: ,2016

NOTICE IS HEREBY GIVEN that the San Francisco Bay Area Rapid Transit District (the
“Issuer”) has not provided an Annual Report with respect to the above-named Bonds as required by
Section 3(a) of the Continuing Disclosure Agreement, dated , 2016, between the Issuer and

U. S. Bank National Association, as dissemination agent. [The Issuer anticipates that the Annual Report
will be filed by .

Dated:
U.S. BANK NATIONAL ASSOCIATION,
as Dissemination Agent on behalf of the San
Francisco Bay Area Rapid Transit District
cc: Issuer

G-9
OHSUSA:765024972.2





APPENDIX H
PROPOSED FORM OF OPINION OF BOND COUNSEL
[Date of Delivery]

San Francisco Bay Area
Rapid Transit District
Oakland, California

San Francisco Bay Area Rapid Transit District
Sales Tax Revenue Bonds
2016 Refunding Series A

(Final Opinion)

Ladies and Gentlemen:

We have acted as bond counsel to the San Francisco Bay Area Rapid Transit District (the
“District”) in connection with the issuance by the District of $ aggregate principal amount of
San Francisco Bay Area Rapid Transit District Sales Tax Revenue Bonds, 2016 Refunding Series A (the
“Bonds”), issued pursuant to a Master Indenture, dated as of September 1, 2012, as supplemented and
amended by a First Supplemental Indenture, dated as of September 1, 2012, and by a Second
Supplemental Indenture, dated as of October 1, 2015, and by a Third Supplemental Indenture, dated as of
August 1, 2016 (hereinafter collectively referred to as the “Indenture”), between the District and U.S.
Bank National Association, as trustee (the “Trustee™). Capitalized terms not otherwise defined herein
shall have the meanings ascribed thereto in the Indenture.

In such connection, we have reviewed the Indenture, the Tax Certificate, dated the date hereof
(the “Tax Certificate”), certificates of the District, the Trustee, and others, opinions of counsel to the
District and the Trustee and others, and such other documents, opinions and matters to the extent we
deemed necessary to render the opinions set forth herein.

The opinions expressed herein are based on an analysis of existing laws, regulations, rulings and
court decisions and cover certain matters not directly addressed by such authorities. Such opinions may be
affected by actions taken or omitted or events occurring after the date hereof. We have not undertaken to
determine, or to inform any person, whether any such actions are taken or omitted or events do occur or
any other matters come to our attention after the date hereof. Accordingly, this letter speaks only as of its
date and is not intended to, and may not, be relied upon or otherwise used in connection with any such
actions, events or matters. Our engagement with respect to the Bonds has concluded with their issuance,
and we disclaim any obligation to update this letter. We have assumed the genuineness of all documents
and signatures presented to us (whether as originals or as copies) and the due and legal execution and
delivery thereof by, and validity against, any parties other than the District. We have assumed, without
undertaking to verify, the accuracy of the factual matters represented, warranted or certified in the
documents, and of the legal conclusions contained in the opinions, referred to in the second paragraph
hereof. Furthermore, we have assumed compliance with all covenants and agreements contained in the
Indenture and the Tax Certificate, including without limitation covenants and agreements compliance
with which is necessary to assure that future actions, omissions or events will not cause interest on the
Bonds to be included in gross income for federal income tax purposes. We call attention to the fact that
the rights and obligations under the Bonds, the Indenture and the Tax Certificate and their enforceability
may be subject to bankruptcy, insolvency, receivership, reorganization, arrangement, fraudulent
conveyance, moratorium and other laws relating to or affecting creditors’ rights, to the application of

H-1
OHSUSA:765024972.2





equitable principles, to the exercise of judicial discretion in appropriate cases and to the limitations on
legal remedies against public transit districts in the State of California. We express no opinion with
respect to any indemnification, contribution, liquidated damages, penalty (including any remedy deemed
to constitute a penalty), right of set-off, arbitration, judicial reference, choice of law, choice of forum,
choice of venue, non-exclusivity of remedies, waiver or severability provisions contained in the foregoing
documents, nor do we express any opinion with respect to the state or quality of title to or interest in any
of the assets described in or as subject to the lien of the Indenture or the accuracy or sufficiency of the
description contained therein of, or the remedies available to enforce liens on, any such assets. Our
services did not include financial or other non-legal advice. Finally, we undertake no responsibility for
the accuracy, completeness or fairness of the Official Statement or other offering material relating to the
Bonds and express no opinion with respect thereto.

Based on and subject to the foregoing, and in reliance thereon, as of the date hereof, we are of the
following opinions:

1. The Bonds constitute the valid and binding special obligations of the District payable
from and secured by a pledge of Sales Tax Revenues.

2. The Indenture has been duly executed and delivered by, and constitutes the valid and
binding obligation of, the District. The Indenture creates a valid pledge, to secure the payment of the
principal of and interest on the Bonds, of the Sales Tax Revenues and any other amounts held by the
Trustee in any fund or account established pursuant to the Indenture, except the Rebate Fund, subject to
the provisions of the Indenture permitting the application thereof for the purposes and on the terms and
conditions set forth in the Indenture.

3. Interest on the Bonds is excluded from gross income for federal income tax purposes
under Section 103 of the Internal Revenue Code of 1986 and is exempt from State of California personal
income taxes. Interest on the Bonds is not a specific preference item for purposes of the federal
individual or corporate alternative minimum taxes, although we observe that it is included in adjusted
current earnings when calculating corporate alternative minimum taxable income. We express no opinion
regarding other tax consequences related to the ownership or disposition of, or the amount, accrual or
receipt of interest on, the Bonds.

Faithfully yours,

ORRICK, HERRINGTON & SUTCLIFFE LLP

OHSUSA:765024972.2






APPENDIX A

SAN FRANCISCO BAY AREA RAPID TRANSIT DISTRICT
FINANCIAL AND OPERATING INFORMATION

OHSUSA:765297477.2





(This page intentionally left blank)

OHSUSA:765297477.2





TABLE OF CONTENTS

Page A-

SAN FRANCISCO BAY AREA RAPID TRANSIT DISTRICT ....ocoviiiiiiiieiene e, 1
General Description Of the DISICE..........coiiiiiiee e 1
POWETNS OF The DISTICE.......iiviiiiiiiieeie bbb 1
AGMINISTIATION ...ttt ettt e b et e sbeenreeneeareente e 1
Employees and Labor REIALIONS ...........ccueiiiiiiiciecie e 4
AT =LA o] PSPPI 5

THE BART SYSTEM ...ttt bbbttt bbbt 6
GENEIAl DESCITPLION ...ttt b ettt 6
REVENUE HOUTS ...ttt e e e e e nnne s 8
PASSENGET FAIES .......eiiiiiiiie i 8
L0 L=T £ o T SRR 10
PArKING PrOGIaMS......viiiieitiitesii ettt bbbttt sb bt be e 10

POWET SUPPIY CENLET ...ttt ra e re e sre e ne e 11
SEIVICE ChallBNGES ... .o e 12

BART FINANCINGS AND CAPITAL PROGRAMS ...t 13
SOUICES OF FUNGS.......eeeiiiciie ettt e sreesteeneesreense e 13
General Obligation BONUS..........c.ccveiiiiiiice e 13

Sales Tax REVENUE BONGS........ccceiieiieieiieie ettt 14

PlaN BAY ATB& ......eicvieiieeieciee sttt ettt te et e s te e e s e e teeteera e e be e beareenre e te e e e anaenre e 15

Rail Vehicle Replacement PrOgram.........c.coouiieiereieneie s 16
Earthquake Safety Program ...........cccoiiiiiiiiie et 17
System EXPaNnSION PrOGIaAM .......cc.oiiiiiiiiieieieiesie ettt 18
System ReiNVESIMENT PrOQIaM .........c.coviiiieieiie ittt ne e 21
Security ENhanCcement Program..........cocviiiiiieiiiiiese e 22
Service and Capacity Enhancement Program ............cccccvveveiievieiiesiesie e 22
FUNAINg DEVEIOPMENTS ..ot 23
DISTRICT FINANCIAL INFORMATION .....oiiiiiieieieite et 24
FINANCIAL STALEIMENTS .....vieeeceieeeee et esre e eneenneeneenes 24
Historical Financial RESUILS .........coooiiiiiiiiicee e 25
Management’s Discussion of Historical Financial Results ...........ccccoociviiiiiniiiniiinnen. 28
Adopted Budget for Fiscal Year 2015-16.........cccccoveiiiiiiieii e 29

Risk Management and INSUIANCE ..........cceiiiiiiiieieiese e 30
INVESTMENT POLICY ......viiiiiiice e re e ae e ere s 31
Employee Retirement BENETITS .......ocoiiiiiiiiiiice e 32
Money Purchase Pension Plan ..o 37
Postretirement Health Care BeNefitS........cccocviveiiiiiice e 38

OHSUSA:765297477.2





(This page intentionally left blank)

OHSUSA:765297477.2





SAN FRANCISCO BAY AREA RAPID TRANSIT DISTRICT
General Description of the District

The San Francisco Bay Area Rapid Transit District (the “District” or “BART”) was created
in 1957 by Chapter 1056 of the Statutes of 1957 of the State of California, constituting Sections
28500 to 29757, inclusive, of the California Public Utilities Code, as amended (the “BART
Legislation™) to provide rapid transit to the San Francisco Bay Area. The District is presently
composed of all the area in the Counties of Alameda and Contra Costa and the City and County of
San Francisco (the “Three BART Counties”). In addition, the District owns property within the
County of San Mateo on which BART facilities are located, and the District acquired the right to
use additional right of way and station locations in connection with the extension of its rapid transit
system (the “BART System”) to the San Francisco International Airport (“SFO”) located in the
County of San Mateo. Extension of the BART System to the County of Santa Clara is currently
under construction. See “BART FINANCINGS AND CAPITAL PROGRAMS — System
Expansion Program” herein. Under certain conditions, other counties may be annexed to and
become a part of the District.

References to “Fiscal Year” refer to the fiscal year beginning July 1 and ending June 30 of
the following designated year.

Powers of the District
The BART Legislation grants the District the following powers, among others:

Financing and Taxation. The District may issue general obligation bonds, up to the amount
authorized by a two-thirds vote of the electorate voting on the ballot measure proposing such
general obligation bonds. Upon issuance of general obligation bonds authorized by the electorate,
the District is obligated to levy and collect an ad valorem tax on property in the Three BART
Counties at a rate sufficient to pay the annual debt service on such outstanding general obligation
bonds when due and payable. Such tax may be offset to the extent that other moneys are legally
made available for such purpose.

In addition to general obligation bonds, the District may issue: (1) sales tax revenue bonds;
(2) revenue bonds payable solely from revenues of any facility or enterprise to be acquired or
constructed by the District; (3) equipment trust certificates payable from revenues derived from
the operation of the BART System; (4) special assessment bonds; (5) grant anticipation notes,
bond anticipation notes and tax and revenue anticipation notes; and (6) such other obligations as
are authorized by the laws of the State of California.

Eminent Domain. The District has the right, with certain limitations, of eminent domain
for the condemnation of private property for public use.

Administration

Governance of the District is vested in a Board of Directors (the “Board” or the “Board of
Directors”) composed of nine members, each representing an election district within the District.
The boundaries of the election districts have been set on the basis of, as nearly as practicable, equal

A-1
OHSUSA:765297477.2





population and, among other things, community of interest of the population within the election
district. The election districts are adjusted to reflect population changes after every national
census. The boundaries of the District election districts do not conform to the boundaries of the
Three BART Counties.

Directors are elected to four-year terms. Each term commences on the first Friday of
December in the year of a November general election and ends on the first Friday of December
four years later.

The District Directors are:

Term Expiration

Director City of Residence (December)
Tom Radulovich, President San Francisco 2016
Gail Murray, Vice President Walnut Creek 2016
Thomas M. Blalock Fremont 2018
Nicholas Josefowitz San Francisco 2018
Joel Keller Brentwood 2018
Zakhary Mallett El Sobrante 2016
John McPartland Castro Valley 2016
Robert Raburn Oakland 2018
Rebecca Saltzman Oakland 2016

The executive management staff of the District consists of statutory officers appointed by
the Board and operating managers appointed by the General Manager.

The five statutory officers are:

Grace Crunican, General Manager

Ms. Crunican was appointed General Manager of BART by the BART Board of Directors
in 2011. Prior to coming to BART, she was Director of the Seattle Department of Transportation
(SDOT) for eight years, the Director of the Oregon Department of Transportation for five years,
and the Deputy Administrator for the Federal Transit Administration (FTA) for three years. Before
joining the FTA, Grace led the Surface Transportation Project and prior to that, she was with the
City of Portland, Oregon for seven years, ending as Deputy Director of Transportation. She was a
PMI with the U.S. Department of Transportation and served as professional staff for the U.S.
Senate Transportation Appropriations Subcommittee. She holds a B.A. from Gonzaga University
and a MBA from Willamette University.

Rosemarie V. Poblete, Interim Controller/Treasurer

Ms. Poblete joined the District in May 1996 as a Treasury Analyst in the Finance
Department. She was promoted to the Manager of Debit Credit Fare Programs in February 2008
and in December 2011 to Assistant Treasurer of the District. Effective June 29, 2015, following
the announcement by the incumbent Controller/Treasurer, Scott Schroeder, of his planned
retirement, Ms. Poblete was appointed by the Board of Directors to be the Interim

A-2
OHSUSA:765297477.2





Controller/Treasurer. Prior to joining the District, Ms. Poblete worked in banking as an operations
manager and a private banker. Ms. Poblete holds a Bachelor degree in Business Administration
from the University of the Philippines.

Matthew Burrows, General Counsel

Mr. Burrows joined the District in February 1997 as an attorney in the Office of the General
Counsel. In 2007, he was promoted to Associate General Counsel and in January, 2008, appointed
General Counsel. Mr. Burrows received a Bachelor of Arts degree in Sociology from the
University of California at Santa Barbara and his J.D. from the University of California, Hastings
College of the Law.

Kenneth A. Duron, District Secretary

Mr. Duron joined the District in 1991 as a Senior Capital Program Planner in the
Government and Community Relations Department. He served as Executive Assistant to the
General Manager from 1995 to 2001 and was appointed District Secretary in February 2001.
Prior to joining the District, Mr. Duron held staff and management positions with Xerox
Corporation. His public transit experience includes five years as a member of the professional
staff with the Southern California Rapid Transit District. Mr. Duron holds a Bachelor of
Science degree in Public Administration from the University of Southern California, Center
for Public Affairs.

Russell Bloom, Interim Independent Police Auditor

Mr. Bloom is the Interim Independent Police Auditor at the BART Office of the
Independent Police Auditor (OIPA). Mr. Bloom came to OIPA as an Investigator in 2014 after
working as an in-house investigator at an Oakland civil litigation law firm specializing in plaintiff-
side asbestos exposure cases. Mr. Bloom has also served on the Berkeley, California Police
Review Commission, including terms as vice-chair and chair. He received an undergraduate
degree from the University of California at Berkeley, and a JD from the New College of California
School of Law. His law school experience included a judicial externship with US District Court
Judge Thelton Henderson. Mr. Bloom has experience in the areas of civil litigation, criminal law,
family law, immigration law, and law enforcement accountability. He lives in Richmond, CA, and
is the father of two teenage sons.

Principal executive management staff appointed by the General Manager include:

Marcia deVVaughn, Deputy General Manager

Ms. deVaughn joined the staff of the District in September 2001 and was appointed to the
position of Deputy General Manager in January 2008. Ms. deVaughn has over twenty years of
public sector experience. During her tenure at BART, Ms. deVVaughn has provided leadership,
direction and management to the Office of Civil Rights, Internal Audit and System Safety
Departments as Executive Manager of Transit System Compliance and served as Acting Executive
Manager of the Office of Planning and Budget. Prior to BART, Ms. deVVaughn served as Deputy
Director of Public Works for Operations for the City and County of San Francisco and served the
City and County of San Francisco as Director of the Solid Waste Management Program and was

A-3
OHSUSA:765297477.2





an appointed member of the California Integrated Waste Management Board Technical Advisory
Committee. Prior to joining the City and County of San Francisco, she worked for the City of
Berkeley Public Works Department. Ms. deVVaughn holds a B.S. in Business Administration from
the University of San Francisco and a MBA from Golden Gate University.

Paul Oversier, Assistant General Manager, Operations

Mr. Oversier joined the District in 1990 as Chief Transportation Officer. In June 1999,
Mr. Oversier was appointed as the Assistant General Manager, Operations. Prior to joining the
District, Mr. Oversier was the Chief Transportation Officer of the New York City Transit
Authority for four years after serving as the Director of Operations Support for over two years. He
was also the General Manager of the Centre Area Transportation Authority in State College,
Pennsylvania for three years. Mr. Oversier holds a Master of Science Degree in Transportation
from Northwestern University and a Bachelor’s Degree in Economics from the University of
California at Davis.

Employees and Labor Relations

As of May 26, 2016, the District has 3,517 employees, of which 3,403 are full-time and
114 are part-time. The average BART employee had been with the District for 12.12 years and
earned an annualized salary of $85,482.57 (full-time) and $45,873.71 (part-time).

Most District employees are represented by recognized employee organizations.
Supervisors and professionals are represented by the American Federation of State, County and
Municipal Employees (“AFSCME”), Local 3993. Station agents, train operators and clerical
employees and fore workers supportive of the train operators and station agents are represented
by the Amalgamated Transit Union (“ATU”), Local 1555. Maintenance and clerical staff and
fore workers supportive of the maintenance and associated clerical staff are represented by the
Service Employees International Union (“SEIU”), Local 1021. In addition, BART police officers
and non-managerial civilian staff of the BART Police Department are represented by the BART
Police Officers Association (“BPOA”) and police managers below the Deputy Chief level are
represented by the BART Police Managers Association (“BPMA”).

On May 12, 2016, upon ratification by all affected unions, the Board of Directors voted to
adopt four year extensions of the collective bargaining agreements for ATU, SEIU and AFSCME.
All of the current terms and conditions of employment are extended until June 30, 2021. The only
change to the agreements are modest wage increases on July 1 each year; all other terms and
conditions remain. The increases as 2.5% on July 1, 2017 and July 1, 2018, and 2.75% on July 1,
2019 and July 1, 2020. Employee contributions to medical premiums will increase by 3% per
year, along with continuation of the additional employee premium contribution of $37 per month.
Employees will continue to be eligible each year to receive a lump sum payment of $500 for each
1% that ridership increases above the District’s Short Range Transit plan ridership forecast, up to
a maximum of $1,000; however, such ridership increase payment will not be made if the pension
costs increase by more than 16%, medical costs increase by more than 10% or if there is an
extraordinary unplanned expense exceeding 2.5% of the District’s operating budget.

OHSUSA:765297477.2





Negotiations between the District and the unions took place over a four-week period and
were concluded 14 months prior to expiration of current labor agreements, would have expired on
June 30, 2017. The contract extensions guarantee labor stability at least through 2021. The talks
were conducted in sharp contrast to the contentiousness that characterized labor negotiations in
2013, which were concluded only after two strikes.

Collective Bargaining Agreements between the District and the Bart Police Officers
Association and the Bart Police Managers Association will expire on June 30, 2018. Negotiations
are expected to commence in early 2018.BART Major Projects Stabilization Agreement (BART-
MPSA). On March 10, 2016, the Board of Directors approved the BART Major Projects
Stabilization Agreement. The agreement guarantees that craft work unions employed on named
BART construction projects will not strike for the life of the covered projects. The BART-MPSA
includes a provision that allows the designated labor management committee, which is established
in the BART-MPSA, to include additional upcoming major projects to the scope of the agreement.

Taken together, the District expects to enjoy a prolonged period of stability in its labor
relations, both with its own unions and with construction craft unions whose members are
employed on BART’s construction projects.

BART experienced a strike in 2013 for a total of eight days. Prior to 2013, BART had
successfully negotiated a number of labor agreements with the unions in 2001, 2005 and 2009
without the employees resorting to strikes. Prior to 2013, BART had experienced a strike in 1997
for a one week period and earlier strikes in the District’s history in 1976 and 1979.

Litigation

The District is involved in various lawsuits, claims and disputes. Many of those lawsuits
arise as a result of personal injuries and property damage which are anticipated in connection with
operations such as the District’s. The District is currently named in five active lawsuits filed by
current and former employees alleging various employment related claims including claims of
discrimination, a number of civil rights lawsuits arising from its ongoing police activities, litigation
involving claims of inverse condemnation and breach of contract litigation arising from
construction related contracts. As a public agency, BART is not liable for punitive damages.

THE BART SYSTEM
General Description

The BART System is an electrically powered rapid transit commuter rail system serving
the residents of the San Francisco Bay Area. The BART System is currently comprised of
104 miles of double track (including some areas of multiple tracks) and 45 stations, 40 of which
are located in the Three BART Counties and five of which are located in San Mateo County on
the San Francisco Peninsula. BART is powered by an electric third rail at 1,000 volts DC. The
rail right-of-way is fully protected and has no grade crossings. Automatic fare collection
equipment is located in each station to vend and process passenger tickets. As of June 30, 2015,
the District owned 669 rail cars. Trains are from three to ten cars in length and contain one
control-equipped vehicle (an A-car or C-car) at each end with mid-train vehicles (B-cars or C-cars)
making up the remainder of each train. Control-equipped C-cars can be used as lead, mid-train,

A-5
OHSUSA:765297477.2





or trail vehicles. All station platforms are constructed to accommodate trains of up to ten cars.
Trains are operated from the lead A-car or C-car. Computers located along the right-of-way
automatically control train movements. BART System train supervision is provided by the BART
train control computer located at the BART Operations Control Center (“Control Center”) at the
Lake Merritt station. Should the need arise, train operators aboard each train may override the
automatic system. The District’s 669-car operating fleet currently consists of 59 A-cars, 380 B-
cars and 150 C-1 cars, and 80 C-2 cars.

BART service lines run through the urban and suburban areas of the Three BART Counties
and San Mateo County. Service patterns are largely dictated by the topography of the region.
Lines run along the east and west sides of the San Francisco Bay, under the San Francisco Bay and
then traverse the hills and valleys of inland areas. The BART system radiates from the Oakland
Wye, which is located under downtown Oakland. Lines running west from the Wye travel under
the San Francisco Bay, through downtown San Francisco and terminate at Daly City, Millbrae or
SFO. Other lines radiate out from the Oakland Wye and terminate in Richmond, Pittsburg/Bay
Point, Dublin/Pleasanton or Fremont. A second wye is located on the San Francisco Peninsula
between the San Bruno station, the Millbrae station and the San Francisco International Airport
station (“SFO Station”). In addition to the two wyes, merges and diverges also occur at two other
locations in Alameda County. For more detailed information regarding BART System routes, see
the BART System map in the front portion of this Official Statement. Approximately one-third of
the BART System is underground, one-third is aerial and one-third is at grade.

BART stations are spaced approximately one-half mile apart in downtown San Francisco
and Oakland and approximately two to four miles apart in suburban areas. A number of BART
stations located in downtown San Francisco provide intermodal transfers to the San Francisco
Metropolitan Transportation Authority (“SFMTA?”) light rail, cable cars and buses. The Millbrae
station provides convenient transfers to the Caltrain commuter rail service, which provides
commuter service along the San Francisco Peninsula and south to Gilroy, and the Richmond station
provides intermodal transfers to the Capitol Corridor intercity rail service to Sacramento. The
SFO Station is located in SFO. The Coliseum station in Oakland provides access to the Oakland-
Alameda County Coliseum Complex where the Oakland Raiders, a professional football team, the
Oakland Athletics, a professional baseball team, and the Golden State Warriors, a professional
basketball team, currently play their home games.

The Control Center controls and monitors all mainline activities and equipment, including
safety-critical and emergency equipment, such as emergency telephones and fire alarm systems,
responds to emergencies, manages delays, and controls the electrification grid. Operational
functions performed in the OCC include the generation of daily train schedules, dispatching of
trains from the ends of line and yards, keeping trains on schedule by adjusting the speeds between
stations and/or dwell times at stations, control and monitoring of ventilation fans, dampers, sump
pumps, traction power equipment, train location and other wayside systems equipment.

BART has three primary rail yard locations for purposes of conducting repairs, located in
Concord, Daly City and Richmond, as well as a secondary facility in Hayward. The Concord, Daly
City and Richmond facilities perform preventive and regular train maintenance based on operating
hours as well as unscheduled failure repairs. The District’s fleet of revenue vehicles are divided
between the three primary maintenance facilities, with each location being responsible for

A-6
OHSUSA:765297477.2





supporting designated service routes: Concord, with 283 cars supports Bay Point to San Francisco
Airport; Daly City, with 101 cars, supports Daly City to Fremont; Richmond, with 285 cars
supports Richmond to Fremont, Richmond to Millbrae and Fremont to Daly City. The additional
facility in Hayward houses shops for secondary and component repairs, including electrical,
pneumatic, HVAC, and hydraulic repairs, as well as brake system components, door operators,
couplers, power supply and vehicle subsystem solid state electronic logics. An expansion of the
Hayward Maintenance Complex (“HMC”) is being undertaken in connection with the extension
of the system into the county of Santa Clara. See “BART FINANCINGS AND CAPITAL
PROGRAMS - System Expansion Program” below.

The extension of the BART System into SFO and to the Millbrae Station (the “SFO
Extension”) was completed in 2003 and the District commenced revenue service on the SFO
Extension. The final cost of the SFO Extension of $1.582 billion exceeded the amount budgeted
by approximately $114 million. The additional cost was resolved by an agreement with the
Metropolitan Transportation Commission (“MTC”) and funding from federal grant financings
provided additional assistance.

On April 27, 2007, with the assistance of MTC, BART and the San Mateo County Transit
District (“SamTrans”) reached a resolution (the “Settlement”) regarding the financing of
operations to the five San Mateo County stations south of Daly City that make up the SFO
Extension. The resulting key terms of the Settlement give BART full responsibility over SFO
Extension operations, with monetary contributions from SamTrans and MTC to offset the cost of
operating outside the District. MTC and SamTrans provided a combined $56 million of up-front
funding over several years, first used to fund operating deficits on the SFO Extension, and then
directed $145 million to the Rail Vehicle Replacement Project per MTC Resolution 4123 dated
December 13, 2013. BART also receives two forms of ongoing subsidy, consisting of two percent
of San Mateo County’s Measure A half-cent sales tax, which is currently equal to approximately
$1.5 million per year and was allocated to BART for 25 years beginning in Fiscal Year 2008-09,
and SamTrans’ annual Proposition 42 Traffic Congestion Relief Program (“TCRP”) increment,
approximately $100,000 in Fiscal Year 2007-08 and a fixed amount of approximately $800,000
beginning in Fiscal Year 2008-09, until the $145 million has been generated. Proposition 42
dedicates revenues from the State’s share of the sales tax on gasoline to transportation projects and
is subject to reduction or elimination by State budget action that reduces the sales tax. See “BART
FINANCINGS AND CAPITAL PROGRAMS — Funding Developments” herein.

BART commenced service in November 2014 of the Oakland Airport Connector (“OAC”)
which provides a transit link between the Oakland International Airport (“OAK”) and the BART
System. The OAC is an automated driverless, cable-propelled people mover manufactured by
Doppelmayr Cable Car that travels between the Coliseum BART station and OAK in about eight
minutes on a primarily elevated guideway structure along the median of Hegenberger Road.
Flatiron/Parsons JV constructed the project and the approximately $485 million project was funded
in part with proceeds of the District’s 2012 Series B Sales Tax Revenue Bonds. The OAC project
is operated pursuant to a 20-year Operations and Maintenance contract with Doppelmayr Cable
Car. [Through August 2015, approximately 3,300 passengers per week used this service. The
Fiscal Year 2015-16 operations and maintenance cost for OAC is estimated at $5.7 million.] [To
be updated]

OHSUSA:765297477.2





Revenue Hours

BART revenue hours run from 4:00 a.m. to midnight Monday through Friday, 6:00 a.m.
to midnight on Saturdays, and 8:00 a.m. to midnight on Sundays. The last trains depart each end
of the line around midnight, so passengers can get anywhere in the BART system if they arrive at
any station by midnight. Depending upon demand, holiday rail service is provided on a full or
modified weekday schedule, a Saturday schedule or a Sunday schedule.

Passenger Fares

BART rail fares are computed using a distance-based formula. Distance-based fares are
then adjusted based on the scheduled travel time versus travel time based on a system wide average
speed. In addition, surcharges apply to transbay trips and trips originating from or destined to
stations located in San Mateo County, and a premium applies to trips to and from the SFO Station.
As of January 1, 2016, the transbay surcharge, applied to transbay trips, is equal to $0.97; the Daly
City surcharge, applied to trips between the Daly City station and San Francisco stations, is equal
to $1.12; and the San Mateo County surcharge, applied to trips beginning and ending at San Mateo
County stations (except trips between the Millbrae station and SFO Station) and trips between San
Mateo County stations (except Daly City) and San Francisco stations, is equal to $1.41. In
addition, a premium fare of $4.42 is applied to trips to or from the SFO Station, which premium is
waived for trips made by SFO-badged employees to or from SFO Station. Effective July 1, 2013,
SFO began to pay BART the $4.42 SFO premium fare instead of SFO-badged employees, under
an agreement between SFO and BART with a term of nine years. A capital surcharge equal to
$0.13 is applied to all trips within the Three BART Counties, as well as Daly City, which is in San
Mateo County. Revenues resulting from such capital surcharge will be applied to fund capital
programs previously funded from the operating budget.

The current minimum one-way fare is $1.95. The current maximum one-way fare is $15.70,
charged for the trip between SFO and Oakland International Airport (OAK) Stations; this fare
includes three additive elements: the base fare, the SFO premium fare, currently valued at $4.42,
and the BART-to-OAK project fare, currently valued at $6.00. Fare increases during the District’s
history are summarized below. In May 2003, the Board of Directors approved a series of
productivity-adjusted Consumer-Price Index-based fare increases to take effect in January of each
even-numbered year from 2006 through 2012. On February 28, 2013, the BART Board approved
extending the productivity-adjusted Consumer Price Index-based fare increase program so that
fare increases would take effect in January of 2014, 2016, 2018, and 2020. The first increase of
the extended program valued at 5.2% took effect on January 1, 2014, and the second increase of
the extended program valued at 3.4% took effect on January 1, 2016. The incremental fare revenue
generated by the future fare increases is intended to be set aside to fund capital projects.

OHSUSA:765297477.2





Average District Fare Increases

Date Average Increase
November 1975 21.0%
July 1980 34.9
September 1982 18.4
January 1986 30.0
April 1995 15.0
April 1996 13.0
April 1997 114
January 2003 5.0
January 2004 10.0
January 2006 3.7
January 2008 54
July 2009 6.1"
July 2012 1.4
January 2014 5.2
January 2016 3.4

* All fares increased by an average 6.1% with the exception of the 16.7% increase to the minimum fare and the 167% increase to the premium
fare charged for trips to or from SFO Station.

The District currently offers fare discounts ranging from 6.25% to 62.5%. These discounts
are primarily made available when patrons use the regional Clipper fare payment smart card. A
discount of 6.25% is given when a patron pays $45.00 or $60.00 and receives, respectively, $48.00
or $64.00 in BART value. A discount of 62.5% is provided to persons with disabilities, children
ages 5 through 12 (children under age 5 ride for free) and senior citizens age 65 and over.
Qualifying individuals must present proof of eligibility in order to obtain the appropriate Clipper
smart card, which is specially encoded so that the discounted fare is automatically deducted each
time the patron uses the card. A Clipper card so encoded may be confiscated if it is determined
that the individual using the card is ineligible for the discount. When using discounted paper
tickets, seniors or persons with disabilities are required to carry proof of age or disability. The
District also offers tickets at a 50% discount to middle and secondary school students. These
tickets are sold only at participating schools and are for use by students of these schools for school-
related weekday trips.

The rates and charges of BART are by law free from the jurisdiction and control of any
regulatory agency other than BART, including the California Public Utilities Commission. As
provided in the California Public Utilities Code, passenger fares for BART are established by a
two-thirds vote of the Board of Directors and are required to be reasonable. Any Board of
Supervisors of a county or city and county, or the city council of a municipality having territory
located within the District, may file a request for a hearing before the Board of Directors regarding
the reasonableness of any fares. The hearing must be held between 15 and 60 days from the date
of the request and a decision by the Board of Directors must be rendered in writing within 30 days
after the hearing. Thereafter, the decision may be reviewed by the courts through a writ of
mandate.

OHSUSA:765297477.2





As a condition to receiving assistance from the federal government, acting through the
Federal Transit Administration, BART complies with the requirements of Title VI of the Civil
Rights Act of 1964. Public hearings are held before any change in fares or any substantial
reduction in service is made. Such change is made only after proper consideration has been given
to the views and comments expressed by the public, including those who are minority, low-income,
or have limited English proficiency, in public meetings and at public hearings and after
consideration has been given to the effects on energy conservation and the economic,
environmental and social impact of such change.

Ridership

Average weekday passenger trips for the Fiscal Year 2010-11 through the first nine months
of Fiscal Year 2015-16 are set forth below.

Trip Locations: 2011 2012 2013 2014 2015 2016
East Bay 78,713 83,377 87,787 86,254 89,108 87,828
West Bay 97,126 102,603 108,726 107,682 112,492 113,382
Transbay 169,417 180,585 195,780 205,210 221,519 231,803
Average Total Weekday Trips 345,256 366,565 392,293 399,146 423,119 433,013
Percentage Annual Change 3.1% 6.2% 7.0% 1.7% 6.0% 2.9%

Ridership growth is stabilizing and averaged over 423,000 weekday trips in Fiscal Year
2015 and is projected to average over 435,000 weekday trips in Fiscal Year 2016. Employment
patterns in the Bay Area affect BART ridership, as do the fluctuations in the price of gas. After
recovering from the effect of the recession, BART is carrying more riders than ever, peaking in
February 2016 with 446,650 average weekday trips, mainly due to Super Bowl 50 festivities.
Through the first nine months of Fiscal Year 2016, Transbay trips are up 5.6%, East Bay and West
Bay trips are flat, and weekend trips are down 3.4%. The single highest day of BART ridership,
568,061, occurred on October 31, 2012 in conjunction with the San Francisco Giants World Series
Victory Parade held in downtown San Francisco.

Parking Programs

The District provides a variety of options for passengers who drive to BART stations. As
of August 1, 2015, parking is provided at 33 stations and the total number of parking spaces
provided system-wide is approximately 47,000. Parking is provided in surface lots and in parking
garages. The District commenced charging for parking to enhance revenues in 2005 and now
charges for parking at all stations that have parking facilities. The District offers a paid monthly
and single day reserved parking program system-wide and a paid airport/long term parking
program at most of its stations. The monthly reserved parking program allows passengers to
purchase guaranteed parking near the entrance to a station. Monthly parking fees vary from station
to station within a range of $52.50 to $189 based upon demand. The number of spaces set aside
for monthly reserved parking under current authorization cannot exceed 25% at East Bay stations
and 40% at stations located on the west side of San Francisco Bay (the “West Bay stations”). The
airport/long term parking program allows passengers traveling to either SFO or OAK to purchase
permits to park their vehicles at some BART stations for periods of time greater than 24 hours.
Long-term permits can be purchased via the BART website for $5.00-$9.50/day. At many stations,

A-10
OHSUSA:765297477.2





a number of spaces are set aside for carpoolers and for passengers who arrive at stations after 10
a.m.

The amount for the daily fee is demand-based, up to a $3 daily fee limit, except at the West
Oakland BART station, which does not have a limit. Every 6 months, the utilization of the parking
facility is evaluated. If the facility exceeds 95% full, then the daily fee may increase by $0.50 per
weekday. Parking fees have now reached the $3 daily fee limit at 23 of the 33 stations with
parking.

Parking Revenue for Fiscal Year 2014-15 was $28.4 million and $24.8 million for the first
nine months of Fiscal Year 2015-16. The budget for parking revenue for Fiscal Year 2015-16 is
$30.7 million.

Power Supply

The operations of the BART System require a substantial amount of electricity. The
District’s current annual electric energy requirement is approximately 380,000 megawatt hours
and its current peak electric load is approximately 80 megawatts (“MW?).

The District historically purchased all of its electricity requirements from Pacific Gas &
Electric Company (“PG&E”). In 1995, the California Legislature enacted statutory provisions
authorizing the District to purchase electricity from federal power marketing agencies. Pursuant
to this authorization, approximately three percent of the District’s electricity supply is provided by
the Western Area Power Administration (“WAPA”) under a contract that runs through 2025. This
power supply is provided by federal hydroelectric generating facilities at relatively inexpensive
rates.

The District’s authority to purchase electricity from other suppliers was expanded in 2004
to permit the District to obtain electrical power supply from local publicly owned electric utilities
and again in 2015 to allow purchase from developers of renewable energy projects. Pursuant to
these provisions, the District has entered into long-term power supply agreements with Northern
California Power Agency (“NCPA”), a California joint powers authority of which the District is a
member, for all of its electrical power supply requirements above the WAPA supplies. NCPA
presently sells power to the District at wholesale market rates under a ten-year supply arrangement.
NCPA also entered into a 25 year contract to purchase the output of a 2.5 megawatt solar
photovoltaic project in the City of Gridley, and a 20 year contract for the output from the Lake
Nacimiento hydroelectric project in Monterey County, CA on behalf of the District. These
arrangements provide significant savings to the District compared to the cost of standard retail
service from PG&E. The District utilizes PG&E transmission and distribution facilities to deliver
its power supply.

The District is also a participant in NCPA’s Lodi Energy Center, a natural gas generation
plant developed by NCPA with thirteen public agency participants. Commercial operation of the
plant started in October 2012. NCPA sold revenue bonds to finance a portion of the $388 million
cost of the Lodi Energy Center. Pursuant to contracts with NCPA, the District is one of the obligors
of such bonds. The District has a Generation Entitlement Share (“GES”) of 6.6%, representing
approximately 18.5 MW of capacity from the plant.

A-11
OHSUSA:765297477.2





Service Challenges

After more than 40 years of service, BART faces two critical capital improvement
challenges. First, significant reinvestment in the existing system is required to sustain reliable and
safe service for current riders. Second, BART must invest to increase capacity to meet the growing
demand for transit services in the region.

Record ridership in combination with BART’s aging infrastructure has resulted in
increased incidents of delays in service caused by equipment failures. Higher ridership has also
contributed significantly to increased delays as it has resulted in more medical emergencies, more
police calls and more delays prompted by passengers jamming doors as they try to board trains.
As many sections of track and trackside equipment have not been upgraded since the system
opened in 1973, the District anticipates increased requirements for maintenance of its track and
other equipment and response activity to emergency breakdowns. Major repairs to the Transbay
Tube and adjacent track are being undertaken and involved two weekend closures of the Transbay
Tube in August and September of 2015. Sections of overhead track on the crossover between the
West Oakland Station and the Transbay Tube and a system of switches and over 2,400 feet of rail
were replaced. During the planned closures of the Transbay Tube, the first in the District’s history,
bus bridges were conducted to replace the Transbay Tube travel and normal service was provided
on both sides of the Bay. The repairs are estimated to cost $2 million and the added bus service
$1.5 million and lost farebox revenue is estimated at approximately $0.7 million. Following the
repairs, more reliable faster service with a smoother ride is anticipated. Other major track repairs
will be undertaken in the near future to maintain the system’s integrity. See “BART
FINANCINGS AND CAPITAL PROGRAMS — System Reinvestment Program.”

BART has an Asset Management program that supplies the data necessary to make
decisions regarding whether to invest in capital infrastructure replacement or in maintenance to
extend the life of an asset. The comprehensive Strategic Asset Management Plan (SAMP) allows
BART to take a more systematic, risk-focused approach to prioritizing investment of scarce
resources for both operating and capital needs.

BART FINANCINGS AND CAPITAL PROGRAMS
Sources of Funds

The District has received and expects to continue to receive grants from the federal
government, from the State of California (the “State of California” or the “State”) and from
regional bridge tolls for capital renovation and expansion of the BART System. In addition to
grants and bridge toll revenues, capital renovation and expansion of the BART System is funded
with BART revenues, including allocations from the operating budget and the proceeds of BART
financings, as further described below. See “Funding Developments — Pension Reform and Grant
Funding.”

General Obligation Bonds

Pursuant to voter approval in the Three BART Counties in 1962, the District issued a total
of $792 million aggregate principal amount of general obligation bonds in twelve series during the
years 1963 through 1969. Such general obligation bonds were payable from ad valorem taxes

A-12
OHSUSA:765297477.2





required to be levied on all properties subject to taxation by the District. General obligation bond
proceeds were used to pay a portion of the cost of planning, acquisition and construction of the
original 71-mile BART System, excluding the San Francisco-Oakland rapid transit tube and its
approaches (the “Transbay Tube”). All such general obligation bonds have been paid.

Pursuant to voter approval in the Three BART Counties of Measure AA (“Measure AA”)
at the November 2, 2004 election, the District is authorized to issue general obligation bonds, in
one or more series, in an amount not to exceed $980 million, in order to make earthquake safety
improvements to the BART System. In May 2005, the District issued the General Obligation
Bonds (Election of 2004), 2005 Series A (the “2005 A Bonds”) in an aggregate principal amount
of $100,000,000. On July 25, 2007, the District issued the General Obligation Bonds (Election of
2004), 2007 Series B (the “2007 B Bonds”) in an aggregate principal amount of $400,000,000 and
on November 21, 2013, the General Obligation Bonds (Election of 2004), 2013 Series C (the “2013
C Bonds”) in the aggregate principal amount of $240,000,000. The 2005 A Bonds, 2007 B Bonds
and the 2013 C Bonds were issued to finance earthquake safety improvements to BART facilities,
including aerial trackway structures, overhead and underground trackway structures, including the
Transbay Tube, the Berkeley Hills Tunnel and at-grade trackway structures, stations, and
administrative, maintenance, and operations facilities and to finance additional retrofits to facilitate
a rapid return to service after an earthquake or other disasters. General obligation bonds are
general obligations of the District, payable from and secured solely by ad valorem taxes upon all
property subject to taxation by the District, without limitation as to rate or amount (except for
certain personal property which is taxable at limited rates) levied in Alameda and Contra Costa
Counties and the City and County of San Francisco. No other revenues of the District are pledged
to the payment of the general obligation bonds. In October 2015, the District issued the General
Obligation Bonds 2015 Series D Refunding Bonds with a principal amount of $276,805,000. The
proceeds from the 2015 Series D Refunding Bonds were used to fully refund the remaining
outstanding principal balance of $34,680,000 of the District’s 2005 Series A Bonds, to advance
refund $265,735,000 principal amount of the District’s 2007 Series B Bonds, and to pay costs of
issuance of the 2015 Series D Refunding Bonds.

As of April 30, 2016, the following issues of the General Obligation Bonds were
outstanding:

Original Principal

Issue Amount Amount Outstanding  Final Maturity
2007 B Bonds $400,000,000 $101,145,000 2037
2013 C Bonds 240,000,000 225,545,000 2037
2015 D Bonds $276,805,000 $276,805,000 2037
$603,495,000

After the issuance of the 2005 A Bonds, 2007 B Bonds and 2013 C Bonds, the remaining
principal amount of general obligation bonds that the District is authorized to issue under Measure
AA is $240,000,000.

BART is in the process of analyzing whether it should submit an additional general
obligation bond measure to the voters to address some of its capital needs. Public information and

A-13
OHSUSA:765297477.2





polling will be conducted to determine the feasibility of such an initiative that may result in a
measure requesting authorization of over $3 billion in additional general obligation bonds. Any
such measure would require approval of two-thirds of the voters voting on the measure.

Sales Tax Revenue Bonds

Commencing in 1970, the District has issued from time to time bonds payable from and
collateralized by a pledge of sales tax revenues (the “Sales Tax Revenue Bonds”), comprised of
seventy-five percent (75%) of the amounts derived from a one-half of one percent (0.5%)
transactions and use tax imposed by the District within the Three BART Counties pursuant to
Section 29140 of the California Public Utilities Code. The Sales Tax Revenue Bonds are special
obligations of the District issued in order to finance or refinance the costs of constructing,
improving and equipping the BART System. The following issues of sales tax revenue bonds are
outstanding in the amounts and at the rates indicated in the table below as of April 30, 2016:

Original
Principal Amount
Issue Amount Outstanding  Final Maturity

Series 2006A Bonds $108,110,000 $95,840,000 2036
Series 2010 Refunding Bonds 129,595,000 121,065,000 2028
Series 2012A Bonds 130,475,000 121,305,000 2036
Series 2012B (Taxable) 111,085,000 104,770,000 2042
Series 2015A Refunding Bonds 186,640,000 186,640,000 2034

$629,620,000
Plan Bay Area

On July 18, 2013 the Association of Bay Area Governments (“ABAG”) and the MTC
adopted Plan Bay Area (the “Plan”), an integrated transportation and land-use strategy through
2040 that marks the nine-county region’s first long-range plan to meet the requirements of
California’s landmark 2008 Senate Bill 375, which calls on each of the State’s 18 metropolitan
areas to develop a Sustainable Communities Strategy to accommodate future population growth
and reduce greenhouse gas emissions from cars and light trucks. Working in collaboration with
local jurisdictions and transit operators, the Plan advances initiatives to expand housing and
transportation choices, create healthier communities, and build a stronger regional economy. After
spending a year collecting data from local transit agencies and other parties, MTC and ABAG
approved a preferred land use scenario and transportation investment strategy that is designed to
promote compact, mixed-use development that combines both residential and commercial uses
and is located close to public transit, jobs, schools, shopping, parks, recreation and other amenities.
BART facilities play a critical role in meeting major goals and objectives of the Plan.

The Plan includes the latest Regional Transportation Plan, which specifies how some $292
billion in anticipated federal, state and local funds will be spent through 2040. Nearly 87 percent
(or $253 billion) will be used to maintain and operate the transportation network that already exists.
Another way of looking at the distribution of the revenues — which include fuel taxes, public
transit fares, bridge tolls, property taxes and dedicated sales taxes — is by mode of transportation.
Maintenance and operation of the Bay Area’s existing public transit services will receive about 54
percent ($159 billion) of the revenues. Of this total, BART is expected to receive from all sources

A-14
OHSUSA:765297477.2



http://onebayarea.org/regional-initiatives/plan-bay-area.html



(including farebox, taxes and grants) approximately $38 billion in operating and capital funds.
The remainder includes: 32 percent for street, road, highway and bridge maintenance; 7 percent
for transit expansion; and 5 percent for roadway and bridge expansion. A $3.1 billion reserve,
comprised of anticipated future funding through the California Air Resources Board’s Cap-and-
Trade program for greenhouse gas emissions, accounts for another 1 percent of expected revenues.

BART continues to receive approximately $50 million per year in capital renovation funds
from the FTA Sections 5307 and 5309 Formula Funding programs, which are programmed
regionally by MTC. Under its current policy, MTC funds only the District’s highest scoring transit
capital reinvestment needs in the Plan. Under the Plan, the District has a 28 year capital asset
renovation and rehabilitation need of $16.5 billion. MTC and participating counties fund these
from a combination of Federal formula funds, “STP/CMAQ” and State Transportation
Improvement Program (“STIP”) funds. For the District, this means approximately 63% of the
District’s 28-year capital asset renovation and rehabilitation needs are projected to be funded in
FY2013-2040. The remaining 37% of the District’s reinvestment needs in this period,
approximately $6 billion, remain unfunded. These Project needs will have to be met with funding
sources Yyet to be identified by the District.

[MTC and ABAG are currently in the process of updating the Plan with an anticipated
adoption date of summer 2017. BART does not expect any significant changes to the Plan.]

Rail Vehicle Replacement Program

On May 10, 2012, the Board of Directors authorized the award of a contract to Bombardier
Transit Corporation (“Bombardier”) for the procurement of additional and replacement cars. The
base contract provides for the design, engineering, manufacture, testing, management and support
of 260 heavy rail transit vehicles, with several options to procure additional vehicles thereafter,
including two options for 150 vehicles, one option for 115 vehicles, and one option for 100
vehicles.

The District awarded the base contract for 260 vehicles in May 30, 2012, and exercised
Option 1 to procure an additional 150 vehicles on June 25, 2012. Options 2, 3 and 4 for an
additional 365 vehicles were exercised on December 27, 2013 for a total purchase of 775 vehicles.

[Bombardier commenced delivery of 10 pilot vehicles in October 2015, which are
undergoing eighteen months of testing, qualification, simulated revenue service and pre-
production design review.] Once the initial cars are approved, Bombardier will produce and deliver
10 vehicles per month. The District expects Bombardier to begin production in December 2016.

The total project cost for the 775 vehicles will be approximately $2.584 billion, and will
be paid from funding sources including funds from the MTC, the Santa Clara Valley
Transportation Authority (“VTA”), and from BART itself.

MTC and the District have agreed in principle that MTC by allocation of Federal and State
funds will fund 75% and BART will fund the remaining 25% of the purchases under the
replacement vehicle contract. 60 vehicles will be attributed to vehicle needs for the expansion into
Santa Clara County and will be funded per the terms of a cost sharing agreement entered into by
VTA and BART in April 2011. A successor agreement is currently being negotiated by VTA and

A-15
OHSUSA:765297477.2





BART, but it is not anticipated that the successor agreement will alter the cost allocation for the
60 cars attributable to VTA.

BART anticipates funding its portion of the contract from the accumulated funds in the
Rail Car Sinking Fund from annual operating funds of approximately $45 million for twelve years
ending in Fiscal Year 2024-25. For Fiscal Years 2014-2015 and 2015-16 BART budgeted $45.00
million for this sinking fund. A portion of the funds MTC expects to use to fund its share of the
cars depends on FTA and Federal Highway Administration (“FHWA”) funds that are subject to
authorization and appropriation by Congress, and on other critical regional transit capital needs.
Should the FTA and FHWA funds become unavailable, the District cannot predict what funds, if
any, MTC will provide in their place.

To set aside funding for vehicle replacement, the District and MTC entered into the BART
Car Replacement Funding Exchange Agreement in 2006 (the “Exchange Agreement”). Under the
Exchange Agreement, MTC agrees to program federal funds to eligible BART projects that are
ready to be delivered within the year of MTC’s programming action. In exchange for MTC
programming funds for ready-to-go BART projects, the District deposits an equal amount of local
unrestricted funds into a restricted account, the “BART Car Exchange Fund”, established to fund
BART’s vehicle replacement program. MTC is the exclusive administrator of this restricted
account and any withdrawal of funds from the account requires prior approval from the MTC
Commission and the Board. In accordance with the agreement, MTC allocated Federal Section
5307 Grants of $72,000,000 in Fiscal Year 2013-14 and $74,168,151 in Fiscal Year 2014-15 to
fund the District’s preventative maintenance expenses and has budgeted $52,671,798 in Fiscal
Year 2015-16 for such purpose. Accordingly, the District remitted or will remit to MTC the
equivalent amount of its own funds, which funds are deposited by MTC to the BART Car
Exchange Fund. The federal grant is shown as nonoperating revenue—operating financial
assistance and the District’s remittance to MTC is shown as nonoperating expense in the District’s
financial statements. The BART Car Exchange Fund for BART’s car replacement program, which
is excluded from the District’s financial statements, showed a total cash and investment balance,
at market value unaudited, of $275,998,407 as of June 30, 2015.

Earthquake Safety Program

The original components of the BART System, constructed in the 1960s, were designed to
withstand much greater seismic stress than required by construction standards of the time. The
1989 Loma Prieta earthquake provided a significant test of that design. BART was back in service
just hours after the event, while many roads, bridges, freeways, and other structures in the San
Francisco Bay Area suffered major damage. With the San Francisco-Oakland Bay Bridge out of
service, BART served as a vital link between San Francisco and the East Bay following the Loma
Prieta earthquake. However, the epicenter of the Loma Prieta earthquake was located
approximately 60 miles from most of the BART System. BART faces earthquake risk from several
major fault lines in the immediate vicinity of BART rail lines.

In Fiscal Year 2000-01, BART embarked on a comprehensive study (the “Seismic
Vulnerability Study”) to assess the vulnerability of, and evaluate the risk to, the District’s physical
plant and systems from a major earthquake in the San Francisco Bay Area. The Seismic
Vulnerability Study, developed by BART after more than a year of engineering analysis and

A-16
OHSUSA:765297477.2





presented to the Board of Directors on June 6, 2002, identified retrofit strategies to strengthen the
BART System. In order to implement a retrofit strategy based on the Seismic Vulnerability Study,
the Board of Directors adopted a resolution on July 25, 2002, placing a measure on the November
5, 2002 ballot seeking authorization to issue general obligation bonds, in one or more series, in an
amount not to exceed $1.05 billion. The November 5, 2002 ballot measure failed to receive
approval by at least a two-thirds vote in the Three BART Counties, receiving approval from 64.2%
of the voters voting on the ballot measure.

Subsequently, on June 10, 2004, the Board of Directors adopted a General Obligation Bond
Program Report, which defined a $1.307 billion (which includes projected construction inflation
costs through estimated completion) earthquake safety program (the “Measure AA Earthquake
Safety Program”) based on the Seismic Vulnerability Study. The Measure AA Earthquake Safety
Program is based on maintaining operability of the core components of the BART System and
retrofitting the rest of the BART System to a life safety level. The Measure AA Earthquake Safety
Program is designed (i) to protect aerial trackway structures, underground trackway structures,
including the Transbay Tube, and at-grade trackway structures, stations, and administrative,
maintenance, and operations facilities and (ii) to provide additional retrofits to facilitate a rapid
return to service in the core of the BART System, spanning from the west portal of the Berkeley
Hills Tunnel to the Daly City Yard.

In order to fund a portion of the Measure AA Earthquake Safety Program, the Board of
Directors adopted a resolution on June 10, 2004, placing Measure AA on the November 2, 2004
ballot seeking authorization to issue general obligation bonds, in one or more series, in an amount
not to exceed $980 million. Measure AA received approval by at least a two-thirds vote in the
Three BART Counties, receiving approval from 68.8% of the voters voting on Measure AA.

Another major funding source for the Measure AA Earthquake Safety Program is a
statutory designation contained in the Regional Measure 2 (“RM2”) program, which was approved
by Bay Area voters in March 2004. Funded by an increase of toll revenues from the State-owned
Bay Area toll bridges, RM2 provides $143 million to the Measure AA Earthquake Safety Program,
specifically to assist in the retrofit of the Transbay Tube. Other funding sources for the Measure
AA Earthquake Safety Program include $134 million of State Local Seismic Safety Retrofit
Program funds. The District has completed several retrofits of the Transbay Tube, including
upgrading seismic joints, soil improvement, retrofitting the Oakland Ventilation Structure and
installing structural steel liner in one Transbay Tube segment. The District is in the process of
designing the last retrofit, consisting of internal leakage liners combined with a pumping upgrade.

The Program’s funding plan has been reduced and its scope has been increased due to
current and projected cost savings from favorable construction bids on project components. The
current budgeted value of the Earthquake Safety Program is $1.27 billion.

System Expansion Program
Planned extensions of the BART System include:

Warm Springs Extension. This $890 million extension will extend BART service south
5.4 miles from the present terminus at the Fremont Station to a new station in the Warm Springs

A-17
OHSUSA:765297477.2





district of Fremont in southern Alameda County. Revenue service to the Warm Springs/South
Fremont station is expected to commence in 2016. An optional station in the Irvington district,
located north of Warm Springs, will be added if funding from the Alameda County Transportation
Commission becomes available. The Warm Springs Extension alignment will be mostly at-grade;
however, it will run beneath Fremont Central Park in a mile-long cut and cover subway. A
Supplemental Environmental Impact Report was completed and the project was adopted by the
Board of Directors in June 2003. Thereafter, an Environmental Impact Statement was completed
and a Record of Decision was issued by the FTA in October 2006. The project funding plan
includes substantial contributions from a variety of local and State sources and surplus revenues
from the SFO Extension. The project has no Federal funding. The project is being implemented
via two major contracts: the $137 million Fremont Central Park Subway contract (“Subway”)
which was begun in August 2009 and completed on schedule and within budget in April 2013 and
the $299 million design-build Line, Track, Station and Systems (“LTSS”) contract which was
begun in October 2011 and is approximately 98% complete as of March 2016.

Silicon Valley Program. The BART Silicon Valley Program (formerly referred to as the
Silicon Valley Rapid Transit, or SVRT, Project) is a planned 16-mile extension of the regional
BART system from BART’s Warm Springs Station in Fremont, which is currently under
construction, to the cities of Milpitas, San Jose and Santa Clara in the County of Santa Clara. The
Program is being financed and implemented by VTA per the VTA - BART Comprehensive
Agreement executed on November 19, 2001. The Comprehensive Agreement outlines the
responsibilities of the two agencies concerning the construction, management, financing, operation
and ongoing maintenance of this extension.

VTA acquired the right-of-way in December 2002 from the Union Pacific Railroad
(“UPRR”) securing a vital north/south transit corridor for Santa Clara County. As required under
the right-of-way purchase agreement with UPRR, VTA has relocated the existing UPRR tracks off
the BART corridor onto an adjacent corridor retained by UPRR. Additionally, as part of corridor
preparation and in concert with the relocation of UPRR facilities, VTA has implemented flood
control improvements where creeks cross the corridor and has relocated underground utilities that
are in conflict with the BART and UPRR corridors.

The 16-mile extension is planned to include: six stations - one in Milpitas, four in San Jose
and one in the City of Santa Clara; a five-mile tunnel in downtown San Jose and provision of a
yard and shops at the end of the line in Santa Clara. The capital cost for the six station extension
is estimated at $7.1 billion in Year-Of-Expenditure (YOE) dollars. The extension program is being
implemented in phases.

The first phase, The Silicon Valley Berryessa Extension Project (“SVBX”), is under
construction and comprises a 10-mile extension of BART service with two stations — one in
Milpitas and one in San Jose at Berryessa Road. Along with VTA constructing the first phase,
BART is constructing a revenue vehicle primary maintenance facility at BART’s Hayward Yard,
and is adding 60 new cars to the revenue vehicle fleet. The first phase, with an estimated capital
cost of $2.42 billion in YOE dollars, was granted a FTA Full Funding Grant Agreement in March
of 2012.

A-18
OHSUSA:765297477.2





To date, relocation of UPRR facilities and third party utilities along the BART corridor for
SVBX, and grade separation of Mission Boulevard, Warren Avenue and Kato Road, all in the City
of Fremont, have been completed. Construction of the guideway, in trench, at grade and aerial, has
progressed substantially by the Line, Track, Stations and Systems Contractor (the “LTSS
Contractor”). The LTSS Contractor has also made progress on the construction activities for
stations at Milpitas and Berryessa, and installation of electrical and systems equipment.
Construction of parking garages at the two station campus began in late 2015. Revenue services
are forecasted to begin in the last quarter of 2017.

Planning and environmental studies for the second phase have begun with the Federal
Record of Decision anticipated in spring of 2017. Preparation for entry into the Federal New Starts
Program is planned for the first quarter of 2016 with the Federal Transit Administration’s issuance
of a Full Funding Grant Agreement anticipated sometime after 2018.

Hayward Maintenance Complex.  The Hayward Maintenance Complex will consist of
a maintenance yard to handle responsibilities relating to vehicles for the Silicon Valley expansion
and related system maintenance needs. The first phase of $240 million of this $452 million project
has been funded by Federal grants and BART operations and is now under construction BART is
actively seeking funds from various sources for this project, and is currently proceeding with a
funding plan from its operating budget.

eBART/East Contra Costa Rail Extension. The eBART extension, designed to improve
transit service in the congested California State Highway Route 4 (“State Route 4”) corridor,
consists of a 10-mile extension eastward from the Pittsburg/Bay Point BART station to the City
of Antioch utilizing a diesel multiple unit (“DMU”) technology. The eBART Project alignment
will be in the median of State Route 4 with a transfer platform in the existing Pittsburg/Bay Point
station BART tailtrack, a station in Pittsburg at the Railroad Avenue, and terminus station at
Hillcrest Avenue in Antioch. The eBART Project is estimated to cost approximately $524 million.
Environmental review was completed and approved by the Board in April 2009. The contracts for
the transfer platform and the maintenance facility have been completed. The major contract
encompassing track construction, signaling systems, communications, station finishes and
performing the systems integration is currently underway. Completion of this contract is
dependent on the progress of the State Route 4 widening schedule. The project is targeting a
revenue service date of late 2017. The project funding plan includes substantial contributions from
Contra Costa County, MTC and various other local and State funding sources.

BART to Livermore Extension. In February 2012, the Board directed staff to advance the
proposed BART to Livermore Project to the next level of project development, including
developing a Project-Level Environmental Impact Report (“EIR”). Study funding has been
received from the Alameda County Transportation Commission and the MTC. The proposed
project consists of a 4.8-mile BART extension along 1-580 to a new station in the vicinity of the
Isabel Avenue/1-580 interchange. In addition to the proposed project, four other alternatives are
being evaluated in the EIR: 1) A No Build alternative assuming that the proposed project is not
constructed; 2) A DMU/EMU alternative implementing a new rail service from the existing
Dublin/Pleasanton BART station to a new station in the vicinity of the Isabel Avenue/I-580
interchange using DMU or electric multiple unit (EMU) technology; 3) An Express Bus/Bus Rapid
Transit alternative incorporating improvements that provide for more seamless bus-to-BART

A-19
OHSUSA:765297477.2





transfers including direct access bus ramps from the 1-580 HOV/Express lanes to a new bus facility
at the BART platform level of the existing Dublin/Pleasanton station; and 4) An Enhanced Bus
alternative including modest, low-cost improvements to existing bus services at the
Dublin/Pleasanton BART station. The Board had previously adopted a Program Environmental
Impact Report in July 2010. A funding plan for the proposed investment needs to be developed
as part of the project-level environmental study.

System Reinvestment Program

Automatic Fare Collection Modernization/ Clipper Card. The Automatic Fare Collection
Modernization Program (the “AFC Modernization Program”) provided for the complete
renovation and replacement of fare collection equipment throughout the BART System, including
ticket vendors, addfare machines, and faregates. The AFC Modernization Program also provided
new bill-to-bill change machines for installation in each station, upgrades to the central Data
Acquisition System and station infrastructure upgrades. The fare collection equipment is
compatible with MTC’s Clipper Card® Program (formerly known as “Translink™), designed to
enable a transit rider to utilize one ticket to access multiple transit systems within the San Francisco
Bay Area. Clipper Card® has been operating in revenue service on BART gates since August
2009.

Train Control. Trains are controlled from the Control Center, which provides supervisory
control of train operations, and controls electrification, ventilation and emergency response
system. Display boards use computer imaging and video projection to display the entire system,
including track and train positions and maintenance information. A network of control devices that
control train speed, train separation, routing, and station stopping functions. It is comprised of
analog and microprocessor based systems in 44 stations and 12 control huts. The system also
includes a backup train protection system.

In 2014, the BART Board approved the replacement of the existing track circuit (fixed
block) train control system with a modern communications based train control (CBTC) system
which, when in place, will allow more trains to pass through the trans-bay tube in the peak hours.
The ability to operate more trains per hour through the Trans-bay Tube (TBT) will provide relief
to the current crowded conditions and allow for some additional growth. The current schedule
shows a CBTC vendor/installer selection in 2018. The new system will be installed, tested and
deployed in eight (8) phases from 2019 to 2026. In 2023, when the new CBTC is installed through
the TBT and the Oakland Wye, it is expected additional capacity can be realized.

Supervisory and Control Systems. These systems provide supervisory control of train
operations, electrification, ventilation and emergency response systems to the Control Center.
Display boards use computer imaging and video projection to display the entire system, including
track and train positions and maintenance information. A central computer system monitors train
operations and manages system schedules and dispatching, and sends commands to the train
control systems to facilitate train movement and platform stopping and release functions.

Communications. The backbone of the supervisory and control systems is the operations
communication network. It consists of fiber optic cable plant and computer systems that control

A-20
OHSUSA:765297477.2





and route all commands to the field from the Control Center. These computers, which are located
throughout the system, have a limited service life and require periodic upgrading or replacement.

Replacement of the trunked radio system will be necessary within the next ten years. This
system is used for train operation, communications between central operations and wayside, and
for District police. Certain improvements and updates have been implemented to date; full
replacement will occur at such time that funds become available.

Traction Power System. The Traction Power System (“TPS”) consists of 118 substations,
over 700 high voltage circuit breakers and switchgear, 114 transformer-rectifiers, and over 1.5
million linear feet of cabling, most of which will be at or exceed its life expectancy within the next
10 years. The Fiscal Year 2005-06 Capital Improvement Program began to address this critical
system need by staging a reinvestment program starting in 2006 to repair and replace this
equipment with annual allocations from FTA Section 5307 Federal formula funds. Currently,
projects are underway to replace miles of cable and replace 14 TPS substations.

Wayside Facility Infrastructure. This program consists of renovation of the system’s
backbone infrastructure including rail and tie replacement, ventilation fan and street grating
renovation, and other wayside facilities that will require repair and renovation on an on-going
basis. Wayside Facilities which touch the track and guideway rail systems receive an annual
allocation of funding from the FTA Section 5307 Formula Funding program.

As noted in several of the program descriptions above, the District will continue its practice
of making necessary investments in ongoing renovation and replacement of major components of
the District’s infrastructure as needed. Included as ongoing system reinvestment projects are the
mainline projects of Rail/Wayside Infrastructure Replacement, Traction Power System
Renovation, Train Control Renovation and associated controls and communications project,
Transbay Tube Cathodic Protection; and Stations and Facilities rehabilitation projects including
roofs, paving, waterproofing, painting and accessibility repairs. In addition, other projects are
contemplated or underway to upgrade certain District systems.

Security Enhancement Program

It is the District’s mission to provide safe, clean, reliable, and customer-friendly regional
public transit service that increases mobility and accessibility, strengthens community and
economic prosperity, and helps preserve the Bay Area’s environment. Security programs are a
key component in fulfilling this mission, and as such, BART’s Security Program has been
developed as a tool to make security resources readily available and integrate security programs
into all of BART’s operations and services. It is a goal of BART, through the effective
implementation and administration of this Security Program, to take proactive measures that will
improve the overall security of its transit operations and services. To achieve this goal, BART
must make significant capital investments in infrastructure security hardening, employee training
and customer outreach. At present, the District anticipates that the majority of funding required for
capital security improvements will need to be obtained from external grant sources.

A-21
OHSUSA:765297477.2





Service and Capacity Enhancement Program

Major elements of this program include station enhancements and upgrades, capacity
projects, station access improvements and transit-oriented development projects.

Station Enhancements and Upgrades. Station enhancement and upgrade projects include
capacity expansion and upgrade projects within the paid and unpaid areas of stations. Such
projects may be either system wide projects or individual station projects, which are developed
through a comprehensive planning process. Once projects are identified, grant funding is sought
from a variety of sources to allow for project implementation. When grant funding is secured and
identified for a particular project, such project is implemented. Projects identified, funded and
implemented to date include the reconstruction of the station entrance plaza at the 16"/Mission
Street station, streetscape improvements at the Concord station, and access and accessibility
improvements at both the Glen Park and Balboa Park stations.

Capacity Projects. Capacity projects may be either system wide projects or station-specific
projects. Once projects are identified, grant funding is sought from a variety of sources to allow
for project implementation. When grant funding is secured and identified for a particular project,
such project is implemented. Station capacity projects identified, funded and implemented to date
include the phase one expansion at the Balboa Park station, consisting of a new escalator, stairs,
faregates and emergency exit improvements.

System Access Improvements. Implementation of System Access Improvements projects
is dependent upon securing funding. When grant funding is secured and identified for a particular
project, such project is implemented.

Transit-Oriented Development. During 2004, a policy review panel, comprised of
representatives of the Board of Directors, ABAG, MTC, the Bay Area Air Quality Management
District and the Center for Transit-Oriented Development, a national organization formed to
address transit-oriented development issues, conducted a comprehensive review of BART
development activity in order to revise existing BART policies regarding real estate development.
On July 14, 2005, the Board of Directors adopted the revised “Transit-Oriented Development
Policy” (the “TOD Policy”), which resulted from this review. The TOD Policy is intended to
guide development on BART land, to provide for interface with private development adjacent to
BART stations, and to assure that access to BART stations will be accommodated by all
development around BART stations.

To date, BART and its development partners have completed residential and commercial
projects at the Castro Valley, Richmond, Ashby, Pleasant Hill/Contra Costa Centre and Fruitvale
stations. Projects at West Dublin/Pleasanton, McArthur and South Hayward are under
construction. Other projects in various stages of development are slated for the Coliseum, Millbrae,
Walnut Creek, San Leandro, and Glen Park, stations. Additional TOD activity has occurred at the
Hayward and Dublin/Pleasanton stations through property exchanges with the local land use
jurisdictions. The District continues to work closely with a variety of local jurisdictions,
community groups and private development partners to advance such projects and to support their
efforts to develop public and private funding plans for these projects. Participation in the planning
and development process does not commit the District to funding any project.

A-22
OHSUSA:765297477.2





Funding Developments

Pension Reform and Grant Funding. In October 2013 temporary legislation was passed
exempting represented transit workers from the Public Employee’s Pension Reform Act of 2013
(“PEPRA”) which had been enacted in 2012 and took effect on January 1, 2013. The temporary
legislation was required because the United States Department of Labor (DOL) had refused to
certify federal funding grants based on its finding that PEPRA infringed upon transit workers’
collective bargaining rights. DOL certification is required in order for the Federal Transit
Administration to pay grants. Absent that certification transit agencies in California could not
receive federal funds. Once the temporary legislation making represented transit employees
exempt from PEPRA was enacted the DOL permitted the release of federal funds to transit
agencies including the District.

The State of California (and the Sacramento Regional Transit Agency) brought litigation
in the U.S. District Court, Eastern District of California which challenged the DOL’s determination
that PEPRA interfered with collective bargaining rights. On December 30, 2014, the U.S. District
Court issued a ruling that the DOL’s refusal to certify the federal grants was arbitrary and
capricious. The District Court remanded the issue back to the DOL with instructions that it act in
accordance with the District Court’s order.

The legislation which exempted transit employees from PEPRA by its terms was to expire
in 2015 or upon a determination by the District Court that the DOL erred in refusing to certify the
federal funds. As a result, the temporary exemption expired on December 30, 2014 and all transit
employees became subject to PEPRA.

However, the matter has not been resolved, since the date of the ruling the DOL refused
and continues to refuse to certify any new federal grants to California transit agencies. The DOL
is taking the position that the District Court’s ruling does nothing more than require it to reconsider
whether PEPRA infringes upon collective bargaining rights. As a result, disputed federal transit
funds are not currently being released.

BART has approximately $90 million in federal grants which could be affected. The DOL
has made its certification of grant funds subject to certain terms and conditions. Those conditions
may require the District to either refuse to comply with PEPRA or alternatively to return the grant
funds.

State Transit Funding. State Transit Assistance (“STA”) is funded by the sales tax on
diesel fuel and can be used for operating and capital purposes. The District received STA funds of
$17,604,309 in Fiscal Year 2014-15. The price of diesel fuel has decreased approximately 20%
during Fiscal Year 2015-16 and the STA program has seen a corresponding decrease in available
revenues. The District budgeted $16,503,040 in STA funds for Fiscal Year 2015-16, but based
upon the latest available information from the State, anticipates receiving only $8,927,632.

A-23
OHSUSA:765297477.2





DISTRICT FINANCIAL INFORMATION
Financial Statements

A copy of the most recent audited financial statements of the District prepared by Macias
Gini & O’Connell LLP (“MGO”), Walnut Creek, California, is included as Appendix B to this
Official Statement. See Appendix B—“SAN FRANCISCO BAY AREA RAPID TRANSIT
DISTRICT REPORT ON AUDITS OF FINANCIAL STATEMENTS FOR THE YEARS
ENDED JUNE 30, 2015 AND 2014.” The financial statements of the District included in
Appendix B to this Official Statement have been examined by MGO, whose report thereon appears
in such Appendix. MGO was not requested to consent to the inclusion of its report in Appendix
B, nor has MGO undertaken to update its report or to take any action intended or likely to elicit
information concerning the accuracy, completeness or fairness of the statements made in this
Official Statement, and no opinion is expressed by MGO with respect to any event subsequent to
the date of its report.

In 2011, the District converted to its new Business Advancement Program (“BAP”), which
included the financials, materials management and maintenance modules. Every facet of the
District’s operations was impacted by the implementation. In a letter to the Board of Directors of
the District, the District’s auditors identified several issues with the implementation which, taken
together, they identified as a material weakness. A material weakness is a deficiency or
combination of deficiencies in internal controls such that there is a reasonable possibility that a
material misstatement of the entity’s financial statements will not be prevented, or detected and
corrected on a timely basis.

The District’s auditors identified the following specific weaknesses. Due to insufficient
training, some users of the BAP system were performing certain financial tasks manually or in
spreadsheets that should have been completed using the BAP system. The late closing of the
Capital Project module negatively impacted the District’s ability to bill or request for grant
reimbursements of project costs, which constrained the District’s available cash, and caused delays
in audit planning, execution and the issuance of the District’s financial statements. The
implementation of the BAP system was, in the auditor’s opinion, insufficiently tested, and did not
use formal signoffs to note which stages of the plan had been performed. Finally, the auditors
found that the BAP system listed users that had retired in 2011, although the auditors did not find
any instances of such users accessing the system after their retirement date.

The District responded to the findings by implementing a corrective plan, which included
additional training, supervisory oversight, tighter controls on user authorization, and hiring
specialists to support the system and end users. The District’s corrective plan was implemented by
the end of Fiscal Year 2014 and the material weakness finding was removed.

In Fiscal Year 2014, MGO noted a significant deficiency finding related to the late
recognition of the extinguishment of loans from SamTrans and MTC as a result of the termination
of the 1999 Memorandum of Understanding between the District, SamTrans and MTC in 2007.
During 2014, the District re-evaluated the provisions of the termination agreement and the Tri-
Party Financial Agreement between the District, SamTrans and MTC and concluded that the
obligations to SamTrans for $72,000,000 and MTC for $16,500,000 were extinguished. A special

A-24
OHSUSA:765297477.2





item to recognize a special gain was recorded in Fiscal Year 2014. Please refer to Note 6 of the
audited financial statements of the District included as Appendix B to the Official Statement for
more information.

Historical Financial Results

The table on the following page summarizes BART’s historical financial operating results
for its General Operating Fund for the Fiscal Years ending June 30, 2011 through June 30, 2015
and preliminary unaudited results for first nine months of Fiscal Year 2015-16. This summary for
the Fiscal Years ending June 30, 2011 through June 30, 2015 is derived from BART audited
financial statements for the Fiscal Years indicated therein (excluding certain non-cash items and
after certain other adjustments) and are qualified in their entirety by reference to such statements,
including the notes thereto. Amounts reported in audited financial statements as “Other Income
(expenses)” under “Nonoperating revenues (expenses)” are excluded from the presentation below
because they pertain only to extraordinary transactions or those transactions associated with Other
District Funds — i.e. debt issue and debt service costs. The data presented for Fiscal Year 2015-
16 consists of preliminary unaudited information that does not reflect adjustments associated with
the implementation of GASB 68 relating to pension funding and liabilities involving the current
fiscal year. The income and expenses reported in the audited financial statements were based on
consolidated information which included transactions pertaining to Other District Funds—Capital
Funds and Debt Service Funds. Generally, income and expenses associated with the Other District
Funds include investment income, interest expense and debt issue costs. However, in the table
below summarizing historical financial operating results, only transactions related to the District’s
General Operating Fund are shown.

(Remainder of This Page Intentionally Left Blank)

A-25
OHSUSA:765297477.2





HISTORICAL FINANCIAL RESULTS OF GENERAL OPERATING FUND

Annual Passengers (thousands)

Operating Revenues
Passenger Revenues
Investment Income®
Other

Total Operating Revenues
Financial Assistance:
Sales Tax Revenues

Property Tax Revenues®
Other

Total Financial Assistance

Total Operating Revenues and
Financial Assistance

Operating Expenses:
Labor
Electrical Power
Express Feeder Bus ©

Purchased Transportation-OAC
Other Non-Labor

Total Operating Expenses Net(”
Revenues for Bond Debt Service
Bond Debt Service®
Funding Exchange ©

Excess Revenues/(Deficit)

Operating Ratio®®
Farebox RatioV

($ in Thousands)
(Fiscal Years Ending June 30)
2011 2012 2013 2014 2015 2016 @
103,714 110,777 117,815 117,074 125,979 96,090
$343,472 $367,342 $406,890 $416,573 $463,634 $364,536
228 123 23 8 167 645
33,273 34,512 36,383 46,587 50,908 41,885
$376,973 $401,977 $443,296 $463,168 $514,709 $407,066
$ 180,819 $195,214 $208,561 $221,149 $233,148 $183,303
29,515 29,694 31,686 32,054 34,324 21,814
28,134 49,894 47,728 96,297 107,307 63,9779
$ 238,469 $274,802 $287,975 $349,500 $374,779 $269,094
$615,441 $676,779 $731,271 $812,668 $889,488 $676,160
$358,249 $380,692 $407,076 $411,426 $421,707 $362,275©
35,297 35,062 37,306 37,231 36,004 28,240
223 132 220 1,346 3,399 2,572
- — - - 3,542 4,598
97,639 113,730 122,410 121,297 132,464 98,143
$ 491,408 $529,616 $567,012 $571,300 $597,116 $495,828
$124,033 $147,163 $164,259 $241,368 $292,372 $180,332
$ 68,074 $62,273 $62,442 $58,240 $55,958 $34,255
- $25,940 $23,980 $72,000 $74,168 $50,176
$ 55,959 $58,949 $77,837 $111,128 $162,246 $95,901
7% 76% 78% 81% [Blo 82%
70% 69% 2% 73% 8% 74%

@) Preliminary unaudited amounts for the 9 months ended March 31, 2016, subject to change.
) Investment income amount in audited financial statements is higher due to inclusion of investment income from District Funds other

than the District Operating Fund.

3) Excludes property tax revenue collected for the debt service of the general obligation bonds.
4 Excluding additional STA financial assistance not yet accrued.
(5) Before adjustment related to the implementation of GASB 68.
(6) Relates to District’s share of expenses paid to local operators associated with providing passenger access to BART not covered by STA

funds.

@) Amount reported is higher in audited financial statements because such amounts in the financial statements include depreciation expense.
(8) “Bond Debt Service” reported above represents actual amount remitted to cover debt service paid from General Operating Fund, which
excludes general obligation bonds. Amount in audited financial statements under “Interest Expense” represents interest expenses for all
District debts, net of capitalized interest expense. For a complete discussion of BART’s long term debt, see Note 6 to the audited

financial statements of the San Francisco Bay Area Rapid Transit District included as Appendix B to this Official Statement.

9) BART Car Exchange Funding represents a transfer to MTC in exchange for the same amount in Federal preventive maintenance grant

provided by MTC to the District. The Federal grant received is shown as part of Financial Assistance — Other.

(10)  Operating Ratio is defined as the total operating revenues divided by the total operating expenses.
(11)  Farebox Ratio is defined as total passenger revenues divided by total operating expenses.

A-26





Management’s Discussion of Historical Financial Results

During Fiscal Year 2010-11 through Fiscal Year 2014-15, while the District saw continued
growth in operating revenues and sales tax revenues, the trend in ridership and sales tax growth
started to slow. Operating expenses increased at a corresponding level. Total passenger ridership
had grown from 103.7 million in Fiscal Year 2010-11 to 126.0 million in Fiscal Year 2014-15.
Until Fiscal Year 2013-14, BART’s ridership growth rate had been 6% to 7% as the Bay Area’s
economy recovered from the recent recession. The West Dublin Station opened in February 2011.
There were two labor strikes in Fiscal Year 2013-14, July and October 2013, with a total of eight
days of no rail service, which resulted in an estimated loss of about 3.7 million total trips. Total
ridership decreased to 117.1 million, a 0.6% decrease from the prior fiscal year. Revenue service
started on the Oakland Airport Connector in November 2014, creating a convenient rail link
between the Oakland Coliseum station and the Oakland International Airport. During its first year
of service, the Connector had over one million riders. Compared to ridership on the AirBART bus
service, average weekday ridership was about 36% higher. Passenger revenue grew from $343
million in Fiscal Year 2010-11 to $463 million in Fiscal Year 2014-15, due to fare increases and
ridership growth. Total operating revenues and financial assistance increased from $615 million
in Fiscal Year 2010-11 to $889 million in Fiscal Year 2014-15 due to the Rail Car Fund Swap (ho
net impact), other operating revenue, including parking revenue, commercial communications and
advertising revenue, and sales tax revenues.

Sales Tax Revenues were $181 million in Fiscal Year 2010-11 and increased to $233
million in Fiscal Year 2014-15, with growth rates ranging from 8.6% in Fiscal Year 2010-11 to
5.4% in Fiscal Year 2014-15, compared to the prior fiscal year. The pre-recession peak was $203
million. As the recovery from the recession matures, growth is slowing and becoming more
moderate.

Other operating assistance received by BART includes STA, ranging from $17.3 million
to $20.0 million received during Fiscal Year 2010-11 through Fiscal Year 2014-15. It should be
noted that although legislation has been implemented in the past few years to make STA a more
secure funding source for transit operators, STA is dependent on the price of diesel fuel and actual
sales. In addition, future State budget problems could result in reduced STA. Additional revenue
comes from BART’s portion of the one percent general property tax levy, which ranged from $29.5
million in Fiscal Year 2010-11 to $34.3 million in Fiscal Year 2014-15, with growth rates between
4% and 6% after recovery from the recession.

Operating expenses, excluding depreciation, increased by $105.7 million between Fiscal
Year 2010-11 and Fiscal Year 2014-15. Expense increases during these five years included
additional service and investments in the BART system to serve growing ridership, the opening of
the West Dublin Station (February 2011) and the Oakland Airport Connector (November 2014),
as well as additional staff and funds to address areas such as employee safety and station
cleanliness. Labor costs increased per labor contracts and benefit costs increased as well. Electric
power costs remained fairly level over the five years, increasing by just 2% overall despite service
increases due to savings from carbon fees not applying to District market power purchases and
lower than budgeted power purchases.

A-27





Under new labor agreements effective Fiscal Years 2013-2014 through Fiscal Year 2016-
2017 and recently renewed through Fiscal Year 2020-2021, labor costs are anticipated to increase
by reasonable amounts.

In each Fiscal Year’s budget process, management establishes an operating ratio goal
(percentage of operating revenue to operating expenses). The District has achieved increasing
operating ratios of above 70% in recent years, well above national averages for urban transit
systems. The District’s operating ratio for Fiscal Year 2014-15 was 84%, slightly above the
budgeted goal of 81%.

The District proceeded with major capital projects in Fiscal Year 2014-2015, including the
Warm Springs Extension, the Oakland Airport Connector project and the Rail Vehicle
Replacement Program. See “BART FINANCINGS AND CAPITAL PROGRAMS.”

Adopted Budget for Fiscal Year 2015-16

On June 11, 2015, the BART Board of Directors adopted a $903 million balanced
operating budget for Fiscal Year 2015-16 that expected growing ridership and increased fare
revenue assisted by the January 1, 2016 productivity-adjusted, CPl-based fare increase. The budget
also assumed the opening of service on the Warm Springs Extension by the end of 2015. Other
operating revenue consisting primarily of parking revenue, commercial communications and
advertising revenue was also expected to increase. The budget projected Sales Tax Revenues of
$244.6 million and property tax revenues and other operating assistance totaling $63 million.

Operating expenses in Fiscal Year 2015-16 were budgeted to increase by 10% over the
prior Fiscal Year budget. Factors for this increase, in addition to ongoing increases in wages,
benefits and power purchases, include the added costs of providing service to the Warm Springs
Extension and system investments and other Board initiatives resulting in 52 (171 if capital
positions also included) new staff positions. The system investments and Board initiatives
supported expanded car maintenance required in order to fully utilize the existing fleet of rail
vehicles, pending the delivery of new cars. Inaddition, in response to customer satisfaction survey
results, additional station, grounds and right of way maintenance personnel were also budgeted.
With increased ridership and an aging system, these operating funds directly support high priority
System Reinvestment and Capacity Enhancement programs, also known as the “Big 3”: Rail Car
Replacement, the Hayward Maintenance Complex and the Train Control Modernization Project.
The Fiscal Year 2015-16 operating budget also continued the annual $45 million allocation to the
Rail Car Sinking Fund, recognizing it as a critical investment in BART infrastructure and its
required contribution to the $2.6 billion rail vehicle purchases.

Since adoption of the Fiscal Year 2015-16 budget, ridership growth has slowed down.
BART anticipates ending the year 0.4% below the budgeted 107.2 million trips. Fare revenue is
anticipated to be slightly over budget at year end due to riders taking longer trips and paying a
higher net average fare. Sale Tax revenues have also trended slightly below budget. BART
anticipates ending Fiscal Year 2015-16 at approximately $3.6 million, or 1.5% below budget. State
Transit Assistance will also be below budget, as discussed earlier. On the operating expense side,
the opening of the Warm Springs Extension has been delayed to Fiscal Year 2016-17, which will
result in cost savings in Fiscal Year 2015-16.

A-28





BART’s capital budget for the Fiscal Year 2015-16 of $665 million also focused on the
System Reinvestment program, which is a collection of approximately 100 discrete projects
generally categorized as controls and communications, facilities, mainline, rolling stock and work
equipment. A major component of the System Reinvestment program is the “Big 3” projects
mentioned above. The “Big 3” initiative cost in Fiscal Year 2015-16 is $170 million and represents
one of the largest commitments in the Fiscal Year 2015-16 capital budget. Also in the System
Reinvestment program are station investments and passenger and worker safety related projects
(life safety systems, circulation, access control, coverboards, aerial structure fall protection, and
others). System Reinvestment expenditures overall have increased by 17% over Fiscal Year 2014-
15 due to increased focus and prioritization of several reinvestment projects in operational areas
of high risk exposure (track condition, traction power transformers and substations, rail tie/switch
replacement, wayside equipment and existing train control rehabilitation).

Risk Management and Insurance

The District is partially self-insured for workers’ compensation, public liability and
property damage claims. The District’s property is insured against flood damage but is not insured
against earthquake damage, which is not currently commercially affordable. The District’s
property is insured for $65 million per occurrence for equipment in the Control Center and $50
million per occurrence for all other insured property. The self-insured retention for property is $5
million per occurrence. Terrorism insurance coverage is provided for workers’ compensation and
the first $50 million of public liability and $22 million for insured property.

The District’s self-insurance programs are administered by independent claims adjustment
firms. Claim expenses and liabilities are reported when it is probable that a loss has occurred and
the amount of that loss can be reasonably estimated. Liabilities are discounted at a 3% rate and are
based, in part, upon the independent adjustment firms’ estimate of reserves necessary for the
settlement of outstanding claims and related administrative costs, and included estimates of claims
that have been incurred but not yet reported. Such reserves are reviewed by professional actuaries
and are subject to periodic adjustments as conditions warrant.

Pursuant to a recent evaluation of District liabilities for workers compensation, outstanding
losses as of December 30, 2015 are projected to total $49,877,991 (undiscounted). The required
reserves discounted 3% are $44,099,697. Ultimate District workers compensation losses are
limited to $4,000,000 per occurrence for the forecast periods and are estimated at $14,972,100 for
Fiscal Year 2015-16 and $15,149,700 for Fiscal Year 2016-17. Outstanding losses for automobile
and general liability are projected to be $6,819,492 (undiscounted). The required reserves
discounted 3% are $6,507,048.

See also Note 8 to the audited financial statements of the District included as Appendix B
to this Official Statement.

Investment Policy
The investment of funds of BART are made in accordance with BART’s investment policy,

developed by BART’s Controller/Treasurer and approved by the Board of Directors on
October 23, 2003 (the “Investment Policy”), and Section 53600 et seq. of the California

A-29





Government Code. The Investment Policy is subject to revision by the Controller/Treasurer,
subject to approval by the Board of Directors, at any time and is reviewed periodically to ensure
compliance with the stated objectives of safety, liquidity, yield and current laws and financial
trends.

All funds of BART and investment activities are governed by the Investment Policy, which
sets forth the following primary objectives, in order of priority:

1. Preservation of capital.

2. Liquidity — funds shall be invested only until date of anticipated need or for a lesser
period.

3. Yield — generation of a favorable return on investment without compromise of the

first two objectives.

See Appendix C—“SAN FRANCISCO BAY AREA RAPID TRANSIT DISTRICT
STATEMENT OF INVESTMENT POLICY.”

Set forth in the below table are the carrying values and types of investment securities in
BART’s General Fund as of March 31, 2016.

INVESTMENT DISTRIBUTION
as of March 31, 2016

Certificates of Deposit $ 960,806
Cash on Hand and in Bank 205,747,346
Investments — Federal Agency Obligations 247,797,202
Investments Treasury Bonds & Notes 110,169,168

Total $564,674,522

Source: District.

As of March 31, 2016, the average duration of the District’s investments (average days to
maturity) was 266 days.

All amounts deposited in the Project Fund established in connection with the outstanding
general obligation bonds are invested at the direction of the District in Investment Securities as
such term is defined in the Paying Agent Agreement entered into by the District in connection with
the general obligation bonds. Investment Securities include guaranteed investment contracts.

All amounts held by the trustee for the Sales Tax Revenue Bonds in the funds and accounts
established under the indenture pursuant to which such obligations were issued are invested at the
direction of the District, subject to certain limitations contained in the applicable indenture.

A-30





Employee Retirement Benefits

The information concerning the California Public Employees’ Retirement System
(“CalPERS”) set forth below is excerpted from publicly available sources which the District
believes to be accurate, but the District cannot and does not guarantee such information as to
accuracy and completeness. CalPERS should be contacted directly at CalPERS, Lincoln Plaza
North, 400 Q Street, Sacramento, California 95814, Telephone: (888) 225-7377 for other
information, including information relating to its financial position and investments.

Plan Description. All eligible employees may participate in the Public Employees’
Retirement Fund (the “Fund”) administered by CalPERS under the Miscellaneous Plan and the
Safety Plan of the District. The Safety Plan covers all sworn police officers of the District; all
other District employees are covered by the Miscellaneous Plan. The Fund is a multiple-employer
public sector employee defined-benefit retirement plan that acts as a common investment and
administrative agent for approximately 3,077 local public agencies and school districts within the
State of California, including the District. The Fund provides retirement, disability and death
benefits based on the employee’s years of service, age and compensation. New employees hired
on or after January 1, 2013 whose benefits are limited by PEPRA under the Miscellaneous Plan,
vest after five years of service and may receive retirement benefits starting at age 52. Under
PEPRA, employees hired prior to January 1, 2013, also referred to as “classic” employees, and
employees under the Safety Plan, vest after five years of service and may receive retirement
benefits starting at age 50. These benefit provisions and all other requirements are established by
State statute and District contractual agreements. Legislation was enacted in the State which
exempted most District employees from the provisions of pension reform, at least as an interim
measure pending the resolution of a dispute with DOL. See “BART FINANCINGS AND
CAPITAL PROGRAMS - Funding Developments — Pension Reform and Grant Funding,” above.

Annual Actuarial Valuation Reports. CalPERS prepares an Annual Actuarial Valuation
Report (“CalPERS Actuarial Report”) for its members. The District receives an annual report for
its Miscellaneous Plan and a separate annual report for its Safety Plan. The latest CalPERS
Actuarial Reports were received by the District in October 2015, which were based on financial
data available from the District and from various CalPERS databases as of June 30, 2014. These
Reports established the District’s required minimum employer contribution rates for Fiscal Year
2016-17, which are 16.383% of covered payroll for the Miscellaneous Plan and 56.474% of
covered payroll for the Safety Plan, before any cost sharing. The Reports also included for
District’s Miscellaneous and Safety Plans the latest Schedule of Funding Progress, which shows a
five-year history of the actuarial value of assets, actuarial accrued liability, their relationship, and
the relationship of unfunded actuarial accrued liability to payroll, as discussed herein below. The
employer contribution rates for new PEPRA employees will continue to be the same rates as classic
employees.

The following chart lists the District’s employer required contribution rates for Fiscal
Years 2016-17, 2015-16, 2014-15 and 2013-14.

A-31





Valuation Date Fiscal Year Employer Rate for Employer Rate for
Miscellaneous Safety
As of June 30, 2014 FY 2016-2017 16.383% 56.474%
As of June 30, 2013 FY 2015-2016 14.787% 51.606%
As of June 30, 2012 FY 2014-2015 13.303% 47.789%
As of June 30, 2011 FY 2013-2014 12.269% 42.885%

Funding Policy. CalPERS’ funding policy for the Miscellaneous Plan and the Safety Plan
(hereinafter sometimes referred to as the “CalPERS Plans”) requires periodic contributions by the
District based on CalPERS actuarially determined amounts sufficient to accumulate the necessary
assets to pay benefits when due as specified by contractual agreements between the District and
its unions. The individual entry age normal method is used to determine the normal cost. There
are two components to this cost: the employer cost and the employee cost. District payment for
the employer portion of the contributions for the Miscellaneous and Safety Plan is to cover normal
cost and to amortize the unfunded actuarial accrued liability, as a percentage of covered payroll.

The District, in compliance with the collective bargaining agreements, also reimburses
“classic” employees as defined by CalPERS for all or a portion of the employee share of the
pension contributions, which are 9% for public safety personnel and 7% for miscellaneous covered
employees. For additional information regarding the District’s level of reimbursement, see Note
10 to the audited financial statements of the District included as Appendix B to this Official
Statement.

Under PEPRA, effective January 1, 2013, “new” employees as defined by CalPERS and
PEPRA who are not represented must contribute ¥ of the total normal cost. The contribution rate
is 12% for safety personnel and 6.25% for miscellaneous employees. Effective July 1, 2016, the
contribution rate for safety personnel will increase to 13%. State law excluded represented
employees from these contributions until a recent federal court ruling was made. Beginning on
December 30, 2014, represented employees began contributing at the PEPRA rate.

In calculating the annual actuarially required contribution rates, the CalPERS actuary
calculates, on the basis of certain assumptions, the actuarial present value of benefits that CalPERS
expects to fund under the CalPERS Plans, which includes two components, the normal cost and
the unfunded actuarial accrued liability (the “UAAL”). The normal cost represents the actuarial
present value of benefits that CalPERS expects to fund under the CalPERS Plans that are attributed
to the current year, and the UAAL represents the actuarial present value of benefits that CalPERS
will fund that are attributed to past years. The UAAL represents an estimate of the actuarial
shortfall between assets on deposit at CalPERS and the present value of the benefits that CalPERS
will pay under the CalPERS Plans to retirees and active employees upon their retirement. The
UAAL is based on several assumptions, including the rate of investment return, average life
expectancy, average age of retirement, inflation, salary increases and occurrences of disabilities.
In addition, calculation of the UAAL involves certain actuarial adjustments, which is described in
more detail below. As a result, prospective investors are encouraged to consider the UAAL as an
estimate of the unfunded actuarial present value of the benefits that CalPERS will fund under the
CalPERS Plans to retirees and active employees upon their retirement, and not as a fixed or hard
expression of the liability the District owes to CalPERS under the CalPERS Plans.

A-32





CalPERS uses the rate stabilization methodologies in its actuarial valuations which have
been shown to be very effective in mitigating rate volatility. See Note 10 to the audited financial
statements of the District included as Appendix B to this Official Statement for a summary of
principal assumptions and methods used by CalPERS to determine the District’s annual required
contributions to the Miscellaneous Plan and Safety Plan.

Schedule of Funding Progress. The funding status applicable to the District’s CalPERS
Plans at June 30, 2014 (the most current information available for the plans) is summarized as
follows:

Funded Status of the Miscellaneous Plan
(in thousands of dollars)®

Entry Age Unfunded  Funded
Normal Actuarial  Liability Status Annual UAAL as a
Valuation  Accrued Value of (Excess  (Actuarial Covered Percentage

Date Liability Assets Assets) Value) Payroll of Payroll
6/30/12 $1,728,926 $1,581,046  $147,880 91.4% $226,128 65.4%
6/30/13" 1,801,182 1,449,050 352,132 80.4 233,176 151.0
6/30/14 1,973,974 1,663,622 310,352 84.3 239,710 129.5

*Beginning with the June 30, 2013 valuation Actuarial Value of Assets equals Market VValue of Assets per CalPERS Direct Rate Smoothing Policy.

Source: CalPERS Annual Valuation Report as of June 30, 2014; District’s audited financial statements for year ended June 30, 2015 and 2014.
@ Numbers reflect rounding.

(Remainder of This Page Intentionally Left Blank)

A-33





Funded Status of the Safety Plan
(in thousands of dollars)®

Entry Age Unfunded  Funded
Normal Actuarial  Liability Status Annual UAAL as a
Valuation  Accrued Value of (Excess  (Actuarial Covered Percentage

Date Liability Assets Assets) Value) Payroll of Payroll
6/30/12 $225,612 $166,268 $59,344 73.7% $17,406 340.9%
6/30/13" 243,522 157,104 86,417 64.5 16.871 512.2
6/30/14 271,775 181,599 90,176 66.8 17,418 517.7

* Beginning with the June 30, 2013 valuation Actuarial VValue of Assets equals Market VValue of Assets per CalPERS Direct Rate Smoothing Policy.

Source: CalPERS Annual Valuation Report as of June 30, 2014; District’s audited financial statements for year ended June 30, 2015 and 2014.
@ Numbers reflect rounding.

Money Purchase Pension Plan

Most District employees participate in the Money Purchase Pension Plan (“MPPP”), which
is a supplemental retirement defined contribution plan under Internal Revenue Code Section
401(a). The District’s total expense and funded contribution for this plan for the years ended June
30, 2015 and 2014 were $9,115,000 and $9,895,000, respectively. The MPPP assets at June 30,
2015 and 2014 (excluded from the accompanying financial statements) per the plan administrator’s
unaudited reports were $288,874,000 and $285,335,000, respectively. At June 30, 2015, there were
approximately 204 (222 in 2014) participants receiving payments under this plan. For additional
information regarding MPPP, see Note 11 to the audited financial statements of the District
included as Appendix B to this Official Statement.

Postretirement Health Care Benefits

Postretirement Health Care Costs. In addition to the retirement benefits described above
and as specified in the District’s contractual agreements, the District provides postretirement health
care benefits assistance to employees. Most employees who retire directly from the District (or
their surviving spouses) are eligible if the employee retires from the District at or after age 50 with
a minimum of 5 years of CalPERS service (which may be with another public entity) and elects to
take an annuity from CalPERS within 120 days of leaving the District. ATU, SEIU, AFSCME,
and non-represented employees first hired on or after January 1, 2014, BPOA employees first hired
on or after July 1, 2014, and BPMA employees first hired on or after January 1, 2015 will be
required to have 15 years of service with BART in order to receive the full contribution.

Pursuant to a Keenan Associates report dated February 26, 2016, entitled “Post-
Employment Benefit Valuation Report, under GASB 43/45 as of June 30, 2015” (the “Keenan
Report”), 2,011 retirees and surviving spouses are provided this benefit. Pursuant to the Retiree
Health Benefit Trust Independent Auditor’s Report for the Years Ended June 30, 2015 and 2014,
the District made payments on a pay-as-you-go basis, net of retirees’ and surviving spouses’ share,
of medical insurance premiums totaling $16,469,000 in Fiscal Year 2014-15 and $16,337,000 in

A-34





Fiscal Year 2013-14, and life insurance premiums amounting to $167,000 in Fiscal Year 2014-
2015 and $75,000 in Fiscal Year 2013-14.

Retiree Health Benefit Trust. In 2004, the Government Accounting Standards Board
(“GASB”) issued Statement No. 45, Accounting and Financial Reporting by Employers for
Postemployment Benefits Other Than Pensions (“GASB 45”). GASB 45 required the District to
change its accounting for other postemployment benefits (“OPEB”) from pay-as-you-go to an
accrual basis. Pursuant to Section 53620 of the California Government Code, a local agency may
create a trust to fund postretirement health benefits. The assets of such a trust will qualify as an
offset against liability under GASB 45. On May 18, 2004, the District created the Retiree Health
Benefit Trust for the San Francisco Bay Area Rapid Transit District (the “Health Benefit Trust™)
in order to provide a vehicle for prefunding portions of retiree health benefits. Pursuant to the
terms of the Health Benefit Trust, the assets of the Health Benefit Trust are to be held for the sole
and exclusive purpose of providing benefits to participants and beneficiaries and to defray the
reasonable expenses of administering the Health Benefit Trust and designated plans. Assets placed
into the Health Benefit Trust cannot be used for any other purposes and are not available to satisfy
general creditors of the District. The Health Benefit Trust is administered by a trustee appointed
by the Board of Directors. The current trustee is the Controller/Treasurer of the District.

At March 31, 2016, net assets (unaudited) held in the Health Benefit Trust included money
market mutual funds, U.S. Treasury obligations, corporate obligations, foreign obligations,
domestic common stocks, equity mutual funds, and foreign stocks with a fair value of
approximately $231,381,543.

Funding projections are based on the Keenan Report, the most recent actuarial analysis
prepared for the District. These funding projections are based on certain assumptions and are
inherently subject to a variety of risks and uncertainties, including increases in the cost and
duration of health care benefits, which could cause actual results to differ materially from those
that have been projected. Pursuant to its labor agreements, effective January 1, 2010, the District’s
contribution toward medical coverage was limited to the highest Bay Area HMO rate under
CalPERS minus the applicable retiree contribution. The actuarial accrued liability (“AAL”) as of
June 30, 2015 is estimated at approximately $333.1 million. The report also contained projected
per capita claims cost updates based on Calendar Years 2014 and 2015 CalPERS premiums.

A-35





Following is the summary of results of the valuation:

(in $ Millions)
Retiree Medical Additional
Plan OPEB Plan Total
June 30, 2015 Valuation Results
Actuarial Accrued Liability $333.1 $30.7 $363.8
Actuarial Value of Assets 221.8 0 221.8
Unfunded Actuarial Accrued 111.3 30.7 142.0
Liability
Results for Fiscal Year 2016
ARC (Percentage of Pay) 8.55% 0.84% 9.39%
ARC (Dollar Amount) $25.0 $2.4 $27.5
Estimated BART Payments
Benefit Payments from General
Assets $0.0 $0.8 $0.8
Contributions to Trust 25.0 0.0 25.0
Total $25.0 $0.8 $25.8

Source: Keenan Report dated February 26, 2016 and the District.

A-36






OH&S Draft #3 — Distributed 06/02/16

CONTINUING DISCLOSURE AGREEMENT

San Francisco Bay Area Rapid Transit District
Sales Tax Revenue Bonds
2016 Refunding Series A

This Continuing Disclosure Agreement (this “Disclosure Agreement”) is executed and delivered
by the San Francisco Bay Area Rapid Transit District (the “Issuer”) and U.S. Bank National Association,
as dissemination agent (the “Dissemination Agent”), in connection with the issuance of $[PRINCIPAL]
principal amount of San Francisco Bay Area Rapid Transit District Sales Tax Revenue Bonds, 2016
Refunding Series A (the “2016 Bonds”). The 2016 Bonds are being issued pursuant to an Indenture,
dated as of September 1, 2012 (the “Master Indenture”), as supplemented and amended by a First
Supplemental Indenture, dated as of September 1, 2012 (the “First Supplemental Indenture”), a Second
Supplemental Indenture, dated as of October 1, 2015 (the “Second Supplemental Indenture”), and a Third
Supplemental Indenture, dated as of August 1, 2016 (the “Third Supplemental Indenture” and, together
with the Master Indenture, the First Supplemental Indenture, and the Second Supplemental Indenture, the
“Indenture™), each by and between the Issuer and the Trustee. The Issuer and the Dissemination Agent
covenant and agree as follows:

SECTION 1. Purpose of the Disclosure Agreement. This Disclosure Agreement is being
executed and delivered by the Issuer and the Dissemination Agent for the benefit of the Holders and the
Beneficial Owners (as hereinafter defined) of the 2016 Bonds and in order to assist the Participating
Underwriters (as hereinafter defined) in complying with Securities and Exchange Commission
Rule 15¢2-12(b)(5).

SECTION 2.  Definitions. In addition to the definitions set forth in the Indenture, which apply
to any capitalized term used in this Disclosure Agreement and not otherwise defined in this Section, the
following capitalized terms shall have the following meanings:

“Annual Report” shall mean any Annual Report provided by the Issuer pursuant to, and as
described in, Sections 3 and 4 of this Disclosure Agreement.

“Beneficial Owner” shall mean any person which has or shares the power, directly or indirectly,
to make investment decisions concerning ownership of any 2016 Bonds (including persons holding 2016
Bonds through nominees, depositories or other intermediaries).

“Disclosure Representative” shall mean the Controller/Treasurer of the Issuer or his designee, or
such other officer or employee of the Issuer as the Controller/Treasurer of the Issuer shall designate in
writing to the Trustee and the Dissemination Agent from time to time.

“Dissemination Agent” shall mean U.S. Bank National Association, acting in its capacity as
Dissemination Agent hereunder, or any successor Dissemination Agent designated in writing by the
Issuer and which has filed with the Trustee a written acceptance of such designation.

“Holder” shall mean the person in whose name any 2016 Bond shall be registered.

“Listed Events” shall mean any of the events listed in Section 5(a) or (b) of this Disclosure
Agreement.

OHSUSA:765070881





“MSRB” shall mean the Municipal Securities Rulemaking Board or any other entity designated
or authorized by the SEC to receive reports pursuant to the Rule. Until otherwise designated by the
MSRB or the SEC, filings with the MSRB are to be made through the Electronic Municipal Market
Access (EMMA) website of the MSRB, currently located at http://emma.msrb.org.

“Participating Underwriter” shall mean any of the original underwriters of the 2016 Bonds
required to comply with the Rule in connection with offering of the 2016 Bonds.

“Rule” shall mean Rule 15¢2-12(b)(5) adopted by the Securities and Exchange Commission
under the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as the same may be amended from time to time.

“SEC” shall mean the Securities and Exchange Commission or any successor agency thereto.
“State” shall mean the State of California.

SECTION 3.  Provision of Annual Reports.

(@) The Issuer shall, or shall cause the Dissemination Agent to, not later than eight
(8) months after the end of the Issuer’s fiscal year (presently June 30), commencing with the Annual
Report for the fiscal year of the Issuer ending June 30, 2016, provide to the MSRB an Annual Report
which is consistent with the requirements of Section 4 of this Disclosure Agreement. Each Annual
Report must be submitted in electronic format, accompanied by such identifying information as is
prescribed by the MSRB, and may include by reference other information as provided in Section 4 of this
Disclosure Agreement; provided that the audited financial statements of the Issuer may be submitted
separately from the balance of the Annual Report and later than the date required above for the filing of
the Annual Report if they are not available by that date. Neither the Trustee nor the Dissemination Agent
shall have any duties or responsibilities with respect to the contents of the Annual Report. If the Issuer’s
fiscal year changes, it shall give notice of such change in the same manner as for a Listed Event under
Section 5(e).

(b) Not later than fifteen (15) Business Days prior to the date specified in subsection
(a) for providing the Annual Report to the MSRB, the Issuer shall provide the Annual Report to the
Dissemination Agent. If by such date, the Dissemination Agent has not received a copy of the Annual
Report, the Dissemination Agent shall contact the Issuer to determine if the Issuer is in compliance with
the first sentence of this subsection (b).

(c) If the Dissemination Agent is unable to verify that an Annual Report has been
provided to the MSRB by the date required in subsection (a), the Dissemination Agent shall send a notice,
in electronic format, to the MSRB, such notice to be in substantially the form attached as Exhibit A.

(d) If the Annual Report is delivered to the Dissemination Agent for filing, the
Dissemination Agent shall file a report with the Issuer certifying that the Annual Report has been
provided pursuant to this Disclosure Agreement and stating the date it was provided.

SECTION 4. Content of Annual Reports. The Annual Report shall contain or include by
reference the following:

(@) The audited financial statements of the Issuer for the prior fiscal year, prepared in
accordance with generally accepted accounting principles as promulgated to apply to
governmental entities from time to time by the Governmental Accounting Standards Board. If
the Issuer’s audited financial statements are not available by the time the Annual Report is

OHSUSA:765070881





required to be filed pursuant to Section 3(a), the Annual Report shall contain unaudited financial
statements in a format similar to the financial statements contained in the Official Statement,
dated | , 2016] , relating to the 2016 Bonds (the “Official Statement”), and the audited
financial statements shall be filed in the same manner as the Annual Report when such audited
financial statements become available.

(b) An update (as of the most recently ended fiscal year of the Issuer) for the table
entitled “Sales Tax Revenues” set forth in the Official Statement under the caption “SECURITY
FOR THE 2016 SERIES A BONDS — Sales Tax Revenues” and an update for the table entitled
“Debt Service Requirements” set forth in the Official Statement under the caption “DEBT
SERVICE REQUIREMENTS.”

Any or all of the items listed above may be included by specific reference to other documents, including
official statements of debt issues of the Issuer or related public entities, which have been filed with the
MSRB or the SEC. If the document included by reference is a final official statement, it must be
available from the MSRB. The Issuer shall clearly identify each such other document so included by
reference.

SECTION 5. Reporting of Significant Events.

@) Pursuant to the provisions of this Section 5, the Issuer shall give, or cause to be
given, notice of the occurrence of any of the following events with respect to the 2016 Bonds not later
than ten business days after the occurrence of the event:

1. Principal and interest payment delinquencies;

2. Unscheduled draws on debt service reserves reflecting financial difficulties;

3. Unscheduled draws on credit enhancements reflecting financial difficulties;

4.  Substitution of credit or liquidity providers, or their failure to perform;

5. Adverse tax opinions or issuance by the Internal Revenue Service of proposed or

final determination of taxability or of a Notice of Proposed Issue (IRS Form
5701 TEB);

6.  Tender offers;

7. Defeasances;

8.  Rating changes; or;

9.  Bankruptcy, insolvency, receivership or similar event of the obligated person.

Note: for the purposes of the event identified in subparagraph (9), the event is considered to occur when
any of the following occur: the appointment of a receiver, fiscal agent or similar officer for the Issuer in a
proceeding under the U.S. Bankruptcy Code or in any other proceeding under state or federal law in
which a court or governmental authority has assumed jurisdiction over substantially all of the assets or
business of the Issuer, or if such jurisdiction has been assumed by leaving the existing governmental body

and officials or officers in possession but subject to the supervision and orders of a court or governmental
authority, or the entry of an order confirming a plan of reorganization, arrangement or liquidation by a

OHSUSA:765070881





court or governmental authority having supervision or jurisdiction over substantially all of the assets or
business of the Issuer.

(b) The Issuer shall give, or cause to be given, notice of the occurrence of any of the
following events with respect to the 2016 Bonds, if material, not later than ten business days after the
occurrence of the event:

1. Unless described in paragraph 5(a)(5), other material notices or determinations by the
Internal Revenue Service with respect to the tax status of the 2016 Bonds or other
material events affecting the tax status of the 2016 Bonds;

2. Maodifications to rights of bond holders;

3. Optional, unscheduled or contingent bond calls;

4. Release, substitution, or sale of property securing repayment of the 2016 Bonds;
5. Non-payment related defaults;

6. The consummation of a merger, consolidation, or acquisition involving an obligated
person or the sale of all or substantially all of the assets of the obligated person, other
than in the ordinary course of business, the entry into a definitive agreement to
undertake such an action or the termination of a definitive agreement relating to any
such actions, other than pursuant to its terms; or

7. Appointment of a successor or additional paying agent or the change of name of a
paying agent.

(c) The Issuer shall give, or cause to be given, in a timely manner, notice of a failure to
provide the annual financial information on or before the date specified in Section 3, as provided in
Section 3(b).

(d) Whenever the Issuer obtains knowledge of the occurrence of a Listed Event described in
Section 5(b), the Issuer shall determine if such event would be material under applicable federal securities
laws.

(e) If the Issuer learns of the occurrence of a Listed Event described in Section 5(a), or
determines that knowledge of a Listed Event described in Section 5(b) would be material under applicable
federal securities laws, the Issuer shall within ten business days of occurrence file a notice of such
occurrence with the MSRB in electronic format, accompanied by such identifying information as is
prescribed by the MSRB. Notwithstanding the foregoing, notice of the Listed Event described in
subsection (b)(3) need not be given under this subsection any earlier than the notice (if any) of the
underlying event is given to Holders of affected 2016 Bonds pursuant to the Resolution.

SECTION 6. Format for Filings with MSRB. Any report or filing with the MSRB pursuant to
this Disclosure Agreement must be submitted in electronic format, accompanied by such identifying
information as is prescribed by the MSRB.

SECTION 7. Termination of Reporting Obligation. The obligations of the Issuer and the
Dissemination Agent under this Disclosure Agreement shall terminate upon the legal defeasance, prior
redemption or payment in full of all of the 2016 Bonds. If such termination occurs prior to the final

OHSUSA:765070881





maturity of the 2016 Bonds, the Issuer shall give notice of such termination in the same manner as for a
Listed Event under Section 5(e).

SECTION 8. Dissemination Agent. The Issuer may, from time to time, appoint or engage a
Dissemination Agent to assist it in carrying out its obligations under this Disclosure Agreement, and may
discharge such Dissemination Agent, with or without appointing a successor Dissemination Agent. The
Dissemination Agent may resign by providing thirty (30) days written notice to the Issuer. The
Dissemination Agent shall not be responsible in any manner for the form or the content of any notice or
report prepared by the Issuer pursuant to this Disclosure Agreement.

SECTION 9. Amendment; Waiver. Notwithstanding any other provision of this Disclosure
Agreement, the Issuer and the Dissemination Agent may amend this Disclosure Agreement (and the
Dissemination Agent shall agree to any amendment so requested by the Issuer, provided the
Dissemination Agent shall not be obligated to enter into any such amendment that modifies or increases
its duties or obligations hereunder), and any provision of this Disclosure Agreement may be waived,
provided that the following conditions are satisfied:

@ If the amendment or waiver relates to the provisions of Sections 3(a), 4, 5(a) or
5(b), it may only be made in connection with a change in circumstances that arises from a change
in legal requirements, change in law, or change in the identity, nature or status of an obligated
person with respect to the 2016 Bonds, or the type of business conducted;

(b) This Disclosure Agreement, as amended or taking into account such waiver,
would, in the opinion of nationally recognized bond counsel, have complied with the
requirements of the Rule at the time of the original issuance of the 2016 Bonds, after taking into
account any amendments or interpretations of the Rule, as well as any change in circumstances;
and

(©) The amendment or waiver either (i) is approved by the Owners of the 2016
Bonds in the same manner as provided in the Indenture for amendments to the Indenture with the
consent of Owners, or (ii) does not, in the opinion of nationally recognized bond counsel,
materially impair the interests of the Owners or Beneficial Owners of the 2016 Bonds.

In the event of any amendment or waiver of a provision of this Disclosure Agreement, the Issuer shall
describe such amendment in the next Annual Report, and shall include, as applicable, a narrative
explanation of the reason for the amendment or waiver and its impact on the type (or, in the case of a
change of accounting principles, on the presentation) of financial information or operating data being
presented by the Issuer. In addition, if the amendment relates to the accounting principles to be followed
in preparing financial statements, (i) notice of such change shall be given in the same manner as for a
Listed Event under Section 5(e), and (ii) the Annual Report for the year in which the change is made
should present a comparison (in narrative form and also, if feasible, in quantitative form) between the
financial statements as prepared on the basis of the new accounting principles and those prepared on the
basis of the former accounting principles.

SECTION 10. Additional Information. Nothing in this Disclosure Agreement shall be deemed
to prevent the Issuer from disseminating any other information, using the means of dissemination set forth
in this Disclosure Agreement or any other means of communication, or including any other information in
any Annual Report or notice of occurrence of a Listed Event, in addition to that which is required by this
Disclosure Agreement. If the Issuer chooses to include any information in any Annual Report or notice of
occurrence of a Listed Event, in addition to that which is specifically required by this Disclosure

OHSUSA:765070881





Agreement, the Issuer shall have no obligation under this Disclosure Agreement to update such
information or include it in any future Annual Report or notice of occurrence of a Listed Event.

SECTION 11. Default. In the event of a failure of the Issuer or the Dissemination Agent to
comply with any provision of this Disclosure Agreement, the Trustee, at the written request of any
Participating Underwriter or the Owners of at least 25% aggregate principal amount of Outstanding 2016
Bonds, shall, but only to the extent funds in an amount satisfactory to the Trustee have been provided to it
or it has been otherwise indemnified to its satisfaction from any cost, liability, expense or additional
charges and fees of the Trustee whatsoever, including, without limitation, fees and expenses of its
attorneys, or any Owner or Beneficial Owner of the 2016 Bonds may take such actions as may be
necessary and appropriate, including seeking mandate or specific performance by court order, to cause the
Issuer or the Dissemination Agent, as the case may be, to comply with its obligations under this
Disclosure Agreement. A default under this Disclosure Agreement shall not be deemed an Event of
Default under the Indenture, and the sole remedy under this Disclosure Agreement in the event of any
failure of the Issuer or the Dissemination Agent to comply with this Disclosure Agreement shall be an
action to compel performance.

SECTION 12. Duties, Immunities and Liabilities of Trustee and Dissemination Agent.
Article VIII of the Indenture is hereby made applicable to this Disclosure Agreement as if this Disclosure
Agreement were (solely for this purpose) contained in the Indenture and the Trustee and the
Dissemination Agent shall be entitled to the protections, limitations from liability and indemnities
afforded the Trustee thereunder. The Dissemination Agent (if other than the Trustee or the Trustee in its
capacity as Dissemination Agent) shall have only such duties as are specifically set forth in this
Disclosure Agreement, and the Issuer agrees to indemnify and save the Dissemination Agent and the
Trustee and their officers, directors, employees and agents, harmless against any loss, expense and
liabilities which they may incur arising out of or in the exercise or performance of their powers and duties
hereunder, including the costs and expenses (including attorneys fees) of defending against any claim of
liability, but excluding liabilities due to the Trustee’s or the Dissemination Agent’s negligence or willful
misconduct. The Dissemination Agent shall be paid compensation by the Issuer for its services provided
hereunder in accordance with its schedule of fees as amended from time to time and all expenses, legal
fees and advances made or incurred by the Dissemination Agent in the performance of its duties
hereunder. The obligations of the Issuer under this Section shall survive resignation or removal of the
Trustee or the Dissemination Agent and payment of the 2016 Bonds. The Dissemination Agent has no
power to enforce performance on the part of the Issuer under this Disclosure Agreement.

The Dissemination Agent agrees to accept and act upon instructions or directions pursuant to this
Disclosure Agreement sent by unsecured e-mail, facsimile transmission or other similar unsecured
electronic methods, provided, however, that, the Dissemination Agent shall have received an incumbency
certificate listing persons designated to give such instructions or directions and containing specimen
signatures of such designated persons, which such incumbency certificate shall be amended and replaced
whenever a person is to be added or deleted from the listing. If the Issuer elects to give the Dissemination
Agent e-mail or facsimile instructions (or instructions by a similar electronic method) and the
Dissemination Agent acts upon such instructions, the Dissemination Agent’s understanding of such
instructions shall be deemed controlling. The Dissemination Agent shall not be liable for any losses,
costs or expenses arising directly or indirectly from the Dissemination Agent’s reliance upon and
compliance with such instructions notwithstanding such instructions conflict or are inconsistent with a
subsequent written instruction. The Issuer agrees: (i) to assume all risks arising out of the use of such
electronic methods to submit instructions and directions to the Dissemination Agent, including without
limitation the risk of the Dissemination Agent acting on unauthorized instructions, and the risk of
interception and misuse by third parties; (ii) that it is fully informed of the protections and risks associated
with the various methods of transmitting instructions to the Dissemination Agent and that there may be

6
OHSUSA:765070881





more secure methods of transmitting instructions than the method(s) selected by the Issuer; and (iii) that
the security procedures (if any) to be followed in connection with its transmission of instructions provide
to it a commercially reasonable degree of protection in light of its particular needs and circumstances.

It is understood and agreed that any information that the Dissemination Agent may be instructed
to file with the MSRB shall be prepared and provided to it by the Issuer. The fact that the Dissemination
Agent or any affiliate thereof may have any fiduciary or banking relationship with the Issuer shall not be
construed to mean that the Dissemination Agent has actual knowledge of any event or condition except as
may be provided by written notice from the Issuer.

SECTION 13. Notices. Any notices or communications to or among any of the parties to this
Disclosure Agreement may be given as follows:

(M If to the Issuer:

San Francisco Bay Area Rapid Transit District
300 Lakeside Drive

Oakland, California 94612-3534

Attention: Controller/Treasurer

Telephone: (510) 464-6070

Fax: (510) 464-6011

(i) If to the Dissemination Agent:

U.S. Bank National Association

One California Street, Suite 1000

San Francisco, California 94111
Attention: Global Corporate Trust Services
Telephone: (415) 677-3596

Fax: (415) 677-3769

Any person may, by written notice to the other persons listed above, designate a different address or
telephone number(s) to which subsequent notices or communications should be sent. Notices may also be
given by electronic means.

SECTION 14. Beneficiaries. This Disclosure Agreement shall inure solely to the benefit of the
Issuer, the Trustee, the Dissemination Agent, the Participating Underwriters and Holders and Beneficial
Owners from time to time of the 2016 Bonds, and shall create no rights in any other person or entity.

SECTION 15. Governing Law. This Disclosure Agreement shall be governed under the laws of
the State of California.

OHSUSA:765070881





SECTION 16. Counterparts.  This Disclosure Agreement may be executed in several
counterparts, each of which shall be an original and all of which shall constitute but one and the same
instrument.

Date: [Closing Date].

SAN FRANCISCO BAY AREA RAPID
TRANSIT DISTRICT

By

Controller/Treasurer

U.S. BANK NATIONAL ASSOCIATION,
as Dissemination Agent

By

Authorized Officer

OHSUSA:765070881





Exhibit A

NOTICE TO MUNICIPAL SECURITIES RULEMAKING BOARD OF
FAILURE TO FILE ANNUAL REPORT

Name of Issuer: San Francisco Bay Area Rapid Transit District
Name of Bond Issue: San Francisco Bay Area Rapid Transit District Sales Tax Revenue
Bonds, 2016 Refunding Series A

Date of Issuance of Bonds: [ , 2016]

NOTICE IS HEREBY GIVEN that the San Francisco Bay Area Rapid Transit District (the
“Issuer”) has not provided an Annual Report with respect to the above-named Bonds as required by
Section 3(a) of the Continuing Disclosure Agreement, dated [Closing Date], between the Issuer and U. S.
Bank National Association, as dissemination agent. [The Issuer anticipates that the Annual Report will be
filed by ]

Dated: , 20
U.S. BANK NATIONAL ASSOCIATION,
as Dissemination Agent on behalf of the San
Francisco Bay Area Rapid Transit District
cc: Issuer

OHSUSA:765070881






OH&S Draft #1 — Distributed 05/26/16

ESCROW AGREEMENT

between

SAN FRANCISCO BAY AREA RAPID TRANSIT DISTRICT
and

U.S. BANK NATIONAL ASSOCIATION,
as Trustee and Escrow Agent

Dated as of August 1, 2016

relating to

SAN FRANCISCO BAY AREA RAPID TRANSIT DISTRICT
SALES TAX REVENUE BONDS, REFUNDING SERIES 2006 A

OHSUSA:765071621.2





TABLE OF CONTENTS

Page
SECTION 1. DEFINITIONS ... ettt e e s et e e e e atae e e e enteas 2
SECTION 2. CREATION AND PURPOSE OF ESCROW.......cooiiiiiiiee ettt 2
SECTION 3. NOTICE OF REDEMPTION; NOTICE OF DEFEASANCE.........ccccccoiviiiiieecieene, 3
SECTION 4. ACCOUNTING FOR ESCROW; SUBSTITUTIONS ..o, 3
SECTION 5. INVESTMENTS AND REINVESTMENTS......oooiiii e 3
SECTION 6. SUFFICIENCY OF ESCROW ...ttt ettt ettt ettt ntee e save e 4
SECTION 7. TRANSFERS FOR PAYMENT OF REFUNDED BONDS ........ccccooiiiiiieec e, 4
SECTION 8. TERMINATION OF ESCROW AGREEMENT; WRITTEN REQUEST OF
D] 1S I 4 O SRRSO 4
SECTION 9. FEES AND COSTS ..ttt ettt e e e et e e e e sara e e e e nnres 4
SECTION 10. REPORTS AND STATEMENTS ...ttt e 5
SECTION 11. CHARACTER OF DEPOSIT ..ottt e ntaee e 5
SECTION 12. PURCHASERS’ RESPONSIBILITY ....covtiiiiiiei ettt 5
SECTION 13. EXCULPATORY PROVISIONS ...ttt ettt 5
SECTION 14. TIME OF ESSENCE ........c oottt ettt ettt e e e s eabre e e nnaaee s 6
SECTION 15. AMENDMENTS ... e st e e e st e e e s nre e e e e enres 7
SECTION 16. SUGCCESSORS ...t e s st b e e e s st ae e e s sba e e e e sbbeeessabbeeeesaes 7
SECTION 17. NOTICES ... oot e e e et e e s e b e e e s e bbe e e s eabee e e s aabaeeeeentees 7
SECTION 18. SEVERABILITY ottt st e s tee e e s st re e e s sraeeeeaaes 7
SECTION 19. LAW GOVERNING ...ttt ettt e 7
SECTION 20. COUNTERPARTS . ..ottt e e et e e e st ae e e e sbree e s sbaeeeeaaes 8
EXHIBIT A DESCRIPTION OF REFUNDED BONDS........co ittt A-1
EXHIBIT B INITIAL CASH DEPOSIT ..ottt ettt eabee et B-1
EXHIBIT C REFUNDING REQUIREMENTS ......ooii ettt C-1
EXHIBIT D FORM OF NOTICE OF DEFEASANCE AND RELEASE FROM RESERVE
FUND .. e e e st e e e et e e e s aae e e e s tbee e e s eaeaeeesaanaeeeas D-1

OHSUSA:765071621.2





ESCROW AGREEMENT

THIS ESCROW AGREEMENT, dated as of August 1, 2016, is entered into by the San Francisco
Bay Area Rapid Transit District, a transit district duly organized and existing under the laws of the State
of California (the “District”), and U.S. Bank National Association (as successor by merger to U.S. Bank
Trust National Association, formerly known as First Trust of California, National Association, successor
trustee to Bank of America National Trust and Savings Association, which was successor trustee to
Security Pacific National Bank), a national banking association duly organized and existing under and by
virtue of the laws of the United States of America, as trustee (the “Trustee”) and escrow agent (the
“Escrow Agent”).

WITNESSETH:

WHEREAS, the District has heretofore entered into an Indenture, dated as of July 1, 1990 (as
supplemented and amended from time to time pursuant to its terms, the “1990 Indenture”), between the
District and the Trustee pursuant to which it has issued and delivered various series of sales tax revenue
bonds;

WHEREAS, the District has determined that it is in its best interests to refund a portion of its
outstanding sales tax revenue bonds, as follows: all or a portion of the outstanding San Francisco Bay
Area Rapid Transit District Sales Tax Revenue Bonds, Refunding Series 2006 A (the “Series 2006 A
Bonds”) (such Series 2006 A Bonds being hereinafter referred to as the “Refunded Bonds™), as described
in Exhibit A;

WHEREAS, the District is issuing $[PRINCIPAL] aggregate principal amount of San Francisco
Bay Area Rapid Transit District Sales Tax Revenue Bonds, 2016 Refunding Series A (the “2016
Refunding Bonds”) and pursuant to the Indenture, dated as of September 1, 2012 (the “Master
Indenture™), as supplemented by a First Supplemental Indenture, dated as of September 1, 2012 (the “First
Supplemental Indenture™), and as supplemented by a Second Supplemental Indenture, dated as of October
1, 2015 (the “Second Supplemental Indenture™), and as further supplemented by a Third Supplemental
Indenture, dated as of August 1, 2016 (the “Third Supplemental Indenture” and together with the Master
Indenture, the First Supplemental Indenture, and the Second Supplemental Indenture, the “Indenture™),
between the District and the Trustee, in part for the purpose, among other things, of providing funds to
refund the Refunded Bonds;

WHEREAS, the Indenture provides for the transfer and deposit of certain proceeds of the 2016
Refunding Bonds to the Escrow Fund created hereunder to refund the Refunded Bonds, and such
proceeds shall be in such amount as is necessary, together with other funds deposited to the Escrow Fund
and interest earnings thereon, to ensure the full and timely payment of the Refunding Requirements (as
hereinafter defined); and

WHEREAS, the Trustee hereby confirms that the Refunded Bonds are Outstanding (as defined in
the Indenture) under the Indenture as of the date hereof and have not been previously refunded and the
District hereby confirms that the right to redeem the Refunded Bonds has not been sold or previously
exercised;

NOW, THEREFORE, in consideration of the mutual agreements herein contained, in order to
secure the refunding and defeasance of the Refunded Bonds as heretofore provided, the parties hereto

OHSUSA:765071621.2





mutually undertake, promise and agree for themselves, their respective representatives, successors and
assigns, as follows:

Section 1. Definitions.
As used in this Escrow Agreement the following terms have the following meanings:

“Controller/Treasurer” means the officer who is then performing the functions of
Controller/Treasurer of the District.

“Escrow Agent” means U.S. Bank National Association or any successor thereto appointed under
this Escrow Agreement solely in its capacity as escrow agent under this Escrow Agreement.

“Escrow Fund” means the escrow fund by that name created pursuant to Section 2 hereof.

“Escrowed Securities” means cash, securities and investments consisting of certain U.S. Treasury
obligations for which the faith and credit of the United States of America are directly pledged for the
payment of principal and interest, and that are not subject to redemption prior to their respective stated
maturities.

“Government Securities” means securities of the type meeting the requirements for defeasance
specified in Section 10.03 of the 1990 Indenture.

“Refunded Bonds” means the Series 2006 A Bonds as shown in Exhibit A hereto.

“Refunding Requirements” means all installments of principal, premium, if any, and interest on
the Refunded Bonds, as shown in Exhibit C to this Escrow Agreement being principal and interest on the
Series 2006 A Bonds to the redemption date of , 2016.

“2016 Refunding Bonds” means the San Francisco Bay Area Rapid Transit District Sales Tax
Revenue Bonds, 2016 Refunding Series A, issued pursuant to the Indenture.

“Verification Agent” means [VERIFICATION AGENT].

“Verification Report” means the verification report, dated , 2016, prepared by the
Verification Agent.

All other capitalized terms used but not defined herein shall have the respective meanings given
to such terms in the Indenture.

Section 2. Creation and Purpose of Escrow.

A. There is hereby created and established with the Escrow Agent a special and irrevocable
escrow fund designated the Escrow Fund (the “Escrow Fund”). The Escrow Agent shall keep the Escrow
Fund separate and apart from all other funds and moneys held by it and shall hold the Escrow Fund in
irrevocable escrow for the purposes described herein.

B. On the date of the issuance of the 2016 Refunding Bonds to the initial purchasers thereof,
pursuant to the provisions of the Third Supplemental Indenture, the Trustee will deposit with the Escrow
Agent in escrow, to be held and accounted for in the Escrow Fund and paid out as provided in this Escrow
Agreement, moneys representing a portion of the proceeds from the sale of the 2016 Refunding Bonds, in
the amount of $ plus transfers of funds held under the 1990 Indenture in the amount of

2
OHSUSA:765071621.2





$ for an aggregate deposit amount of $ . Such moneys shall be sufficient to
make the cash deposit to the Escrow Fund and shall be used by the Escrow Agent to make such cash
deposit on such date as described in Exhibit B to this Escrow Agreement. The principal of and interest on
the Escrowed Securities, if any, and any uninvested cash held hereunder shall be applied by the Escrow
Agent to the payment of the Refunding Requirements.

C. The District has determined, as verified by the Verification Report, that the Escrowed
Securities, if any, are such that, if interest thereon and principal thereof are paid when due, the proceeds
from the collection of such interest and principal, together with any uninvested cash held hereunder, will
be sufficient to meet the Refunding Requirements.

D. The Escrow Agent shall hold all Government Securities, whether acquired as initial
investments, subsequent investments or reinvestments hereunder, and the money received from time to
time as principal and interest thereon, in escrow, to secure, and for the payment of, the Refunding
Requirements and shall collect the principal of and interest on the Government Securities held by it
hereunder promptly as such principal and interest become due.

Section 3. Notice of Redemption; Notice of Defeasance.

A. The Escrow Agent, acting as Trustee, has heretofore on , 2016 given notice of
redemption of the Refunded Bonds on the applicable redemption dates set forth on Exhibit C, at the
Redemption Prices thereof, at the time and in the manner provided in Section 4.01 of the 1990 Indenture
and in accordance with Section 10.02 of the 1990 Indenture.

B. The Trustee and Dissemination Agent are hereby irrevocably instructed to provide notice,
on the earliest practicable date, of the defeasance of the Refunded Bonds in accordance with Section 5(a)
of the Continuing Disclosure Agreement between the District and the Trustee, in its capacity as
Dissemination Agent thereunder, related to each such series of the Refunded Bonds in the form set forth
in Exhibit D.

Section 4. Accounting for Escrow; Substitutions.

The moneys and the Government Securities from time to time accounted for in the Escrow Fund
shall not be subject to withdrawal by the District nor otherwise subject to the order of the District except
as otherwise provided in Section 2 and Section 8 hereof.

There shall be no exchange or substitution or purchase of the Escrowed Securities, if any, except
upon (i) the written direction of the District, (ii) receipt by the District and the Escrow Agent of a new
verification report, prepared by an independent certified public accountant, verifying the sufficiency of
the escrow to pay the Refunding Requirements of the Refunded Bonds in full on their respective interest
payment dates or redemption dates and (iii) receipt of an opinion of nationally recognized bond counsel to
the effect that such exchange or substitution will not adversely affect the exemption from federal income
tax of interest on the 2016 Refunding Bonds or the Refunded Bonds.

Section 5. Investments and Reinvestments.

The Escrow Agent shall have no obligation by virtue of this Escrow Agreement, applicable law or
otherwise to make any investment or reinvestment of any moneys in the Escrow Fund at any time except
as otherwise provided in this Escrow Agreement or as hereafter directed by the District and upon (i)
receipt of an opinion of nationally recognized bond counsel to the effect that such investment or
reinvestment will not adversely affect the exemption from federal income tax of interest on the 2016

OHSUSA:765071621.2





Refunding Bonds or the Refunded Bonds and (ii) receipt by the District and the Escrow Agent of a new
verification report, prepared by an independent certified public accountant, verifying the sufficiency of
the escrow to pay the Refunding Requirements of the Refunded Bonds in full on their respective interest
payment dates or redemption dates. Except as is otherwise directed by the District in accordance with the
provisions of this Escrow Agreement, any moneys in the Escrow Fund not needed to pay the principal of,
premium, if any, or interest on the Refunded Bonds on any payment date therefor shall be held by the
Escrow Agent uninvested.

The District acknowledges that to the extent regulations of the Comptroller of the Currency or
other applicable regulatory entity grant the District the right to receive brokerage confirmations of
security transactions as they occur, the District will not receive such confirmations to the extent permitted
by law. The Escrow Agent will furnish the District periodic cash transaction statements which shall
include detail for all investment transactions made by the Escrow Agent hereunder.

Section 6. Sufficiency of Escrow.

Moneys deposited in the Escrow Fund, including the investment earnings thereon and any
uninvested cash, shall be in an amount, as determined by the District and as verified by the Verification
Report, which at all times shall be sufficient to meet the Refunding Requirements not theretofore met.

If at any time it shall appear to the Escrow Agent that the moneys in the Escrow Fund, including
the investment earnings thereon and any uninvested cash, will not be sufficient to meet the Refunding
Requirements, the Escrow Agent shall notify the Controller/Treasurer of the District of such deficiency in
writing as soon as reasonably practicable. Upon receipt of such notice, the District shall promptly use its
best efforts to pay to the Escrow Agent from any legally available moneys, and the Escrow Agent shall
deposit such moneys provided by the District in the Escrow Fund, the amount necessary to make up the
deficiency. The Escrow Agent shall not be liable or responsible for any loss resulting from its failure to
give such notice nor from the District’s failure to make any such payment.

Section 7. Transfers for Payment of Refunded Bonds.

The Escrow Agent shall from time to time make such arrangements with and transfers to the
Trustee for the Refunded Bonds as will assure, to the extent of moneys in the Escrow Fund, the payment
of the Refunding Requirements applicable to the Refunded Bonds when due, as provided herein and in
the Indenture.

Section 8. Termination of Escrow Agreement; Written Request of District.

When the Escrow Agent shall have transferred, pursuant to Section 7 hereof, such moneys as are
required to pay in full and discharge all of the Refunded Bonds, the Escrow Agent, after payment of all
fees and expenses of the Escrow Agent, shall immediately pay over to the District or pursuant to its order
the moneys, if any, then remaining in the Escrow Fund and shall make forthwith a final report to the
Controller/Treasurer of the District, and this Escrow Agreement shall terminate. The Trustee shall
promptly pay to the District any and all unclaimed moneys as provided in Section 10.04 of the Indenture
and this shall constitute the Request of the District for such purpose.

Section 9. Fees and Costs.
A. The Escrow Agent’s fees, expenses and reimbursement for costs incurred for and in

carrying out the provisions of this Escrow Agreement have been fixed by separate agreement. The Escrow
Agent shall also be entitled to additional fees, expenses and reimbursement for costs incurred, including,

OHSUSA:765071621.2





but not limited to, legal and accounting services in connection with any litigation or other proceedings
which may at any time be instituted involving this Escrow Agreement not due to the negligence or willful
misconduct of the Escrow Agent.

B. Payments to the Escrow Agent pursuant to this Section 9 shall not be for deposit in the
Escrow Fund, and the fees of and the costs incurred by the Escrow Agent shall not be a charge on, and in
no event shall be deducted from, such fund.

Section 10. Reports and Statements.

A Upon the termination of this Escrow Agreement, the Escrow Agent shall submit to the
Controller/Treasurer of the District a statement covering all money it shall have received and all payments
it shall have made or caused to be made hereunder. Such statement shall be subject to audit by the
District or by such independent certified public accountant, as may be designated by the District.

B. The last statement shall be made at the time provided in Section 8 hereof.
C. Each such statement shall also list all Government Securities and the amount of money
accounted for in the Escrow Fund on the day preceding the date of such statement, except for the last

report.

Section 11. Character of Deposit.

A. It is recognized that beneficial ownership of the Government Securities and moneys
accounted for in the Escrow Fund from time to time shall remain vested in the District but subject always
to the charge and lien thereon of this Escrow Agreement and the use thereof required to be made by the
provisions hereof.

B. The Escrow Agent shall hold all such securities and moneys in the Escrow Fund as an
irrevocable escrow fund separate and wholly segregated from all other securities and funds of the Escrow
Agent or deposited therein and shall never commingle such securities or moneys with other securities or
moneys.

C. No money paid into and accounted for in the Escrow Fund shall ever be considered as a
banking deposit, and the Escrow Agent shall have no right or title with respect thereto except in its
capacity as Escrow Agent hereunder.

Section 12. Purchasers’ Responsibility.

The purchasers and holders from time to time of the 2016 Refunding Bonds shall in no manner be
responsible for the application or disposition of the proceeds thereof nor of any moneys or Government
Securities held in the Escrow Fund.

Section 13. Exculpatory Provisions.

A The duties and responsibilities of the Escrow Agent are limited to those expressly and
specifically stated in this Escrow Agreement.

B. The Escrow Agent shall not be liable or responsible for any loss resulting from any

investment or reinvestment made pursuant to this Escrow Agreement and made in compliance with the
provisions hereof. The Escrow Agent shall not be liable or responsible for the accuracy of any

OHSUSA:765071621.2





calculations or the sufficiency of any Escrowed Securities, any Government Securities, the Escrow Fund
or any moneys held by it to meet the Refunding Requirements.

C. No provision of this Escrow Agreement shall be construed to relieve the Escrow Agent
from liability for its own negligent failure to act or its own willful misconduct.

D. The Escrow Agent shall be under no obligation to inquire into or be in any way
responsible for the performance or nonperformance by the District of any of its obligations, nor shall it be
responsible in any manner for the recitals or statements contained herein or in the Refunded Bonds or any
proceedings taken in connection therewith, such recitals and statements being made solely by the District.
The Escrow Agent may conclusively rely on any opinion, written request, certificate, written direction or
report of the District, any certified public accountant, financial advisor or investment bank delivered to it
and received in good faith in connection with the transactions contemplated hereby.

E. Nothing in this instrument shall be construed to create any obligations or liabilities on the
part of the Escrow Agent to anyone other than the District and the holders of the Refunded Bonds.

F. The Escrow Agent may at any time resign by giving thirty (30) days’ written notice to the
District of such resignation. The District shall promptly appoint a successor Escrow Agent by the
resignation date. Resignation of the Escrow Agent will be effective only upon acceptance of appointment
by a successor Escrow Agent. If the District does not appoint a successor, the Escrow Agent may petition
any court of competent jurisdiction for the appointment of a successor Escrow Agent, which court may
thereupon, after such notice, if any, as it may deem proper, prescribe and, as may be required by law,
appoint a successor Escrow Agent. After receiving a notice of resignation of an Escrow Agent, the
District may appoint a temporary Escrow Agent to replace the resigning Escrow Agent until the District
appoints a successor Escrow Agent. Any such temporary Escrow Agent so appointed by the District shall
immediately and without further act be superseded by the successor Escrow Agent so appointed.

G. The District, to the extent permitted by law, agrees to indemnify the Escrow Agent, its
agents and its officers or employees for and hold the Escrow Agent, its agents, officers or employees
harmless from and against any and all liabilities, obligations, losses, damages, penalties, actions,
judgments, suits, claims, costs, expenses and disbursements of any kind or nature whatsoever (including,
without limitation, reasonable fees and disbursements of counsel for the Escrow Agent) which may be
imposed on, incurred by, or asserted against the Escrow Agent at any time by reason of the performance
of its duties as Escrow Agent hereunder, in any transaction arising out of this Escrow Agreement or the
Indenture or any of the transactions contemplated herein or in the Indenture, unless due to the Escrow
Agent’s or its officers’ or employees’ or agents’ negligence or willful misconduct. Such indemnity shall
survive the termination of this Escrow Agreement or resignation of the Escrow Agent.

H. The Escrow Agent may consult with counsel, who may be counsel of or to the District,
with regard to legal questions and the opinion of such counsel shall be full and complete authorization in
respect of any action taken or suffered by it hereunder in good faith and in accordance therewith.

Section 14. Time of Essence.

Time shall be of the essence in the performance of the obligations from time to time imposed
upon the Escrow Agent by this Escrow Agreement.

OHSUSA:765071621.2





Section 15. Amendments.

This Escrow Agreement may not be revoked or amended by the parties hereto unless there shall
first have been filed with the District and the Escrow Agent (i) a written opinion of nationally recognized
bond counsel stating that such amendment will not adversely affect the exclusion from gross income for
federal income tax purposes of interest on the Refunded Bonds or the 2016 Refunding Bonds and (ii)
unless such amendment is not materially adverse to the interests of the registered owners of the Refunded
Bonds, the written consent of all the registered owners of the Refunded Bonds which have not been either
paid at maturity or redeemed.

Section 16. Successors.

A. Whenever herein the District or the Escrow Agent is named or is referred to, such
provision shall be deemed to include any successor of the District or the Escrow Agent, respectively,
immediate or intermediate, whether so expressed or not.

B. All of the stipulations, obligations and agreements by or on behalf of, and other
provisions for the benefit of, the District or the Escrow Agent contained herein:

@ Shall bind and inure to the benefit of any such successor; and

(2 Shall bind and shall inure to the benefit of any officer, board, commission, agent or
instrumentality to whom or to which there shall be transferred by or in accordance with law any right,
power or duty of the District or the Escrow Agent, respectively, or of its successor.

Section 17. Notices.

All notices and communications hereunder shall be in writing and shall be deemed to be duly
given if received or if sent by first class mail, as follows:

If to the District: San Francisco Bay Area Rapid Transit District
300 Lakeside Drive, 23rd Floor
Oakland, California 94612
Attention: Controller/Treasurer

If to the Escrow Agent: U.S. Bank National Association
One California Street, Suite 1000
San Francisco, California 94111
Attention: Global Corporate Trust Services

Section 18. Severability.

If any section, paragraph, clause or provision of this Escrow Agreement shall for any reason be
held to be invalid or unenforceable, the invalidity or unenforceability of such section, paragraph, clause or
provision shall not affect any of the remaining provisions of this Escrow Agreement.

Section 19. Law Governing.

This Escrow Agreement is made in the State of California and is to be construed under the
Constitution and laws of such State.

OHSUSA:765071621.2





Section 20. Counterparts.

This Escrow Agreement may be executed in several counterparts, each of which shall be an
original and all of which shall constitute but one and the same instrument.

OHSUSA:765071621.2





IN WITNESS WHEREOF, the SAN FRANCISCO BAY AREA RAPID TRANSIT DISTRICT
has caused this Escrow Agreement to be signed in its name by its duly authorized officer, and U.S.
BANK NATIONAL ASSOCIATION, has caused this Escrow Agreement to be signed in its name by its
duly authorized officer, all as of the day and year first above written.

OHSUSA:765071621.2

SAN FRANCISCO BAY AREA RAPID TRANSIT
DISTRICT

By:

Controller/Treasurer

U.S. BANK NATIONAL ASSOCIATION,
as Trustee and Escrow Agent

By:

Authorized Officer





DESCRIPTION OF REFUNDED BONDS

San Francisco Bay Area Rapid Transit District
Sales Tax Revenue Bonds, Refunding Series 2006 A

EXHIBIT A

Redemption Date:
Redemption Price: 100%

, 2016

Maturity Date Interest Principal CUSIPS
(July 1) Rate Amount (797669)
2017 4.000 1,105,000 RNO
2018 4.000 1,520,000 RPS
2019 4.000 3,485,000 RQ3
2020 4.125 3,630,000 RR1
2021 4.125 3,780,000 RS9
2022 4.125 3,940,000 RT7
2023 4.250 4,115,000 RU4
2024 4.250 4,290,000 RV2
2025 4.250 4,475,000 RWO
2026 4.250 4,670,000 RX8
2027 4.250 4,870,000 RY6
2029} 4.250 10,395,000 RZ3
2031 4.250 11,310,000 SAT
2033¢ 4.250 12,315,000 SB5
2036* 4.250 20,550,000 SC3

¥ Term Bonds.

OHSUSA:765071621.2

A-1





EXHIBIT B

INITIAL CASH DEPOSIT

Initial Cash Deposit: $

B-1
OHSUSA:765071621.2





EXHIBIT C

REFUNDING REQUIREMENTS

Refunded Bonds

Payment For

Redemption Principal
Date Redeemed Interest Total
, 2016 $ $ $

C-1
OHSUSA:765071621.2





EXHIBIT D

FORM OF NOTICE OF DEFEASANCE AND RELEASE FROM RESERVE FUND

S.E.C. RULE 15C2-12
NOTICE OF LISTED EVENT

The San Francisco Bay Area Rapid Transit District (the “District”) hereby provides notice of the
following events related to the San Francisco Bay Area Rapid Transit District Sales Tax Revenue Bonds,
Refunding Series 2006 A (the “Series 2006 A Bonds”).

Events:

All of the Series 2006 A Bonds maturing July 1, 2017 through July 1, 2036, as set forth in
Schedule I attached hereto have been defeased on , 2016 and will be called for redemption on
, 2016.

Release from Reserve Fund: With respect to all bonds issued and outstanding under the
Indenture dated as of July 1, 1990, as supplemented and amended (the “1990 Indenture), and listed on
Schedule 11 attached hereto, on the date of the defeasance, the Trustee will no longer maintain the Series
2010 Reserve Account in the Bond Reserve Fund under the 1990 Indenture. In accordance with Section
22.02 of the 1990 Indenture, maintenance of the Series 2010 Reserve Account is no longer required when
the Bond Reserve Requirement, including deposits in the Series 2010 Reserve Account, is fully funded
with cash and Reserve Policies issued by providers rated in one of the two highest rating categories by
Moody’s or Standard & Poor’s. Upon the defeasance of the outstanding Series 2006 A Bonds, the Bond
Reserve Requirement under the 1990 Indenture is calculated to be $ and such amount is
funded with cash and securities held in the Bond Reserve Fund. Excess funds in the amount of
$ have been released from the Bond Reserve Fund and deposited in the defeasance escrow
for the Series 2006 A Bonds.

Other Matters:

This notice is provided solely for the purposes of the Continuing Disclosure Agreements
delivered in connection with the above-referenced Bonds. The filing of this notice does not constitute or
imply any representation: (i) that the foregoing Specified Event is material to investors; (ii) regarding any
other financial, operating or other information about the District or the Bonds; or (iii) that no other
circumstances or events have occurred or that no other information exists concerning the District, the
Bonds or the Specified Event, which may have a bearing on the District’s financial condition, the
security for the Bonds, or an investor’s decision to buy, sell, or hold the Bonds.

D-1
OHSUSA:765071621.2





Dated: , 2016

SAN FRANCISCO BAY AREA RAPID
TRANSIT DISTRICT

By:

Controller/Treasurer

D-2
OHSUSA:765071621.2





SCHEDULE |

DEFEASED SERIES 2006 A BONDS

San Francisco Bay Area Rapid Transit District
Sales Tax Revenue Bonds, Refunding Series 2006 A
Redemption Date: , 2016
Redemption Price: 100%

Maturity Date CUsIP*
(July 1) Interest Rate Principal Amount (797669)
2017 4.000 1,105,000 RNO
2018 4.000 1,520,000 RP5
2019 4,000 3,485,000 RQ3
2020 4.125 3,630,000 RR1
2021 4.125 3,780,000 RS9
2022 4.125 3,940,000 RT7
2023 4,250 4,115,000 RU4
2024 4.250 4,290,000 RV2
2025 4,250 4,475,000 RWO
2026 4,250 4,670,000 RX8
2027 4.250 4,870,000 RY6
2029* 4.250 10,395,000 RZ3
2031% 4.250 11,310,000 SA7
2033% 4.250 12,315,000 SB5
2036¢ 4.250 20,550,000 SC3

' Term Bonds.

*  CUSIP® is a registered trademark of the American Bankers Association. CUSIP Global Services (CGS) is managed on behalf of the
American Bankers Association by S&P Capital 1Q. Copyright © 2016 CUSIP Global Services. All rights reserved. CUSIP® data herein is
provided by CUSIP Global Services. This data is not intended to create a database and does not serve in any way as a substitute for the CGS
database. CUSIP numbers are provided for convenience only and neither the District nor the Underwriters takes any responsibility for the
accuracy thereof. The CUSIP numbers are subject to being changed after the issuance of the Bonds as a result of various subsequent actions,
including, but not limited to, a refunding, in whole or in part of the Bonds.

S-l
OHSUSA:765071621.2





SCHEDULE Il
OUTSTANDING BONDS UNDER 1990 INDENTURE

San Francisco Bay Area Rapid Transit District
Sales Tax Revenue Bonds, Refunding Series 2010

Maturity Date CUSIP”

(July 1) Interest Rate Principal Amount (797669)
2016 4.000% $2,925,000 TQ1
2017 4.000 3,045,000 TR9
2018 4.000 3,165,000 TS7
2019 5.000 10,490,000 TT5
2020 5.000 11,020,000 TU2
2021 5.000 17,065,000 TVO
2022 5.000 17,920,000 TWS8
2023 5.000 18,815,000 TX6
2024 5.000 6,630,000 TY4
2025 5.000 6,955,000 TZ1
2026 5.000 7,305,000 UA4
2027 5.000 7,675,000 uB2
2028 5.000 8,055,000 uUCo

¥ Term Bonds.
S-111

OHSUSA:765071621.2






eBART June 9, 2016

BART Board Meeting

WP W
h ; - BRENTWOOD

. =
LAl

P, .
i ‘.\ r\ tfanﬁ ot wl.r o r TH FEI T T o
) - b portation J Y e T DELEA TRAMSIT
'Zﬁ;ﬂ _-._‘__:" y t. J authgrity _‘!‘h] l TR M T






YV V VYV VYV V

Adopted by BART Board in April 2009
Diesel Multiple Unit (DMU) technology
SR 4 median alignment

Ten-mile extension to City of Antioch

Facilities:

>
>
>
>

Projected Revenue Service
Winter 2017/2018

eBART Project

Transfer Platform at Pittsburg/BP

Pittsburg Center Station
Antioch Station

Maintenance Facility






eBART Contracts

. Trackwork, Systems .
[ \ehicles ] [and Station Finishes] Sanitary Sewer ]
: : : Parking lot
Landscaping Final Paving solar panels






SB/M/WBE Utilization

Transfer Platform Contract

M/WBE Utilization Commitment AGUEL Forecast' at
To-Date Completion

WBE 12.62% 14.37% 14.37%

MBE 17.51% 22.75% 22.75%

Parking Lot and Maintenance Facility Contract

SB/W/MBE Utilization Commitment Tﬁ(-:gja?e gg:ﬁﬁ;::;
SB 20.40% 23.16% 23.16%
WBE 14.70% 15.34% 15.34%
MBE 1.90% 3.70% 3.70%

Trackwork, Systems, and Facility Finishes Contract

SB/W/MBE Utilization Commitment Actual Forecast at
To-Date Completion

SB 15.70% 16.17% 15.70%

WBE 32.23% 5.57% 32.23%

MBE 18.85% 2.82% 18.85%






Sustainability

« Maintenance Facility

e LEED Certified

 Antioch Station Parking Lot
* Bio-retention Swales and Basin
 Final Paving reduces Heat Island Effect

e Solar Panels

« Sufficient energy to serve power needs for the Maintenance Facility,
Antioch Station, and Parking Lot





Vehicle Fabrication






Vehicle Journey

EMIL EGGERYJ
Sonder- @&
transport |






Vehicle Journey






Ongoing Construction






Pittsburg Center Station






tn Pittsburg Center Station






Antioch Station

Sresehy W

AT e e
RR00 o C b T






Antioch Station Entrance






eBART Project Budget

(Including Pittsburg Center Station)

Description Budget (Millions)

Conceptual/Environmental
Preliminary Engineering
Final Design

Construction

Construction Management (CM) &
Design Service During Construction (DSDC)

Right-of-Way
Program Reserve

Total

$11.2

$14.8

$39.5

$381.7

$53.3

$11.2

$13.2

$524.9

14





Antioch Station Escalator






eBART Program Reserve

$13.2M Program Reserve Districtwide Signage Modifications
_ Contract Interfaces
-$1.0 M Estimated Needs - .
Other Unforeseen Finish Details
$12.2 M Available Systems Integration
-$4.0 M Escalators ——— Allocate to 04SF-130
$8.2 M Remaining Program Reserve

16





17





		June 9, 2016�

		eBART Project

		eBART Contracts

		SB/M/WBE Utilization

		Sustainability

		Vehicle Fabrication

		Vehicle Journey

		Vehicle Journey

		Ongoing Construction

		Pittsburg Center Station

		Pittsburg Center Station 

		Antioch Station

		Antioch Station Entrance

		eBART Project Budget�(Including Pittsburg Center Station)

		Antioch Station Escalator

		eBART Program Reserve

		Questions and Answers




Transit-Oriented Development Policy
Draft —June 9, 2016

VISION

The San Francisco Bay Area Rapid Transit District (BART) is a steward of a large scale public investment.
This includes real estate assets essential to BART’s transit operations, and real estate assets that can be
used to catalyze transit-oriented development in furtherance of BART’s purpose and goals. BART
leverages these opportunities by working in partnership with the communities it serves in order to
implement the regional land use vision and achieve local and regional economic development goals.
Strengthening the connections between people, places, and services enhances BART’s value as a regional
resource.

GOALS

A

Complete Communities. Partner to ensure BART contributes to neighborhood/district vitality, creating
places offering a mix of uses.

B. Sustainable Communities Strategy. Lead in the delivery of the region’s land use and transportation vision
to achieve quality of life, economic, and greenhouse gas reduction goals.

C. Ridership. Increase BART ridership, particularly in locations and times when the system has capacity to
grow.

D. Value Creation and Value Capture. Enhance the stability of BART’s financial base by capturing the
value of transit, and reinvesting in the program to maximize TOD goals.

E. Transportation Choice. Leverage land use and urban design to encourage non-auto transportation choices
both on and off BART property, through enhanced walkability and bikeability, and seamless transit
connectivity.

F. Affordability. Serve households of all income levels by linking housing affordability with access to
opportunity.

STRATEGIES

A. Manage Resources Strategically to Support Transit-Oriented Development

1. Develop a 4-Year Work Plan to assess how staff and financial activities toward TOD will be most fruitful.
Identify BART staffing priorities and assignments to promote TOD on and around District property, including
contributions to efforts such as planning and development, community engagement, funding and financing
strategies.

2. Favor long-term ground leases of no more than 66 years, rather than sale of property, as the standard disposition
strategy for joint development projects, except in cases where alternative approaches are required to achieve
specific development objectives or where other strategies would generate greater financial return to the District.

3. Solicit proposals for transit-oriented development in localities that have an adopted plan allowing for transit-
supportive land uses as defined in the TOD Guidelines. Utilize a competitive selection process, but ensure the
solicitation process considers property assembly with adjacent land owners for optimal TOD.





Transit-Oriented Development Policy
Draft —June 9, 2016

Support Transit-Oriented Districts

Proactively support local jurisdictions in creating station area plans and land use policies that: a) encourage
transit-supportive, mixed-use development on and around station properties, b) enhance the value of BART
land, and c) enhance the performance of the BART system as a whole.

Form partnerships with public agencies, developers and landowners, community development organizations,
finance entities, and consider strategic land acquisition to help build TOD both on and off BART property.

For BART system expansion, ensure that transit-oriented development and value capture opportunities are
explicitly accounted for in major investments such as the location of new station sites, design and construction
of station facilities, and acquisition of new properties.

Increase Sustainable Transportation Choices using Best Practices in Land Use and Urban Design
Utilize BART’s TOD Guidelines to ensure future development and investments seamlessly connect BART
stations with surrounding communities.

Ensure that combined TOD/parking/access improvements on and around each BART station encourage net new
BART ridership, utilizing corridor-level, shared, and off-site approaches to parking replacement as appropriate.
Following the aspirational Station Access Policy place types, use the following guidelines to replace current
BART parking as follows when developing BART property with TOD: strive for no or limited parking
replacement at “Urban with Parking” Stations; consider a 1:1 replacement parking ratio at “Auto Dependent”
stations; and use the access model to maximize revenue to BART from development and ridership when
determining a parking replacement strategy at all station types.

Utilize strategies including mixed-use development, transportation demand management, and pedestrian-
friendly urban design to encourage reverse-commute, off-peak, and non-work trips on BART and other modes
of non-auto transportation, thereby reducing greenhouse gas emissions.

D. Enhance Benefits of TOD through Investment in the Program

=

Evaluate the financial performance of proposed projects based on sound financial parameters and the ability to
generate transit ridership, fare revenue, lease payments, parking revenues, grant resources, other financial
participation, and/or cost savings. Consider the opportunity cost to the District of delaying or accelerating
development opportunities.

Use a variety of financing and governance mechanisms, including joint powers authorities, assessment districts,
improvement districts, and lease credits to achieve station area TOD objectives.

As appropriate, and in consideration of District-wide financial needs, reinvest revenues from the sale and lease
of BART land into the TOD Program, informed by the priorities identified in the 4-Year Work Plan.

Invest Equitably
Increase scale of development at and near BART stations through catalytic investments in TOD, to help address
the regional shortfall in meeting housing and other sustainable growth needs.

Implement BART’s adopted Affordable Housing Policy, and aim for a District-wide target of 30 percent of all
units to be affordable to income-restricted or transit-dependent populations.

Develop a strategy that addresses how BART will achieve its affordable housing goals.





